

Lipid rewiring by adipose tissue macrophages during diet-induced inflammation and insulin resistance

Veronica Dahik

► To cite this version:

Veronica Dahik. Lipid rewiring by adipose tissue macrophages during diet-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. Endocrinology and metabolism. Sorbonne Université, 2023. English. NNT: 2023SORUS532. tel-04582177

HAL Id: tel-04582177 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04582177

Submitted on 21 May 2024 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.







Sorbonne Université

École doctorale Physiologie, Physiopathologie et Thérapeutique – ED394 Unité mixte de recherche sur les maladies cardiovasculaires et le métabolisme – ICAN / UMRS1166 Équipe « Métabolisme lipidique cellulaire et systémique dans les maladies cardiométaboliques » dirigée par le Dr. Wilfried Le Goff

Lipid rewiring by adipose tissue macrophages during diet-induced inflammation and insulin resistance

Par Veronica Dahik

Thèse de doctorat en Biologie

Dirigée par le Dr. Wilfried Le Goff

Présentée et soutenue publiquement le 28 juin 2023

Devant un jury composé de :

Pr. Bruno Fève	Président
Dr. Laurent Yvan-Charvet	Rapporteur
Pr. David Masson	Rapporteur
Dr. Jennifer Jager	Examinatrice
Dr. Fabienne Foufelle	Examinatrice
Dr. Wilfried Le Goff	Directeur de thèse

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Je tiens tout d'abord à remercier les membres de mon jury de thèse, en espérant que mon travail fasse honneur à votre expertise et à votre temps. Je remercie le Pr. Bruno Fève d'avoir accepté de présider ce jury. Je remercie ensuite le Pr. David Masson et le Dr. Laurent Yvan-Charvet d'avoir accepté d'évaluer mon travail en qualité de rapporteur. Au Dr. Jennifer Jager, merci d'avoir accepté d'être mon examinatrice aujourd'hui. Fabienne, je suis ravie de te compter parmi nous pour cette étape si importante pour moi, merci d'avoir accepté d'être présente en tant qu'examinatrice ainsi que de la confiance que tu m'as accordée pour nous permettre de nous investir sur d'autres projets ensemble. Je tiens également à remercier le Pr. Nicolas Venteclef. Nico, bien que tu ne puisses pas être présent le jour de ma soutenance, je souhaite te remercier pleinement pour ton aide précieuse et ton accompagnement tout au long de mon doctorat, tu as cru en notre histoire dès le début.

Will, je ne pourrai jamais assez te remercier. Merci de m'avoir choisie pour faire une thèse ensemble alors qu'on ne se connaissait pas. Merci d'avoir contribué à mon épanouissement professionnel, de m'avoir poussée et de m'avoir fait découvrir et participer à tant de projets. Ta confiance en moi (alors que parfois je n'en avais pas moi-même) a été un élément moteur. J'espère avoir été à la hauteur de tes attentes. Merci de ta disponibilité, tes conseils, tes encouragements. Toi qui ne t'es jamais limité à ton rôle de directeur de thèse, merci de m'avoir écoutée professionnellement, personnellement et de m'avoir tant aidée pour l'après-thèse (chut !). Grâce à toi j'ai eu des opportunités uniques, et je t'en serai toujours reconnaissante. Merci pour ta bonne humeur et ta positivité, j'ai pris un grand plaisir à travailler ensemble et te souhaite le meilleur.

Eric, si je suis ici c'est aussi grâce à toi. Merci de ta bienveillance, ta bonne humeur et ton soutien. Tu m'as appris tant de choses et tu as toujours été disponible pour répondre à mes questions. Merci pour ce weekend en Bourgogne qu'on pourra, j'espère, répéter ! J'ai eu de la chance de t'avoir pendant la quasi intégralité de ma thèse, le labo n'est pas le même sans toi.

Clémentéééé, my brother from another mother. Je ne sais pas comment te remercier pour tout ce que tu as fait pour moi. Merci de m'avoir laissé piquer ton projet, déjà. Merci pour ton aide, ta motivation et ton authenticité, les journées au labo étaient toujours pleines de bonne humeur grâce à toi. Merci d'avoir fait mon psy et m'avoir tant écoutée et conseillée. Merci pour ton amitié. Ces années de thèse n'auraient pas été les mêmes sans toi. Canelle, Baby doc, merci de m'avoir nourrie pendant les longues journées de manip, merci pour tes encouragements, ton soutien et ta bonne humeur ! Je te ferai un dernier grooos câlin comme ceux que tu adores avant de partir. C'est toi maintenant la super doc du chef, courage !

Pukar, Alex, merci d'avoir partagé ces années de thèse avec moi. Chacun d'entre vous a contribué à cette aventure d'une manière ou d'une autre, et je tiens à vous en remercier. A tous les autres docs et les autres personnes avec qui j'ai partagé mes études ou ma thèse (je cite en particulier Christie, Adé, Laurène), merci de m'avoir accompagnée et d'avoir partagé vos sourires avec moi.

Philippe G., Antonio, Alain, vous m'avez accordé votre confiance et je vous en suis infiniment reconnaissante. J'ai appris tant de choses grâce à vous, merci de m'avoir aidée, guidée et donné du courage pour la suite.

Olivier, Phil L., Isa, Maryse, Anatole, je vous remercie pour votre présence, votre soutien, vos conseils avisés. Vous avez été d'un grand soutien pour mener cette thèse à son terme, merci !

Marie et Maha, merci pour tout votre travail sur le projet. Nous vous avons données des data pas toujours faciles à comprendre, et c'est en partie grâce à vous que cette histoire est si jolie. Merci pour vos conseils scientifiques et remarques.

A tous les autres docs et PI que je n'ai pas explicitement cités et qui ont pourtant été d'un grand soutien pour mener cette thèse à son terme, merci !

Pierre, Zozo, j'en aurais long et beaucoup à dire, mais je me limiterai à merci. Merci de partager ma vie, de me supporter quotidiennement, de croire en moi. Tu es devenu mon pilier. Je nous souhaite tout simplement une belle vie.

Mis últimos agradecimientos van a mi familia. Gracias por su apoyo incondicional aun cuando haya un océano que nos separe. Gracias por estar contentos por mí y mi trabajo aun sin entender nada de lo que hago. Gracias por creer en mí y por su orgullo.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEL	DGEMENTS	1
TABLE OF CO	ONTENTS	
THESIS VALC	ORIZATION	5
ABBREVIATI	IONS AND ACRONYMS	6
LIST OF FIGU	JRES AND TABLES	7
ABSTRACT		8
INTRODUCT	ION	9
Part I: Obe	esity	9
1. Epi	idemiology and etiology of obesity	9
1.1.	Environmental/Lifestyle causes	10
1.2.	Genetic and epigenetic factors	11
1.3.	Other factors influencing obesity	12
2. Co	pmorbidities and complications of obesity	13
2.1.	Cardiovascular disease (CVD)	14
2.2.	NAFLD	15
2.3.	Low-grade systemic inflammation	15
2.4.	Insulin Resistance	17
2.5.	Type 2 diabetes	18
3. Tre	eatments	19
3.1.	Lifestyle interventions	19
3.2.	Pharmacotherapy	20
3.3.	Bariatric surgery	21
Part II: Ad	lipose tissue	23
1. Ty	pes of adipose tissue	23
1.1.	White adipose tissue	23
1.2.	Brown adipose tissue	25
1.3.	Beige/brite adipose tissue	26
2. Wł	hite adipose tissue in health and disease	27
2.1.	Metabolic role	27
2.2.	Endocrine role	30
3. Th	e stroma vascular fraction	32
3.1.	Adipose stem cells (ASC)	33
3.2.	Vasculature-associated cells	33
3.3.	Immune cells	34
Part III: Ac	dipose tissue macrophages in obesity-induced inflammation	37
1. AT	M origin	37
1.1.	Monocyte recruitment and myelopoiesis	37
1.2.	Proliferation and local regulation of ATM numbers	37

2.	ATM heterogeneity in obesity				
2.1	. The M1/M2 continuum concept of macrophage classification				
2.2	9. Metabolic classification of ATM40				
3.	Mechanisms controlling ATM polarization44				
3.1	. Transcriptional control of ATM profile44				
3.2	2. Metabolic control of ATM profile46				
4.	Lipid handling by ATM48				
4.1	. Circulating lipids: mechanisms of uptake into ATM50				
4.2	Adipocyte-released lipids: mechanisms of uptake into ATM				
4.3	2. Fate of lipids in ATM				
5.	ATM inflammatory signaling: a role for membrane dynamics53				
5.1	. Overview of membrane lipid composition54				
5.2	2. Altered Chol content and membrane signaling56				
5.3	Altered PL content and membrane signaling57				
5.4	FA nature and ATM-mediated inflammation58				
Part IV:	ABCG1 in cardiometabolic disease				
1.	The ABC transporters in lipid-related disease				
2.	The ABCG1 transporter				
2.1	. Structure and expression profile				
2.2	Function and mechanism of action				
3.	Roles of ABCG1 in lipid homeostasis and cardiometabolic disease				
3.1	. ABCG1 in cardiovascular disease				
3.2	ABCG1 in obesity				
3.3	, ABCG1 in T2D				
OBIECTIVI	- 75				
ODJECHNI					
RESULTS					
ABCG1	transporter orchestrates adipose tissue macrophage plasticity and insulin resistance in				
obesity	by rewiring saturated fatty acid pools77				
GENERAL	DISCUSSION AND PERSPECTIVES				
RFFFRFNC	7FS				
APPENDIC	ES159				
Rewirin Resistar	g of Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Obesity: Impact on Insulin nce and Type 2 Diabetes				
Phospha distinct	Phosphatidylserine enhances anti-inflammatory effects of reconstituted HDL in macrophages via distinct intracellular pathways				

THESIS VALORIZATION

Publications

Dahik, V.D.; Frisdal, E.; Le Goff, W., 2020. Rewiring of Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Obesity: Impact on Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21, 5505, doi:10.3390/ijms21155505

Darabi, M.; Lhomme, M.; **Dahik, V.D.**; Guillas, I.; Frisdal, E.; Tubeuf, E.; Poupel, L.; Patel, M.; Gautier, E.L.; Huby, T.; Guerin, M.; Rye, K.A.; Lesnik, P.; Le Goff, W.; Kontush, A. 2022. Phosphatidylserine Enhances Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Reconstituted HDL in Macrophages via Distinct Intracellular Pathways. FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 36, e22274, doi:10.1096/fj.201800810R.

Oral communications

Dahik, V.D.; Materne, C.; Frisdal, E.; Lhomme, M.; Ponnaiah, M.; Hardy, L.M.; Durand, H.; Guérin, M.; Guillas, I.; KC, P.; Venteclef, N.; Le Goff, W. L'expression d'Abcg1 dans les macrophages contrôle l'inflammation du tissu adipeux et l'installation de l'insulinorésistance au cours de l'obésité induite par le régime.

- 17^{ème} congrès de la NSFA, 22-24 juin 2022, Biarritz Prix de la meilleure communication orale.
- Congrès de la Société Francophone du Diabète (SFD), 22-25 mars 2022, Nice.
- Congrès de l'Association Française d'Etude et de Recherche Sur l'Obésité (AFERO), 25-26 novembre 2022 (Virtuel).

Poster communications

Dahik, V.D.; Lhomme, M.; Ponnaiah, M.; Frisdal, E.; Durand, H.; Guillas, I.; Venteclef, N.; Le Goff, W. Membrane phosphatidylethanolamine remodeling by PLA2G2D contributes to the anti-inflammatory phenotype of adipose tissue macrophages. *45^{ème} congrès de l'European Lipoprotein Club (ELC), 6-9 septembre 2021, Tutzing, Allemagne.*

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

(N)-PVM: (non)-perivascular macrophages AA: Arachidonic acid ABCA1/G1: ATP-binding cassette A1/G1 ASC: Adipose stem cells AT: Adipose tissue ATM: Adipose tissue macrophages BAT: Brown adipose tissue BMDM: Bone marrow-derived macrophages **BMI: Body Mass Index** CCL2: C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 2 CEM: Collagen-expressing macrophages Chol: Cholesterol CLS: Crown-like structures CVD: Cardiovascular disease DHA: Docosahexaenoic acid DIO: Diet-induced obesity DNL: De novo lipogenesis EC: Endothelial cells **EE: Energy expenditure** EI: Energy intake EPA: Eicosapentaenoic acid **ER: Endoplasmic reticulum** FAO: Fatty acid oxidation FAS: Fatty acid synthase FFA: Free Fatty Acid HFD: High fat diet **IR: Insulin resistance**

LAM: Lipid-associated macrophages LD: Lipid droplet LPL: Lipoprotein lipase LXR: Liver X Receptor MMe: Metabolically activated macrophages MUFA: Monounsaturated fatty acid NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease NASH: Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis OXPHO: oxidative phosphorylation PE: Phosphatidylethanolamine PC: Phosphatidylcholine PL: Phospholipid PldG: Phosphatidylglycerol PUFA: Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid **ROS:** Reactive oxygen species SFA: Saturated Fatty Acid SL: Sphingolipid SM: Sphingomyelin SREBP: Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Protein T2D: Type 2 Diabetes TG: Triglyceride TLR: Toll-like receptor TRL: Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins VAM: vasculature associated-macrophages VLDL: Very-low-density lipoprotein WAT: White adipose tissue

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1: Obesity and its comorbidities14
Figure 2: Adipose tissue physiological and pathological expansion16
Figure 3: Insulin signaling pathway and target genes18
Figure 4: Evolution of T2D along with inflammatory status19
Figure 5: Human and mouse adipose tissue type and distribution24
Figure 6: Morphological and functional differences between white, brown and beige adipocytes26
Figure 7: Lipogenesis and lipolysis pathways in mature adipocytes
Figure 8: Cellular heterogeneity of the stromal vascular fraction of human AT revealed by single cell
RNA-sequencing
Figure 9: Obese adipose tissue is characterized by an increased infiltration of ATM and a pro-
inflammatory cytokine immune response35
Figure 10: Adipose tissue macrophage polarization profiles
Figure 11: Major transcriptional pathways involved in macrophage polarization and the outcomes of
these states at tissular (secreted molecules) and systemic level
Figure 12: ATM energy metabolism and polarization status48
Figure 13: Lipid handling in adipose tissue macrophages in diet-induced obesity
Figure 14: Membrane structure and composition54
Figure 15: Mechanisms involved in phospholipid synthesis and remodeling
Figure 16: Structure of the membrane ABCG1 transporter64
Figure 17: Proposed mechanism of action of the ABCG1 transporter in lipid efflux
Figure 18: Role of adipocyte ABCG1 in regulating fat mass growth and the installment of obesity71
Figure 19: ABCG1 is a Janus-faced metabolic switch whose function depends on the lipid context72

Table 1: Risk of associated disease and treatment options according to BMI and waist c		
Table 2: ATM subpopulations in adipose tissue	43	
Table 3: Non-exhaustive list of ABC lipid transporters implicated in human disease		

ABSTRACT

Adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) are central players in obesity-associated inflammation and its comorbidities. ATM metabolism is strongly linked to their functional phenotype and dysregulated or disproportionate ATM responses to environmental lipid fluxes during diet-induced obesity (DIO) influence the activation of specific inflammatory and metabolic programs that contribute to the onset of obesity-induced insulin resistance. The mechanisms governing this metabolic adaptation of ATM in DIO are however poorly understood. Our study demonstrates that the membrane Atp-binding cassette g1 (Abcg1) transporter controls ATM functional response to fatty acids (FA) carried by circulating triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL), which are abundant in high energy diets. Mice genetically lacking Abcg1 in the myeloid lineage present an ameliorated inflammatory status in adipose tissue and a reduced insulin resistance. Abcg1-deficient ATM exhibit a less inflammatory phenotype accompanied by a low bioenergetic profile and a modification of FA metabolism pathways. A closer look into ATM lipidome reveals a shift in the handling of FA pools, including a redirection of saturated FA from membrane phospholipids to lipid droplets, and leading to a reduction in membrane rigidity and neutralization of pro-inflammatory FA. ATM from obese human subjects presented the same reciprocal relationship between Abcg1 expression and this inflammatory and metabolic status. Abolition of this protective, anti-inflammatory phenotype in Abcg1-deficient ATM was achieved through the inhibition of lipoprotein lipase (Lpl) activity, thus delineating the importance of the Abcg1/Lpl axis in controlling ATM metabolic inflammation. Overall, our work identifies the rewiring of fatty acid pools by Abcg1 as a new major pathway orchestrating ATM plasticity and insulin resistance in DIO.

Key words: obesity, adipose tissue macrophage, Abcg1, lipid metabolism.

INTRODUCTION

Part I: Obesity

1. Epidemiology and etiology of obesity

Obesity has emerged as a global public health concern in adults as well as in children, and is currently ranked the fifth most common leading cause of death worldwide. The World Health Organization (WHO) defines obesity as an "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health" (World Health Organization 2021). Indeed, obesity is a major risk factor for the development of numerous chronic metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (see chapter 2).

The unit of Body Mass Index (BMI) is the most widely used formula to assess obesity and is calculated by dividing weight in kg to height in m². Any individual with a BMI \ge 30 kg/m² is clinically defined as obese, with certain cutoffs used to further classify obese subjects with increased risk of morbidity and mortality (Table 1). Despite its utility in health screenings, BMI as a measure of adiposity and cardiometabolic outcomes has been often challenged as it does not take into account body composition (i.e. muscle, bone and fat mass), which can be highly variable to patient sex, cardiovascular fitness and race/ethnicity. Waist circumference or waist-to-hip-ratio are two body size measures that have been incorporated in the clinical assessment of obesity and focus on body fat distribution rather than weight. The rationale for the use of these measurements for risk prediction relies of the observation that abdominal/visceral fat distribution (also referred to as android or male-type obesity) is often associated with increased metabolic complications. Inversely, fat accumulation in hips and thighs/subcutaneously (referred to as gynoid obesity and typically associated to the female body) is correlated to better health outcomes (Després 2012, Gadde et al. 2018) (Table1).

Obesity is now regarded as global pandemic whose numbers have nearly tripled over the last 3 decades. Although its prevalence is lower in children than in adults (5% vs 12%, respectively), childhood obesity has seen a much steeper and alarming increase. Systematic data analysis of disease burden attributed to obesity have shown that high BMI was accountable for 4 million deaths worldwide and 120 million disability-adjusted life-years. Moreover, almost 70% of those deaths were due to CVD (GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators et al. 2017). Fully understanding the pathogenesis of obesity is therefore key to curbing the rise in its prevalence. In the following section, we will explore the main causes and consequences of obesity and obesity-related comorbidities, as well as the therapeutic options available today for managing them.

	BMI	Category	Morbidity risk	Waist circumference (M§>102cm, F§>88cm)	Treatment
	≤18.5	.5 Underweight	Low (but risk of other	No increased risk	Lifestyle intervention
			clinical problems)		(LI)
	18.5-24.9	Normal	Average	Increased risk	-
	25-29.9	9 Overweight	Increased High	High rick	LI + Pharmacological
				TIGHTISK	intervention (PI)*
	30-34.9	Obese type I	Moderate	Very high risk	LI + PI + surgery ^{*\$}
	25 20 0	Obese type II:	Sovere	evere Very high risk	II + DI + surgery*
	55-55.5	moderate	Severe		Livrisuigery
	≥40	Obese type	Vory souoro	Vony high risk	II + DI + Surgony
		III: severe	very severe	VELY HIGH LISK	LI + FI + Sulgely



1.1. Environmental/Lifestyle causes

Obesity is a complex disease that issues from the combination of numerous individual factors. However, fundamentally, obesity stems from an imbalance between energy intake (EI) and energy expenditure (EE). When energy consumption is higher than that required for daily expenditure, calories are stored as fat principally in adipose tissue. Fat deposition in non-physiological sites such as liver, muscle, heart and perivascular regions (ectopic fat depots) can also be observed, but only when adipose tissue storage capacity is compromised. Measure of EI is considerably subjected to bias and quite difficult to assess in large scale population studies. However, changes in dietary patterns have been evidenced over the past few decades in both urbanized and rural areas as a consequence of economic growth and food availability. These include an increase in portion size and in the consumption of unhealthy fats, processed meat and refined sugars, (Malik et al. 2013), all of which are low in nutritional quality but high in calories (energy dense foods).

The metabolic consequences of these habits have been assessed by epidemiological studies showing that a consumption of a western-type diet (high sugar, fat and animal protein intake, low vegetable/fruit, whole grain/nuts and fish intake) and industrially ultra-processed foods is strongly positively correlated to weight gain (4.5kg increase), the development of insulin resistance (IR) (2-fold increase) and adverse health outcomes (Pereira et al. 2005, Romieu et al. 2017, Elizabeth et al. 2020). Indeed, simple sugars, saturated fat and sodium have been associated to a higher glycemic load

(Martinez-Perez et al. 2021), as opposed to fiber and polyunsaturated fatty acids which have been shown to be inversely associated to obesity-related comorbidities such as insulin resistance and hyperglycemia in the DASH (The Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) diet (Yashpal et al. 2022). The physiological effects of these nutrients are various and have been extensively studied in numerous settings. In terms of metabolic health, saturated fatty acids have generated the most interest as they have been consensually associated to a much higher cardiometabolic risk (Li et al. 2022b). Indeed, while certainly an important source of stored energy, this particular class of fat is remarkably bioactive and therefore able to influence cellular pathways (i.e. membrane structure and signaling, transcriptional regulation, production of metabolites, etc) linked to inflammation, intracellular lipid storage and overall metabolic disease. These mechanisms will be detailed later on. Interestingly, replacement of these fats by polyunsaturated ones has been shown to have positive effects on plasma lipid levels and glycemic control, while their substitution with carbohydrates has had little effect (Wu et al. 2019). Within polyunsaturated fatty acids, it seems however that ω -3 rather than ω -6 polyunsaturated fats uphold more health benefits and may indeed participate at decreasing the risk of obesity (Simopoulos 2016) . Exposure to certain nutrients and food groups as well as chronic overfeeding therefore guide disease burden by tipping the balance towards a positive energy profile and promoting weight gain.

As opposed to EI, EE is easier to assess as it comprises the energy used to digest and metabolize food (called the thermic effect of food, between 8-10% of total EE); the energy cost of maintaining basal body function (resting energy expenditure, 60% of total EE); and the energy expended in physical activity (Hill et al. 2012). Among these three factors, physical activity is the more variable component of EE and its decrease has been shown to be positively associated to adverse cardiovascular profiles, including a higher BMI, blood sugar and lipid levels and blood pressure (Chau et al. 2014). The contribution of this form of EE to the pandemic of obesity has mostly been possible by the sustained sedentary lifestyle that came with industrialization and the transition to office-based work, motorized transportation systems and the substantial increase in screen time (Malik et al. 2013). Controlling both energy intake and expenditure is therefore key in preventing obesity and obesity-associated comorbidities.

1.2. Genetic and epigenetic factors

The heritability and genetic influence on adiposity and obesity has been studied in genome-wide association studies (GWAS), which have allowed to identify hundreds of genes associated to the development of syndromic and non-syndromic types of obesity. Syndromic obesity develops from chromosomal defects that are associated to genetic syndromes (i.e. Prader-Willi, fragile X, Bardet-Biedl,

Albright) presenting congenital malformations and developmental delay, while non-syndromic obesity is caused by mutations in a single (monogenic) or several (polygenic) genes capable of causing and contributing to the obese phenotype (Bairqdar et al. 2023).

Monogenic obesities are quite rare and develop early in childhood. They are caused by mutations in the hypothalamic leptin-melanocortin pathway which has a major role in regulating the energy balance. This system is activated by the adipose tissue-derived hormone leptin (*LEP* gene), that binds its receptor (*LEPR*) in the hypothalamus and induces the production of pro-opiomelanocortin (*POMC*). This in turn leads to the synthesis of the prohormone convertase 1 (*PCSK1*) and the α -melanocytestimulating hormone (α -*MSH*), with α -MSH being able to induce satiety by binding to the melanocortin 4 receptor (MRC4) (Dubern et al. 2023). As such, subjects with homozygous or heterozygous deficiency of any of these genes have been observe to develop severe obesity early in life notably as a consequence of major hyperphagia (Valette et al. 2013, Farooqi 2022). Other genes (i.e. single-minded homolog1 (SIM1), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)) involved in or regulating the pathway mentioned above have also been linked with severe obesity (Dubern et al. 2023).

Regarding polygenic obesities, more than 140 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been associated with obesity-related metabolic traits (Romieu et al. 2017). For instance, subjects carrying a risk allele (rs9930506A>G) for the *FTO* gene (Fat mass and obesity-associated protein) have been associated to a higher BMI and incidence of T2D (Frayling et al. 2007). Other *FTO* SNPs have also been found to be significantly associated with adiposity and plasma lipids (total and LDL-cholesterol and triglycerides)(Duicu et al. 2016). Variants in the genes coding for PPARGC1A et PPARGCB, activators of PPARG (Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma) who regulates metabolic homeostasis, have also been reported as associated to visceral adiposity and IR (Franks et al. 2014). Gene variants resulting in low levels of hormones adiponectin, ghrelin, pancreatic polypeptide (PP) and peptide YY (PYY) have also been linked to the obese phenotype, as they are implicated in glucose and lipid metabolism and the brain-gut axis regulating appetite (Bairqdar et al. 2023).

Others studies have put forward the part of epigenetics in early-life metabolic dysregulations. Indeed, significantly different DNA methylation patterns have been observed in obese vs lean subjects and associated to obesity features (Cordero et al. 2015, Fall et al. 2017). Methylation of CpG sites at the carnitine palmitoyl-transferase 1A (*CPT1A*) or the ATP-Binding Cassette G1 (*ABCG1*) transporter loci have for example been associated with BMI and the metabolic syndrome (Gagnon et al. 2014, Demerath et al. 2015). Altogether, these data support the notion that (epi)-genetics are important contributors to obesity that should not be overlooked when studying the pathogenesis of this disease.

1.3. Other factors influencing obesity

Gut microbiota dysbiosis has also been associated to metabolic homeostasis. Indeed, bacteria in our intestine interact with ingested food, pathogens and immune cells and therefore represent a cornerstone linking metabolic and inflammatory systems. Its dysregulation has been associated to not only obesity, but also diabetes, CVD and more largely metabolic syndrome (Romieu et al. 2017). Sequencing technologies have allowed us to determine that obese patients often present an enrichment or depletion of certain bacterial groups, which has been linked to the host capacity to digest and absorb certain carbohydrates and lipids, thus influencing the energy balance and obese phenotype (Aron-Wisnewsky and Clément 2016). This has been validated by studies of fecal transfer from obese mice or humans into germ-free mice, in which the recipient, lean mice developed obesity and metabolic alterations in the absence of increased food intake (Turnbaugh et al. 2008, Ridaura et al. 2013).

Finally, other factors directly or indirectly influencing obesity include, but are not limited to sleep duration (as it relates to sleep quality but also the timing of meals)(Mazri et al. 2022), stress, smoking, household income and alcohol consumption. Ultimately, obesity is a multifactorial disorder and further efforts are necessary to better understand the mechanisms related to its pathogenesis in order to counteract and limit its impact on public health.

2. Comorbidities and complications of obesity

Obesity can have a significant impact on health-related quality of life given the burden it relays to the development of other diseases (Figure 1). Indeed, obesity can affect nearly every organ system, from the cardiovascular system to the neuroendocrine and immune systems, and health care costs attributable to overweight- and obesity-related diseases can come up to 26% of total expenses (Lette et al. 2016). Here we will focus on some of the more common comorbidities of obesity and how the association of these diseases results in what is referred to as the metabolic syndrome.



Figure 1: Obesity and its comorbidities. Obesity is a major risk factors for numerous physiological and psychological disorders. The comorbidities that we have developed in this manuscript are in red. if associated, these may constitute the metabolic syndrome. Adapted from Cypess, 2022.

2.1. Cardiovascular disease (CVD)

Obesity not only increases the risk but also worsens pre-existing conditions such as coronary heart disease/atherosclerosis, high systemic blood pressure, atrial fibrillation and heart failure. The Framingham Heart study was one of the first large, community-based reports confirming the significant role of obesity in cardiovascular disease, as it revealed that heart disease risk doubled with obesity and that 11% and 14% of cases of heart failure in men and women, respectively, were attributable to obesity alone (Kenchaiah et al. 2002). This may stem from several different mechanism: unbalanced diets and chronic overfeeding can lead to dyslipidemia characterized by an increase in plasma triglyceride (TG) levels and plasma cholesterol (Chol) levels, notably those in low-density lipoproteins (LDL). This in turn results in ectopic lipid deposition in arteries, thus promoting macrophage foam cell formation, inflammation, and atherosclerotic disease (Csige et al. 2018). Epicardial and pericardial abnormal fat accumulation are also associated to a significant risk of atherosclerotic CVD and heart failure. Indeed, epicardial AT not only functions as mechanical support protecting arteries from cardiac contraction, but also serves as a significant energy source for adjacent myocardium. In accordance with this role, abnormal epicardial AT expansion during obesity has been associated with lipid infiltration in the atrial wall, leading to conduction abnormalities and atrial fibrillation. It has also been associated to inflammatory cytokine production, thereby potentiating atherosclerotic disease (Gaborit et al. 2017). Other direct or indirect mechanisms through which

obesity leads to CVD include hemodynamic changes, activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system that regulated blood pressure and vascular resistance, and endothelial dysfunction (Csige et al. 2018). Coherently, all of these CVD markers have shown to be positively correlated to BMI and intraabdominal obesity (Varbo et al. 2015, Powell-Wiley et al. 2021).

2.2. NAFLD

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is defined as the ectopic accumulation of fat in the liver independent of alcohol consumption and is one of the hallmark features associated with obesity (up to 90% prevalence in individuals with significant visceral obesity vs 3-15% in lean persons) (Cariou 2022). NALFD is characterized by excessive intrahepatic TG content (steatosis), which can then lead to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH; inflammatory state) and even cirrhosis (advanced cell damage, fibrosis). Steatosis is the consequence of adipose tissue hypertrophy and dysfunction following excess energy intake: as the expansion capabilities of adipose tissue dwindle down, TG lipolysis from this tissue increases, which in turn results in enhanced hepatic fatty acid uptake. This combined with liver capacity to synthesize lipids (*de novo* lipogenesis), which also escalates during obesity, further contributes to the fatty phenotype and promotes lipotoxicity. While the liver is also capable of exporting lipids via TG secretion in very-low density lipoproteins (VLDL), the secretion and oxidation rate of lipids does not allow to compensate for the upregulation of these other mechanisms (Fabbrini et al. 2010).

2.3. Low-grade systemic inflammation

The inflammatory component of obesity has been evidenced in overweight and obese individuals who present altered serum levels of several inflammatory markers, including increased C-reactive protein (CRP) and cytokines interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFα) (Khanna et al. 2022). The initial trigger for inflammation is still not yet fully understood, but several potential mechanisms include an increased concentration of gut-derived LPS and other antigens as a consequence of enhanced intestinal permeability and microbiota dysbiosis; increased plasma concentration of non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) from the diet that can directly activate inflammatory pathways such as those controlled by TLR2/4; and also stress signals resulting from abnormal adipose tissue expansion and consequent adipocyte death (Saltiel and Olefsky 2017, Ahmed et al. 2021).

As the principal energy storage organ, adipose tissue is capable of expansion by increasing both its cell size (hypertrophy) and cell number (hyperplasia); this faculty is however compromised during chronic nutrient overload leading to altered functionality and cellular stress. Markers of adipocyte stress include endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondrial dysfunction, unfolded protein response and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Ahmed et al. 2021). This in turn results in the release of

a cascade of cytokines (i.e. IL-6, TNFα) and chemokines (i.e. CCL2) that coordinately induce the recruitment of inflammatory macrophages issued from blood monocytes, but also the proliferation and activation of resident immune cells (mostly macrophages and neutrophils). Coherently, studies have shown that both adiposity and adipocyte size are positively correlated to adipose tissue macrophage (ATM) numbers in both visceral and subcutaneous AT in mice and humans (Weisberg et al. 2003). Adipocyte expansion also leads to hypoxia, extracellular matrix remodeling and fibrosis, all participating to local inflammation at the expense of tissue and cellular homeostasis (Karczewski et al. 2018) (Figure 2).

It is important to highlight that in the initial installment of obesity, it is indeed hypertrophic adipocytes that drive the inflammatory environment in AT; upon long-term caloric surplus however, this pivotal role in inflammation and inflammatory cytokine production is sustained by ATM (Hotamisligil et al. 1993, Lionetti et al. 2009). The precise role and mechanisms of ATM-dependent inflammation during obesity will be detailed later on (see chapter 3). Similar mechanisms of obesity-induced cellular stress and immune cell-mediated tissue inflammation can also be observed in liver, muscle, brain and pancreas (Saltiel and Olefsky 2017), the latter being particularly relevant for the pathogenesis of diabetes.



Figure 2: Adipose tissue physiological and pathological expansion. A) In physiological, lean conditions, AT expansion is characterized by adipocyte hyperplasia rather than hypertrophy and a rather low number of adipose tissue macrophages (ATM). Both adipocytes and ATM display high insulin sensitivity. In obese conditions, hypertrophic adipocytes induce the recruitment of inflammatory ATM, which heightens the inflammatory state and reduces insulin sensitivity. New vasculature formation is also impaired, leading to fibrosis and hypoxia. Adapted from Kusminski et al., 2016. ATM: light blue cells; pro-inflammatory ATM: red cells; hypertrophic adipocytes: grey cells; NK cells: orange cells; T-regulatory cells: green cells; Vasculature: red lines.

2.4. Insulin Resistance

Insulin signaling starts with its binding to the insulin receptor (INSR) at the plasma membrane of target cells, which activates the receptors intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity that phosphorylates the insulin receptor substrate (IRS), the PI3 kinase (PI3K) and the AKT protein. AKT then initiates the insulin response by activating or repressing downstream targets genes implicated in glucose and lipid homeostasis (Figure 3) (Czech 2017). As such, insulin is able to inhibit hepatic gluconeogenesis and hypothalamus-stimulated food intake through activation of the FOXO1 transcription factor, induce de *de novo* lipogenesis (DNL) by upregulation of SREBP1c, promote GLUT-4 mediated glucose uptake by adipocytes and skeletal muscle and suppress adipocyte lipolysis by inhibiting adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) and hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) (Li et al. 2022a). Given this plethora of biological functions, dysregulation of insulin signaling pathway has been found to be associated with the severity of obesity and insulin resistance (Guo 2014).

The causal relationship between obesity and the development of insulin resistance has been studied in numerous settings and has identified obesity-related chronic inflammation as one of the most important causes of peripheral resistance to insulin action. Activation of inflammatory pathways such as NLRP3, JNK or NF-KB have indeed been shown to block insulin action by promoting phosphorylation and inactivation of IRS (Lionetti et al. 2009, Tanti and Jager 2009, Saltiel and Olefsky 2017), while their inhibition has proved able to maintain insulin signaling and sensitivity (Hirosumi et al. 2002, Vandanmagsar et al. 2011). It is important to note that given their role on inflammation, ATM have been identified as the main effectors in the development of local and systemic insulin resistance (Hotamisligil et al. 1993, Xu et al. 2003), with studies accordingly suggesting that obesity-triggered insulin resistance is in large part a consequence of chronic inflammation sustained by ATM.



Figure 3: Insulin signaling pathway and target genes. Insulin binds its receptor and induces the phosphorylation of the IRS substrate, leading to the recruitment, phosphorylation and activation the PI3K/AKT molecules. AKT activation is needed for insulin regulation of pathways intervening in glucose and lipid homeostasis, and has been found to be attenuated during obesity. Adapted from Li et al., 2022.

2.5. Type 2 diabetes

T2D is a condition characterized by chronically elevated levels of fasting blood glucose (glycemia > 1,26 g/L or HbA1C levels > 7%) as a consequence of ineffective or insufficient insulin action. Several stages are needed for obesity and IR to transition into T2D and largely rely on the alteration of pancreatic β cell function. β cell are responsible for the production, storage and secretion of insulin and are therefore crucial for glycemic control. There exists indeed a feedback loop between elevated glucose levels due to overfeeding and β cell-mediated increased insulin supply (up to two-fold greater in obese subjects) (Johnson 2021), which allows to compensate for the decreased insulin signaling during obesity and maintains glucose tolerance. However, the continuous demand of insulin as well as the inflammatory environment secondary to obesity promote β cell dysfunction and therefore its decline in function but also in mass, leading to the installment of T2D. Coherently, a reduction of about 50% of β cell numbers and up to 75% of its functional capacity has been evidenced in diabetic patients (Kahn et al. 2006).

It is important to note that cellular manifestations of T2D may materialize years before being able to fully clinically diagnose T2D, and that the disease if often preceded by an insidious but reversible phase of pre-diabetes (fasting glycemia between 1,10 - 1,25 g/L). Moreover, it has also been documented that hyper secretion of insulin may occur in obese subjects in the absence of IR, and that hyperinsulinemia can also be driver of IR (Shanik et al. 2008, van Vliet et al. 2020)(Figure 4).



Figure 4: Evolution of T2D along with inflammatory status. Inflammation is one of the initial steps leading to peripheral insulin resistance following a metabolic challenge, which is then compensated by an increase in β -cell-dependent insulin secretion. However, as this mechanism is exhausted due to chronically elevated blood glucose levels, β -cell failure in imminent. T2D is installed, along with persistently high levels of inflammation. From Orliaguet et al., 2020.

To conclude, we see now that any of these conditions potentiate each other and are thus often found associated to one another (= the metabolic syndrome), making its prevention or management essential to improve overall health. We would also like to highlight the inflammatory trait observed in CVD, NAFLD and T2D and more globally in obesity, and how controlling inflammation could be an effective mechanism for maintaining metabolic homeostasis.

3. Treatments

3.1. Lifestyle interventions

Lifestyle modifications consisting of diet and physical activity are the core of obesity therapeutic management and its comorbidities, and require the building of a skill set of strategies and behavioral knowledge in order to properly implement and maintain these adjustments. Weight management may begin with the introduction of dietary changes aimed at a reduction of 170 to 250 kcal per day or 325

to 480 kcal per day for a 10% and 20% weight loss, respectively (Hill et al. 2012). It is important to note that the type of diet (i.e. low-carbohydrates or low-fat diets, vegetarian diets, etc.) is not a predictor of success; instead, studies have shown that dietary adherence is key to substantial weight loss (Ryan and Kahan 2018), as only 10-20% of individuals actually achieve \geq 10% weight loss over 1 to 2 years (Cariou 2022).

Increased physical activity is another pilar of comprehensive lifestyle therapies, especially since evidence suggests that exercise combined with diet is more effective at improving body composition (loss of fat mass but preservation of lean and muscle mass) that any of these interventions alone (Romieu et al. 2017). Guidelines recommend 150-300 minutes of aerobic moderate-intensity physical activity per week for weight loss, and similar endurance training times for greater reduction of visceral AT and improvement of metabolic parameters (reduced LDL-cholesterol and TG levels, increased muscle glucose uptake) even without weight loss (Ryan and Kahan 2018, Heffron et al. 2020, Powell-Wiley et al. 2021).

Introduction of any or a combination of these lifestyle adjustments has proven beneficial for preventing obesity-related complications. For instance, adherence to a Mediterranean diet (high vegetable/fruits, nuts, cereals, whole grains, olive oil, fish and low sugar, red meat and dairy products) and other similar diets (i.e. Nordic, DASH, vegetarian diets) has shown to decrease the risk for major adverse cardiovascular events in subjects already at risk, even in the absence of weight loss (Gadde et al. 2018, Trautwein and McKay 2020, Powell-Wiley et al. 2021). Similarly, a low-fat diet in T2D patients was effective at promoting weight loss and reduction of waist circumference, but also at improving HbA1C, TG levels and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels (Zhou et al. 2022). Exercise has been shown to significantly improve liver, pericardial and epicardial fat accumulation (Powell-Wiley et al. 2021), although significant and sustained weight-loss (\geq 10%) has been required to fully reverse fibrosis and NASH (Cariou 2022). Finally, weight loss by dietary or exercise changes have also been associated with improved inflammatory status by reducing macrophage content in visceral and subcutaneous AT in mice and humans, then resulting in improved insulin sensitivity (Heffron et al. 2020).

It is important to note that weight recidivism is a frequent problem faced by people with obesity, notably due to a lack of compliance with the aforementioned dietary and exercise habits and perturbations in the levels of appetite-related hormones and resting energy expenditure (Busetto et al. 2021). Long-term management of obesity is therefore a challenge and can lead to more aggressive interventions involving pharmacological or surgical treatment.

3.2. Pharmacotherapy

Pharmacological intervention is preconized in obese subjects with BMI >27 kg/m² presenting comorbidities and in those with BMI > 30 kg/m² (Table 1), and is often offered when lifestyle modifications fail to reach the objective or to sustain lost weight. If more than 5% weight-loss is not achieved at 3 months starting therapy, new treatment options should be considered; however, if effect and tolerance are attained, it is recommended to continue the medication long term (Gadde et al. 2018, Heffron et al. 2020). There are currently four drugs available for the management of obesity (efficacy, dose and side effects reviewed elsewhere (Ryan and Kahan 2018)), although only two of them are commercialized in France. Orlistat is an agent that decreases intestinal fat absorption through the inhibition of pancreatic lipases responsible for the hydrolysis of dietary fat. As expected, this facilitates weight loss (~3%) and has also shown to improve metabolic and inflammatory parameters including HbA1C, LDL-cholesterol and insulin sensitivity. There is also the glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) agonist liraglutide, which was initially used for the treatment of T2D but has now been approved for obesity as daily subcutaneous injections (Deng et al. 2022). While it exerts similar beneficial effects on weight loss and metabolic/anti-inflammatory effects as orlistat, liraglutide mechanism of action relies on increasing insulin secretion in pancreatic β cells while also reducing glucagon (a hormone that increases blood glucose levels) production in pancreatic α cells (Heffron et al. 2020). Semaglutide is another GLP-1 agonists that has been demonstrated to exert a more significant weight loss (up to 15%) and cardiometabolic improvements (Wilding et al. 2021) than liraglutide, and has recently been approved for prescription in France in adults with a BMI \geq 35 kg/m².

We would like to mention that there are a number of other classes of drugs with beneficial effects on peripheral fat accumulation, insulin sensitivity, glucose tolerance and inflammation that are prescribed for management of monogenic obesities and obesity-associated disorders such as NAFLD, T2D and CVD; these are however beyond the scope of this manuscript.

3.3. Bariatric surgery

Bariatric surgery is considered a treatment option in obese patients with a BMI \geq to 40kg/m² or as low as 30kg/m² depending on the presence of at least one obesity-related comorbidity and also on the type of surgery to be performed (Table 1) (Gadde et al. 2018). There are several common bariatric surgical procedures, all of them based on restrictive or malabsorptive mechanisms for weight loss and cardiometabolic risk improvement. Among them, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass presents the higher sustained weight loss (more than 30% and durable for at least 5 years) than others, plus the benefit of markedly contributing to T2D remission (Heffron et al. 2020). Long-term care and adapted nutritional supplementation are however necessary in most cases, and complications (i.e. nutritional deficiencies including vitamin D and calcium deficiency, ulcers, bowel obstruction, among others) may manifest even years after surgery. Another adverse outcome associated to bariatric surgery is suboptimal weight loss (less than 40-60% of excess body weight over 2 years) and/or weight regain (30-70% weight increase depending on the type of procedure) (Noria et al. 2023). The factors influencing postoperative weight regain included dietary, psychiatric and genetic factors, but may extend to cellular (adipose) plasticity as maintenance of post-surgery benefits have been associated to adipose tissue function (Hoffstedt et al. 2017).

In summary, obesity is a disease of multifactorial etiology and associated with the development of serious comorbidities, all contributing to reduce individuals' quality of life. Although several therapeutic options are available today, prevention and management of obesity has proven far from easy, mostly due to the difficulty of attaining long-term weight loss and thus actually reducing cardiometabolic risk. These challenges not only highlight the importance of prevention, but also the need of further research on promising targets such as immune cell metabolism as a way of effectively preventing the onset and progression of obesity.

Part II: Adipose tissue

Adipose tissue is a loose, connective tissue formed of several types of cells including adipocytes (main fraction, specialized in storing metabolic energy in the form of cytoplasmic vesicles called lipid droplets) and a non-adipocyte fraction (the stromal vascular fraction, involved in AT homeostasis). Under physiological conditions, adipose tissue architecture and function are tightly regulated. Under obese conditions, however, many of its features such as localization, size and metabolic behavior are altered. In this section, we will give a brief overview of the different types and colors of AT depots, with a particular focus on white adipose tissue (WAT) and its role in health and disease.

1. Types of adipose tissue

1.1. White adipose tissue

i. Localization

As mentioned in the first part of this manuscript, human WAT is often separated into visceral (vWAT, 15% of total body fat under physiological conditions) and subcutaneous (scWAT, 80% of total body fat under physiological conditions) depots, these localizations being associated with higher and lower magnitude of metabolic disease risk, respectively (Gadde et al. 2018). scWAT tissue is found superficially in dermal, facial, or abdominal and gluteofemoral regions, while vWAT is located in deeper regions surrounding the organs (i.e. pericardial, perirenal, omental, gonadal) (Figure 5). It is important to note that these depots are mostly conserved between species, although some differences between mice and humans have been evidenced regarding the vWAT. For instance, the inguinal and gonadal WAT depots are particularly developed in mice, especially during diet-induced obesity. Omental (intra-abdominal) WAT is only found in humans, although most research agrees that this depot is largely comparable to inguinal or gonadal AT (Börgeson et al. 2022).

ii. Origin

White adipogenesis begins with the commitment of a pluripotent stem cell from the mesoderm (Myf5⁻ or Wt1⁺ mesenchymal stem cells) into the adipocyte lineage, then giving rise to an adipocyte precursor (preadipocyte) that differentiates and matures into an adipocyte with full functional properties (Ye et al. 2023). This latter phase is regulated by a number of molecules, among which PPARy has been identified as a major player. Indeed, overexpression of this receptor is sufficient to induce adipose differentiation (Tontonoz et al. 1994). Other pro-adipogenic factors include C/EBPs, Kruppel-like factors (KLFs), and BMP receptors which actually work in concert with PPARy to regulate adipogenesis (Ye et al. 2023). The modulation of PPARy expression or activity was therefore considered as a potential target for the treatment of obesity, which led to the development of synthetic PPARy agonists called thiazolidinediones (TZD). Although they did manage to improve glucose tolerance and

insulin sensitivity, they presented significant side effects (i.e. weight gain, fluid retention, edema, congestive heart failure, bone fracture, among others) that hampered its use (Luo and Liu 2016). Instead, partial PPARy modulators (SPPARM) have been developed to improve dyslipidemia and insulin sensitivity with minimal undesired side effects as compared to TZD (DePaoli et al. 2014, Yamashita et al. 2020).

WAT develops in the second trimester of pregnancy and is fully established by birth (Saely et al. 2012). As such, adipocyte numbers are quite stable during adulthood, with studies showing that adipocyte generation rate is not altered during obesity (Spalding et al. 2008). It is however important to note that thus far, studies investigating fat turnover have focused solely on cell division with little to no attention to postnatal adipocyte progenitor recruitment (Hepler and Gupta 2017), which could significantly alter the adipocyte pool and turnover, especially in obese states.



Figure 5: Human and mouse adipose tissue type and distribution. Principal human (A) and mouse (B) AT depots from frontal and sagittal planes. BAT depots are in brown, WAT depots are in yellow (human) and blue (mouse) and WAT pads with high browning capacity are in orange (mouse only). From Mukherjee et al., 2022 and Zhan et al., 2018.

iii. Morphology and function

White adipocytes (25-200µm of size) present a particular morphology characterized of a single, large lipid droplet that takes up about 90% of the cell volume while the nucleus and organelles are flattened and located at the periphery. Few elongated and thin mitochondria are also present (Saely et al. 2012) (Figure 6). WAT mass increases with age and ranges from 15 to 25% total body mass in adult men and 20-30% in adult women under lean conditions (Gallagher et al. 2000, Ibrahim 2010, Cypess 2022). In individuals with obesity, this tissue can account for up to 50% of total body mass

(Maniyadath et al. 2023). WAT primary function is to store calories in the form of TG during the postprandial state, and release them as free fatty acids (FFA) if needed to fuel peripheral organs during fasting. The release of lipids from WAT is dependent on a number of parameters and molecules, among which we find insulin. The sensitivity of WAT depots towards insulin is therefore key for tissue proper function (see section 2). Besides this role in lipid storage, WAT also serves as a major endocrine organ that secretes numerous molecules (i.e. leptin and adiponectin, IL6, IL4, etc.) that regulates systemic energy homeostasis and assure a permanent crosstalk between adipocytes and other cell types (i.e. immune cells such as macrophages) within AT. Together, these roles have helped place this tissue at the forefront of metabolic disorders such as obesity. Finally, white adipocytes also provide a layer for mechanical protection against injury and thermal insulation.

1.2. Brown adipose tissue

i. Localization

Contrary to the initial notion that BAT is restricted to fetal development and neonates, studies using positron emission tomography (PET) and radioactively labeled fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) have allowed to detect metabolically active BAT in adults (Zhang et al. 2018). This has allowed to up its volume from 0.1 to 0.5% of total body mass in humans (2 to 5% of body mass in mice) to up to 8.5% (Saely et al. 2012, Cypess 2022). BAT in infants is mainly found in the interscapular region, although this depot significantly diminishes with age. In adults, BAT presence is located to the axillary, cervical, supraclavicular and paravertebral and perirenal regions. In mice, brown adipocytes can be found in similar locations that include cervical and inter- and subscapular regions (Sanchez-Gurmaches et al. 2016) (Figure 5).

ii. Origin

BAT emerges mid gestation from mesodermal progenitor cells expressing Myf5⁺, but also the transcription factors Pax3 and Pax7. Engagement towards the adipocyte lineage is defined by the expression of PRDM16, which determines a transcriptional switch from myoblasts to brown adipocytes. Other genes such as BMP7 and Ebf have also been implicated in brown adipogenesis through the expression of PRDM16 and UCP1 (Sanchez-Gurmaches et al. 2016, Ye et al. 2023). Interestingly, another type that brown adipocyte that does not come from Myf5⁺ progenitors has also been evidenced. Indeed, studies have shown that certain BAT depots such as cervical and perirenal BAT arise from Myf5⁻ precursors (Luo and Liu 2016). Moreover, Myf5⁻ brown cells have also been identified in WAT depots, probably stemming from the activation of dormant stem cells (Saely et al. 2012) or from WAT browning.

iii. Morphology and function

As opposed to WAT, brown adipocytes are characterized by small but multiple lipid droplets and a particularly high density of large, spherical mitochondria and express important levels of uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) (Figure 6) conferring these organelles a high oxidative capacity (Ye et al. 2023). Brown adipose tissue (BAT) main function is to dissipate energy through heat, a process called nonshivering thermogenesis which relies largely on β -oxidation of fatty acids. Besides this energy source, brown adipocytes also have a significantly high rate of glucose uptake, which can not only serve as for ATP production and FA synthesis, but has also implicated this tissue in the regulation of energy balance, obesity and insulin resistance. Increasing brown adipocyte mass through BAT transplantation was indeed revealed to upregulate insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in endogenous BAT, WAT, and heart, which was accompanied by improved glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity and body weight despite a high-fat diet (Stanford et al. 2013). Finally, BAT can also act as an endocrine organ capable of secreting a number of molecules (i.e. FGF21) that can regulate glucose homeostasis and contribute to the thermogenic machinery. Despite this high metabolic profile however, this tissue is relatively resistant to obesity-induced inflammation (Luo and Liu 2016).



Figure 6: Morphological and functional differences between white, brown and beige adipocytes. White adipocytes are characterized by a single lipid droplet taking up most of the cellular space and are implicated in lipid storage. Brown adipocytes present multiple small lipid droplets and a high mitochondrial density. Beige/brite adipocytes present and intermediate phenotype. Adapted from Evans et al., 2019.

1.3. Beige/brite adipose tissue

i. Localization

Given the transient state of beige adipocyte (white adipocytes that adopt a brown-like phenotype = browning), there is no particular depot of beige AT. It seems however that in mice, the location of

beige adipocytes was mostly observed in the inguinal region (Vitali et al. 2012) (Figure 5). This has been attributed to a differential capacity of distinct WAT depots to undergo browning, with inguinal WAT being able to better respond to browning stimuli than gonadal/epididymal WAT by upregulating genes implicated in thermogenesis (Jia et al. 2016). In regards to human beige AT, it has been principally observed in the supraclavicular and neck regions (Cheng et al. 2021).

ii. Origin

Beige adipocytes can either originate from the trans-differentiation of mature white adipocytes, or from the *de novo* differentiation of AT progenitors in WAT depots (Myf5⁻ cells). The differentiation process is induced by a number of stimuli, including cold exposure, exercise or hormonal regulation. Among the factors that stimulate browning we find norepinephrine, FGF21, BMP7, among others (Brestoff and Artis 2015, Maniyadath et al. 2023). Interestingly, WAT browning capacity has been found to be reduced in white adipocytes from obese individuals in comparison with lean subjects (Carey et al. 2014).

iii. Morphology and function

Beige adipocytes are characterized with an intermediate phenotype between white and brown adipocytes in terms of lipid droplet size and number of mitochondria (Ye et al. 2023)(Figure 6), thereby representing the bridge between lipid storage and thermogenesis and highlighting the relevance of WAT browning as a therapeutic target in obesity and T2D. This notion has been supported by the fact that selective ablation of beige but not brown adipocytes by targeting the PRDM16 gene negatively impact diet-induced obesity, insulin resistance and steatosis (Cohen et al. 2014).

For the remaining of this manuscript and given the prominent role of WAT in the development of obesity and diet-induced inflammation and IR, we have chosen to focus only on this particular AT type. Nevertheless, the contribution of other colors of AT to whole body homeostasis and cardiometabolic outcomes should not be overlooked. These are detailed elsewhere (van Marken Lichtenbelt et al. 2009, Virtanen et al. 2009, Kusminski et al. 2016, González et al. 2017, Morigny et al. 2021).

2. White adipose tissue in health and disease.

2.1. Metabolic role

Lipid turnover in WAT is governed by a delicate balance between lipid input (synthesis and storage in lipid droplets) and lipid output (removal by lipolysis or export). On average, the lipid content of an adipocyte is renewed six times on a 10-year lifespan, as assessed by ¹⁴C measurement, and that lipid turnover rate strongly increases with BMI, suggesting an increase in lipid input but a decrease in output

(Arner et al. 2011). These mechanisms are controlled by a number of nutritional and hormonal regulations which will detailed below.

i. The lipid droplet (LD)

LD assembly begins with the accumulation of small amounts of esterified cholesterol and TG in the ER. The resulting oil lens is a lipid droplet intermediate that expands and is released from the ER membrane in a mechanism that is called budding. Phospholipids (PL) and other surface proteins (i.e. seipin, perilipins) then surround the nascent LD and facilitate its growth and maturation (Olzmann and Carvalho 2019). The main function of LD is to maintain a readily available stock of FA that can be mobilized when needed (lipolysis, see below). Another, equally important role is to protect the cell against FFA-induced lipotoxicity. Indeed, FA can exert deleterious activities (i.e. disrupt membrane order, participate in the synthesis of cytotoxic lipid species such as ceramides, induce activation of inflammatory pathways, etc) when found in their free form. Esterification and sequestration of FFA in the form of TG inside LD therefore represents a protective mechanism where these lipids are rendered neutral.

ii. Lipid storage and synthesis

Most of the lipids that are stored in adipocyte LD originate from TG-rich lipoproteins (TRL) in the circulation such as VLDL and chylomicrons. Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) allows the hydrolysis of these TRL and the subsequent release of FFA, that then enter the adipocyte either through passive diffusion or through interaction with membrane-specific receptors such as the translocase CD36, fatty acid binding proteins (FABPs), caveolin 1 (Thompson et al. 2010). Diffusion-mediated FA transport across the lipid bilayer occurs by rapid FA flip-flop into the internal cellular membrane (Simard et al. 2008) and is mostly associated to low plasma long-chain FA concentrations. On the contrary, FA transport through membrane transporters is slower but can be stimulated by dietary and molecular stimuli such as insulin (Chabowski et al. 2007). Of note, uptake of larger lipid particles (i.e. remnant VLDL still containing FA) is also possible but is rather mediated by other receptors such as VLDLR. Once FA are inside the cell, they can then be converted into Acyl-COA before esterification into a glycerol-3-phosphate TG backbone by sequential action of several acyltransferases including AGPATs and DGATs (Morigny et al. 2021), which allows their final storage in LD (Figure 7).

TG can also originate from endogenous glucose by a process called *de novo* lipogenesis (DNL). In this case, glucose enters the cell through the GLUT4 transporter and is then metabolized into citrate via glycolysis and the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Citrate is the first substrate required for DNL, as it allows the production of acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA which are in turn used for palmitate (PA) synthesis by fatty acid synthase (FAS). PA can then be esterified into a TG backbone for storage, although certain modifications in terms on saturation degree and chain length can be performed beforehand (Morigny et al. 2021). While DNL is stimulated by both insulin and glucose either by upregulation of transporters implicated in FA and glucose uptake, or simply by increasing substrate availability, high-fat diets have been shown to inhibit this mechanism (Song et al. 2018). In accordance, DNL in WAT has been found to be significantly decreased in obese individuals compared to lean subjects (Eissing et al. 2013). This process is nonetheless essential for AT homeostasis, as adipocytespecific inhibition of DNL was observed to cause insulin resistance and inflammation in chow and HFDfed mice (Vijayakumar et al. 2017), and to be associated with metabolic risk markers in humans (Eissing et al. 2013).



Figure 7: Lipogenesis and lipolysis pathways in mature adipocytes. In lipogenesis, triglyceride (TG)-rich lipoproteins such as chylomicrons (CM) and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) are hydrolyzed by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) thus resulting in the liberation of FA acids (FA). These FA enter the adipocyte and are esterified for storage in the form of TG. These TG can then be hydrolyzed by the opposing mechanism called lipolysis, which is mediated by the sequential action of several intracellular lipases. The resultant FA can then be secreted into the circulation. Adapted from Badimon et al., 2015. FABP, fatty acid-binding protein; FAT/CD36, fatty acid translocase; FATP, fatty acid transport protein; GLUT4, glucose transporter type 4; HSL, hormone-sensitive lipase.

iii. Lipid release

Periods of high energy demand such as fasting, physical exercise or stress induce the mobilization of lipid stores in LD. TG breakdown is performed by the sequential action of three lipases: first, adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) catalyzes TG hydrolysis into diacylglycerol (DAG), which is then converted into monoacylglycerol by the hormone sensitive lipase (HSL). The final step involves monoacylglycerol lipase (MGL) for the release of the last FA from the glycerol backbone. The signals that mediate this process are insulin, catecholamines and natriuretic peptides, although certain inflammatory cytokines such as TNF have also been found to participate in its regulation (Morigny et al. 2021) (Figure 7). Furthermore, the activity of lipases is highly dependent on their interaction with other proteins, as well as on their localization near the LD membrane. For instance, ATGL recruitment to the LD surface and subsequent activity depend on its interaction with CG1-58 and perilipin 5, the first factor enhancing ATGL lipolytic action and the latter inhibiting it (Wang et al. 2011). Other pathways of lipid mobilization alternative to lipolysis have been described and include lipophagy (LD are engulfed by lysosomes and degraded after the action of lysosomal acid lipase (LIPA)), and the release of LD-derived exosome-like vesicles (Flaherty et al. 2019, Zhang et al. 2022). Both this mechanisms are active in lean states, although their rate significantly goes up in obesity (Flaherty et al. 2019), suggesting they are highly dependent on adipocyte size.

2.2. Endocrine role

Originally thought of as a simple reservoir, AT is now known as a major endocrine organ that can synthesize and release a large number of molecules (i.e. hormones, cytokines, growth factors) collectively called adipokines. This allows adipocytes to communicate with other cells within the AT but also with extra-adipose tissues and thus influence whole body homeostasis.

i. Leptin

Leptin is a 16kDa protein coded by the Ob gene and secreted in proportion to fat mass (Greenberg and Obin 2006). In obesity, leptin secretion levels are significantly increased, studies have shown that chronically elevated concentrations of this adipokine induce resistance to its action in target cells by activation of specific inhibitors such as the suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS-3)(Münzberg et al. 2004). Since its receptor is expressed in most cells, leptin has a plethora of targets and functional responses involving lipid and glucose metabolism, energy intake and expenditure, among others. As already seen, leptin signaling in the hypothalamus controls satiety and energy expenditure through the leptin-melanocortin pathway (Farooqi 2022), thereby facilitating body weight loss. Besides this major role, leptin is also able to inhibit hepatic gluconeogenesis (Rossetti et al. 1997) and increase insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle and BAT while blunting it in WAT (Pereira et al. 2021). These beneficial effects on liver and muscle have been attributed to leptin capacity to stimulate fatty acid oxidation and glucose uptake in these tissues in a JAK/STAT3, MAPK and PI3K-dependent manner (Wein et al. 2007, Obradovic et al. 2021). This adipokine has also been found to reduce both insulin and glucagon secretion *in vitro*, but its contribution to β-cell mediated insulin secretion *in vivo* is still unclear. This has been mostly the result of inefficient targeting of β -cells only (Pereira et al. 2021). Coherent with its actions, leptin or leptin receptor deficiency has been characterized as deleterious, given that both human and mice (ob/ob background) lacking this gene are hyperphagic, develop earlyonset obesity and severe insulin resistance (Lindström 2007, Dubern and Clement 2012). These metabolic parameters are normalized following daily injection with recombinant leptin (Pelleymounter et al. 1995, Dubern and Clement 2012), although it also seems to enhance ATM infiltration. This has also been accompanied by enhanced cytokine production and bioenergetic capacity of ATM. Interestingly, if leptin receptor deficiency is performed in myeloid cells only instead of whole body, the impairment of leptin signaling has been revealed to be beneficial regarding obesity-induced IR and inflammation (Monteiro et al. 2022). Altogether, these observations capture the complex role of leptin in obese states, and highlight the importance of specific targets for the treatment of this disease.

ii. Adiponectin

Adiponectin is a 30kDa protein encoded by the AdipoQ gene and is the highest secreted adipokine by AT (Greenberg and Obin 2006). It harbors insulin-sensitizing properties, notably by improving glucose and lipid metabolism in muscle and liver. This is mediated by its binding to at least 3 membrane receptors: T-cadherin, which induces adiponectin recruitment at the cell surface, and AdipoR1 and AdipoR2, which promote glucose uptake, fatty acid oxidation and lipid clearance via AMPK, PPARα and p38-MAPK-dependent pathways (Kusminski et al. 2016, Choi et al. 2020). Unlike leptin, adiponectin levels are inversely correlated to BMI, IR and hyperinsulinemia, and low levels of this adipokine are associated with increased risk of T2D and metabolic syndrome (Greenberg and Obin 2006). As such, mice constitutively expressing adiponectin have been shown to be protected against diet-induced hyperlipidemia and glucose intolerance (Kusminski et al. 2016). Regarding inflammation, adiponectin has been revealed to have both beneficial and detrimental roles according to effector tissue, with adiponectin levels being positively correlated with inflammatory status and disease progression in autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease, but negatively correlated to those same parameters in metabolic disease (Choi et al. 2020). For instance, in atherosclerotic plaques, studies have shown that adiponectin is capable of inhibiting macrophage recruitment and foam-cell formation by lowering IFNy and CCL2 secretion (Sargolzaei et al. 2018). In AT, it is able to induce macrophage anti-inflammatory polarization via an AMPK- and PPARy/ α dependent pathways, resulting in the upregulation of IL-10 and mannose receptor CD206 expression (Stijn et al. 2015). Finally, it has also been associated to mild ER stress and anti-apoptotic properties (Kusminski et al. 2016, Oh et al. 2020).

iii. Others

Aside from the two adipokines reviewed above, WAT secretome potentially comprises around 600 proteins implicated in a vast array of biological processes. These include: inflammation and macrophage recruitment (i.e. IL-6, TNFα, IL-8, IL-1, CCL2, CXCL10), lipid and glucose metabolism (i.e.

ANGPTL4, resistin, chemerin), blood pressure (i.e. renin and angiotensin), cell adhesion (i.e. PAI-1), vascular growth (i.e. VEGF), among others (Fasshauer and Blüher 2015). These molecules can be secreted by all the different cell types that are present in WAT, although the contribution of the adipocyte fraction vs the stromal vascular fraction to their secretion changes dramatically under obese conditions. Indeed, it has been revealed that inflammatory cytokines and chemokines are primarily released by the non-fat fraction of WAT, particularly by adipose tissue macrophages in vWAT and that their production is considerable enhanced during DIO (Fain 2010, Siklova-Vitkova et al. 2012). This is consistent with the fact that ATM numbers significantly rise under obese conditions.

3. The stroma vascular fraction

SVF profiling has long been of interest in the understanding of adipose tissue biology, with flow cytometry being the go-to method for the characterization of the different SVF cell types according to the expression of distinct cell markers. The emergence of single cell transcriptomics then came to complement this method and allowed to identify up to 19 clusters of SVF cells in human AT that can be broadly regrouped into 3 major classes: stem/progenitors cells, vasculature-associated cells and immune cells (Figure 8). More importantly, several of these populations saw their frequency and proportion change during obesity, with endothelial and myeloid cell number positively correlating with patient BMI (Hildreth et al. 2021). Similar clusters and associations have been seen in lean and obese mice WAT (Sárvári et al. 2021).



Figure 8: Cellular heterogeneity of the stromal vascular fraction of human AT revealed by single cell RNA-sequencing. A) UMAP plot depicting the different cell types found in human WAT. B) UMAP plot indicating the variation in the proportion of these populations during steady-state and obese conditions. Adapted from Hildreth et al., 2021. ILCs: innate lymphoid cells; MAIT: mucosal-associated invariant T cells; mNK: mature natural killer; cDC1s: conventional type 1 dendritic cells; cDC2Bs: conventional type 2B dendritic-like cells; ncMos: non-classical monocytes; PVMs: perivascular macrophages; APCs: adipocyte precursor cells; ST: Stem cells, VAS: Vasculature-associated cells.

3.1. Adipose stem cells (ASC)

ASC are multipotent mesenchymal stem cells that are able to differentiate towards multiple lineages including cardiomyocytes, fibroblast, chondroblasts, hepatocytes, myoblasts and adipocytes, among others. They reside near the vasculature and are characterized by the expression of numerous surface markers such as CD34, CD90, CD105, PDGFR α/β , but they are CD45- and CD31-negative (corresponding to leukocytes and endothelial cells, respectively. See below). However, some of these markers may change according to when and where the stem cell was originated (i.e. Myf5⁻ in retroperitoneal but not inguinal depots, SMA⁺ in adulthood but not in the developmental phase) (Shin et al. 2020), supporting the notion that ASC are a highly heterogenous population. Indeed, when studying their adipogenic potential, studies have shown that ASC ability to grow, differentiate and react to environmental cues is different between WAT depots. For instance, ASC from scWAT present a higher differentiation capacity into adipocytes than those from vWAT, which might potentially explain why vWAT adjpocytes preferentially respond with hypertrophy instead of hyperplasia in obesity (Badimon and Cubedo 2017). vWAT ASC have also been found to secrete higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL6 and CCL2 (Silva et al. 2017). It is important to note that obesity further enhances the differences between these depots but also induces other transcriptional and secretory changes that contribute to impaired ASC function. The loss of the stemness phenotype (proliferation, differentiation and regenerative potential) is reduced as a consequence of obesity-induced chronic inflammation and T2D. This can also be accompanied by a reduction of insulin sensitivity, an increased production of ROS, and an altered energetic metabolism (Badimon and Cubedo 2017, Shin et al. 2020). The capacity of ASC to recover from the obesogenic stimuli is not accomplished for all of their functions even after weight loss (Silva et al. 2015).

3.2. Vasculature-associated cells

Capillaries consist of thin layer of endothelial cells (EC), encased by pericytes and supported by smooth muscle cells in a hierarchical and branched structure surrounded by connective tissue (Ramakrishnan and Boyd 2018, Ioannidou et al. 2022). AT is a highly vascularized tissue in which EC and adipocytes continuously communicate and impact each other renewal and function. EC represent around 8% of all cells in WAT and are classically identified by the expression of the surface marker CD31, although several subsets have been identified and are as follows: FABP4, CD36, LGALS1 for EC associated to fatty-acid handling microvasculature EC, the largest population; LYVE1 for lymphatic vasculature EC, mostly present in vWAT; and VCAM, PECAM, ACKR1, among others, for classic EC (Vijay et al. 2020). These cells participate in trans-endothelial nutrient uptake and transport, LPL-anchoring and subsequent interaction with TRL for hydrolysis, production of signaling molecules (i.e. VEGF for
angiogenesis) and even facilitate adipogenesis by serving as a niche of ASC. During obesity, all these functions are impaired notably due to rarefaction of capillaries that accompanies abnormal AT expansion. In this context, the angiogenic response of EC is inhibited by the inflammatory environment of obesity (Nijhawans et al. 2020). This induces a reduction of blood flow and the development of AT hypoxia, further contributing to inflammation. Indeed, WAT of overweight and obese subjects revealed to present 44% lower capillary density and 58% lower VEFG, which positively correlated with increased ATM infiltration (Pasarica et al. 2009). Obesity-induced EC-dysfunction has also been shown to trigger vascular permeability and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression by these cells, thus enhancing IR in WAT (Joannidou et al. 2022).

3.3. Immune cells

Single cell and single nucleus RNA-seq studied have revealed that the immune population (identified by the CD45 marker) within SVF is quite heterogenous and comprised of a multitude of cells comprising T lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) and non-NK cells (29% of immune cells); dendritic cells, ATM and monocytes (67%); and three minor populations of mast and B cells (4%), altogether representing 30 to 40% of total cells within the SVF in lean conditions. So far, only T cells have been identified as presenting a different proportion according to the type of depot, with CD4⁺ T cells being enriched in omental WAT and CD8⁺ T cells being abundant in scWAT (Massier et al. 2023). Regarding their response to diet, ATM have been found to be the most significantly upregulated population in both obese mice and humans (Hildreth et al. 2021, Sárvári et al. 2021), with studies showing that ATM may account for 40 up to 60% of all cells in obese WAT, including adipocytes, and that this enrichment is directly proportional to adipocyte size and BMI (Weisberg et al. 2003).

This substantial accumulation of ATM is of particular interest in the pathogenesis of obesity through several mechanisms. ATM participate to maintaining AT plasticity and remodeling by buffering FFA from hypertrophic and dying, necrotic-like adipocytes. In states of chronic FA surplus however, ATM lipid buffering capacity is overwhelmed, which induces cellular stress and the production of a vast repertoire of inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α) (Figure 8). This in turn drives IR, low-grade inflammation and AT dysfunction. Specific depletion of these cells by intraperitoneal injection of clodronate liposomes or diphtheria-toxin mediated genetic ablation thus protects mice from high fat diet-induced weight gain, improves insulin sensitivity, glucose homeostasis and inflammatory status (Patsouris et al. 2008, Feng et al. 2011, Bu et al. 2013). Similarly, selective targeting of epididymal ATM genes implicated in lipid and inflammatory pathways (LPL and TNF α , respectively) confirmed their definitive role in obesity-associated metabolic disorders by altering ATM lipid and glucose metabolism and modifying whole-body glucose tolerance (Aouadi et al. 2013, 2014). ATM-mediated inflammation and IR during DIO represent the core of my research, and further details on these cells (origin, markers, metabolism and dysfunction) will be developed on the next section of this manuscript.

As for the other immune cell types in SVF, studies have shown that $CD4^+$ Th1 and $CD8^+$ T cells actively contribute to the cytokine pool in obese AT as well as the activation of resident ATM (Vijay et al. 2020). Coherently, lymphocyte-deficient mice have been observed to be more susceptible to HFDinduced insulin resistance and obesity (Lee et al. 2011). B-cells are also able to trigger local inflammation by the production of cytokines and the activation and support of local Th17 cells. (Khanna et al. 2022). Mast cells, NK cells and dendritic cells have also been implicated in modulating ATM infiltration and T cell activation (Kawai et al. 2021). In dendritic cells, this has been linked to an altered antigen presenting capacity resulting from a drastically distinct transcriptomic profile following HFD, which was observed to favor fatty acid oxidation, ROS accumulation and inflammation (Chen et al. 2022). Finally, neutrophiles have been found to initiate a rather early inflammatory cascade by the production of IL-1 β and the recruitment of ATM (Kawai et al. 2021) (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Obese adipose tissue is characterized by an increased infiltration of ATM and a proinflammatory cytokine immune response. Adipocyte hypertrophy during obesity is associated with a significant recruitment of ATM responsible for the installment of an inflammatory environment leading to insulin resistance. Other immune cells participate to inflammation by promoting activation/recruitment of ATM or secreting themselves inflammatory molecules. NKT: natural killer cells; Eos: Eosinophils; MCHII: major histocompatibility complex II. Adapted from Brestoff et al., 2015.

Overall, DIO compromises WAT function through several mechanisms, including adipocyte and adipose progenitors dysfunction, loss of vascularization and hypoxia, and high ATM recruitment (Figure 4). While these effects are manageable and reversible during short-term caloric excess, it is important to know that obesity has long-lasting consequences on AT biology and its responsiveness to metabolic

stimuli even after obesity remission, notably that of the immune compartment, which may ultimately worsen metabolic health (Cottam et al. 2018, Lee et al. 2018).

Part III: Adipose tissue macrophages in obesity-induced inflammation

1. ATM origin

1.1. Monocyte recruitment and myelopoiesis

AT from healthy subjects is populated by resident ATM originating from embryonic yolk-sac progenitors and are maintained via proliferation during adulthood, with little contribution of bone marrow (BM)-issued monocytes (Félix et al. 2021). However, obesity-induced inflammation has shown to drive the migration and recruitment of Ly6C/G⁺ monocytes that undergo differentiation in AT. Indeed, by assessing the expression of the Cd45.1 (donor) or Cd45.2 (recipient) allele in lethally irradiated, high-fat diet (HFD)-fed mice, Weisberg et al., demonstrated that around 80% of ATM from obese rodents were Cd45.1+, thus establishing obesity-induced ATMs were essentially BM-derived (Weisberg et al. 2003). Among the chemokines responsible for this recruitment, the chemokine CCL2 and its receptor CCR2 have been attributed a major role in this process, as mice deficient for either of these genes have reduced ATM content and altered metabolic parameters (Weisberg et al. 2006). Aside from the CCL2/CCR2 axis and other chemokine-signaling modules (i.e. CCL3, CCL5), it appears that obesity-derived ligands such as FFA and IL1- β promote myelopoiesis itself, thus directly contributing to the ATM pool (Nagareddy et al. 2014, Griffin et al. 2018).

The question that remains is whether ATM are phenotypically different when originating from embryonic precursors versus bone marrow monocytes. In this regard, circulating monocytes are known as a quite heterogenous cell population, with differences both in phenotype and function. Classical (CD14⁺CD16⁻ in humans; Ly6C^{hi}Ccr2⁺CX3CR1^{lo} in mice) and intermediate (CD14⁺CD16⁺) monocytes are more inflammatory, whereas non classical monocytes (CD14^{dim}CD16⁺⁺) are related to tissue repair (Pecht et al. 2016). Classical monocytes also present higher migratory and lipid storage capacities along with metabolic gene signatures for enhanced glycolysis and mitochondrial activity, as revealed by transcriptomic profiling (Schmidl et al. 2014). Most of these subclasses are reported to be increased in obesity (Schipper et al. 2012).

1.2. Proliferation and local regulation of ATM numbers

Proliferation of resident ATM is another mechanism responsible for increasing ATM content. As such, a time-dependent increase in ATM proliferation under DIO was observed *in vitro*, *in vivo*, and in human fat explants. Despite the divergency on the proportion of proliferating ATM (from 10-50% in mice vs 5-18% in humans), all studies agreed the highest rate was seen in ATM surrounding adipocytes in what is called a crown-like structure (CLS). Potential stimuli were found to be IL-4/IL-6 and CCL2, as neutralization/deficiency of either of these molecules led to impaired ATM proliferation and lower ATM presence in AT (Amano et al. 2014, Haase et al. 2014, Braune et al. 2017).

In addition to proliferation, evidence suggests that local stem cells progenitors may give rise to ATM, notably given that pre-adipocytes isolated from AT express ATM markers and are able to carry out macrophage-like functions such phagocytosis (Boutens and Stienstra 2016). Further studies are however warranted.

Most likely, both local proliferation of resident ATMs plus monocyte migration and proliferation contribute to the excessive ATM content in obese AT, although they do so at different stages. These two events were addressed in a rodent model of selective irradiation, where the epididymal AT of recipient Cd45.2 mice was shielded to protect resident ATMs from irradiation, prior to the reconstitution with BM from Cd45.1 donor mice. An 8-week HFD induced a significant increase in total CLS-associated ATM content as expected; however, only a minimal percentage (<2%) of these macrophages were BM-derived. Interestingly, when HFD feeding was pursued for another 4 weeks, the percentage had shifted to nearly 22%. EdU incorporation assays indicated that both resident and BM derived ATMs had a vast proliferating capacity which was under the control of the IL-4/STAT6 pathway. Yet, whereas resident ATMs were highly proliferative at the early onset of obesity, BM derived ATMs did so at a later stage (Davies et al. 2013, Zheng et al. 2016). Additional research is very much needed to better comprehend these mechanisms that may ultimately help target ATM-mediated inflammation.

2. ATM heterogeneity in obesity

2.1. The M1/M2 continuum concept of macrophage classification

Multiple macrophage activation and polarization states have been described in literature and vary along a continuum that resembles the Th1/Th2 inflammatory response (Locati et al. 2020) (Figure 10). In lean AT, resident ATM seem to adopt an "alternative activated", M2 phenotype characterized by the expression of surface marker CD206, along with pan-macrophage markers CD11b, CD64, CD163, CD301 and F4/80 (the latter in mice) or CD14 (in humans). They present an anti-inflammatory phenotype characterized by the expression of molecules such as arginase-1, Ym1 and IL-10 (Figure 10) (Mosser and Edwards 2008, Yao et al. 2022, Nawaz et al. 2023). Their bioenergetic status is rather low and depends on oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHO) rather than glycolysis for energy production. These ATM perform tissue surveillance and remodeling functions by buffering necrotic-like adipocytes and buffer lipids released from these cells. Although CLS are only occasionally found in lean AT, the lipid buffering and storing capacities of M2 ATM help maintain tissue homeostasis by impending ectopic lipid accumulation and lipotoxicity in the first stages of energy surplus (Russo and Lumeng 2018).

By contrast, the M1, or "classically activated" macrophages have been suggested to represent the principal ATM population in obese states as a consequence of monocyte recruitment. They are characterized by the expression of CD11c (in mice and humans) or CD16 (in humans only), as well as pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , iNOS, IL-6, IL-1 β and CCL2 and a high bioenergetic status dependent on glycolysis (Russo and Lumeng 2018, Nawaz et al. 2023). Evidence suggests that M1 ATM accumulate massively around CLS in obese WAT, as the rate of hypertrophic and dying adipocytes goes up. This shifts in the ratio of M1 and M2 ATM is evidenced by an increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which promote inflammation, further AT dysfunction and support IR (Lumeng et al. 2007).

While the M1/M2 dichotomy has been often employed in obese settings, it poorly portrays the various challenges and metabolic functions performed by ATM during obesity. Consistent with this postulate, both M1 and M2 phenotypes have been observed on a single, heterogenous population of ATM in obese mice (Li et al. 2010). This, coupled with the lack of detection of classical M1 markers in obese humans (Kratz et al. 2014) has suggested the presence of an ATM subset characteristic of obese states, which has been under much focus in these recent years.



Figure 10: Adipose tissue macrophage polarization profiles. Depending on the stimuli, macrophages (M0) can differentiate into pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages or anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages. The particular environment of obesity (rich in FFA, insulin and glucose) gives rise to lipid-associated macrophages (LAM) that are specialized in lipid handling. Other macrophages subsets have also been observed. Adapted from Russo and Lumeng, 2018. VAM: Vasculature-associated macrophages; PVM: perivascular macrophages; IM: inflammatory macrophages.

2.2. Metabolic classification of ATM

The advancement in single-cell technologies for in-depth analysis of adipose immune cell populations have made it possible to better understand the full heterogeneity and plasticity of mice and human ATM under obesogenic stress. This has led to the identification of several ATM subpopulations, where some are more metabolically active (i.e. lipid-associated macrophages) or more inflammatory (i.e. inflammatory macrophages) and regulatory (i.e. (non)-perivascular macrophages).

i. Lipid-associated macrophages

One of the first accounts of an ATM phenotype in obesity independent of classical activation was evidence by Xu and coll., where it was proposed that obesity induces a program of lysosomal lipid catabolism that influences adipocyte health and lipid clearance in both adipocytes and ATM beyond their inflammatory phenotype. Indeed, the authors observed that ATM from obese AT display increased lysosomal biogenesis which directly influences ATM intracellular lipid content by governing FA catabolism but has no effect on M1 polarization. Coherently, inhibition of this pathway was evidenced to promote FA accumulation in these cells (Xu et al. 2013). Further reports indicated that activation of macrophages with insulin, glucose and palmitate, all of which are readily available in DIO, generated a metabolically active macrophage phenotype (MMe) that is mechanistically distinct from M1 or M2 states. These ATM specifically express high levels of lipid-associated proteins such as ABCA1, CD36, PLIN2 along with lysosomal surface proteins and are capable of both beneficial (lysosomal catabolism of lipids) and detrimental (inflammatory cytokine production) roles in obesity that seem to be regulated by the NOX2/TLR/MyD88 axis (Kratz et al. 2014, Coats et al. 2017). As such, NOX2 inhibition in myeloid cells was found to impair dead adipocyte clearance by ATM through defective lysosomal lipid metabolism, thus resulting in ectopic fat accumulation and insulin resistance. Interestingly though, these adverse effects were only seen in mice who underwent a long-term (16 weeks) HFD. Instead, Nox2-deficient mice under a 8-week HFD displayed a protective phenotype, attributed to NOX2 capacity to activate inflammatory cytokine expression (Coats et al. 2017). Other similar, highly catabolic ATM are the MARCO+ macrophages, whose role in lipid metabolism and metabolic health during DIO have been observed to rely on the PI3K/AKT pathway by inducing the expression of the lipid buffering macrophage receptor with collagenous (MARCO) protein (Brunner et al. 2020).

From then on, high-resolution single-cell or single-nucleus RNAseq studies of murine and human obese eWAT allowed to identify a unique ATM subpopulation highly reactive to lipids and now consensually termed lipid-associated-macrophages (LAM) (Figure 10). LAM have been proven to be the predominantly expanded ATM subset in obese AT and preferentially recruited from BM monocytes

to CLS. Their persistence has also been evaluated during weight loss, showing that despite weight normalization this particular population remains higher than lean controls, and that weight regain prompts it to increase to numbers much more important than the obese group (Cottam et al. 2018). LAM signature is characterized by expression of CD9 and CD63 (lysosomal endocytosis), Lpl, Lipa, Fabp4/5, CD36, Trem2 (for lipid metabolism) and Atp6v0d2, among other ATPases (involved in OXPHOS), as well as a dual expression of canonical CD206 and CD11c. All these markers are present in both mice and humans (Hill et al. 2018, Jaitin et al. 2019, Hildreth et al. 2021, Sárvári et al. 2021). LAM have also been shown to present a hypermetabolic phenotype characterized by both increased OXPHOS and glycolysis and a pro-inflammatory capacity independent of Hif-1 α (Boutens et al. 2018, Serbulea et al. 2018b). Accordingly, these parameters are reduced in ATMs from lean patients (Serbulea et al. 2018b).

This LAM metabolic program is thought to be under the control of Trem2, as both whole body and hematopoietic Trem2 deficiency was found to enhance HFD-induced weight gain, adipocyte hypertrophy and death, hypercholesterolemia, glucose intolerance, inflammation and IR (Jaitin et al. 2019, Liu et al. 2019). This role has however been contested following studies suggesting that Trem2 beneficial actions regarding metabolic health are independent of its expression on ATM, instead showing that they are a result of altered sphingolipid metabolism (Sharif et al. 2021). More studies are therefore needed to properly identify the molecular drivers of the LAM phenotype. Of note, a smaller subset of LAM has been identified as expressing proliferative genes (termed proliferative LAM, P-LAM), indicating that LAM may expand by proliferation if needed (Sárvári et al. 2021).

ii. Other ATM subsets

Inflammatory macrophages (IM) represent another ATM population that has been described in WAT and that are markedly increased in obesity (Figure 10). They are characterized by the expression of numerous cytokines and chemokines such as CCL3L1, TNF and CXCL3, thus contributing to AT inflammation alongside LAM. Analysis of surface marker expression revealed that they are somewhat similar to M1 ATM, given that they are CD206⁻CD11c⁺ (Hildreth et al. 2021).

Various studies have also identified a population of resident ATM involved in vascular development and extracellular matrix maintenance and remodeling (Chakarov et al. 2019, Silva et al. 2019, Sárvári et al. 2021). These vasculature-associated macrophages (VAM), also called perivascular macrophages (PVM) have been found to be negatively correlated to obesity (approximately 40% decrease in numbers), although it is not clear if this is due to a differentiation of PVM into LAM and IM, as it has been found that obesity leads to a marked increase in the expression of genes involved in lipid handling in PVM which significantly overlaps with LAM markers (Sárvári et al. 2021). Nonetheless, PVM are classically identified by the expression of Lyve1 but also M2 markers such as CD206, CD163 and Clec10A. Interestingly, they have also been observed to produce high levels of chemokines (CCL3, CCL3L1, CCL4 and CCL2), suggesting that they may directly contribute to adipose tissue inflammation and systemic insulin resistance. A similar population of regulatory non-perivascular macrophages (NVPM), as well as collagen-expressing macrophages (CEM), have also been observed in lean and obese eWAT, with NPVM equally able to transition to a LAM-like signature (Sárvári et al. 2021).

Finally, antioxidant (Mox) and iron-rich (MFe^{Hi}) macrophages have also been observed in AT but have been reported to be predominant in lean states(Orr et al. 2014, Serbulea et al. 2018b, 2018a). Overall, we see that ATM functions are quite heterogenous and depend on the metabolic context (Table 2), with obesity rather reprogramming ATM towards lipid uptake, storage and catabolism (=LAM phenotype).

ATM subset	Highly expressed	Stimuli	BMI	Roles in obesity	Reference
	genes		correlation		
M1	CD11c	Pathogens TLR ligands (LPS), SFA Hypoxia Cytokines (CCL2, TNF, IFNy)	+	Pro-inflammatory cytokine production (IL-1 β , TNF α , IL-6, iNOS)	(Lumeng et al. 2008, Orliaguet et al. 2020)
M2	CD206, CD163	Helminths Hormones Apoptotic adipocytes Cytokines (IL-4, IL-10)	-	Anti-inflammatory cytokine production (IL10) Fight against infection Tissue homeostasis	Idem
LAM	CD9, Lpl, Lipa, CD36, Trem2, ATPases	Dietary lipids Apoptotic adipocytes Cytokines (CCL2, IL-6)	+	Lipid handling Phagocytosis Cytokine production (IL-10, IL-6, TNFα)	(Hill et al. 2018, Jaitin et al. 2019, Hildreth et al. 2021, Sárvári et al. 2021)
P-LAM	Pola1, Kif11, Kif15	Dietary lipids Apoptotic adipocytes	+	Idem	Idem
MME	Abca1, CD36, Plin2, ATPases	Glucose Insulin Palmitate	+	Idem	(Kratz et al. 2014, Coats et al. 2017)
MARCO	Marco, CD206, CD11c	Apoptotic adipocytes	+	Lipid handling	(Brunner et al. 2020)
IM	Ccl3l1, Tnf, Cxcl3, CD11c	Cytokines/chemokines (IL- 6, TNFα, CCL2, CXCL10)	+	Cytokine production (IL-1β, TNFα, IL-6, iNOS)	(Hildreth et al. 2021, Sárvári et al. 2021)
VAM/PVM	Lyve1, CD163, CD206, Clec10a	Oxidative stress and redox/hypoxia	-	Vasculature development and organization Lipid handling	Idem + (Silva et al. 2019)
NPVM	CD74, Fcrls, Eat5	Apoptotic adipocytes PPAR signaling	-	Lipid handling	(Hildreth et al. 2021, Sárvári et al. 2021)
CEM	Col5a2, Col3a1, Tgfbr3	Oxidative stress and redox/hypoxia	-	Extracellular matrix homeostasis	Idem
MOX	Txnrd1	Oxidized phospholipids	-	Production of antioxidant enzymes	(Serbulea et al. 2018b, 2018a)
MFE ^{HI}	Ferritin light and heavy chains, CD163, Ferroportin	Iron	-	Iron regulation	(Orr et al. 2014)

Table 2: ATM subpopulations in adipose tissue.

3. Mechanisms controlling ATM polarization.

ATM polarization states can be driven by non-metabolic/canonical stimuli (i.e. cytokines, chemokines, transcription factors) and metabolic effectors (i.e. intracellular fatty acid metabolism and bioenergetics). For instance, M1 ATM arise in response to IFNy, LPS, TNF, IL-1 β or IL6, while M2 ATM do so in the presence of IL-4 and IL-10, LAM ATM respond to the particular environment of obese ATM (Mosser and Edwards 2008, Kratz et al. 2014). Adipocytes play an important part in guiding these activation states in both lean and obese conditions, as they actively contribute to the expression of inflammatory molecules such as IL4, TNF α or CCL2 which dictate ATM profile (Engin 2017). The molecular mechanisms initiated by this crosstalk results in the activation of several signaling pathways (Figure 11) and metabolic adaptations, which we will review below.

3.1. Transcriptional control of ATM profile

i. Surface/nuclear receptors and transcription factors

TLRs have often been placed at the center of inflammatory signaling and macrophage activation. They are structurally conserved molecules that directly or indirectly interact with numerous ligands such as LPS or FA. TLR2 and TLR4 have been particularly implicated in diet-induced inflammation, poor glycemic control and insulin resistance (Gupta et al. 2017) through the activation of four major transcriptional programs driven by interferon regulatory factors (IRFs), the activator protein (AP)-1, NF-κB and JAK/STAT (Drareni et al. 2019). IRFs are a family of transcription factors controlling the proinflammatory type-1 interferon response in macrophages and have thus been implicated in DIO and metabolic inflammation. IRF5 for instance is associated to normal adipocyte expansion, and inhibition of his factors has been found to restrict adipocyte size, induce ATM accumulation and proinflammatory polarization and the development of insulin resistance (Dalmas et al. 2015, Orliaguet et al. 2022). AP-1 inflammatory capacity relies on its induction of the JNK and MAPK proteins that control apoptosis (Ameyar et al. 2003). JNK has been extensively studied in obesity and insulin resistance, with studies showing that inhibition of this kinase is able to reduce body weight gain and ameliorate metabolic homeostasis (Tuncman et al. 2006). In a similar manner, NF-κB promotes insulin resistance by the production of inflammatory cytokines. Accordingly, its inhibition in myeloid cells has been found be beneficial for maintaining insulin responsiveness (Arkan et al. 2005). Lastly, the JAK/STAT pathway has been associated to both pro-inflammatory (STAT1/5) and anti-inflammatory (STAT3/6) ATM profiles through stimulation of inflammatory cytokine production and reducing lipid accumulation, respectively (Gong et al. 2017, Drareni et al. 2019).

As for nuclear receptors, PPARs (mostly PPARy, but also β and δ) expression has been linked to the M2 phenotype, as it is capable of promoting oxidative and lipid metabolism, plus inhibiting M1-

associated signaling (Mosser and Edwards 2008, Orliaguet et al. 2020). Inversely, the hypoxia inducible factor (Hif)-1 α has been found to induce the expression of the GLUT1 transporter and other glycolysis intermediates, as well as IL-1 β , thereby supporting a pro-inflammatory state (Sharma et al. 2020). Its deletion in myeloid cells has therefore been seen to protect against HFD inflammation and the recruitment of ATM to CLS (Takikawa et al. 2016). The role of LXR in macrophage polarization is also present but will be detailed further down.



Figure 11: Major transcriptional pathways involved in macrophage polarization and the outcomes of these states at tissular (secreted molecules) and systemic level. Macrophage activation profiles are governed by a multitude of molecules that include surface and nuclear receptors, transcription factors and transcriptional repressors (histone modifiers). Adapted from Drareni et al., 2019.

ii. Epigenetic mechanisms

Epigenetic mechanisms controlling transcriptional activity or the accessibility of transcription factors to target genes has been evidenced in macrophages upon a number of stimuli (Figure 11). Activation of the transcription corepressor NCoR, for instance, is observed following TLR4 activation. Although NCoR is mostly responsible for repressing inflammatory pathways by forming a repressive complex with HDAC3, its inhibition in macrophages has also been seen to influence the activation of lipogenic genes that participate in the synthesis of anti-inflammatory ω -3 FA (Glass and Saijo 2010, Li

et al. 2013). The corepressor GPS2 has also been implicated in macrophage activation during obesity and T2D in mice and humans, and macrophage-specific knockout of this factor was seen to increase pro-inflammatory gene signaling that translated into impaired insulin sensitivity (Fan et al. 2016). Finally, repressive epigenetic marks promoting pro-inflammatory macrophage profile mediated by the action of KDM6B (also known as JMJD3) have also been observed (De Santa et al. 2009).

3.2. Metabolic control of ATM profile

i. Intracellular lipid metabolism

The metabolism of dietary/exogenous lipids (uptake, storage and or/clearance, as seen above) by ATM modifies the cell's intracellular metabolic status and the activity of specific pathways implicated in endogenous lipid synthesis. This regulation of ATM intracellular lipid metabolism is achieved essentially through two major families of transcription factors, the sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP) and the liver X receptor (LXR), who translocate to the nucleus and induce or repress the transcription of genes involved in FA and cholesterol synthesis and efflux, thus altering ATM function.

FA synthesis in macrophages is a process activated by both LXR and SREBP1 when FA and glucose levels are high, and depends on the action of FAS (DNL, see chapter 2 for details). DNL has been found to be required for monocyte differentiation into macrophages (Ecker et al. 2010), and its inhibition in ATM through FAS deficiency has been revealed to have beneficial effects on glucose tolerance and IR by reducing ATM recruitment to obese AT and proinflammatory cytokine expression (Wei et al. 2016). Interestingly, when looking at the transcription factors alone, SREBP1 has been revealed to exert both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory roles in a biphasic, time-dependent manner, with an early response associated to enhanced inflammatory cytokine production and impaired FA synthesis, and a late, resolutive phase contributing to anti-inflammatory lipid-mediator production that counteracts lipotoxicity (Shimano and Sato 2017, DeBose-Boyd and Ye 2018). LXR activation has also been observed to exert anti-inflammatory, insulin-sensitizing effects in mice by reducing cytokine and chemokine production, promoting lipid efflux and the production of anti-inflammatory lipid-mediators (Archer et al. 2013, Wang and Tontonoz 2018, Endo-Umeda et al. 2022). This has been attributed to LXR and SREPB capacity to modulate the expression of genes involved in polyunsaturated FA synthesis. Among their target genes we find 3 different enzyme families: ACLS3-4 for FA activation, the ELOVL family for elongation and FADS1-2 for desaturation. Deficiency on any of these enzymes following LXR or SREPB inhibition in macrophages has thus been found to lead and increased inflammatory response (Varin et al. 2015, Oishi et al. 2017, Jalil et al. 2019).

As opposed to DNL, cholesterol (Chol) synthesis is a mechanism activated when intracellular Chol levels are low, but it can also be stimulated by insulin. It involves the SREBP2 isoform that acts in concert with the cleavage-activating protein (SCAP) and the insulin-induced gene (INSIG) for transcriptional induction of genes implicated in Chol synthesis and uptake (i.e. LDLR), while inhibiting those implicated in lipid efflux (i.e. ABCA1/G1)(DeBose-Boyd and Ye 2018, Luo et al. 2020). The Chol biosynthetic pathway involves more than 15 enzymes that catalyze over 30 reactions. The starting point comprises 3 successive condensations steps of acetyl-CoA to generate HMG-CoA, which is then reduced into mevalonate by the rate-limiting enzyme HMG-CoA reductase. Numerous additional oxygenation and reduction steps either culminate in Chol synthesis or give rise to Chol oxygenated derivatives called oxysterols. These sterols can then bind LXR and activate its transcriptional activity, which in turn helps eliminate excess Chol (Wang and Tontonoz 2018). Interference with any of the steps involved in Chol metabolism has been associated with altered ATM function. For instance, myeloid deletion of HMG-CoA reductase has been shown to significantly reduce ATM accumulation, TNF α , IL-1 β and CCL2 expression, improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (Takei et al. 2020). Of note, statins, which are the pharmacological inhibitors of HMG-CoA reductase and are the forefront hypercholesterolemia/dyslipidemia treatment have shown to inhibit ATM pro-inflammatory polarization in both mice and humans by reducing Chol inflow into the cell, but also by attenuating the TLR4/MyD88 pathway therefore decreasing AT inflammation (Abe et al. 2008, Kauerova et al. 2021).

ii. Bioenergetics

As briefly mentioned before, different ATM subsets have different bioenergetic requirements that are supported by the glycolytic and/or mitochondrial pathways. Glycolysis is an anaerobic pathway that takes place in the cytosol and converts glucose into pyruvate through sequential action of several enzyme-catalyzed reactions, its end-products being ATP and NADPH. In aerobic conditions, pyruvate then enters the mitochondria, where it is decarboxylated into acetyl-CoA before entering the tricarboxylic cycle. This generates the production of reducing agents that donate electrons necessary to fuel the electron transport chain in the mitochondria and produce ATP in a process called oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHO). If pyruvate is scarce, cells can directly metabolize fatty acids through OXPHO (= fatty acid oxidation, FAO) to assure energy production. If however oxygen is limiting, cells can divert pyruvate into lactate production (El Kasmi and Stenmark 2015)(Figure 12).

Given their role as a source of energy, these pathways are able to dictate the magnitude of ATM effector function, with M1 and M2 macrophages relying on glycolysis and OXPHO, respectively, and LAM displaying a mixed phenotype. Conversely, inhibition of any of these metabolic routes alter ATM polarization state, with inhibition of glycolysis abolishing pro-inflammatory cytokine production, and

47

OXPHO reduction preventing M2 polarization (Van den Bossche et al. 2016, Boutens et al. 2018, Orliaguet et al. 2022). The mechanism governing the transition between a highly inflammatory to a highly oxidative phenotype has been attributed to the interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5), as mice deficient for this transcription factor have shown increased oxidation rates as a consequence of the derepression of the mitochondrial matrix protein GHITM and an increased mitochondrial surface area (Orliaguet et al. 2022). Similar implications of OXPHO controlling ATM phenotype have been suggested by a recent study in which OXPHO dysfunction selectively ablated pro-inflammatory lipid-handling in LAM, thus preventing insulin resistance and ectopic lipid accumulation (Wculek et al. 2023). It is important to mention that TG accumulation in LD seems to impair mitochondrial activity and promote apoptosis by inducing cytochrome dysfunction of these pathways. It also highlights the promise that ATM metabolic reprogramming represents as a strategy to achieve beneficial (anti-inflammatory while able to handle large amounts of lipids) polarization states despite exposure to dietary fatty acids during obesity.



Figure 12: ATM energy metabolism and polarization status. Pro-inflammatory ATM rely on glucose for energy production (glycolysis), whereas anti-inflammatory ATM rely preferentially on the oxidation of fatty acids by the mitochondria (OXPHO). FAO: fatty acid oxidation. ETC, Electron transport chain; TCA cycle, tricarboxylic acid cycle; 2-DG: 2-deoxuglucose. Adapted from Thibaut et al., 2022 and Zhao et al., 2019.

4. Lipid handling by ATM

ATM are able to uptake and store lipids primarily by buffering cholesterol and FFA from circulation, or when these are released from dying, necrotic-like adipocytes. One of the first accounts of lipid-laden ATMs in human obesity was observed by Shapiro and coll., who managed to associate "AT foam cell"

presence to fasting glucose and insulin levels (Shapiro et al. 2013). This increase in lipid-laden ATMs was maximal at peak adipocyte size (Muir et al. 2018). Given that the origin (i.e. circulating vs adipocyte-issued) of these lipids is determinant to macrophage activation, the following section will concentrate on the mechanisms of lipid handling by obese ATMs and its implication in macrophage pro- or anti-inflammatory signaling (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Lipid handling in adipose tissue macrophages in diet-induced obesity. In DIO, adipose tissue macrophages are metabolically activated by FFA released by lipolysis of TG from adipocytes or from TRL by lipoprotein lipase, through CD36, TLR or other specific receptors such as VLDLR. In CLS, necrotic-like adipocyte clearance in acidic lysosomal synapses through a mechanism of exophagy also contribute to lipidladen ATM. Internalization of adipocyte-derived exosomes is possible. As a result, ATMs are characterized by an increased content of TG, free Chol, ceramides and FA, which can either be synthesized into other lipids, be stored in lipid droplets or catabolized through the lysosomal pathway. The accumulation of free cholesterol and sphingolipids including sphingomyelin into membrane lipid rafts promotes the recruitment of TLR4 at the cell surface and contributes to the activation of inflammatory signaling pathways. ABCA1 and ABCG1 transporters promote the efflux of Chol from ATM to high-density lipoproteins allowing the reduction of lipid raft formation, thus ensuring an optimal LPL activity which participates to lipid-laden ATM. Fatty acid synthesis, elongation and desaturation are under the control of LXR and SREBP1 thus exerting an important role in the relative cellular content of saturated and polyunsaturated FA. Increased cellular levels of free Chol and SFA trigger ER stress, inflammation and apoptosis, which can be alleviated by an enrichment in PUFA through mechanisms dependent or independent of the GPR120 receptor. Increased turnover of phosphatidylcholine as well as oxidation of phospholipids also participate to the inflammatory status of ATM. As a whole, rewiring of lipid metabolism in ATM promotes adipose tissue inflammation and contributes to the establishment of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette A1; ABCG1, ATP-binding cassette G1; ATGL, Adipose triglyceride lipase; Chol, cholesterol; FAS, fatty acid synthase; FFA, free fatty acids; HMGCoAR, 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A reductase; HSL, hormone-sensitive lipase; IR, insulin resistance; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; LR, lipid rafts; LXR, liver X receptor; MGL, monoglyceride lipase; oxPL, oxidized PL; PCYT1A, phosphate cytidylyltransferase 1; PL, phospholipid; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; SFA, saturated fatty acid; SM, sphingomyelin; SREBP1, sterol regulatory

element-binding protein 1; T2D, type 2 diabetes; TLR, toll-like receptor; TG, triglyceride; TRL, triglyceriderich lipoproteins; VLDLR, very low-density lipoprotein receptor.

4.1. Circulating lipids: mechanisms of uptake into ATM

i. LPL-dependent FA release

As mentioned before, FA are released from TRL by LPL-mediated hydrolysis before interaction with surface receptors such as CD36 and internalization within the cell. Macrophages are an important source of LPL, and LPL retention at the plasma membrane or inhibition by tetrahydrolipstatin has been shown to reduce TG accumulation in human macrophages (Olivier et al. 2012). Similarly, specific ATM LPL genetic deletion as performed by Aouadi et al. has been shown to result in reduced lipid storage in these ATM, but also increased FFA serum levels and glucose intolerance (Aouadi et al. 2014), thereby highlighting the importance of ATM lipid uptake for whole-body metabolic homeostasis. As for CD36, its deletion in mice has been associated to a significant reduction (60-70%) of FA uptake by adipose tissue (Coburn et al. 2000), macrophage anti-inflammatory phenotype and improved insulin resistance (Kennedy et al. 2011).

ii. The VLDL/VLDLR axis

TRL may also be directly endocytosed by other membrane receptors without prior action of LPL, although studies have shown that LPL presence may facilitate and even promote this interaction and consequential lipid uptake independently of its catalytic activity (Merkel et al. 1998). On of the principal receptors mediated in this endocytosis pathway in the VLDL receptor (VLDLR), who directly binds VLDL and other large remnant particles. VLDLR expression and proper function have been observed to represent an important mechanism implicated in DIO and diet-induced inflammation, as SNPs of this gene have been found to be associated with BMI, cardiovascular risk and the metabolic syndrome in humans (Crawford et al. 2008, Huang and Lee 2022). In accordance to this, VLDLR overexpression in HFD-fed has been shown to increase TG and C16 ceramide content within ATM, thus leading to ER stress, ATM pro-inflammatory polarization and insulin resistance. Improved AT inflammation and insulinemia were however achieved after adoptive transfer of VLDLR KO BM to Wt mice even under HFD as a consequence of decreased macrophage infiltration into AT (Shin et al. 2017).

4.2. Adipocyte-released lipids: mechanisms of uptake into ATM

i. Lipolysis-dependent lipid release

FFA may also originate from the lipolysis of hypertrophic adipocytes by the consecutive action of lipolytic enzymes ATGL, HSL and MGL, as already described. While less than in adipocytes, these enzymes have been shown to be also expressed in macrophages, particularly those specialized in lipid

handling (Chandak et al. 2010). As expected, ATGL macrophage deficiency or inhibition has been associated to an increased intracellular TG content and, concomitantly, to a pro-inflammatory response driven by the increased availability of inflammatory lipid precursors and the production of IL-6 even in the absence of exogenous lipids (Chandak et al. 2010, van Dierendonck et al. 2022). In a HFD context however, reports have shown that ATGL downregulation by the Hypoxia Inducible Lipid Droplet Associated (HILPDA) protein does not alter inflammatory parameter in ATM nor metabolic parameters despite significant reductions in ATM lipid levels (van Dierendonck et al. 2020). This uncoupling between intracellular lipid content and inflammation warrants further investigation. ATGL has also been implicated in macrophage chemotaxis, phagocytosis, apoptosis and its capacity to use FFA as an energy substrate in mitochondrial β-oxidation (Radovic et al. 2012). In terms of cardiovascular health, global knock-out of this enzyme has been found to lead to a more detrimental phenotype, in which large amounts of lipids accumulate in the heart and cause premature death (Haemmerle et al. 2006). To a similar extent, global or tissue specific deficiency of HSL also impair metabolic health by increasing CCL2 levels and ATM infiltration, hepatic steatosis, systemic IR and T2D (Albert et al. 2014).

ii. Exosomes

An alternative lipid source for macrophages has been described by numerous authors, where lipidfilled exosomes are released by adipocytes and contribute to the proinflammatory phenotype of ATM (Zhang et al. 2016, Xie et al. 2018, Flaherty et al. 2019). This mechanism is independent of lipase activation, given that inhibition of ATGL in adipocytes does not seem to alter the distribution of these exosomes, which were incidentally found to increase ATM TG content by 8-fold without the need of DGAT1/2-mediated FA esterification. Moreover, the exosomes were not only able to induce ATM activation and lipid storage, but also lead to ATM-like differentiation from BM progenitors by activating a gene program characteristic of macrophages that reside exclusively in AT (Flaherty et al. 2019). This very same role of exosomes in ATM differentiation has been found to participate in the development of ATM-mediated glucose intolerance and IR (Deng et al. 2009). Finally, a link between the lysosomal and exosome pathways has also been established, as exosomes were found to deliver TG to lysosomes for catabolism and FFA release (Flaherty et al. 2019).

iii. Exophagy

Exophagy is an active mechanism of lipid release specifically performed by dying, necrotic-like adipocytes around CLS. It entails the formation of a tightly sealed acidic lytic compartment where lysosomal enzymes (i.e. proteases, phosphatases, lipases) released by ATM allow the hydrolysis and subsequent internalization of large amounts of lipids, as well as dead adipocyte fragments, into these

macrophages. This form of lipid uptake has been shown to lead to lipid-laden macrophages, as evidenced by LipidTOX labelling, and has been associated to inflammatory signaling (Haka et al. 2016, Maxfield et al. 2020).

4.3. Fate of lipids in ATM

i. Storage in the form of LD

Despite slight differences in the disposition and constitution of LD – one large unilocular vesicle formed primarily of TG in white adipocytes vs various smaller vesicles composed of both TG and cholesteryl esters (CE) in ATMs -, LD biogenesis rate and lipid uptake are increased in obesity (visceral ATM > subcutaneous ATM). This pathway of lipid repartitioning is mediated by the induction of lipidspecific programs particularly in LAM and has been shown to contribute to the dysfunctional phenotype observed during energy surplus (Shapiro et al. 2013, Olzmann and Carvalho 2019). Indeed, exacerbated lipid accumulation in LD can lead to ROS production and ER stress by upregulating the expression of the unfolded protein response proteins, JNK and ERK signaling (Boden et al. 2008), therefore driving ATM proinflammatory phenotype. LD development is also linked to decreased fatty acid oxidation as macrophages commit to TG synthesis. An increase in the production of inflammatory cytokine (i.e. IL-6, IL-1 β) and lipid mediators (i.e. PGE2) as well as impaired phagocytic activity secondary to LD formation can also contribute to inflammatory macrophage activation (Castoldi et al. 2020). Many other mechanisms of lipotoxicity have been described, it is noteworthy to highlight that failure of packaging excess lipids into LD due to restricted storage capacity may also drive ATM inflammatory phenotype. Indeed, lipids stores in LD can also participate to the production of cytotoxic lipid species such as ceramides or saturated fatty acids that are capable of inhibiting the Akt pathway and directly contribute to the installment of insulin resistance (Tanti et al. 2013, Lipke et al. 2022). The effects of these lipid species on ATM profile will be detailed below.

ii. Lysosome-mediated lipid handling

The contribution of the lysosome system to inflammatory signaling and lipid handling has been the subject of numerous studies. Lipid catabolism, as it occurs in lysosomes, is mainly achieved by the action of LIPA, whose deficiency and overexpression have been shown to alter immune – efferocytosis, T cell and macrophage function – and metabolic – insulin signaling, VLDL metabolism, ATM lipid content, lipid mediator synthesis – homeostasis (Grijalva et al. 2016, Schlager et al. 2017, Li and Zhang 2019). In ATMs, the lysosomal program has been associated to the MMe and LAM phenotypes, as evidenced by the enrichment of lysosome-relates genes Lipa, Lamp2, among others, in both obese mice and humans (Xu et al. 2013, Hill et al. 2018, Jaitin et al. 2019). As such, inhibition of this pathway by chloroquine has been revealed to significantly enhance lipid accumulation in ATM LD and to reduce

AT lipolysis, altogether reducing circulating lipids levels consistent with an ameliorated metabolic phenotype on both mice and humans (Powrie et al. 1993, Xu et al. 2013). Defective lysosomal exocytosis following Nox2 inhibition has also been shown to compromise effective dead adipocyte clearance by ATM, thus contributing to metabolic disorders in DIO (Coats et al. 2017). Coherent with these observations, studies have shown that lysosomal lipid catabolism induces anti-inflammatory ATM polarization in bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDM) and peritoneal macrophages in response to FFA, as assessed by oxygen consumption rate and M2 markers CD206, Relmα and CD301 (Huang et al. 2014). Interestingly though, while short hairpin RNA treatment targeting LIPA did result in impaired M2 polarization (Huang et al. 2014), hindering lysosomal function has failed to be associated to the classic inflammatory M1 profile (Xu et al. 2013). This pathway of cell-intrinsic lysosomal lipid handling may therefore represent one of the stimuli leading to the LAM phenotype observed in DIO.

iii. Autophagy

A complementary mechanism relying on the lysosomal pathway is thought to be autophagy (also termed lipophagy). This form of lipid mobilization into lysosomes does not conform to a simple role in energy balance, but is also involved in major cellular responses. In AT, for instance, autophagy is necessary for adipogenesis and adipocyte differentiation (Singh et al. 2009). In liver and atherosclerotic plaque macrophages, autophagy is required for LD clearance and normal macrophage function (Ouimet et al. 2011, Zhang et al. 2022). In obese ATM, however, autophagy's role is less clear. In vitro experiments on BM-derived ATM and mice under HFD confirmed autophagy upregulation in DIO; it was nonetheless found dispensable for ATM activation and lipid uptake, as evidenced by both its genetic and pharmacological inhibition (Grijalva et al. 2016). Contradicting results were found using a model of RAW macrophages exposed to AT conditioned media plus the FA oleate (OA) as a lipid source. This study showed that autophagy was able to either decrease lipid uptake and LD formation in ATM when targeted at the early steps, or to support LD biogenesis when targeted at a later stage (Bechor et al. 2017). These discrepancies could be partly explained by the differences between macrophage models (BM-derived ATM vs RAW macrophages) and lipid substrates (whole AT vs FA), but also by the existence of a lipid storage site other than LDs that can nonetheless fuse with lysosomes, but does not follow the autophagic route, as hypothesized by Flaherty and colleagues (Flaherty et al. 2019).

5. ATM inflammatory signaling: a role for membrane dynamics

A distinct process by which FA and Chol alter ATM inflammatory response in the context of obesity is through their major role as membrane components. Membrane composition and optimal membrane

properties (i.e. rigidity vs fluidity) are crucial for a number of cellular processes such as glucose transport (Hresko et al. 2016), immune cell function and inflammatory signaling (Stulnig et al. 2001, Ruysschaert and Lonez 2015, Wei et al. 2016, Petkevicius et al. 2019), AT expansion (Pietiläinen et al. 2011), and even insulin signaling (Ginsberg et al. 1981, Park et al. 2013), all of which are compromised during DIO. Membrane dynamics are therefore of particular interest in the study of diabetes-promoting inflammation and IR.

5.1. Overview of membrane lipid composition

The membrane lipid bilayer is composed of three mayor lipid classes: glycerophospholipids (GPL), sphingolipids (SL) and sterols (mainly Chol) (Figure 14). GPL are synthesized by the incorporation of a FA in the sn-1 or sn-2 position of a glycerol backbone, which is further coupled to a specific head-group (i.e. ethanolamine, choline). Among GPL, phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) are the most abundant in all cellular membranes, comprising up to 75% of total PL. Other less represented GPL are phosphatidylinositol (PI), phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylglycerol (PldG)(van der Veen et al. 2017, Harayama and Riezman 2018). PC and PE are asymmetrically distributed in the plasma membrane, with PC being enriched in the outer leaflet, whereas PE preferentially locates at the inner leaflet. PC/PE biosynthesis occurs mainly through the CDP-choline or CDP-ethanolamine pathway (the Kennedy pathway), although a minor amount of PE is also obtained through the conversion of PE into PC by consecutive methylations of PE head-group by PEMT or through the decarboxylation of PS by PS decarboxylase in the mitochondria (van der Veen et al. 2017) (Figure 15).



Figure 14: Membrane structure and composition. The membrane lipid bilayer is a highly heterogenous structure containing phospholipids, sphingolipids and cholesterol. The proportions of these lipids in different regions (raft vs non raft domains) influences membrane properties but also protein anchorage and inflammatory signaling. Adapted from Sezgin et al., 2017.

Both the nature of the head-group and that of the FA can contribute to the overall properties of the membrane. As such, mono- or polyunsaturated FA (MUFA and PUFA, respectively) would increase membrane fluidity, while SFA would generate rigid domains. Membrane FA content remodeling can be performed by several mechanisms, the principal process implicating soluble or tissue-bound phospholipases (PLA) and lysophospholipid acyl transferases (LPLAT) that mediate the hydrolysis of the FA and its replacement into the resultant lysophospholipids, respectively, in a process called the Land's cycle (Hishikawa et al. 2014)(Figure 15).

Sphingolipids, on the other hand, are present at a lower abundance (<20%) and encompass ceramides, sphingomyelin (SM) and glycosphingolipids, with SM being the most abundant. The *de novo* synthesis pathway of ceramide begins with the condensation of a serine and a palmitolyl-CoA and involves multiple acylation and desaturation steps under the control of CerS and DES1 and DES2. Being both the end product and the precursor of more complex SL, ceramide is further metabolized in order to generate SM, glucosylceramide, sphingosine-1-phosphate, among others. It is interesting to note that SM and other complex SL can also be used the other way around to generate ceramides (Meikle et al. 2013, Harayama and Riezman 2018).

Lastly, Chol is the principal sterol synthesized by animal cells and is a highly abundant membrane component. In most cells, the Chol content of cellular membranes varies from <10-30%, increasing along the secretory pathway (ER < Golgi < Plasma membrane) (Subczynski et al. 2017). Due to its unique planar and rather rigid structure, Chol is able to decrease membrane fluidity by interacting with neighboring saturated SL and PL-anchored proteins. This particular interaction allows the creation of heterogenous, tightly packed and rigid microdomains (10-200µm) called lipid rafts that are implicated in the selective recruitment of other lipids and proteins necessary for intracellular signaling (Sezgin et al. 2017). Conversely, membrane regions with more unsaturated lipids and less Chol have been designated as the fluid, non-raft domains. Coexistence of both these domains assures regulation of distinct cellular processes as it controls mobility and translocation/anchorage of membrane receptors, intracellular proteins and cytoskeleton to the plasma membrane, thereby acting on their functionality and activation. Of note, excessive rigidification or fluidification of the plasma membrane hinders inflammatory signaling in macrophages (de la Haba et al. 2016). These changes in the context of obesity-induced ATM activation will be regarded in detail in the following sections.



Figure 15: Mechanisms involved in phospholipid synthesis and remodeling. (A) The Kennedy pathway illustrating the steps involved in phosphatidylethanolamine (PtdEn) and phosphatidyl choline (PtdCho) synthesis, as well as the contribution of phosphatidylserine (PtdSer) to PtdEn production. B) Schematic representation of the enzymes and substrates involves in the Land's cycle. PCYT2: Phosphatidylethanolamine cytidyltransferase; PEMT: Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase; PLA: Phospholipase; FFA: Free fatty acid; LPLAT: lysophospholipid acyl transferases.

5.2. Altered Chol content and membrane signaling

ATMs from obese mice are characterized by an accumulation of Chol, which was proposed to contribute to lipid-induced cytotoxicity during DIO (Prieur et al. 2011). Chol implication in inflammatory processes is mainly mediated by its role in lipid raft formation. For instance, these rafts have been found to favor the clustering and stabilization of the TLR machinery (Ruysschaert and Lonez 2015), with Chol loading of both plasma and endosomal membranes enhancing TLR4-dependent p38 activation in macrophages (Sun et al. 2009). This effect on inflammation was abrogated by Chol depletion in lipid rafts by ABCA1 and β -cyclodextrin, as it disrupted MyD88 recruitment to the membrane (Ito et al. 2015). Chol depletion was also able to reduce macrophage responsiveness to CCL2 (Umemoto et al. 2013). Similarly, changes in membrane Chol and lipid raft either by ABCG1 or FAS inhibition has shown to be associated with abnormal LPL retention at the plasma membrane and activity and disrupted Rho GTPase-dependent inflammatory signaling, respectively (Olivier et al. 2012, Wei et al. 2016). Rho GTPase decreased signaling was associated with reduced inflammation and IR, a phenotype which was rescued by exogenous sterols but not exogenous FA (Wei et al. 2016). Finally, accumulation of Chol in ER membrane was reported to induce cytotoxicity and apoptosis in

macrophages through activation of the cell death effector CHOP of the unfolded protein response (Feng et al. 2003).

5.3. Altered PL content and membrane signaling

i. Glycerophospholipids

An increasing number of studies have linked altered membrane GPL content to metabolic disorders. PC:PE ratio disturbance has been implicated in obesity-associated ER stress, inflammation, decreased insulin signaling and steatohepatitis (Li et al. 2006, Fu et al. 2011, van der Veen et al. 2017). Although most of these studies have focused on the effects of different GPL species on hepatocyte membranes, more recent data has found a similar relation between altered PC/PE levels and ATM activation. For instance, PC synthesis assessed by Pcyt1a expression and lysoPC content are increased in ATMs from genetically (Lep^{ob/ob}) obese, insulin-resistant mice. Myeloid-specific inhibition of endogenous PC synthesis improves Lep^{ob}/^{ob} mice metabolic phenotype and lowers ATM inflammatory response to palmitate through reduced PC turnover at the plasma membrane of ATM, thus allowing incorporation of anti-inflammatory, membrane-fluidifying PUFAs (Petkevicius et al. 2019). Another study showed that LXR agonist-mediated insulin sensitizing and anti-inflammatory effects in obese mice were correlated to increased PC and PE species with high PUFA content (Archer et al. 2013). Mobilization of this PUFA pool from PE and PC therefore represents a protective mechanism in DIO. Coherent with this statement, hydrolysis of PUFA by ATM PLA2G2D has seen to attenuate adipose tissue inflammation by increasing WAT browning and the production of anti-inflammatory lipid mediators (Sato et al. 2020). Increased PIdG has also been associated with anti-inflammatory ATM polarization, as daily PldG treatment of obese mice seemed to promote expression of M2 markers such as CD163 and CD301 and inhibit AT lipolysis, albeit through more indirect mechanisms (Kayser et al. 2019). It is interesting to note that overweight and obese subjects display increased serum levels of both PldG and PE, which are incidentally positively and negatively correlated to BMI and IL6 expression, respectively, suggesting a link between these PL and low grade, metabolic inflammation (Kayser et al. 2019).

ii. Sphingolipids

DIO has also been associated to dysfunctional SL metabolism. Among them, ceramides have been attributed highly inflammatory, insulin resistant properties that eventually lead to T2D. Ceramide accumulation is observed in plasma and visceral AT from obese women with metabolic syndrome and is accompanied by inflammatory marker expression (Choromańska et al. 2019). Pharmacological inhibition of short chain C16:0 ceramide synthesis has been correlated with lower weight gain in mice fed a HFD, as well as improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (Raichur et al. 2019). Ceramides

have been shown to induce pro-inflammatory ATM polarization and IR by activating the NLRP3 and TLR4 pathways (Shin et al. 2017, Kucuk et al. 2021). They have also been found to inhibit FAO, induce mitochondrial dysfunction and thus promote oxidative stress (Fucho et al. 2017). The role of SM in ATM-driven inflammation and IR has been less studied, but reports have shown that altered SM membrane turnover in mice is associated to a protective phenotype in diet-induced weight gain and IR by enhancing GLUT4 expression and insulin receptor activity (Song et al. 2019).

Globally, ATM metabolic activation in DIO is associated with a switch for more lipotoxic lipids. It is important to note that just as ATM membrane lipidome can influence inflammatory signaling, modulation of inflammatory pathways can also reshape lipid composition. This reciprocal relationship has been observed in lipid-loaded BMDM whose lipidome remodeling (mostly PC, but also cholesterol esters and TG) was observed after stimulation with a panel of TLR ligands (Hsieh et al. 2020). Lastly, we cannot rule out the contribution of other membrane lipids, such as phosphatidylinositol, phosphatidylserine, phosphatidic acid and plasmalogens to this signaling. Due to their low abundance in membranes, their effects might be masked by the other lipids. It is thus preferable to study membrane dynamics in relation to individual PL species and nature of the acyl chain.

5.4. FA nature and ATM-mediated inflammation

i. Saturated fatty acids

SFA are made up of a carbon chain containing only single bonds and are obtained through dietary intake of animal fats and plant oils or through DNL (small-chain SFA – 4 to 16 carbons – are synthesized by FAS, while those containing longer chains are obtained by elongation of already available SFA). These FA are known for their pro-inflammatory potential and are thereby positively associated with ATM inflammatory phenotype and proportion in obese AT (Poledne et al. 2019). SFA are implicated in NLRP3 activation; indeed, both palmitate (C16:0; the most abundant SFA) and stearate (C18:0) treatment of human macrophages is able to induce IL-1 β secretion by promoting rigidification of the plasma membrane and disrupting Na, K-ATPase activity and K⁺ efflux, a mechanism that has been long associated with inflammatory JNK pathway which has been found to exert a role in ATM-mediated IR and development of T2D during DIO (Talbot et al. 2014, Yung and Giacca 2020). Consistently, JNK-deficient mice were protected against glucose intolerance and IR, showed decreased ATM infiltration and M1-like polarization (Han et al. 2013, Hernandez et al. 2014).

Palmitate has also been found to induce NF-κB activation in a TLR4 dependent manner, and macrophages from mice lacking TLR4 revealed blunted inflammatory cytokine production and increased insulin sensitivity (Shi et al. 2006). However, whether this SFA acts as a direct TLR4 ligand to

induce inflammation has been extensively challenged in recent years. The first piece of evidence showing PA is not a direct agonist of this receptor was brought in by Lancaster and coll., who demonstrated that PA treatment does not induce the conformational changes, dimerization nor endocytosis that characterize TLR4 active state. The absence of TLR4 in murine macrophages, although protective against PA inflammatory effects when used alone, is not sufficient to inhibit PA effects when cells had been previously primed with other TLR agonists. It is interesting to note that this priming of Tlr4-deficient macrophages was associated with a metabolic reprogramming that included upregulation of genes typical of M1-like metabolism and alteration of its lipidome, most notably ceramides, SM, PE plasmalogens and lysoPC/PE and cholesteryl esters (Lancaster et al. 2018). Similar observations have been made in studies for PA effect on ceramide production. Indeed, while PA alone was able to induce C16:0 ceramide synthesis and promote TNF α and IL-1 β secretion, this effect was independent of the presence of the TLR4 receptor (Schilling et al. 2013). Finally, palmitate is able to induce the expression of HIF-1 α in macrophages even under normoxic conditions (Sharma et al. 2020), providing another mechanism, independent of TLR4, for ATM activation during obesity. Other SFA such as lauric acid (C12:0) and stearic acid (C18:0) may also contribute to the overall inflammatory and insulin resistant profile seen in DIO (Wong et al. 2009, Seimon et al. 2010, Rogero and Calder 2018).

ii. Polyunsaturated fatty acids

As opposed to SFA, polyunsaturated FA (PUFA) present at least two or more double bonds in their acyl chain and are rather associated to an anti-inflammatory environment by inhibiting leukocyte chemotaxis, adhesion molecule expression and production of pro-inflammatory eicosanoids while upregulating that of specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators (SPM) (Calder 2017). When it comes to PUFA, the most abundant species are ω -3 and ω -6 PUFAs and are mostly obtained through diet (vegetable fats). The most prominent and commonly studied PUFA are α -linolenic acid (α -LA; C18:3n-3), arachidonic acid (AA; C20:4n-6), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA; C20:5n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; C22:6n-3), the latter two sharing strong anti-inflammatory properties. Indeed AA, EPA and DHA are all increased in AT of T2D, obese women, with AA levels correlating to CD68 expression (Heemskerk et al. 2015). AA has been found to induce p38 and JNK signaling in human monocytes and also to generate a lipid-laden macrophage phenotype by promoting accumulation of TG, CE and AA itself in LD (Guijas et al. 2012). Increased intracellular AA content has also been associated to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of macrophages (Pérez et al. 2006, Shen et al. 2018). Contradicting results have however arisen from the observation that AA is able to disrupt LPS- and SFA-mediated TLR4 activation in macrophages by directly binding to its co-receptor MD2 and decreasing the expression of its downstream targets NF-κB and MAPK (Zhang et al. 2020). These differences may stem from the fact that AA functions are also a result of its ability to produce bioactive lipid mediators that can either promote or instigate inflammation (Horrillo et al. 2010, Börgeson et al. 2012, Li et al. 2015a, Virtue et al. 2015, García-Alonso et al. 2016).

ω-3 PUFA such as DHA and EPA have been associated with increased membrane fluidity, repression of inflammation and insulin sensitivity in macrophages (Li et al. 2013, Mason et al. 2016). Indeed, antiinflammatory M2 polarization and lipid catabolism is promoted in mice under a DHA/EPA rich diet, where shorter chain FA were used for β-oxidation while PUFAs were oriented to PL and pro-resolving lipid mediators production (Rombaldova et al. 2017). EPA alone also displays protective, insulin sensitizing effects, as supplementation of this PUFA prevented and even reversed AT inflammation and adipocyte hypertrophy, accounted for by adipocyte size, adipogenesis-related genes, ATM infiltration and FAO (LeMieux et al. 2015). DHA shares similar effects by promoting M2-like polarization in the AT of obese mice (Titos et al. 2011). These protective actions are most likely due to its ability to inhibit NF-κB and NLRP3 inflammasome activation, as well as to target *de novo* ceramide synthesis and TLR4 recruitment into lipid rafts (Wong et al. 2009, Williams-Bey et al. 2014). Evidence also suggests that these FAs work in concert with the insulin sensitizing adipokine adiponectin, and that their neutralization augments IL-6, CCL2 and NOS2 expression, among others, as well as increases neutral lipid content within ATM (De Boer et al. 2015).

The discovery of the G-coupled protein receptor (GPCR) GPR120 and its interaction with DHA and EPA represent another mechanism accounting for the anti-inflammatory character of ω -3 PUFA (Im 2016). GPR120 is highly expressed in adipocytes and macrophages, and its deficiency abrogates the anti-diabetic effects that come with ω -3 PUFA supplementation. Indeed, DHA and EPA exposure on GPR120 null mice had no effect on monocyte/macrophage chemotaxis, M1-like and M2-like gene expression, as well as overall and tissue-specific insulin sensitivity (Oh et al. 2010, Im 2016). Importantly, the benefit of ω -3 PUFA for the treatment of metabolic disease has been observed in the ANCHOR trial, where supplementation of statin-treated type 2 diabetes women with a stable ω -3 FA (icosapent ethyl) reduced inflammatory parameters after a 12-week therapy (Ballantyne et al. 2012). Although less studied, MUFA also display anti-inflammatory properties that can oppose SFA action. A MUFA-enriched diet has been revealed to favor a more insulin sensitive phenotype in mice and humans, as well as reduced IL-1 β and NO secretion by macrophages, decreased the number of M1-like ATMs and limited adipocyte hypertrophy (Lima et al. 2014, Finucane et al. 2015, Souza et al. 2017).

Altogether, we see that ATM are at the crossroad of both lipid metabolism and lipid-mediated inflammation by adopting a specific program for handling these lipids as an attempt to control lipotoxicity, AT inflammation and the development of IR and T2D, but are ultimately overwhelmed. A better understanding of the mechanisms by which lipids shape ATM phenotype during DIO is thus

60

necessary to counteract this pathology, and will need the identification of new target genes capable of interacting with and modifying ATM lipidome. In that sense, my research also focused on a particular gene, *ABCG1*, which is strongly implicated in lipid metabolism, but whose contribution to ATM activation and ATM-mediated metabolic consequences during obesity have not yet been elucidated. The last chapter of this manuscript will therefore introduce and contextualize ABCG1 role in cardiometabolic disease.

Part IV: ABCG1 in cardiometabolic disease

1. The ABC transporters in lipid-related disease

The ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters are a large superfamily of transport proteins encompassing 49 members that are subdivided in 7 families from A to G based on sequence homology. They actively transport several different molecules such lipids, ions, proteins, vitamins and other small or large inorganic and organic compounds across cell membranes by hydrolyzing ATP. Given this key role in overall cellular homeostasis, they are ubiquitous in nearly all organisms and are particularly expressed in brain, liver, pancreas, AT, intestine, among others (Ye et al. 2020). Dysfunction of any of these transporters is therefore associated to a wide variety of diseases and pathological conditions such as cardiometabolic disease and lipid disorder, Alzheimer's disease or even cancer multidrug resistance (Table 3).

Among the ABC transporters implicated in lipid or lipid-related compounds transport, mutations on ABCG5/G8 have been implicated in the development of Sitosterolemia, a hereditary disorder in which the absorption of plan sterols and dietary cholesterol is enhanced, conducing to a build-up of these lipids in plasma and tissue and an increased risk of premature CVD (Salen et al. 1985, Tzavella et al. 2017). ABCA2 and ABCA7 have been identified in Alzheimer's disease, with ABCA7 allowing for a particular link between cholesterol homeostasis and the immune system, particularly natural killer lymphocytes (Ye et al. 2020). Then, ABCA1 has been one of the most studied ABC transporters given its involvement in reverse cholesterol transport and the formation of HDL particles. As such, researchers have associated mutations in this gene with Tangier disease (Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999, Rust et al. 1999, Maranghi et al. 2019), a pathology characterized by a severe reduction in the amount of HDL in blood as well as ectopic cholesterol deposits particularly in tonsils, liver, lymph nodes and spleen. ABCA1 expression has also been correlated with impaired insulin secretion, increased TG and Chol levels, inflammation and foam cell formation (Brunham et al. 2007, Kruit et al. 2011, Chen et al. 2016, Shi et al. 2021).

Regarding ABCG1, no genetic disorders have thus far been associated to mutations of this gene. However, given that ABCG1 actively participates in Chol efflux, especially in macrophages in the context of atherosclerosis, its activity has been linked to a protective CVD phenotype. The whole spectrum of action of macrophage ABCG1 and its exact contribution to atherosclerotic disease is however still a subject of debate and need to be elucidated (Hardy et al. 2017). Here we aim to provide a comprehensive view of the role of this transporter in lipid homeostasis, and the gaps in the literature that prompted us to expand our current knowledge regarding ABCG1 implication in ATM-mediated inflammation during DIO.

62

ABC Transporter	Tissue distribution	Substrate	Pathological link (monogenic	Reference
			disease [*] or contribution ^{\$})	
ABCA1	Ubiquitous	Phospholipids, Chol	Tangier disease [*] , Alzheimer's	(Brooks-Wilson et al. 1999, Brunham
			disease ^{\$} , Atherosclerosis ^{\$} , T2D ^{\$}	et al. 2007, Shi et al. 2021, Holstege et
				al. 2022)
ABCA2	Brain, kidney, lung, heart,	Chol, sterols, sphingolipids	Alzheimer's disease ^{\$} , Cancer drug	(Davis and Tew 2018)
	HSC		resistance ^{\$}	
ABCA7	Brain, immune cells	Chol, phospholipids	Alzheimer's disease ^{\$}	(Aikawa et al. 2019, De Roeck et al.
				2019)
ABCA12	Lung, skin	Lipids	Harlequin ichthyosis [*]	(Rajpopat et al. 2011)
ABCB1 (MDR1)	Colon, epithelia, blood-	Glycosylceramides	Inflammatory bowel disease ^{\$} ,	(Brinar et al. 2013, Tarling et al. 2013)
	brain barrier		ulcerative colitis ^{\$}	
ABCB4 (MDR4)	Hepatocytes, colon	Phosphatidylcholine	Progressive familial intrahepatic	(Weber et al. 2019)
			cholestasis 3*	
ABCD1 (ALDP)	Enterocytes	Very long chain fatty acids	Adrenoleukodystrophy [*]	(Turk et al. 2020)
ABCG1	Lung, brain, spleen, heart,	Chol, sphingomyelin	CVD ^{\$} , obesity ^{\$} , T2D ^{\$}	(Hardy et al. 2017)
	liver, macrophages			
ABCG4	Brain	Chol, desmosterol	Alzheimer's disease\$	(Dodacki et al. 2017)
ABCG5	Enterocytes, hepatocytes	Chol, plant sterols	Sitosterolemia [*]	(Salen et al. 1985, Tzavella et al. 2017)
ABCG8	Enterocytes, hepatocytes	Chol, plant sterols	Sitosterolemia [*]	(Salen et al. 1985, Tzavella et al. 2017)

 Table 3: Non-exhaustive list of ABC lipid transporters implicated in human disease.
 Chol: Cholesterol; HSC: hematopoietic stem cells; CVD: cardiovascular disease;

 T2D: Type 2 diabetes.

2. The ABCG1 transporter

2.1. Structure and expression profile

The human ABCG1 transporter was first identified as a homolog of the *white* gene in Drosophila who is implicated in the transport of eye pigment precursors (Savary et al. 1996). The ABCG1 protein contains a C-terminal transmembrane domain with six α -helices and a N-terminal cytosolic nucleotidebinding domain consisting a Walker A, Walker B and Signature/C-loop motifs (ABC domain) that are required for ATP binding and hydrolysis (Figure 16). Mutations on amino acids present in either of these motifs have been shown to impair not only lipid transport, but also the trafficking of this transport to the plasma membrane (Ye et al. 2020). ABCG1 is a half transporter, meaning it needs to homodimerize or heterodimerize to be active, with evidence suggesting that it usually functions as a homodimer (Vaughan and Oram 2005). There are two functional transcript variants of ABCG1 in humans which differ only by the absence of a 12 amino acid internal segment (ABCG1(678), full-length variant; ABCG1(666), spliced variant). The shorter transcript has been observed to be the most prominently active form of ABCG1 in humans (Engel et al. 2006). Mice have been found to express only the shorter variant (Burns et al. 2013).



Figure 16: Structure of the membrane ABCG1 transporter. A: Walker A motif; B: Walker B motif; S: C-loop; TMD: transmembrane domain; Nt: N-terminus; Ct: C-terminus. From Hardy et al., 2017

The expression of this transporter is seen mainly in lung, brain, spleen, liver and macrophages and is under the control of the LXR pathway. ABCG1 is therefore stimulated by Chol and oxysterol (Chol oxidative derivatives) loading, but it can also be downregulated by PUFA, certain miRNA (miR33 and miR-23a-5p) and by the corepressor GPS2 (Ku et al. 2012, Ye et al. 2020). Indeed, depletion of GPS2 has been found to correlate to ABCG1 expression levels in mature adipocytes and in the AT of obese humans (Barilla et al. 2020). Although some studies suggested that ABCG1 was exclusively found in the ER, trans-Golgi network and the endosomal recycling compartments, others showed that ABCG1 is also

localized at the plasma membrane, where it is stabilized by actin filaments and exerts its action (Wang et al. 2006, Pandzic et al. 2017, Harris et al. 2018).

2.2. Function and mechanism of action

ABCG1 is specialized in the efflux of Chol and oxysterols, sphingomyelin and PL (mainly PC), thereby preventing the cytotoxic effects of lipid accumulation within the cell (Kennedy et al. 2005, Kobayashi et al. 2006, Sano et al. 2007). Besides lipids, it has also been reported as an exporter of liposoluble molecules such as vitamin E (Olivier et al. 2014). In terms of lipid transport, ABCG1 works in concert with ABCA1 to generate HDL: first, ABCA1 exports Chol to lipid-poor apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I; nascent HDL), which is then further lipidated by ABCG1-mediated Chol efflux (HDL₂ and HDL₃) (Vaughan and Oram 2005, Gelissen et al. 2006). The mechanistic aspects of this transport have not yet been fully elucidated; however, several recent studies focusing on the cryo-electro structure of ABCG1 have allowed to identify molecular motifs involved in its interaction with Chol and propose a working model (Figure 17). In the absence of substrate, ABCG1 is presumed to be in an inward open state, the binding cavity open to the cytosol/plasma membrane (Skarda et al. 2021). The recruitment and alignment of Chol to this cavity have been found to be assisted by two sphingomyelin molecules, who create hydrophobic interactions with Chol to stabilize it (Xu et al. 2022). Consistent with this observation, studies have shown that ABCG1 efflux activity can be stimulated in a sphingomyelin-dependent manner (Sano et al. 2007). The hydrophobic site is located more at the center of the transmembrane domain and has been found to contain several amino acid residues (i.e. phenylalanine570/571, glycine164/242, lysine124, among others) that participate in closing the cavity to the cytosolic leaflet of the plasma membrane (Sun et al. 2021). Binding of ATP can then induce another conformational change that allows the adoption of an outward open conformation rich in phenylalanine residues, which are necessary for substrate release. Chol is then accessible to HDL particles. The inward-open conformation is expected to reappear after ADP diffusion (Xu et al. 2022). Mutation of any of residues implicated in Chol sensing and interaction with the transporter have thus been observed to inhibit ATP activity (Hegyi et al. 2022).

The consequences of ABCG1-dependent lipid efflux are numerous. For instance, ABCG1 allows the redistribution of intracellular sterols away from the ER and into endosomes, which could have implications in lipid-mediated ER stress but also contribute to an altered plasma membrane lipid composition. Moreover, Tarling and coll. showed that ABCG1 expression levels are positively correlated to SREBP1 activity and the activation of its target genes, again arguing for its role in lipid homeostasis (Tarling and Edwards 2011). Interestingly, it has also been seen to be associated with the expression of genes involved in cell adhesion, immune cell transendothelial migration and apoptosis

(Shen et al. 2019). Lastly, ABCG1 expression has also been required for membrane Chol-rich microdomain formation (Freeman et al. 2014). Overall, we have seen that membrane lipid composition is able to influence the activity of ABCG1 and, at the same time, ABCG1 function is able to change lipid distribution within the membrane and thus its structure by reorganizing/promoting efflux of lipids.



Figure 17: Proposed mechanism of action of the ABCG1 transporter in lipid efflux. The ABCG1 transporter (1) can adopt an inward facing conformation following cholesterol (CHL) and sphingomyelin (SM) interaction (2). Chol then moves through ABCG1 (3) and upon ATP binding it adopts an outward facing conformation whose exit cavity is rich in phenylalanine resides (Phe) (4). Chol exists the transporter (5) and ABCG1 goes back to its resting state. From Xu et al., 2022.

3. Roles of ABCG1 in lipid homeostasis and cardiometabolic disease

The role of ABCG1 as a lipid transporter led to believe it could be implicated in maintaining tissue lipid homeostasis in metabolic contexts. This potential contribution has mostly been studied in mice models featuring a genetic loss-of-function or gain-of-function of this transporter and fed a high-lipid diet. The first characterization of ABCG1 knockout mice revealed that the absence of this gene did not impact viability nor growth, and it was not associated with significant changes in body weight, blood lipids or any other metabolic parameters when fed a normal diet. Interestingly, this changed in a context of high-fat and high-cholesterol feeding, where it was observed that ABCG1 deficiency resulted in prominent Chol ester, TG and PL storage in hepatocytes and in macrophages from several different tissues, particularly lungs and liver. Overexpression of the transporter annulled these effects (Kennedy et al. 2005). This report contributed to place ABCG1 at the forefront of cellular lipid metabolism and guided researchers to explore its contribution to several pathophysiological conditions at a genetic and an epigenetic level.

3.1. ABCG1 in cardiovascular disease

i. Impact of circulating lipid levels

Despite its contribution to whole-body lipid homeostasis, as seen above, mice lacking ABCG1 do not present altered plasma lipid levels (Kennedy et al. 2005). In agreement with this experimental model, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) on *ABCG1* single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have failed to detect significant differences between *ABCG1* variants and serum TG, total Chol, LDLcholesterol (LDL-C) or Lipoprotein(a) levels (Furuyama et al. 2009, Olivier et al. 2012). However, larger cohort studies did manage to associated two rare *ABCG1* SNPs located in the promoter region to modest reductions (<7%) in HDL-C levels only (Schou et al. 2012). Similar observations were reported with other variants, but depended on postprandial state, PUFA lipid intake, age or BMI (Abellán et al. 2010, 2011, Zago et al. 2022). Interestingly though, other *ABCG1* SNPs have also been associated to plasma LPL activity independently of it mass and of circulating TG levels (Olivier et al. 2012). As opposed to genetic marks, epigenetic studies focusing on cytosine guanine dinucleotide (CpG) methylation sites have nonetheless correlated *ABCG1* CpG not only to lower HDL-C, but also higher TG levels, SM, PC and lysoPC (Petersen et al. 2014, Jiang et al. 2021, Mazaheri-Tehrani et al. 2022), suggesting the importance of environmental stimuli on ABCG1 function and lipid traits.

ii. Impact on monocytes/macrophages

While ABCG1 effects on plasma lipid levels seem to be few, its contribution to CVD development and progression has been more documented. In humans, ABCG1 expression in CD14⁺ monocytes has been inversely correlated to premature coronary heart disease independently of plasma lipid levels (Sivapalaratnam et al. 2012). Several *ABCG1* SNPs and hypermethylated loci have also been identified as associated with the risk of atherosclerotic disease, myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke (Xu et al. 2011, Liu et al. 2014, Peng et al. 2014, Li et al. 2015b, Hedman et al. 2017). Functional studies carried out on one of these *ABCG1* SNPs (rs57137919G>A) revealed that the resulting downregulation of its expression led to impaired Chol and oxysterol efflux and increased apoptosis in lipid-loaded human macrophages (Liu et al. 2014). Since this same defect in Chol efflux to HDL was seen in ABCG1-deficient mice macrophages (Kennedy et al. 2005), it was hypothesized that ABCG1 expression could protect from atherosclerotic plaque formation by promoting Chol export from arterial macrophages to HDL. Indeed, lipid-laden macrophages/foam cells presence in the artery wall is one of the first events leading to atherosclerosis.

To test this hypothesis, several independent groups investigated the impact of BM transplantation of donor *Abcg1^{-/-}* mice into atherosclerotic-prone, recipient *Ldlr^{-/-}* and *Apoe^{-/-}* mice, as well as *Abca1/Abcg1* double knockout mice fed a high-Chol diet, but reported contradicting results. Consistent

with human data, two studies reported increased atherosclerotic plaque formation in the absence of ABCG1, this due to heavy intracellular lipid accumulation within macrophages (Out et al. 2006, 2008, Lammers et al. 2009). It is important to note that the double *Abca1/Abcg1* knockout model resulted in a much more important increase in intracellular lipids (Out et al. 2008), suggesting that these two transporters work in a synergistic, complementary way. Others showed however that *Abcg1* deficiency was instead protective, as it increased foam cell susceptibility to oxidized-LDL-mediated apoptosis, which was sufficient to clear macrophages from atherosclerotic plaques and reduce lesion size (Baldán et al. 2006, Yvan-Charvet et al. 2007, Tarling et al. 2010). This was supported by another report showing that ABCG1 deficiency was found to increase macrophage susceptibility to oxLDL by impairing the efflux of proapoptotic 7-ketocholesterol (Terasaka et al. 2007). To sort out these discrepancies, Meurs et al., reported that Abcg1 role on atherosclerotic lesion development depends not only on the stage of the disease, but also on the length of the diet (Meurs et al. 2012). It appears then that macrophage Abcg1 presence is initially beneficial as it promotes Chol efflux and prevents foam cell formation; when the disease advances, Abcg1 activity becomes deleterious by protecting macrophage from oxysterol-induced apoptosis.

Beyond lipid transport, Abcg1 deficiency in arterial macrophages has also been associated to enhanced inflammatory gene expression and signaling. For instance, myeloid deficiency of Abcg1 on a *Ldlr^{-/-}* background has been found to induce II-1 β and IL-18 production in monocytes and macrophages from mice fed a high-Chol diet. This have been observed to be under the control of the NLRP3 inflammasome and dependent on macrophage Chol accumulation (Westerterp et al. 2018, Yalcinkaya et al. 2023). Increased TLR4 recruitment at the plasma membrane and inflammatory signaling has also been seen in Abcg1 deficient macrophages stimulated with LPS (Yvan-Charvet et al. 2008).

iii. Impact on other immune cells

Increased neutrophil infiltration and netosis has also been evidenced in atherosclerotic plaques of mice following global, neutrophil- or macrophage-specific Abcg1 deletion (Yvan-Charvet et al. 2008, Yalcinkaya et al. 2023) and under a high-fat or high-cholesterol diet. This has been connected to ABCG1 capacity to inhibit proliferation of the hematopoietic cell compartment and progenitor cells, thus preventing neutrophilia but also monocytosis (Yvan-Charvet et al. 2010). Increased number of thymocytes and peripheral T lymphocytes have also been observed as a consequence of excessive Chol accumulation and T-cell receptor signaling in mice deficient for ABCG1 and fed a chow diet (Armstrong et al. 2010). Double Abcg1 and Abca1 deficient mice exhibit splenomegaly and extramedullary hematopoiesis by mobilizing hematopoietic cells from the BM in a signaling cascade under the control

of IL-23 and IL-17 (Wang and Westerterp 2020). All these mechanisms may contribute to further immune cell infiltration and plaque destabilization.

iv. Impact on endothelial cells

In endothelial cells, the absence of this transporter has shown to increase lesion area by dramatically enhancing monocyte infiltration into the atherosclerotic plaque, consequently increasing macrophage number and macrophage lipid accumulation, as well nitric oxide production in *Abca1^{fl/fl}Abcg1^{fl/fl}Ldlr^{-/-}* mice (crossbred with Tie2Cre mouse strain for endothelial cell targeting) fed a western-type diet. This was found to be mediated increased inflammatory signaling in both human and mouse Abca1/g1-deficient endothelial cells (Westerterp et al. 2016). ABCG1 role is therefore essential for maintaining homeostasis in all the cellular intermediaries of atherosclerotic disease.

3.2. ABCG1 in obesity

i. Clinical findings

In humans, ABCG1 expression has also been positively associated to adipocyte differentiation and fat mass and BMI in morbidly obese individuals or individual at risk of obesity and related metabolic conditions (Frisdal et al. 2015, Wahl et al. 2017). Its expression seems to be higher in scWAT *vs* vWAT but is found to decrease with age and be accompanied of increased propensity to developing the metabolic syndrome (Panteleeva et al. 2021). Weight loss does not seem to alter its expression in adipocytes nor in ATM (Capel et al. 2009, Campbell et al. 2013); on the contrary, several studies have shown that ABCG1 expression in AT is significantly upregulated during weight loss either by lifestyle changes or bariatric surgery (Aron-Wisnewsky et al. 2011, Johansson et al. 2012). Interestingly, other recent data has shown that *ABCG1* SNPs could influence the outcome of weight loss in obese women, as patients carrying the ABCG1 rs692383 G allele were less responsive to dietary intervention (Teixeira et al. 2020).

Epigenome analyses also showed a positive association between *ABCG1* CpG methylation levels in blood monocytes and other immune cells and BMI/waist circumference (Demerath et al. 2015, Ding et al. 2015). Other hypermethylated *ABCG1* loci have also been positively correlated to hypertriglyceridemia and, interestingly, to epicardial AT and the development of coronary artery disease (Miroshnikova et al. 2021), consistent with the notion that obesity enhances cardiometabolic risk. Importantly, methylation of ABCG1 locus has been identified as able to predict the development of obesity in a cohort of 394 subjects from the Framingham Offspring study (Lee et al. 2021), thereby sustaining ABCG1 potential involvement in the development of obesity. Of note, this study also found certain dietary factors such as fat-rich and carbohydrates-rich food as strong predictors of obese status. While we already know that dietary habits share a strong causal relationship with this disease, it is
important to mention that a recent study found a positive association between carbohydrate intake and ABCG1 methylation levels (Lai et al. 2023). These observations highlight the notion than environmental factors can influence cardiometabolic risk *via* epigenetic changes of ABCG1 locus.

ii. Findings in mice

The first account of ABCG1 mechanistic involvement in the pathogenesis of obesity was observed by Buchman and coll., who reported that targeted deletion of ABCG1 protected mice against HFDinduced obesity, glucose intolerance and fatty liver by decreasing adipocyte size and food intake, and increasing energy expenditure (Buchmann et al. 2007). The mechanism behind this phenotype was later elucidated by our laboratory (Figure 18), where it was shown that adipocyte ABCG1 decreases lipid raft formation by promoting promotes SM from the plasma membrane. Low amounts of membrane SM ensure LPL release and activity, which can then hydrolyze TRL and contribute to the release of FFA. Remnant lipoproteins and FFA can then enter the cell and be stored in LD. Intracellular uptake of FFA and Chol leads to activation of PPARy, which upregulates a cascade of genes implicated in adipocyte maturation and lipid uptake/storage such as C/EBPs, FABPs or perilipins. This promotes adipogenesis and fat mass growth concomitantly with the development of obesity (Frisdal et al. 2015). Transcriptionally, ABCG1-dependent induction of adipocyte growth and hypertrophy is regulated by GPS2, whose inhibition has been found to trigger the commitment of stem cell progenitors towards the adipogenic lineage (Barilla et al. 2020). The histone deacetylase 9 (HDAC9) has also been implicated in ABCG1-mediated adjpocyte differentiation, as decreased expression of this gene following stating treatment was found to repress ABCG1 activity in adipocytes and decrease insulin and glucose metabolism (Khamis et al. 2020)

While these observations differ from those made by Kennedy et al., who not only did not observe a difference in weight gain between *Abcg1^{-/-}* mice and controls but also showed increased lipid content in lungs and liver(Kennedy et al. 2005), they brought into light the dual role of ABCG1 in lipid efflux and lipid accumulation depending on the lipid context. Indeed, the main difference between these studies was the diet employed, which was either enriched in fat (45%)(Frisdal et al. 2015), in carbohydrates and fat (52% and 15%, respectively)(Buchmann et al. 2007), or in both FA and Chol (21% and 1.25%, respectively) (Kennedy et al. 2005). These diets have been shown to elicit distinct metabolic and transcriptomic signatures, as well as different consequences on weight gain and lipid accumulation. For instance, LXR deficient mice have been shown to be resistant to DIO but only when challenged with a diet containing Chol. This phenotype has been observed to be mediated by Chol capacity to stimulate FA synthesis via LXR and SREBP1, a pathway that is not activated in FA-rich diets (Kalaany et al. 2005, Buchmann et al. 2007). Overall, these studies helped to determine that ABCG1 works as a metabolic

switch depending on the lipid context (Figure 19), thus placing this transporter as a promising therapeutic target in metabolic states characterized by high FA content such as obesity.



Figure 18: Role of adipocyte ABCG1 in regulating fat mass growth and the installment of obesity. ABCG1 promotes adipogenesis in a PPARγ-dependent manner and ensures optimal LPL activity and subsequent TG storage in adipocytes by inducing SM efflux from lipid rafts. Adapted from Frisdal and Le Goff, 2015.

Further characterization of this transporter during obesity consistently showed that its expression in mice is robustly upregulated in epididymal AT during weight gain, but also during calorie restriction (Edgel et al. 2012). This study highlighted that the increase in Abcg1 levels within AT of obese or calorie restricted *db/db* mice was mostly attributable to an induction of its expression in ATM rather than in adipocytes. These ATM were also evidenced to be lipid-laden, but were proposed to egress AT into the peritoneal cavity in an attempt to lower lipid levels within this tissue (Edgel et al. 2012). These results are however inconsistent with findings showing that ATM numbers are sustained in previously obese mice despite weight loss (Blaszczak et al. 2020). Moreover, others have shown in *ob/ob* mice that ABCG1 levels are instead increased in obese AT, although no estimates were made on the expression of this transporter in ATM alone (Duong et al. 2018). These last observations are supported by another study showing that ABCG1 is particularly enriched in anti-inflammatory, CD206⁺ ATM (Wei et al. 2015). Other landmark studies agree macrophage ABCG1 expression and function is dependent on ATM phenotype. For instance, its expression and Chol efflux capacity are enhanced in metabolically active, obese ATM (which also display the CD206 marker) vs lean or M1-polarized ATM (Kratz et al. 2014, O'Reilly et al. 2019). It is important to note that all reports showed that ATM ABCG1-deficient mice (myeloid or genetic inhibition) fed either a chow or a HFD presented increased intracellular cholesterol levels and were not associated to any changes in body weight, composition or glycemic status (Edgel et al. 2012, Wei et al. 2015, Duong et al. 2018).

Overall, the role of ABCG1 in obesity and on ATM polarization profile, notably in LAM which are the most prominent ATM population during DIO, is still not fully defined. The differences in diets and genetic models for targeting this transporter make it difficult to fully characterize its implication in the development of this disease, and have not properly focused on the intrinsic inflammatory profile of ATM. Further research is thus needed to elucidate the mechanism through which ABCG1 drives ATM inflammatory status and should rely on more specific models of obesity (i.e. Diet-induced rather than genetically obese mice; High-fat rather than High-Chol diets) and of ATM targeting (i.e. myeloid/macrophage deficiency rather than whole body).



Figure 19: ABCG1 is a Janus-faced metabolic switch whose function depends on the lipid context. Whereas ABCG1 mainly promotes lipid efflux in a cholesterol-rich context, it induces lipid accumulation by controlling LPL activity in a FA-rich context. TRL: Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins; FFA: Free fatty acids; LPL: lipoprotein lipase.

3.3. ABCG1 in T2D

i. Clinical findings

Macrophages issued from subject with T2D presented reduced ABCG1 expression which translated into a 30% reduction in Chol efflux and a concomitant 60% increase in lipid accumulation (Mauldin et al. 2008). The reduction in ABCG1 mRNA levels has been found to be mediated in part by glucose, as observed in normolipidemic subjects who underwent an oral glucose challenge (Spartano et al. 2014), but also by polyunsaturated linoleic acid in *in vitro* differentiated human macrophages (Mauerer et al. 2009). Regarding *ABCG1* SNPs, we and others have failed to detect any association of ABCG1 with

HOMA-IR and T2D (Schou et al. 2012, Frisdal et al. 2015). Numerous studies have nonetheless established a link between ABCG1 epigenetic modulation and insulin resistance/diabetes, again highlighting the importance of environmental cues. For instance, the Genetics of Lipid Lowering Drugs and Diet Network Study comprising of 837 non-diabetic participants revealed that CpG methylation in CD4⁺ T cells was significantly associated with fasting insulin levels and HOMA-IR (Hidalgo et al. 2014). The London life sciences prospective population (LOLIPOP), the Botnia prospective study and the San Antonio family heart study (SAFHS) then confirmed that ABCG1 methylation is a determinant of future T2D incidence (7.8% of the heritability of T2D explained), independently of BMI (Chambers et al. 2015, Kulkarni et al. 2015, Dayeh et al. 2016). Indeed, methylation of ABCG1 CpG sites in whole blood but also in adipose tissue were found to be associated with elevated fasting glucose levels, HbA1c and fasting insulin levels (Dayeh et al. 2016, Walaszczyk et al. 2018). Finally, ABCG1 methylation has been observed to be negatively modulated by statin treatment, with consequences on insulin and HOMA-IR outcomes among other T2D traits (Liu et al. 2020, Ochoa-Rosales et al. 2020). All these observations confirm that the interaction of ABCG1 with glucose and insulin metabolism can be regulated by epigenetic processes.

ii. Findings in mice

The role of ABCG1 in insulin secretion and glucose homeostasis is perhaps the most critical. It was first evidenced by Sturek and coll., who showed that $Abcg1^{-/-}$ mice under a chow diet were unable to mount an appropriate insulin response after a glucose challenge due to defective insulin secretion from pancreatic β -cells (Sturek et al. 2010). They concluded that this inhibitory effect was the result of impaired insulin granule formation, storage and exocytosis, as ABCG1 deficiency led to an altered granule membrane Chol content (Sturek et al. 2010, Hussain et al. 2018). This was supported by the observation that *ABCG1* mRNA levels were markedly decreased in islets from hyperglycemic *db/db* mice compared to normoglycemic controls, and that glucose and the antidiabetic thiazolidinedione were able to significantly downregulate and upregulate ABCG1 expression, respectively (Sturek et al. 2010). Others then confirmed the role of this transporter in β -cell dysfunction and the development of chronic hyperglycemia as mice lacking ABCG1 presented increased fasting glucose levels, islet sterol levels, inflammation and macrophage infiltration. These defects were potentiated by the double inhibition of ABCA1 and ABCG1 (global ABCG1 deficiency coupled to β -cell ABCA1 deficiency on a chow diet) (Kruit et al. 2012), suggesting a complementary action of these transporters under this context.

Aside from pancreatic β -cells, diabetic mice have also been shown to present reduced levels of ABCG1 in macrophages from different tissues. Indeed, peritoneal macrophages isolated from db/db mice have displayed impaired efflux capacity leading to intracellular lipid accumulation (Mauldin et al.

2006), and the alteration of ABCG1-mediated Chol efflux in T2D has been shown to promote atherosclerosis development (Daffu et al. 2015). Foam cell formation in a diabetic setting has also been associated to adiponectin signaling, this adipokine being able to significantly increase ABCG1 expression without changing ABCA1, CD36 or SRBI levels, thus attenuating macrophage lipid storage (Wang et al. 2013). Furthermore, ABCG1 has also been implicated in diabetes-associated vascular diseases by promoting endothelial progenitor cell function (migration and differentiation) and reendothelialization after vascular injury (Shi et al. 2018).

As a whole, ABCG1 role in the development of DIO, IR and T2D is unequivocally present and its mechanisms of action are multiple. Indeed, ABCG1 maintains intracellular lipid homeostasis by redistributing/modifying membrane lipids, but also seems to control glucose and lipid metabolism by governing the availability of key molecules such as insulin and LPL. This multitude of effects and their consequences are however highly dependent on the tissue and cell type that are studied, but also on the length and type of diet. In obesity, further research is warranted using a more integrated and detailed approach, notably regarding ABCG1 contribution to ATM-mediated inflammation. Of note, FA nature and mechanism of uptake are also parameters that should be considered for future studies due to the role of ABCG1 in LPL activity, which hydrolyses FA from TRL (Olivier et al. 2012), but also given that SFA and PUFA seem to differentially modulate ABCG1 expression in macrophages (Ku et al. 2012).

OBJECTIVE

As I have thoroughly described, obesity is a condition characterized by the pathological expansion of adipose tissue leading to a disproportionate infiltration and accumulation of inflammatory macrophages. ATM are a subset of immune cells whose phenotype and function are highly dependent on their surrounding environment. In physiological conditions, they contribute to AT homeostasis and adaptive remodeling through the activation of phagocytic and anti-inflammatory pathways. In obese states, excessive influx of FFA as a consequence of increased circulating FA levels and adipocyte lipolysis and death steers ATM towards a metabolically active profile (LAM) that specializes in lipid handling, but is also enriched for factors/signaling molecules associated with inflammatory signaling (Coats et al. 2017, Hill et al. 2018). ATM-driven inflammation is known to be a key feature at enabling the instalment of insulin resistance both locally and systemically, thus allowing the development of T2D and other obesity- associated comorbidities. While the mechanistic links between inflammatory pathways and insulin signaling/resistance have been largely explored, the way lipids shape ATM metabolic activation during DIO is still not properly elucidated. This is of particular interest as the capacity of ATM to handle excess lipids has been associated to a protective ATM phenotype by recent scRNAseq studies (Jaitin et al. 2019, Hildreth et al. 2021).

The nature of lipids (i.e. SFA *vs* PUFA) metabolized by ATM, as well as their mechanisms of uptake (i.e. CD36-mediated uptake of FFA *vs* VLDLR-mediated uptake of TRL), have also been associated to distinct states of ATM polarization. Indeed, while SFA trigger inflammation and promote insulin resistance, PUFA, and more especially omega-3 PUFAs, hamper ATM inflammation (Oh et al. 2010). FFA activate ATM inflammatory cytokine production through TLR4,2/NF-KB, JNK and NLRP3, whereas TRL such as VLDL seem to do so *via* the production of ceramides (Wen et al. 2011, Shin et al. 2017). Both mechanisms are also correlated to insulin resistance and may depend on LPL activity.

In this context, we set out to investigate the potential mechanisms involved in ATM plasticity and responsiveness to lipids during DIO. Given our lab's expertise, we focused on the ABCG1 transporter, whose role as a metabolic switch favoring lipid efflux or lipid accumulation depending on the lipid context has been proposed to be one of the main events regulating intracellular lipid homeostasis (Frisdal and Le Goff 2015). Indeed, numerous studies, including several from our laboratory, have put forward the importance of this transporter in foam cell formation in the context of atherosclerosis, as well as in the development of obesity and T2D traits in particular by controlling adipocyte differentiation and growth (Hardy et al. 2017).

The study of ABCG1 role on ATM activation and function has led to confounding and inconsistent findings, as seen before. It was however demonstrated that ABCG1 is implicated in FFA release from TRL and reuptake by macrophages by controlling the bioavailability of LPL through plasma membrane lipid remodeling (Olivier et al. 2012). This important role of ABCG1 on fatty acid metabolism suggests that ABCG1 might govern membrane lipid distribution and inflammation in ATM during obesity and insulin resistance.

To test this hypothesis and assess the causality of ABCG1 in fatty acid handling and membrane lipid remodeling in ATM, our project was organized based on 3 aims:

1) To characterize the function of macrophage ABCG1 in metabolic disorders associated to DIO

A mouse model specifically invalidated for Abcg1 in the myeloid lineage (Abcg1^{fl/fl} x LysM-Cre: Abcg1^{MACKO}) was generated. Wt and *Abcg1^{MACKO}* mice were fed a high-fat diet for 8 to 25 weeks. The consequences of impaired macrophage Abcg1 expression on the development of insulin resistance during DIO was explored both systemically (OGTT and ITT) and at the cellular level (insulin signaling). A complete phenotyping of AT (adipocyte size, inflammation) and liver (hepatosteatosis, inflammation) was also performed. ATM phenotype was assessed by flow cytometry (Fortessa, BD).

2) To elucidate the role of ABCG1 in ATM membrane lipid remodeling and inflammation

ATM were sorted from perigonadal WAT of Wt and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice fed an 8-week HFD. The impact of Abcg1 deficiency on ATM activation was studied by the analysis of membrane lipid remodeling (phospholipids and sphingolipids, TG; LC-ESI/MS/MS) and inflammation (RNAseq). Results were validated in an *in vitro* model: bone-marrow derived macrophages were generated from Wt and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice and cultured in an obesogenic environment (insulin, glucose and VLDL). Metabolic phenotyping of ATM (Seahorse, glucose uptake) was additionally performed. RNAseq data was also compared and confirmed with public data (Sárvári et al. 2021).

3) To identify ABCG1-dependent macrophage populations in human adipose tissue

RNA-sequencing of ATM from obese patients (n=14, low vs high ABCG1) subjected to bariatric surgery (Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire Clinic) was carried out. Results were validated with public data generated from scRNA-sequencing studies (Hildreth et al. 2021).

The conclusions of this study strongly supported a non-canonical, deleterious function of ABCG1 in the rewiring of fatty acid metabolism in ATM during DIO. Such role involved a shift in the handling of different fatty acid pools between lipid droplets and the plasma membrane, with consequences on inflammatory signaling and metabolic circuits. These results are presented below.

RESULTS

Article

ABCG1 transporter orchestrates adipose tissue macrophage plasticity and insulin resistance in obesity by rewiring saturated fatty acid pools.

V.D. Dahik, P. KC, C. Materne, C. Reydellet, M. Lhomme, M. Ponnaiah, F. Deknuydt, E. Frisdal, L.M.Hardy, H. Durand, I. Guillas, P. Lesnik, I. Gudelj, G. Lauc, M. Guérin, A. Kontush, A. Soprani, M.Diedisheim, O. Bluteau, N. Venteclef, W. Le Goff

Submitted for publication at Science Translational Medicine

ABCG1 transporter orchestrates adipose tissue macrophage plasticity and insulin resistance in obesity by rewiring saturated fatty acid pools.

V.D. Dahik¹, P. KC¹, C. Materne¹, C. Reydellet¹, M. Lhomme², M. Ponnaiah², F. Deknuydt², E. Frisdal¹, L.M. Hardy¹, H. Durand¹, I. Guillas¹, P. Lesnik¹, I. Gudelj³, G. Lauc³, M. Guérin¹, A. Kontush¹, A. Soprani⁴, M. Diedisheim^{5,6}, O. Bluteau^{1,7}, N. Venteclef⁶, W. Le Goff¹.

1- Sorbonne Université, INSERM, Foundation for Innovation in Cardiometabolism and Nutrition (ICAN), UMR_S1166, F-75013 Paris, France.

2- Foundation for Innovation in Cardiometabolism and Nutrition (IHU ICAN), ICAN I/O data science (MP), ICAN omics (ML), ICAN BioCell Flow Cytometry (FD), 75013 Paris, France

3- Genos Glycoscience Research Laboratory, HR-10 000 Zagreb, Croatia.

4- Department of Digestive Surgery, Générale de Santé (GDS), Geoffroy Saint Hilaire Clinic, 75005, Paris, France.

5- Clinique Saint Gatien Alliance (NCT+), 37540 Saint-Cyr-sur-Loire, France.

6- INSERM UMR-S1151, CNRS UMR-S8253, Université Paris Cité, Institut Necker Enfants Malades, F-75015, Paris, France.

7- AP-HP Pitié-Salpêtrière-Charles Foix, Department of Endocrine and Oncological Biochemistry, F-75651, Paris, France.

Correspondence: Wilfried Le Goff, Ph.D. INSERM UMR_S1166 Faculté de médecine Sorbonne Université 91, boulevard de l'Hôpital 75013 Paris France email: wilfried.le goff@sorbonne-universite.fr

Graphical abstract



Abstract

In diet-induced obesity (DIO) adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) are exposed to significant lipid fluxes, which can influence the activation of specific inflammatory and metabolic programs and contribute to the development of obesity-associated insulin resistance and other metabolic disorders. However, mechanisms governing this metabolic adaptation of ATM in DIO are poorly understood. In the present study, we demonstrate that the membrane Atp-binding cassette g1 (Abcg1) transporter controls ATM functional response to fatty acids (FA) carried by triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL), which are abundant in high energy diets. Mice genetically lacking Abcg1 in the myeloid lineage present an ameliorated inflammatory status in adipose tissue and a reduced insulin resistance. Abcg1-deficient ATM exhibit a less inflammatory phenotype accompanied by a low bioenergetic profile and a modification of FA metabolism pathways. A closer look into ATM lipidome reveals a shift in the handling of FA pools, including a redirection of saturated FA from membrane phospholipids to lipid droplets, and leading to a reduction in membrane rigidity and neutralization of pro-inflammatory FA. ATM from obese human subjects presented the same reciprocal relationship between Abcg1 expression and this inflammatory and metabolic status. Abolition of this protective, anti-inflammatory phenotype in Abcg1-deficient ATM was achieved through the inhibition of lipoprotein lipase (Lpl) activity, thus delineating the importance of the Abcg1/Lpl axis in controlling ATM metabolic inflammation. Overall, our study identifies the rewiring of fatty acid pools by Abcg1 as a new major pathway orchestrating ATM plasticity and insulin resistance in DIO.

Introduction

Obesity is a growing, clinically complex disease associated with a number of metabolic disorders including insulin resistance (IR), type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, which are major risk factors for cardiovascular disease. In adipose tissue (AT), excess of dietary nutrients triggers a low-grade chronic inflammation which in turn drives the accumulation of adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) and the installation of IR. As such, targeting inflammatory pathways in macrophages have been shown to ameliorate obesity-induced metabolic disorders including IR^{1,2}.

The transcriptional and phenotypic changes that ATM adopt in response to high caloric intake have been widely studied³, although most studies have focused on macrophage inflammatory signature without taking into account tissue microenvironment. Beyond an inflammatory role, ATM contribution to maintaining adipose tissue homeostasis relies also on their responsiveness to the lipid-rich environment that accompanies diet-induced obesity (DIO). ATM are able to internalize circulating and adipocyte-released lipids through different mechanisms⁴ and are therefore able to influence adipocyte health. Moreover, several recent reports have highlighted the heterogeneity of ATM response during the different stages of obesity⁵, with beneficial phenotypes being linked to ATM capacity to transition to a more metabolic program⁶. Consequently, loss of the lipid uptake and storage functions through inhibition of lysosomal biogenesis and the lipid sensor *Trem2* has been shown to amplify AT metabolic dysfunction^{7,8}. These findings have allowed for the characterization of a macrophage subset highly responsive to lipids (lipid-associated macrophages, LAM) and capable of expanding during obesity until becoming the most abundant macrophage population in adipose tissue from both obese mice and humans^{8,9}.

Among the mechanisms taking part in LAM functional changes, cell energy metabolism has been identified as a major determinant of ATM capacity to successfully adapt to a lipid-rich context. Traditional macrophage markers have characterized pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages as a highly energetic population relying mainly on glycolysis, while a more quiescent, oxidative phenotype was attributed to anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages¹⁰. In the context of obesity however, LAM are characterized by a particular metabolically active phenotype governed by both glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHO)¹¹. Dysregulation of any such programs has been shown to alter ATM inflammatory profile^{12,13}, but also their capacity to utilize lipids as a form of energy via fatty acid oxidation¹⁴.

Another major determinant of ATM inflammatory response is the nature and the distribution of lipids (i.e. saturated *vs* unsaturated, free *vs* membrane lipids *vs* lipid droplets). In obesity, a major source of proinflammatory lipids such as saturated fatty acids (SFA) are provided by triglyceride-rich

lipoproteins (TRL), for instance very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL), and by adipocytes mainly through lipolysis. Previous studies have shown that SFA can activate inflammation through the TLR4/CD36 axis^{15,16} and that these deleterious lipid species are increased intracellularly in ATM from *ob/ob* mice¹⁷. Knock-out of very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR), which would allow the internalization of SFA-rich VLDL, has been reported to alleviate inflammatory cytokine expression in ATM¹⁸. Similarly, FA partitioning into other intracellular lipid pools such as plasma membrane, can also exert deleterious or beneficial effects on inflammation according to their saturation degree. This is often mediated by changes in membrane order and composition, with SFA-enriched membranes being associated with increased inflammatory signaling and IR¹⁹. Precise mechanisms controlling the partitioning of proinflammatory SFA into ATM upon DIO, as well as the impact of this latter on AT inflammation and IR are however not fully described.

Membrane ATP-Binding Cassette G1 (ABCG1) transporter was reported to exert an active export of membrane lipids to the extracellular compartment, with consequences on the bioavailability of several proteins²⁰. Genetic and epigenetic modulation of ABCG1 in humans is associated with obesity and insulin resistance, respectively ^{21,22}. We previously demonstrated that the membrane transporter ATP-Binding Cassette G1 (Abcg1) controls the activity of lipoprotein lipase (Lpl) in macrophages by trapping it at the cell surface²³. Lpl is one of the main lipases that hydrolyses and releases SFA from VLDL thus allowing their uptake through VLDLR. Such a role of Abcg1 in DIO, where circulating concentrations of TRL are elevated, could impact the distribution of SFA into ATM and participate to the development of metabolic disorders associated with obesity. In the present study, we brought to light a new mechanism through which the intracellular rewiring of proinflammatory saturated FA metabolism operated by Abcg1 controls the metabolic activation of ATM and contributes to the development of AT inflammation and IR in DIO.

Materials and Methods.

Mice

Abcg1^{fl/fl} mice on a C57/BL6J background (Jackson Laboratories) were crossed with LysM^{Cre+/-} mice (Jackson Laboratories) to generate myeloid-specific Abcg1 knockout mice (*Abcg1*^{MACKO}). Genotyping was performed according to the protocol from Deltagen. *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice and littermate controls (Wt) were housed in a controlled environment (22°C, 12h light-dark cycle) with *ad libitum* access to a standard chow diet and water. At the age of 7-9 weeks, mice were fed a high-fat diet (60% fat, Research Diet#D12492) for 25 weeks. Body composition was analyzed by Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (Brucker Mini-spec+). Mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation and tissues were collected, snap frozen and stored at -80°C or fixed in 10% formalin for further analysis. All procedures were approved and accredited (No. 02458.02) by the French Ministry of Agriculture and in accordance with the guidelines of the Charles Darwin Ethics Committee on animal experimentation.

Plasma parameters

For oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) and insulin tolerance test (ITT), mice were fasted for 5h and administered 2g.kg⁻¹ of glucose by oral gavage and 1 UI.kg⁻¹ of insulin (Eli Lilly) by intraperitoneal injection, respectively. Glycaemia was measured at indicated time points using the Accu-Check Guide system (Roche). Fasting plasma insulin levels were quantified using the Mouse Ultrasensitive Insulin ELISA (Alpco). HOMA-IR values were calculated according to the formula HOMA-IR = [glucose (nmol/L) * insulin (μ U/mL)/22.5], using fasting values. Plasma adipokines were measured with the MILLIPLEX Mouse Metabolic Hormone Expanded Panel assay (Millipore) and the MAGPIX device (Luminex) system according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plasma triglyceride (TG), total (TC) and free cholesterol (FC) and high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C) concentrations were quantified with an autoanalyzer (Konelab 20) using reagent kits (ThermoFisher).

Histological analysis

After fixation, tissues were dehydrated, cleared and embedded in paraffin. 5 μ m sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin according to standard procedures. Mean adipocyte size was quantified using ImageJ software (Adiposoft plugin) and is defined as the average adipocyte area (μ m³) from a randomly chosen field. At least 1000 cells were measured for each genotype. For immunohistochemistry staining, citrate-based antigen retrieval was performed in a 750W microwave for 15min followed by a 10-min incubation with H₂O₂ 3% for quenching of endogenous peroxidase activity. Slides were subsequently blocked and incubated with anti-F4/80 primary antibody (MCA497, Biorad, 1:300 dilution) followed by appropriate secondary antibody, as well as the avidin-biotin

complex as per instructed in the Vectastain ABC-HRP Kit (Vector Laboratories). Color development was performed with DAB (3,3-diaminobenzimine) substrate (DAKO Cytomation) and slides were counterstained with hematoxylin. Negative controls were carried out without incubation of primary antibodies. Quantification of immunohistochemical staining was performed using ImageJ software (Fiji). Images were acquired using a Zeiss microscope.

Stromal vascular fraction isolation

Gonadal (mouse) and omental (human) adipose tissue was excised, minced and digested in DMEM containing 2.5mg/ml collagenase D (Roche) and 1mg/ml collagenase type II (Sigma Aldrich), respectively, for 20min (human) or 30min (mouse) at 37°C. The lysate was dissociated thought a 70µm pored cell strainer and centrifuged at 1,800 rpm for 5min. The stromal vascular fraction (SVF, cell pellet) was washed, resuspended in ACK lysis buffer for 5min at RT and centrifuged. Recovered cells were kept on ice for staining.

Flow cytometry and cell sorting

Cells were stained with a viability dye (Fixable Viability Dye, eBiosciences) for 15min, blocked with an FcR bocking reagent (Miltenyi Biotech) for 20min and stained for surface markers (Supp. Table 1). For intracellular lipid staining, Bodipy 493/503 (D3922, ThermoFischer) was added. For proliferation studies, AF700 coupled KI67 (561277, BD Biosciences) was incubated for 30min after permeabilisation with Foxp3 / Transcription Factor Staining Buffer Set according to provider's protocol (00-5523-00, ThermoFischer). Acquisition was performed on a LSR II Fortessa Analyzer (BD Biosciences). Cell sorting was performed on a Moflo Astrios EQ (Beckman Coulter) (human panel) or a FACSAria II (BD Biosciences) (murine panel). Data were analyzed with FlowJo software (TreeStar, Ashland, OR, USA).

Human samples

Omental adipose tissue biopsies were obtained during gastric surgery of 14 obese female subjects (mean BMI = 41 kg.m⁻²) admitted to the Geoffroy Saint Hilaire Hospital (Paris, France). Clinical and biological parameters of subjects are presented in Table 1. The Ethics Committee of CPP IIe-de-France approved the clinical investigations for all individuals and written informed consent was obtained from all individuals. Studies were conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration.

Western blot

Mice were fasted for 5h and injected with 8 UI.kg⁻¹ of Insulin (Eli Lilly). After 5 minutes, mice were sacrificed and tissues were collected. Samples were extracted in RIPA lysis buffer (1mM EDTA, 1mM EGTA, 50mM NaF, 50mM Tris, 10mM glycerophosphate, 20mM pyrophosphate, Triton 1%, pH 7.4)

containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Roche). Proteins were separated on a 4-12% Bis-Tris gel (Invitrogen) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were subsequently blocked with casein for 1h at RT, then incubated with primary antibodies against pAKT-Ser473 (Cell Signaling, 9271) and AKT (Cell Signaling, 9272) overnight. After incubation with fluorescent secondary antibodies, proteins were visualized with the Odyssey infrared imaging system (LI-COR Bioscience) and quantified with ImageJ (Fiji).

Bone marrow-derived macrophage culture

Bone marrow cells from *Abcg1*^{MACKO} and Wt mice were isolated and differentiated in DMEM supplemented with 20% FBS, 30% L929-conditioned media, 2 mmol.L⁻¹ glutamine and 100 U.ml⁻¹ Penicillin/Streptomycin at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 7 days as previously described²⁴. Adherent bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) were then incubated with VLDL (50 μ g protein.ml⁻¹) isolated from normolipidemic plasma by ultracentrifugation²⁰, glucose (30 mM), insulin (10 nM) and/or Lpl inhibitor, Tetrahydrolipstatin (10 μ M; Sigma) for 24h. For extracellular flux analysis, BMDM were cultured in low binding plates, detached with PBS and re-plated at a density of 6.5 x 10⁴ cells/well in an 8-well Seahorse microplate (Agilent).

Extracellular flux analysis

The extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) and real-time oxygen consumption rate (OCR) of *Abcg1*^{MACKO} and Wt BMDM were measured on a Seahorse XF analyzer (Agilent). The Real-Time ATP Rate Assay (Agilent, 103592-100) was performed according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were incubated in Seahorse XF DMEM medium supplemented with 1 mM pyruvate, 2 mM glutamine and 10 mM glucose for 1h at 37°C in a non-CO₂ incubator. Ports were loaded with oligomycin (1.5 μ M) or rotenone/antimycin A (0.5 μ M) and OCR and ECAR were measured in response to each injection. These measurements were used for calculation of glycolytic and mitochondrial ATP production rates. Results were normalized to total protein content using a standard BCA assay (Pierce).

For fatty acid oxidation analysis, cells were incubated in a substrate-limited growth media containing Seahorse XF DMEM medium supplemented with glucose (0.5 mM), glutamine (1 mM), 1% FBS and Lcarnitine (0.5 mM) for 24h. On the day of the assay, former media was replaced with DMEM supplemented with glucose (2 mM) and L-carnitine (0.5 mM) and cells were incubated for 1h at 37°C in a non-CO₂ incubator. BMDM were then pre-treated with palmitate-BSA (200 μ M) and OCR was measured following the injection of 40 μ M etomoxir, 1.5 μ M oligomycin, 1 μ M FCCP and 0.5 μ M rotenone/antimycin A. Three consecutive measurements were performed for basal conditions and after each injection. Results were normalized to total protein levels quantified using the BCA assay (Pierce).

LPL activity measurement and glucose uptake

LPL activity was determined with a 50-µL aliquot of culture medium using an LPL activity assay kit (Roar, New York, NY), according to the manufacturer's instructions. For glucose uptake cells were starved overnight, then incubated with glucose analog 2-deoxyglucose (2-DG) and lysed according to manufacturer's instructions (Glucose Uptake Fluorometric Assay Kit, MAK084, Sigma–Aldrich).

Quantification of liver fat content

Quantification of liver lipid content was performed by a modified Folch method. Briefly, approximately 50mg of tissue were mechanically homogenized in chloroform-methanol (3:1) solution, agitated for 2h and centrifuged at 2200rpm for 20min. The supernatant was collected and added to 50µl of chloroform-methanol (3:1) solution containing 1% Triton X-100. Solvents were evaporated at 60°C and the remaining fatty phase was used for quantification of TG content. Results were normalized to cell protein levels quantified using the BCA assay (Pierce).

Membrane rigidity

Cells were incubated with 20µM Laurdan (6-dodecanoyl-2-dimethylaminonaphthalene; Invitrogen) at 37°C for 30min. Samples were then centrifuged and distributed in a 96-well plate at a density of 2×10^5 per well. Spectral data was acquired with the Gemini EM Microplate Reader and the SoftMax Pro software (Molecular Devices) at 440nm (for the ordered phase) and 490nm (for the disordered phase). The GP value was calculated with the following formula: GP = (I₄₄₀ - I₄₉₀)/(I₄₄₀ + I₄₉₀).

Lipidomics

For lipidomic analysis, lipids from BMDM and ATMs were extracted using a modified Bligh and Dyer protocol. Briefly samples supplemented with a mixture of internal standards were mixed with 1600 μ L of acidified methanol:0.1N HCl (1:1 v/v) and 800 μ L chloroform as described elsewhere^{26,27}. The lower organic phase was dried, lipids were reconstituted into 40 μ L of LC/MS compatible solvent and lipids quantified by LC-ESI/MS/MS using a prominence UFLC and a QTrap 4000 mass spectrometer. For quantification of phospholipid and sphingolipids, sample (4 μ l) was injected to a kinetex HILIC 2.6 μ m 2.1x150mm column. Mobile phases consisted of water and acetonitrile containing 30mM ammonium acetate and 0.2% acetic acid. Lipid species were detected using scheduled multiple reaction monitoring (sMRM) in the positive-ion mode reflecting the headgroup fragmentation of each lipid class. For quantification of neutral lipids (CE, FC, DAG and TAG), sample (4 μ l) was injected to an Ascentis C18 2.7 μ m 2.1x150mm column. Mobile phases consisted of A (acetonitrile/water(60:40)) and B (isopropanol/acetonitrile (90:10)) in the presence of ammonium formate and formic acid. Lipid species were detected using scheduled to an Ascentis C18 2.7 μ m 2.1x150mm column. Mobile phases consisted of A (acetonitrile/water(60:40)) and B

DAG and TAG, the product ion scan of m/z 369 (cholesterol – H2O) for CE and FC.Quantification of phospholipids, sphingolipids and neutral lipids was performed in positive-ion mode. Sample was injected to a Kinetex HILIC 2.6µm 2.1x150mm column (Phenomenex, CA, USA). Mobile phases consisted of water and acetonitrile containing ammonium acetate and acetic acid. Lipid species were detected using scheduled multiple reaction monitoring (sMRM) and quantified using thirty-seven calibration curves specific for the 16 individual lipid subclasses and up to 12 fatty acid moieties. More abundant lipid species were quantified from a 10-fold diluted sample. An in-house developed R script was used to correct for isotopic contribution to MRM signals from HILIC separation as adapted from Ejsing CS et al²⁸. All internal standards were purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids (Alabaster, AL, USA). LC/MS grade or UPLC grade solvents were used without further purification and obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). Structural elucidation of phospholipids, sphingolipids and triacylglycerides was a combination of experimental determination (fatty acid fragmentation) and theoretical extrapolation based on literature (Supp. Table 3). Statistical analysis and heatmap clusterisation was performed with MetaboAnalyst software 5.0²⁹.

Glycomics

Isolation of membrane proteins. The cells were spun down by centrifugation at 400 x g for 5 min at 4°C, and supernatant was discarded. 1ml of Triton lysis buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 % (v/v) Triton X-114) was added to microtube containing cell pellet. Samples were sonicated in 4 cycles for 20 sec (sonication amplitude was 50 %, sonicator probe was manually handled) on ice to homogenize the cells. Homogenized cells were incubated at 4 °C overnight. Afterwards, samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 30 min at 4 °C. 200 μ L of sucrose cushion (6% (w/v), 10 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 0.06 % Triton X-114) was added to a new 2 mL microtube and overlaid with the supernatant. Samples were incubated at 37°C for 20 min to achieve micellization and centrifuged at 400 x g for 3 min at 37°C. Lower phase was purified further be addition of 500 μ L of cold (4°C) PBS, followed by incubation for 20 min at 37°C and centrifugation at 400 x g for 3 min at 37°C. Upper phase was discarded and the purification protocol was repeated. Proteins were precipitated with methanol/chloroform/ultrapure water extraction in 4:2:3 ratio. Afterwards, samples were centrifuged at 9,000 x g for 1 min at 4°C. Upper phase was discarded, and cold methanol was added to the lower phase. Samples were centrifuged at 9,000 x g for 2 min at 4°C and supernatant discarded. Protein

Deglycosylation, ProA labelling and UHPLC analysis: glycan release, labelling and clean up. N-glycans were released, fluorescently labeled, and cleaned up as described previously³⁰, with modification by using procainamide hydrochloride (ProA) as a florescent labeling agent for N-glycans. Briefly, proteins

were denatured with sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (Invitrogen, USA) and by incubation at 65°C. After enzymatic release with PNGase F (Promega, USA), N-glycans were fluorescently ProA labeled in a 2step procedure. First, 25 μ L of procainamide mixture containing 4.32 mg of procainamide hydrochloride (Sigma Aldrich) in glacial acetic acid (Honeywell, Charlotte, NC, USA)/dimethyl sulfoxide (Sigma-Aldrich) (30:70) was added per sample, followed by incubation at 65°C for 1 h. Then, 25 μ L of reducing agent solution consisting of 4.48 mg of 2-picoline borane (J&K Scientific, Beijing, China) in glacial acetic acid/dimethyl sulfoxide (30:70) was added per sample and incubated at 65°C for an additional 1.5 h. Samples were then cooled for 30 min at RT. Excess reagents were removed from the samples using solid phase extraction (SPE). For the SPE step, an AcroPrepadv 1 mL 0.2 μ m wwPTFE plate (Pall) was used as solid phase. The labeled glycans were eluted with ultrapure water and stored at - 20°C until use.

HILIC-UHPLC-FLR analysis. Fluorescently labeled N-glycans were separated by HILIC on a Waters Acquity UPLC instrument (Waters, USA), which consisted of a quaternary solvent manager, a sample manager, and an FLR fluorescence detector set with excitation and emission wavelengths of 310 and 370 nm, respectively. Labeled N-glycans were separated on a Waters BEH-glycan chromatography column, 150×2.1 mm i.d., 1.7μ m BEH particles, with 100 mM ammonium formate, pH 4.4 as solvent A and acetonitrile as solvent B. The separation method used a linear gradient of 30-47% solvent A at a flow rate of 0.56 ml/min in a 25-minute analytical run. Samples were maintained at 10°C prior to injection, and the separation temperature was 60°C. Data processing was performed using an automated processing method with a traditional integration algorithm. Then, each chromatogram was manually corrected to maintain the same integration intervals for all samples. The chromatograms were all divided into 41 chromatographic glycan peaks (GP). The amount of glycans in each peak was expressed as % of the total integrated area. Statistical analysis and heatmap clusterisation was performed with MetaboAnalyst software 5.0^{29}

Quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted from cell culture or tissues using the NucleoSpin RNA II kit (Macherey-Nagel) or TRIzol reagents (Euromedex) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription and real-time quantitative PCR using a LightCycler LC480 (Roche) with sequence specific primers (Supp. Table 2). mRNA expression levels were normalized to 3-4 housekeeping genes. Data were expressed as a fold change in mRNA levels relative to control values.

RNA-Sequencing of mouse and human ATM

MRNA library preparation was performed following manufacturer's recommendations (Kapa mRNA Hyperprep from Roche or SMARTer[®] Stranded Total RNA Sample Prep Kit - Low Input Mammalian from

Takara). Final samples pooled library prep were sequenced on Novaseq 6000 ILLUMINA with SP-200 cartridge (2x800Millions of 100 bases reads and 2x1600Millions of 100 bases reads), corresponding to 2x33Millions and 2x66Millions of reads per sample after demultiplexing. Quality control of the raw sequencing data was performed with FasQC v0.11.9. Adapter sequences and poor-quality reads were filtered using Fastp. Dragen (Illumina) was then used to align reads to the mouse and human genome and generate raw counts. Differential analysis were performed using DESeq2.

Public data

Single-cell RNA-Sequencing data. For murine ATM, single-cell RNA-Seq data were downloaded from https://github.com/JesperGrud/snRNAseq_eWAT (eWAT_R3_Immune.Rds) from Sarvari et al⁹. For human ATM, single-cell RNA-Seq data were downloaded from Gene Expression Omnibus (accession code GSE156110) from Hildreth et al.³¹. Clustering was performed according to the authors' instructions, and ABCG1 expression was analyzed in all macrophage subsets according to their lean/obese status and ABCG1 expression (no ABCG1 mRNA = ABCG1-negative cells). Gene scores were calculated with the Seurat AddModuleScore function. The lists of genes for each pathway were retrieved from https://www.gsea-msigdb.org.

Statistical analyses

Data are shown as mean ± SEM. Experiments were performed in triplicate and values correspond to the mean from at least three independent experiments. Comparisons of 2 groups were performed by a 2-tailed Student's t test and comparisons of 3 or more groups were performed by ANOVA with Newman–Keuls post-test. All statistical analyses were performed using Prism software from GraphPad (San Diego, CA, USA)

Results.

Abcg1 deletion in ATM reduces adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. To assess the expression of Abcg1 in macrophages during diet-induced obesity, we first sorted ATM and liver macrophages from normal and 16-weeks HFD-fed mice. *Abcg1* mRNA levels were robustly increased in ATM upon HFD (3-fold, p=0.001) (Fig. 1A), while no changes were seen in liver macrophages (Fig. S1A). To study the contribution of ATM Abcg1 in diet-induced obesity (DIO), we then placed Abcg1 myeloid-deficient mice (*Abcg1*^{MACKO}) and their wild-type littermates (Wt) on a HFD for 8 to 25 weeks. *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice displayed a significant decrease of *Abcg1* mRNA expression in gonadal white adipose tissue (gWAT) (Fig. 1B, -43%, p=0.001), with no compensatory increase of *Abca1* mRNA levels (Fig. S1B). We observed that weight gain, body composition and plasma concentrations of leptin and resistin were similar between genotypes (Fig. 1C-D, S1C). While fasting glycaemia and glucose tolerance were unchanged, fasting insulinemia and insulin sensitivity were improved in *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice in comparison to Wt mice (Fig. 1H). In agreement with these findings, insulin-stimulated Akt phosphorylation (Ser473) was increased in gWAT of *Abcg1*^{MACKO} relative to Wt mice (Fig. 1I). No modulatory effects of myeloid Abcg1 deficiency were seen on plasma lipid levels (Fig. S1D-F).

Although the mass of gonadal fat was not altered (Fig. 1J), *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice displayed a significantly greater adipocyte size than Wt mice (Fig. 1K). This was however not accompanied by changes in the expression of key genes involved in adipogenesis (*Pparg*), lipogenesis (*Acc1, Fas*), lipid droplet formation (*Plin1/2*) or lipolysis (*Atgl, Hsl*) (Fig. S1G). Further analysis of gWAT sections revealed the number of crown-like structures (CLS) was reduced in *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice (Fig. 1L), suggesting an attenuated adipose tissue inflammation upon Abcg1 deficiency. In accordance to this, quantification of inflammatory genes in total gWAT from Abcg1 myeloid deficient mice revealed a significant decrease of mRNA levels of Trl4, chemokines Ccl2 and Ccl5, cytokines Il1b, Tnfa and Il10 and macrophage makers F4/80, Cd11c, Cd206 and Cd9 (Fig. 1M), the latter being a known marker of lipid-associated macrophages (LAM)³².

Although Abcg1 expression was also significantly reduced in both total liver and liver macrophages (Fig. S1H-I), no effect was observed in inflammation when mRNA levels of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and macrophage markers were quantified (Fig. S1J). Nevertheless, HFD-induced liver steatosis was significantly improved in terms of liver histology and total triglyceride content in *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice (Fig. S1K), an effect which did not result from an alteration of the expression of key genes involved in lipid metabolism (Fig. S1L). Overall, these results suggest that the reduction of insulin

resistance upon myeloid Abcg1 deficiency might be driven through changes on ATM-dependent inflammation.

Macrophage Abcg1 deficiency improves ATM inflammatory and metabolic phenotypes. ATM numbers and profile, we first analyzed ATM populations from gWAT of HFD-fed WT and Abcg1^{MACKO} mice by flow cytometry (gating strategy in fig. S2A). We observed a significant decrease in ATM numbers (identified as viable CD45⁺CD11b⁺CMHII⁺F4/80⁺CD64⁺) following Abcg1 deletion both at 8 (Fig. 2A) and 25 (Fig. S2B) weeks of HFD. Since HFD-induced obesity alters dramatically the abundance of both monocyte-derived ATM and proliferative ATM, we also analyzed the proportion of Ly6C/G⁺ cells in gWAT from Wt and *Abcg1^{MACKO}* mice. We observed a significant reduction in the amount of Ly6C/G⁺ cells (Fig. 2B), while the proportion of proliferative cells remained similar between genotypes (Fig. S2C). These results suggest that the lower number of ATM in *Abcg1^{MACKO}* mice was most likely due to reduced monocyte-recruitment. Interestingly, while the expression of pro-inflammatory surface marker CD11c was unchanged, Abcg1 deficiency was accompanied by a significant increase in the expression of CD206, a marker classically associated with an anti-inflammatory ATM phenotype (Fig. 2C-D).

Recent reports show that LAM are the most enriched subpopulation of ATM during obesity, and that non-perivascular (NPVM) and peri-vascular macrophages (PVM) go through a metabolic, LAM-like reprogramming⁹. To investigate which of these macrophage subpopulations preferentially expresses Abcg1, we analyzed published scRNA-seq of epididymal ATM from wild-type mice fed a low-fat (LFD) or high-fat diet (HFD). Abcg1 was mostly expressed in LAM and proliferating-LAM with HFD (Fig. 2E). To test for potential transcriptional regulations in our model of macrophage Abcg1 deficiency, we then sorted gonadal ATM from Wt and *Abcq1*^{MACKO} mice on an 8-week HFD for bulk RNA-sequencing (Fig. 2F-G). At this high resolution, several transcriptomic signatures were detected and the top regulated pathways included inflammatory response and signaling, oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism (uptake, transport, catabolism) which were markedly downregulated in Abcg1 deficient macrophages (Fig. 2H). This is consistent with previous reports underlying the importance of energetic and metabolic adaptation of ATM to fulfill their lipid-handling and inflammatory activities^{10,12}. Moreover, when filtering for LAM genes, we observed a marked reduction of this signature in ATM from *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice, including genes such as *Trem2*, *Cd36*, *Fabp5*, *Lpl*, *Lipa* and coding for several ATPases (Fig. 21). Altogether, these findings indicate that Abcg1 deficient ATM exhibited an impaired inflammatory and metabolic phenotype otherwise enhanced during DIO.

ABCG1 expression is associated with pro-inflammatory and metabolic pathways in human ATM from obese individuals. To translate our findings into a human pathophysiological context, we analyzed public data from single cell RNA-sequencing of different ATM populations isolated from omental WAT from lean and obese individuals³¹. Interestingly, inflammatory response, oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism pathways identified in mouse ATM as being affected by Abcg1 expression were also significantly modulated in ATM from obese individuals in comparison to those from lean subjects (Fig. 3A). More precisely, the inflammatory response pathway was upregulated in all ATM populations (Inflammatory macrophages (IM), LAM and PVM) from obese individuals (Fig 3B), whereas the oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism pathways were both reduced in LAM (Fig. 3C-D). We then proceed to characterize ATM transcriptome according to ABCG1 expression levels and obtained two distinct populations positive and negative for ABCG1. Coherent with our previous findings in mice, ABCG1-expressing ATM revealed that pathways for inflammatory response, oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism were significantly enriched in comparison to ABCG1-negative ATM (Fig. 3E).

To validate these results with our in-house data and confirm the role of ABCG1 in the activation of these pathways, we then sorted ATM from omental WAT from 14 obese individuals (gating strategy in fig. S3). Clinical parameters of these subjects are described in Table 1. RNA sequencing was performed and ABCG1 transcript levels were used to define two groups in which ATM either presented a high (ABCG1^{high}) or a low expression of ABCG1 (ABCG1^{low}) expression (Fig. 3F-G). We observed that ABCG1^{low} ATM exhibited a similar transcriptomic signature (Fig. 3H) that the one observed in ABCG1-negative ATM by Hildreth *et al.*³¹ and in our mice model of macrophage Abcg1 deficiency, thus confirming the contribution of this transporter in the activation of inflammatory and oxidative phosphorylation pathways.

Abcg1-deficient macrophages present a low bioenergetic profile and rely less on fatty acid oxidation.

Intracellular energy metabolism is intimately linked to ATM inflammatory response. To understand how Abcg1 deficiency guides ATM bioenergetics and functional responses, we switched to bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM). BMDM from *Abcg1*^{MACKO} and Wt mice were treated for 24h with insulin and glucose as described by Coats *et al*⁵. Such molecules were reported to mimic the metabolic state of ATM during DIO. In our experimental conditions, TRL were added as a source of fatty acids (Fig. 4A) in order assess the contribution of the LpI-mediated hydrolysis of TG and the Abcg1/LpI pathway in ATM activation. First, we confirmed that our *in vitro* model was able to recapitulate the inflammatory phenotype observed in *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice as RNAseq analysis of Abcg1-

deficient BMDM (Fig. 4B) revealed several downregulated GO terms related to inflammation (Fig. 4C). We then focused on ATM bioenergetics and observed that Abcg1-deficient BMDM exhibited an impaired respiratory and glycolytic capacity, assessed by measuring oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and extracellular acidification rate (ECAR), respectively (Fig. 4D-E). This Abcg1-dependent respiratory phenotype mirrors the transcriptomic signature evidenced in ATM from *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice (Fig. 2H) and ABCG1^{low} human ATM (Fig. 3I). ATP production relying on glycolysis as well as glucose uptake were also significantly reduced upon Abcg1 deficiency (Fig. 4F-G). We analyzed the capacity of ATM to use FA as an energy substrate and showed that fatty acid oxidation (FAO) was also reduced in Abcg1-deficient BMDM (Fig. 4H). Coherently, the mRNA levels of FAO-related genes such as *Cpt1a*, *Acox1* and *Lcad* were reduced in macrophages from *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice (Fig. 4I). Taken together, these results suggest that the anti-inflammatory phenotype of Abcg1-deficient macrophages is intimately linked to their low bioenergetic metabolism and their reduced capacity to catabolize fatty acids.

Fatty acid handling by Abcg1 controls membrane lipid remodeling and inflammation in macrophages. Because fatty acid metabolism is impaired in ATM from *Abcq1^{MACKO}* mice and ABCG1^{low} human ATM, we hypothesized that Abcg1 deficiency might alter fatty acid handling and contribute to the antiinflammatory phenotype. To gain a broad view of macrophage lipidome under Abcg1 deficiency, we first performed lipidomic analysis by LC-MS/MS of metabolically active BMDM from Wt and Abcg1^{MACKO} mice. Impaired phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) metabolism (PE, plasmalogen PE (PEp) and lysophosphatidylethanolamine (LPE)) and reduced abundance of phosphatidylcholine (PC) were detected in Abcg1-deficient BMDM (Fig. 5A). Although the total amount of TG was not altered (Fig. 5A), we observed an elevated abundance of several TG species in Abcg1-deficient BMDM in comparison to Wt cells (Figure 5B). A closer look on these lipid species revealed a major shift in the nature of FA stored within TG, as they were enriched in proinflammatory SFA (C16:0 and C18:0) (Fig. 5C). This increase in the content of fatty acids containing 16 and 18 carbon chains in TG was paralleled with a reduction of the same species in membrane phospholipids (Fig. 5D), thereby resulting in an unchanged total amount of these SFA (C16 and C18) in both BMDM from Wt and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice (Figure 5E). As a consequence, the ratio of phospholipids over triglycerides containing C16:0 and C18:0 and more largely saturated fatty acids was markedly reduced in Abcg1-deficient macrophages (Figure 5F-G). Similar results were observed in sorted ATM from Wt and Abcq1^{MACKO} mice fed a HFD for 8 weeks (Fig. S4A-E). In addition, the amount of C16:0 and C18:0 FA in TG was strongly inversely correlated with the same FA in phospholipids in ATM (r=-0.74, p=0.0004, n=18 mice). Altogether, these results suggested that Abcg1 deficiency led to a redistribution of SFA from membranes to lipid droplets for storage and neutralization, and could partly explain the low inflammatory profile following Abcg1 deletion.

It is well described that SFA content in membranes affects parameters such as rigidity/fluidity which drive inflammatory signaling and activation in macrophages^{33,34}. Coherent with the reduction of SFA content detected in membranes upon Abcg1 deficiency, membrane rigidity was also diminished in Abcg1-deficient BMDM compared to controls as assessed by the quantification of membrane general polarization using the fluorescent probe Laurdan (Fig. 5H).

Our previous work showed that Abcg1 expression controls Lpl bioavailability at the membrane surface²³. In accordance to this, we observed that Lpl activity was significantly reduced in *Abcg1*^{MACKO} BMDM (Fig. 5I). Since Lpl is bound to the plasma membrane by glycoproteins such as heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG), glycomic analysis on BMDM revealed that Abcg1 deficiency resulted on a modulation of 28 membrane glycoproteins (Fig. 5J), further supporting the proposed mechanism through which Abcg1-mediated modification of membrane order is necessary for Lpl release from the plasma membrane and subsequent activity. Finally, to evaluate if the anti-inflammatory effects of Abcg1 deficiency were Lpl-dependent, we treated BMDM from *Abcg1*^{MACKO} and WT mice with tetrahydrolipstatin (THL), an Lpl inhibitor, and analyzed cytokine and chemokine expression levels. This treatment was able to completely reverse the anti-inflammatory effect of Abcg1 deletion by increasing Ccl2, Ccl5, Il1b and Il10 mRNA levels (Fig. 5K), therefore underlying the importance of the Abcg1/Lpl axis in ATM inflammatory polarization.

Altogether, these results showed that the redistribution of the fatty acid pools orchestrated by Abcg1 deficiency modulates membrane lipid composition and structure and contributes to the antiinflammatory response in macrophages through a mechanism involving lipoprotein lipase.

Discussion

In adipose tissue from obese individuals LAM handle large quantities of lipids, and while the capacity of ATM to metabolize these lipids is expected to be beneficial, the fate of different lipid pools as well as their impact on ATM function remains largely undescribed. The present study provides new important information on the understanding of the mechanisms altering ATM lipid metabolism and macrophage plasticity in response to excess nutrients. By targeting membrane Abcg1 transporter, we revealed that ATM activation depends on their capacity to mobilize different FA pools partitioned between membranes and lipid droplets. As such, inhibition of Abcg1 diverted the membrane SFA pool towards a neutralization pathway, thus rendering these FA unavailable for activation of inflammatory signaling. This contributed to a less metabolically activated ATM phenotype, which globally improved adipose tissue health and attenuated insulin resistance.

Rewiring of fatty acid metabolism following Abcg1 deficiency involved a reduction of the relative abundance of several SFA-containing phospholipid classes such as PE and PC. The saturation degree and the length of the carbon chain of FA incorporated in membrane phospholipids are important modulators of the physiochemical properties of the membrane, including lipid packing and fluidity, which can contribute to the recruitment of inflammatory signaling proteins³⁵. The importance of membrane lipid composition in diet-induced inflammation and diabetes has been highlighted in a model of myeloid FAS deficiency, in which the absence of endogenous FA synthesis led to a disruption of membrane order and prevented the assembly of inflammatory signaling networks and the development of IR. This study also revealed that disruption of endogenous FA synthesis mainly altered phospholipid content on membranes microdomains, with no effect on whole-cell membranes³³. Our study however suggests that exogenous SFA issued from TRL have a major impact on whole-membrane lipid composition, more precisely the nature of FA incorporated into phospholipids, and are accompanied by a modulation of membrane fluidity and inflammation through a mechanism controlled by Abcg1. Similarly, inflammatory signaling has been found to support remodeling of membrane lipidome in lipid-loaded BMDM³⁶, thus underlying the reciprocal relationship between membrane lipid composition and inflammation.

The data in this study also showed that Abcg1-mediated depletion of SFA in membrane phospholipids was inversely associated to an enrichment of SFA-containing TG. We propose that this diversion of SFA from membranes to lipid droplets contributed to the robust reduction of the inflammatory phenotype observed in both Abcg1-deficient and low Abcg1 ATM from obese mice and patients, respectively. Indeed, the mobilization of inflammatory SFA into TG in lipid droplets allows for the neutralization of their inflammatory action through a mechanism of enzyme-catalyzed

95

esterification. Koliwad et al. demonstrated that the overexpression of diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1 (DGAT1), one of the main enzymes involved in FA esterification, was beneficial in ATM-mediated inflammation and IR as it increased TG storage capacity³⁷. Altogether, our study indicates that activation of the intracellular flux of SFA from membranes to lipid droplets upon Abcg1 deficiency may represent an anti-inflammatory pathway in LAM. However, this pathway is likely inefficient upon DIO as ATM Abcg1 expression is upregulated in this metabolic context.

We also evidenced that macrophage Abcg1 deficiency was accompanied by an alteration of ATM bioenergetic capacity, as illustrated by the impairment of glycolysis-dependent ATP production likely resulting from the reduction of macrophage glucose uptake. FAO was also decreased, suggesting an impairment of FA catabolism and a potential contribution of this mechanism to the increased SFA storage in lipid droplets. Moreover, this alteration of FAO did not reveal to affect ATP production associated with respiration, consistent with previous studies indicating that stimulation of macrophages with TRL inhibits the respiratory chain by promoting cytochrome dysfunction³⁸. The modulation of ATM energetics could also account for the inflammatory shift between Abcg1^{MACKO} and Wt ATM. Indeed, it is proposed that in a basal state macrophage glycolytic and respiratory capacities are associated with pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory polarization, respectively. However, in obesity, LAM present mixed inflammatory traits together with a hypermetabolic profile characterized by both high OXPHO and glycolysis rates⁸. In this context, some have shown that the inflammatory response of ATM is mainly driven by glycolysis, and that inhibition of this metabolic route significantly decreases ATM inflammatory cytokine release¹¹. Another recent study has nonetheless reported that OXPHO, rather than glycolysis, drives ATM activation and that its dysfunction ameliorates obesityinduced inflammation³⁹, thereby suggesting a pro-inflammatory effect of this pathway. Then, the reduction of both glycolysis and respiratory capacity observed in Abcg1-deficient ATM is likely to contribute to attenuation of their proinflammatory phenotype. This also supports the notion that successful metabolic adaptation (in regards of lipid metabolism and also energy metabolism) by ATM guides their functional response in the context of obesity.

In addition, our study provides a new, competent model of ATM activation by lipids that reconciles findings in mice and humans under DIO. As alluded to before, ATM are subject to a particular tissue microenvironment in which FFA originate from adipocytes, but also from lipolysis of circulating TRL. Recent models have proposed that *in vitro* stimulation of macrophages with glucose, insulin and palmitate is able to mimic the metabolic activation of ATM in obesity given that it induces the activation of lipid-specific programs⁶. This approach, however, bypasses the major role of TRL as a significant source of FFA in the context of DIO. Our findings suggest that addition of VLDL, together with glucose and insulin, is a relevant model for studying ATM plasticity in obesity as we were able to

validate the proinflammatory role of Abcg1 observed under these conditions in ATM isolated from both obese mice and humans. Moreover, the effect of TRL on ATM activation is highly dependent of FA/TG lipolysis because it allows for the intracellular uptake of remnant TRL. We here demonstrate the importance of the Abcg1 / Lpl axis in the inflammatory activation of ATM. Indeed, the use of an LPL inhibitor and the consequential inhibition of TRL hydrolysis abolished the anti-inflammatory action associated to Abcg1 deficiency. Our previous work has shown that Abcg1 expression is linked to Lpl bioavailability in macrophages, and that its inhibition results in the trapping of the enzyme at the cell surface as a consequence of the disrupted membrane structure^{23,40}. We here provided more information about the underlying mechanism through which Abcg1 controls Lpl activity. Indeed, Abcg1 deficiency in BMDM is accompanied by an alteration of several membrane glycoproteins, likely affecting Lpl binding to the cell surface and therefore its activity. This observation not only reinforces the major role of Abcg1 in membrane remodeling but uncover for the first time the contribution of Abcg1 in the distribution of membrane glycoproteins.

Globally, this pathway emphasizes the notion that Abcg1 function is highly dependent of the metabolic context⁴⁰. In a context of high cholesterol (i.e. in atherosclerotic plaques), macrophage Abcg1 main role is cholesterol transport⁴¹, and thus its inhibition is pro-inflammatory⁴². By contrast, in a high FA context (i.e. metabolic diseases such as obesity), macrophage Abcg1 predominantly governs FA metabolism through different pathways and its inhibition is anti-inflammatory as evidenced in the present study. Such a role is however mostly attributed to macrophages in adipose tissue, given that Abcg1-deficiency in liver macrophages was without effect on diet-induced liver inflammation.

We propose a model in which the lack of Abcg1 in ATM is accompanied by a reduced Lpl activity and a decrease of TRL lipolysis and SFA release. Pro-inflammatory SFA are then less available to activate inflammatory pathways through the CD36/TLR axis. The lower abundance of SFA together with the decreased expression of genes involved in FA metabolism (uptake, transport and catabolism) impair the use of SFA for phospholipid synthesis and FAO. As a consequence, membrane phospholipids are impoverished in SFA content, leading to a reduction of membrane rigidity. Because of the impaired Lpl activity, we also see that ATM internalize a higher content of SFA-enriched TRL through specialized receptors including VLDLR, leading to increased SFA storage and neutralization in lipid droplets. Taken together, this rewiring of FA metabolism upon Abcg1 deficiency attenuates the inflammatory phenotype of LAM and alleviates AT inflammation and IR in DIO (Figure 6).

In summary, our study helps to decipher the complex function of ATM during high energy diets and its impact on obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and IR, by delineating the contribution of macrophage Abcg1 in FA handling. Our data support the notion that the nature of dietary FA plays a major role in the development of metabolic disorders and that diets enriched in unsaturated FA, preferentially in omega-3 PUFAs which possess potent anti-inflammatory properties and insulinsensitizing effects, might be protective. The use of omega-3 PUFAS (icosapent ethyl) has been indeed proposed as a potential treatment in diabetic and statin-treated patients in the ANCHOR trial, as it was able to reduce inflammatory parameters after a 12-week therapy⁴³.

References

- Saberi, M. *et al.* Hematopoietic cell-specific deletion of toll-like receptor 4 ameliorates hepatic and adipose tissue insulin resistance in high-fat-fed mice. *Cell Metab.* **10**, 419–429 (2009).
- Lumeng, C. N. & Saltiel, A. R. Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 2111–2117 (2011).
- 3. Osborn, O. & Olefsky, J. M. The cellular and signaling networks linking the immune system and metabolism in disease. *Nat. Med.* **18**, 363–374 (2012).
- 4. Dahik, V. D., Frisdal, E. & Le Goff, W. Rewiring of Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Obesity: Impact on Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21, 5505 (2020).
- 5. Coats, B. R. *et al.* Metabolically Activated Adipose Tissue Macrophages Perform Detrimental and Beneficial Functions during Diet-Induced Obesity. *Cell Rep.* **20**, 3149–3161 (2017).
- Kratz, M. *et al.* Metabolic Dysfunction Drives a Mechanistically Distinct Proinflammatory Phenotype in Adipose Tissue Macrophages. *Cell Metab.* **20**, 614–625 (2014).
- Xu, X. *et al.* Obesity Activates a Program of Lysosomal-Dependent Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages Independently of Classic Activation. *Cell Metab.* 18, 816–830 (2013).
- Jaitin, D. A. *et al.* Lipid-Associated Macrophages Control Metabolic Homeostasis in a Trem2-Dependent Manner. *Cell* **178**, 686-698.e14 (2019).
- Sárvári, A. K. *et al.* Plasticity of Epididymal Adipose Tissue in Response to Diet-Induced Obesity at Single-Nucleus Resolution. *Cell Metab.* 33, 437-453.e5 (2021).
- 10. Wculek, S. K., Dunphy, G., Heras-Murillo, I., Mastrangelo, A. & Sancho, D. Metabolism of tissue macrophages in homeostasis and pathology. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* **19**, 384–408 (2022).
- Boutens, L. *et al.* Unique metabolic activation of adipose tissue macrophages in obesity promotes inflammatory responses. *Diabetologia* 61, 942–953 (2018).
- 12. Orliaguet, L. *et al.* Early macrophage response to obesity encompasses Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 regulated mitochondrial architecture remodelling. *Nat. Commun.* **13**, 5089 (2022).

- Serbulea, V. *et al.* Macrophage phenotype and bioenergetics are controlled by oxidized phospholipids identified in lean and obese adipose tissue. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **115**, E6254–E6263 (2018).
- 14. Li, X. *et al.* Macrophage HIF-2α suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation and alleviates insulin resistance. *Cell Rep.* **36**, 109607 (2021).
- Lancaster, G. I. *et al.* Evidence that TLR4 Is Not a Receptor for Saturated Fatty Acids but Mediates Lipid-Induced Inflammation by Reprogramming Macrophage Metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 27, 1096-1110.e5 (2018).
- 16. Kennedy, D. J. *et al.* A CD36-dependent pathway enhances macrophage and adipose tissue inflammation and impairs insulin signalling. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **89**, 604–613 (2011).
- Prieur, X. *et al.* Differential Lipid Partitioning Between Adipocytes and Tissue Macrophages Modulates Macrophage Lipotoxicity and M2/M1 Polarization in Obese Mice. *Diabetes* 60, 797–809 (2011).
- 18. Shin, K. C. *et al.* Macrophage VLDLR mediates obesity-induced insulin resistance with adipose tissue inflammation. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 1087 (2017).
- 19. Wei, X. *et al.* Fatty acid synthesis configures the plasma membrane for inflammation in diabetes. *Nature* **539**, 294–298 (2016).
- Hardy, L. M., Frisdal, E. & Le Goff, W. Critical Role of the Human ATP-Binding Cassette G1 Transporter in Cardiometabolic Diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18, (2017).
- 21. Frisdal, E. *et al.* Adipocyte ATP-binding cassette G1 promotes triglyceride storage, fat mass growth, and human obesity. *Diabetes* **64**, 840–855 (2015).
- Hidalgo, B. *et al.* Epigenome-Wide Association Study of Fasting Measures of Glucose, Insulin, and HOMA-IR in the Genetics of Lipid Lowering Drugs and Diet Network Study. *Diabetes* 63, 801–807 (2014).
- Olivier, M. *et al.* Human ATP–Binding Cassette G1 Controls Macrophage Lipoprotein Lipase Bioavailability and Promotes Foam Cell Formation. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 32, 2223– 2231 (2012).

- 24. Out, R. *et al.* Coexistence of foam cells and hypocholesterolemia in mice lacking the ABC transporters A1 and G1. *Circ. Res.* **102**, 113–120 (2008).
- Camont, L. *et al.* Small, dense high-density lipoprotein-3 particles are enriched in negatively charged phospholipids: relevance to cellular cholesterol efflux, antioxidative, antithrombotic, anti-inflammatory, and antiapoptotic functionalities. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 33, 2715–2723 (2013).
- 27. Rached, F. *et al.* Defective functionality of HDL particles in familial apoA-I deficiency: relevance of alterations in HDL lipidome and proteome. *J. Lipid Res.* **55**, 2509–2520 (2014).
- 28. Ejsing, C. S. *et al.* Automated identification and quantification of glycerophospholipid molecular species by multiple precursor ion scanning. *Anal. Chem.* **78**, 6202–6214 (2006).
- Pang, Z. *et al.* Using MetaboAnalyst 5.0 for LC–HRMS spectra processing, multi-omics integration and covariate adjustment of global metabolomics data. *Nat. Protoc.* **17**, 1735–1761 (2022).
- 30. Trbojević-Akmačić, I., Ugrina, I. & Lauc, G. Comparative Analysis and Validation of Different Steps in Glycomics Studies. *Methods Enzymol.* **586**, 37–55 (2017).
- 31. Hildreth, A. D. *et al.* Single-cell sequencing of human white adipose tissue identifies new cell states in health and obesity. *Nat. Immunol.* **22**, 639–653 (2021).
- 32. Hill, D. A. *et al.* Distinct macrophage populations direct inflammatory versus physiological changes in adipose tissue. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **115**, E5096–E5105 (2018).
- 33. Wei, X. *et al.* Fatty acid synthesis configures the plasma membrane for inflammation in diabetes. *Nature* **539**, 294–298 (2016).
- Petkevicius, K. *et al.* Accelerated phosphatidylcholine turnover in macrophages promotes adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *eLife* 8, (2019).
- Harayama, T. & Riezman, H. Understanding the diversity of membrane lipid composition.
 Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **19**, 281–296 (2018).
- Hsieh, W.-Y. *et al.* Toll-Like Receptors Induce Signal-Specific Reprogramming of the Macrophage Lipidome. *Cell Metab.* **32**, 128-143.e5 (2020).

- 37. Koliwad, S. K. *et al.* DGAT1-dependent triacylglycerol storage by macrophages protects mice from diet-induced insulin resistance and inflammation. *J. Clin. Invest.* **120**, 756–767 (2010).
- 38. Aflaki, E. *et al.* Triacylglycerol accumulation activates the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway in macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* **286**, 7418–7428 (2011).
- 39. Wculek, S. K. *et al.* Oxidative phosphorylation selectively orchestrates tissue macrophage homeostasis. *Immunity* **56**, 516-530.e9 (2023).
- 40. Frisdal, E. & Le Goff, W. Adipose ABCG1: A potential therapeutic target in obesity? *Adipocyte*4, 315–318 (2015).
- 41. Tarling, E. J. & Edwards, P. A. ATP binding cassette transporter G1 (ABCG1) is an intracellular sterol transporter. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **108**, 19719–19724 (2011).
- 42. Yvan-Charvet, L. *et al.* Increased inflammatory gene expression in ABC transporter-deficient macrophages: free cholesterol accumulation, increased signaling via toll-like receptors, and neutrophil infiltration of atherosclerotic lesions. *Circulation* **118**, 1837–1847 (2008).
- 43. Ballantyne, C. M. *et al.* Efficacy and safety of eicosapentaenoic acid ethyl ester (AMR101) therapy in statin-treated patients with persistent high triglycerides (from the ANCHOR study). *Am. J. Cardiol.* **110**, 984–992 (2012).

Acknowledgments

Cell sorting was carried out at the CyPS Cytometry Facility (Sorbonne Université, Site Pitié-Salpêtrière). We are grateful to Bénédicte Hoareau-Coudert for technical support. RNA-sequencing was carried out on the iGenSeq and Data analysis core (ICONICS) facilities at ICM. We gratefully acknowledge Emeline Mundwiller and Delphine Bouteiller for libraries construction and sequencing, and Justine GUEGAN for data collection and statistical support. We gratefully acknowledge Clémentine Rebière for her help in tissue histology. This study was financially supported by Société Francophone du Diabète (SFD), Fondation de France, Alliance Sorbonne Université (Emergence) and INSERM. VDD and CR were recipients of a doctoral contract from Sorbonne Université. LMH was recipient of a doctoral contract from CORDDIM. CM was recipient of a doctoral contract from Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale (FRM).

Contributors.

VDD, PK, CM, CR, EF, HD, LMH, IG, GL performed experiments and collected data. VDD, EF, AK, MG, OB, FD and WLG designed the research. AS recruited the patients. VDD, PK, ML, MP, MD, NV, OB and WLG analyzed the data. IG and MG provided key resources. All authors gave critical comments on the manuscript. VDD and WLG wrote and edited the manuscript. WLG funded and supervised the research.

Declaration of interests.

The authors declare no competing financial interests.

	All (n=14)	Low ABCG1 (n=7)	High <i>ABCG1</i> (n=7)	P value
Age (years)	42.37 ± 4.14	37.19 ± 4.42	45.07 ± 6.67	0.224
BMI (kg/m ²)	41.02 ± 1.25	39.62 ± 1.30	42.43 ± 2.09	0.277
Weight (kg)	115.79 ± 4.89	114.86 ± 5.95	116.71 ± 8.24	0.858
HbA1c (%)	5.92 ± 0.31	5.80 ± 0.50	5.97 ± 0.41	0.828
TC (g/L)	2.03 ± 0.13	1.81 ± 0.27	2.14 ± 0.13	0.265
HDL-C (g/L)	0.57 ± 0.11	0.81 ± 0.26	0.46 ± 0.06	0.128
LDL-C (g/L)	1.58 ± 0.20	1.91 ± 0.62	1.41 ± 0.10	0.287

Table 1. Clinical and biological parameters of patients included in the study.Values are means ± S.E.M.BMI: body mass index, HDL-C: high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, LDL: low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, TC: total cholesterol.



Figure 1. Abcg1 deficiency in ATM alleviates adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. (A) Abcg1 mRNA levels in sorted gonadal adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) from mice fed a normal (ND) or a high-fat diet (HFD). (B) Relative mRNA levels of Abcg1 in whole gonadal white AT (gWAT) from Wt and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice under HFD for 8 weeks. Body weight gain (C), body composition (D), fasting glyceamia (E), fasting plasma insulin levels (F), oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) (G, left panel) and insulin tolerance test (ITT) (G, right panel) (Area under the curve (AUC) in insert) and HOMA-IR score (H) in Wt and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice fed a HFD. Phosphorylated AKT (Ser473) (pAKT) to total AKT ratio in response to insulin (I), total weight (J), hematoxylin & eosin staining (scale bar. 100µm) (K, left panel) and quantification of mean adipocyte area (K, right panel), F4/80⁺macrophage staining (L, left panel) and quantification of crown-like structures (CLS) (L, right panel) and relative mRNA levels of inflammatory genes and ATM markers (M) in total gWAT from Wt or *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice fed a HFD. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. n = 6-8 mice per group. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.01 versus Wt.


Figure 2. Abcg1 deficiency reduces inflammatory status and metabolic activation of ATM. Wildtype (Wt) and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice were fed a high-fat diet (60%) for 8 weeks. Absolute macrophage content (defined as viable CD45⁺CD11b⁺CMHII ⁺F4/80⁺CD64⁺cells) (A), percentage of monocytes (defined as viable CD45⁺Ly6C/G⁺) (B), pro-inflammatory Cd11c⁺ (C) and anti-inflammatory Cd206⁺ (D) adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) (mean fluorescence intensity) in gonadal adipose tissue. (E) Abcg1 expression in ATM subpopulations by single cell RNA-seq analysis from mice fed a Low (LFD) or High-fat diet (HFD). (F) Abcg1 TPM values in sorted ATM (n=3 mice per group). (G) Principal component analysis of the transcriptome from bulk-RNAseq of sorted ATM. (H) Bar plot of the top modified pathways and corresponding heatmaps. (I) Heatmap of the differentially expressed genes (DEG) signing lipid-associated macrophages (LAM) between Wt and *Abcg1* deficient ATM. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. n = 6-10 mice per group. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.01. LAM = Lipid-associated macrophages. P-LAM = Proliferating lipid-associated macrophages. PVM = Perivascular-like macrophages. NPVM = Non-perivascular-like macrophages.



Figure 3. ABCG1 expression is associated with pro-inflammatory pathways and oxydative phosphorylation in human ATM from obese individuals. (A) Bar plot of Normalized Enrichment Score between ATM from obese vs lean individuals for inflammatory pathways. (B) Violin plot comparing scores in human ATM subtype according to lean or obese status, for inflammatory response, (C) oxidative / phosphorylation and (D) fatty acid metabolism. (E) Bar plot of Normalized Enrichment Score between ABCG1-positive vs ABCG1 negative ATM for inflammatory pathways (F) Violin plot showing ABCG1 expression (Transcript per million, TPM) by RNA-Seq analysis in sorted omental ATM from 14 obese subjects. (G) ABCG1 expression in ABCG1^{high} (n=7) and ABCG1^{low} (n=7) ATM groups. (H) Bar plot of the top modified pathways (left panel) and corresponding heatmap for inflammatory response (right panel). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. n = 6-10. ***p < 0.001. IM = Inflammatory macrophages. LAM = Lipid-associated macrophages. PVM = Perivascular-like macrophages



Figure 4. Abcg1-deficient macrophages present a low bioenergetic profile and a reduced fatty acid oxidation capacity. Bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) isolated from Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ mice were metabolically activated with very-low density lipoproteins (VLDL) (50 µg protein/ml), insulin (10mM) and glucose (30mM) for 24h. (A) Transcript per million (TPM) values for Abcg1 in RNA-Seq analysis. (B) Bar plot of the top modified pathways in $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ BMDM (left panel) and corresponding heatmaps (right panel). Maximal respiration rate defined as the maximal oxygen consumption rate (OCR) (D) and maximal glycolytic rate defined as the maximal extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) (E) in Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ BMDM. (F) ATP production rate from glycolysis and mitochondrila oxydative phosphorylation (OXPHO) in Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ BMDM. 2-deoxyglucose uptake (G) and fatty acid oxydation. BMDM were plated from a pool of 4-6 mice of each genotype. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.01. ***p < 0.001 versus Wt. BSA: bovine serum albumin, PA: palmitic acid, Eto: etoxomir, FCCP: Carbonyl cyanide-ptrifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone, Rot/AA: Rotenone/Antimycin.



Figure 5. Redistribution of saturated fatty acid pools by Abcg1 governs membrane lipid remodeling and inflammation in macrophages. Bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) from Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ mice were metabolically activated with very-low density lipoproteins (VLDL) (50 µg protein/ml), insulin (10mM) and glucose (30mM) for 24h. Concentrations of lipid classes by lipidomic analysis (A) and heatmap of modified triglyceride (TG) species in BMDM from Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ mice (n=3) (B). Abundance of triglycerides (TG) (C), phospholipids (PL) (D) and total lipids (E) containing saturated fatty acids (SFA) with 16 (C16:0) and 18 (C18:0) carbon chain lenght. (F) Ratio of PL over TG containing C16:0 and C18:0 fatty acids. (G) Ratio of PL and sphingolipids (SL) over neutral lipids (NL) containing SFA. (H) Differential generalized polarization (GP) of membranes corresponding to membrane rigidity in BMDM from Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ mice. Measurement of lipoprotein lipase activity (I) and heatmap corresponding to the top modified membrane glycoproteins (J) in Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ BMDM. (K) Relative mRNA levels of chemokines and cytokines in Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ BMDM treated with VLDL ± tetrahydrolipstatin (THL, a LPL inhibitor). BMDM were plated from a pool of 4-6 mice of each genotype. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.01. ***p < 0.001. LPC: lysophosphatidylcholine, LPE: lysophosphatidylethanolamine, PC: phosphatidylcholine , PE: phosphatidylethanolamine, PEp: plasmalogen PE.



Figure 6. Proposed mechanism for the role of Abcg1 in ATM plasticity and insulin resistance in DIO.

Supplemental data



Supplemental Figure 1. No effect of macrophage Abcg1-deficiency in liver inflammation. (A) Abcg1 mRNA levels in sorted liver macrophages from mice fed a normal (ND) or a high-fat diet (HFD). (B) Quantification of *Abca1* mRNA levels in whole gonadal adipose tissue (AT) from Wt and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice under high-fat diet for 8 weeks. Plasma leptin and resistin (C), triglycerides (D), non-esterified fatty acids (E) and total cholesterol (F) concentrations. Relative mRNA levels of genes involved in lipid metabolism in whole gonadal AT. Relative mRNA levels of Abcg1 in (H) total liver and (I) sorted liver macrophages. (J) Relative mRNA expression of inflammatory genes and macrophage markers in total liver of Wt or *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice. (K) Hematoxylin & eosin staining of liver (scale bar. 100µm) (left panel) and quantification of total TG content (right panel). (L) Relative mRNA levels of genes involved in lipid metabolism in whole liver. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. n = 6-13 mice per group. *p < 0.05 and ** p < 0.005 versus Wt.



Supplemental Figure 2. Analysis of mouse gonadal ATM by flow cytometry. (A) Gating strategy for adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) from Wt and *Abcg1*^{MACKO} mice under high-fat diet (HFD). Total (defined as viable CD45 ⁺CD11b ⁺CMHII ⁺F4/80⁺CD64⁺ cells) (B) and proliferating (defined as Ki67⁺ cells, mean fluorescence intensity (MFI)) (C) ATM in gonadal adipose tissue from mice under 25- and 8-week HFD, respectively. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. n = 4-9 mice per group. *p < 0.05.



Supplemental Figure 3. Analysis of human omental ATM by flow cytometry. Gating strategy for adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) sorting in omental adipose tissue from obese subjects undergoing bariatric surgery.



Supplemental Figure 4. Redistribution and neutralization of pro-inflammatory saturated fatty acids in Abcg1-deficient ATM. Gonadal adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) were sorted from Wt and $Abcg1^{MACKO}$ mice fed a high-fat diet (60%) for 8 weeks. Abundance of triglycerides (TG) (A), phospholipids (PL) (B) and total lipids (C) containing saturated fatty acids (SFA) with 16 (C16:0) and 18 (C18:0) carbon chain lenght. (D) Ratio of PL over TG containing C16:0 and C18:0 fatty acids. (E) Ratio of PL and sphingolipids (SL) over neutral lipids (NL) containing SFA. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. *p < 0.05. n=8-10 mice per group.

Antibody	Dye	Species	Clone	Reference
Fixable viability dye	eF506	N/A	N/A	eBiosciences, 65-0866-14
Fixable viability dye	eF520	N/A	N/A	eBiosciences, 65-0867-18
CD45	BUV395	Mouse	30-F11	BD Biosciences, 564279
CD19	FITC	Mouse	1D3	BD Biosciences, 553785
Ly6C/G	PerCP Cy5	Mouse	RB6-8C5	eBioscience, 14-5931-82
CD11b	eF450	Mouse	M1/70	eBiosciences, 48-0112-82
СМНІІ	AF700	Mouse	M5/114.15.2	eBiosciences, 56-5321-82
F4/80	APC	Mouse	BM8	eBiosciences, 17-4801-82
CD64	PE	Mouse	X54-5/7.1	eBiosciences, 12-0641-82
CD11c	APC Cy7	Mouse	HL3	BD Biosciences, 561241
CD206	РЕ Су7	Mouse	MR6F3	eBiosciences, 25-2061-82
CD45	BV711	Human	HI30	Biolegend, 304050
CD3	FITC	Human	UCHT1	BD Biosciences, 555332
CD19	FITC	Human	HIB19	BD Biosciences, 555412
CD15	Pacific Blue	Human	W6D3	Biolegend, 323022
CD1c	APC Cy7	Human	L161	Biolegend, 331520
CD11b	APC	Human	M1/70	Biolegend, 101212
CD14	PE	Human	M5E2	Biolegend, 301806
Bodipy	FITC	N/A	N/A	Invitrogen, D3821
Ki67	AF700	N/A	N/A	BD Biosciences, 561277

Supplemental Table 1. Surface markers for FACS analysis and cell sorting

Gene	Forward	Reverse
Ccl2	GCCTGCTGTTCACAGTGGC	CAGGTGAGTGGGGCGTTA
Ccl5	TGCAGAGGACTCTGAGACAGC	GAGTGGTGTCCGAGCCATA
Cxcl10	GCTGCCGTCATTTTCTGC	TCTCACTGGCCCGTCATC
ll1b	TGTAATGAAAGACGGCACACC	TCTTCTTTGGGTATTGCTTGG
Tnfa	TCTTCTCATTCCTGCTTGTGG	GGTCTGGGCCATAGAACTGA
Tgfb	TGGAGCAACATGTGGAACTC	CAGCAGCCGGTTACCAAG
ll10	CAGAGCCACATGCTCCTAGA	GTCCAGCTGGTCCTTTGTTT
F4/80	GGAGGACTTCTCCAAGCCTATT	AGGCCTCTCAGACTTCTGCTT
Cd206	CCACAGCATTGAGGAGTTTG	ACAGCTCATCATTTGGCTCA
Cd11c	GAGCCAGAACTTCCCAACTG	TCAGGAACACGATGTCTTGG
Cd9	CTGTGGCATAGCTGGTCCTTTG	AGACCTCACTGATGGCTTCAG
Clec4f	GAACAACTCTGGACACGACAA	AGCCTCTGGATAGCCACTTC
Plin1	GAGAAGGTGGTAGAGTTCCTCC	GTGTGTCGAGAAAGAGTGTTGGC
Plin2	CTCCACTCCACTGTCCACCT	GCTTATCCTGAGCACCCTGA
Pparg	AGGCCGAGAAGGAGAAGCTGTTG	TGGCCACCTCTTTGCTCTGCTC
Acc1	AGAACCCGAAACTCCCAGAA	TGCAATCTTATCCCCCAAAG
Fasn	CCAAGCAGGCACACACAA	CACTCACACCCACCCAGA
Atgl	TGACCATCTGCCTTCCAGA	TGTAGGTGGCGCAAGACA
Hsl	TCCTCATGGCTCAACTCCTT	GCTGCCTCAGACACACTCCT
Nono	GCTCGTGAGAAGCTGGAGAT	TTCTTGACGTCTCATCAAATCC
CycloA	TGGAGAGCACCAAGACAGA	TGCCGGAGTCGACAATGAT
Hsp90	TACTCGGCTTTCCCGTCA	TGAAAGGCAAAGGTCTCCA
Hprt	TGACACTGGTAAAACAATGC	AACACTTCGAGAGGTCCTTT

Supplemental Table 2. Mouse Primers for quantitative RT-PCR

		Lipid species	Structural	Structural
			elucidation	elucidation
				method
		CE(16:0)	16:0	[M+NH4]+ PIS
		CE(16:1)	16:1	369m/z
	ers	CE(18:0)	18:0	
	este	CE(18:1)	18:1	
	Ž	CE(18:2)	18:2	
	stei	CE(18:3)	18:3	
	ole	CE(20:3)	20:3	
	С	CE(20:4)	20:4	
		CE(22:5)	22:5	
		CE(22:6)	22:6	
		DG(30:0)	14:0_16:0	[M+NH4]+
		DG(32:0)	16:0_16:0	NL(RCOO+NH3)
		DG(32:1)	14:0_18:1	
		DG(34:0)	16:0_18:0	
		DG(34:1)	16:0 18:1	
		DG(34:2)	16:0 18:2	
		DG(34:2)	16:1 18:1	
		DG(34:4)	16:1 18:3	
		DG(36:1)	18:0 18:1	
		DG(36:2)	18:0 18:2	
	es	DG(36:2)	18:1 18:1	
	erid	DG(36:3)	16:0_20:3	
	lyce	DG(36:3)	18.1 18.2	
	/lgr	DG(36:4)	16:0_20:4	
	iacy	DG(36:4)	18.1 18.3	
		DG(36:4)	18.2 18.2	
		DG(38:3)	18:0_20:3	
		DG(38·3)	18.1 20.2	
		DG(38:4)	18:0_20:2	
		DG(38:4)	18.1 20.3	
		DG(38:5)	16:0 22:5	
		DG(38:5)	18:1 20:4	
		DG(38:6)	16:0 22:6	
		DG(40:6)	18:0 22:6	
		DG(40:7)	18:1 22:6	
		TG(48:0-16:0/32:0)	16:0 16:0 16:0	[M+NH4]+
		TG(48.0-10.0/32.0)	16:0 16:0 16:1	NI (RCOO+NH3)
	Sa	TG(48.1-10.1/32.0) TG(48.1-10.1/32.0)	10.0_10.0_10.1	
	rid	TG(40.1-10.1/30.0) TG(18.2-11.1/21.1)	1/1.1 16:0 10:1	
S	yce	TC(10.2-14.1/34.1)	16.0 16.1 16.1	
DID	ylgl	TC(40.2-10:0/32:2)	10.0_10.1_10.1	
רו	iac	TC(40.2-10:1/30:1)	14.0_10.1_10.1	
IRA	Ч	$T_{C}(40.2 - 10.2 / 30.0)$	14.0_10.0_18.2	
EG			14:0_16:1_18:2	
z		16(50:0-18:0/32:0)	16:0_16:0_18:0	

		TG(50:1-14:0/36:1)	14:0_18:0_18:1	
		TG(18:1_32:0)	16:0_16:0_18:1	
		TG(18:0_32:2)	16:1_16:1_18:0	
		TG(18:1_32:1)	16:0_16:1_18:1	
		TG(18:2_32:0)	16:0_16:0_18:2	
		TG(14:1_36:2)	14:1_18:1_18:1	
		TG(18:1_32:2)	16:1_16:1_18:1	
		TG(18:2_32:1)	16:1_16:0_18:2	
		TG(14:0_36:4)	14:0_16:0_20:4	
		TG(18:0_33:0)	18:0_16:0_17:0	
		TG(18:1_33:0)	16:0_17:0_18:1	
		TG(15:0_36:2)	15:0_18:1_18:1	
		TG(16:0_35:2)	16:0_17:0_18:2	
		TG(18:1_34:0)	16:0_18:0_18:1	
		TG(16:0_36:2)	16:0_18:1_18:1	
		TG(16:1_36:2)	16:1_18:1_18:1	
		TG(18:2_34:1)	16:0_18:1_18:2	
		TG(16:1_36:3)	16:1_16:0_20:3	
		TG(20:4_32:0)	16:0_16:0_20:4	
		TG(17:0_36:2)	17:0_18:1_18:1	
		TG(18:1_36:0)	18:0_18:0_18:1	
		TG(18:0_36:2)	18:0_18:1_18:1	
		TG(20:2_34:0)	16:0_18:0_20:2	
		TG(18:1_36:2)	18:1_18:1_18:1	
		TG(20:3_34:0)	16:0_18:0_20:3	
		TG(18:0_36:4)	18:0_16:0_20:4	
		TG(18:2_36:2)	18:1_18:1_18:2	
		TG(20:4_34:0)	16:0_18:0_20:4	
		TG(20:4_34:1)	16:0_18:1_20:4	
		TG(22:5_32:0)	16:0_16:0_22:5	
		TG(20:4_36:2)	18:1_18:1_20:4	
		TG(22:5_34:1)	16:0_18:1_22:5	
		TG(22:6_34:0)	16:0_18:0_22:6	
		TG(20:4_36:4)	16:0_20:4_20:4	
		LPC(16:0)	16:0	[M+H]+ PIS
		LPC(16:1)	16:1	184m/z
	Je	LPC(16:2)	16:2	
	ilot	LPC(18:0)	18:0	
S	ylch	LPC(18:1)	18:1	
DID	tid	LPC(18:2)	18:2	
OLII	pha		20:0	
Hd	hos		20:1	
SOF	do	LPC(20:2)	20.2	
ОР	Lyŝ	LPC(20.3)	20.5	
CER(LFC(20.4)	20.4	
ראנ		IPC(22:3)	20.5	
Ū		Li C(22.3)	22.5	

	LPC(22:4)	22:4	
	LPC(22:5)	22:5	
	LPC(22:6)	22:6	
	LPE(16:0)	16:0	[M+H]+ NL 141
	LPE(16:1)	16:1	
ne	LPE(18:0)	18:0	
ami	LPE(18:1)	18:1	
lou	LPE(18:2)	18:2	
tha	LPE(20:3)	20:3	
yle	LPE(20:4)	20:4	
atid	LPE(20:5)	20:5	
pha	LPE(22:1)	22:1	
hos	LPE(22:2)	22:2	
lqo	LPE(22:3)	22:3	
Lys	LPE(22:4)	22:4	
	LPE(22:5)	22:5	
	LPE(22:6)	22:6	
	PA(34:0)	16:0_18:0	extrapolated
_	PA(34:1)	16:0_18:1	from literature
acid	PA(34:2)	16:0_18:2	
lic â	PA(36:1)	18:0_18:1	
atic	PA(36:2)	18:0_18:2	
shq	PA(36:4)	16:0_20:4	-
hos	PA(38:3)	18:0_20:3	-
٩	PA(38:4)	18:0_20:4	
	PA(38:6)	16:0_22:6	
	PC(28:0)	14:0_14:0	extrapolated
	PC(30:0)	14:0_16:0	from literature
	PC(30:1)	14:0_16:1	_
	PC(30:2)	14:1_16:2	
	PC(32:0)	16:0_16:0	-
	PC(32:1)	16:0_16:1	1
	PC(34:0)	16:0_18:0	1
e	PC(34:1)	16:0_18:1	1
Phosphatidylcholin	PC(34:2)	16:0_18:2	-
	PC(34:3)	16:1_18:2	
	PC(36:0)	18:0_18:0	
	PC(36:1)	18:0_18:1	-
	PC(36:2)	18:0_18:2	-
	PC(36:3)	18:1_18:2	-
	PC(36:4)	16:0_20:4	
	PC(36:5)	16:1_20:4	1
	PC(36:6)	14:0_22:6	1
	PC(38:2)	18:0_20:2	1
	PC(38:3)	18:0_20:3	1
	PC(38:4)	18:0_20:4	1
	PC(38:5)	16:0_22:5	1
		. —	

		PC(38:6)	16:0_22:6	
		PC(40:4)	20:0_20:4	
		PC(40:5)	18:0_22:5	
		PC(40:6)	18:1_22:5	
		PC(40:7)	18:1_22:6	
		PC(40:8)	18:2 22:6	
		PE(28:0)		extrapolated
		PE(30:0)		from literature
		PE(30:1)		-
		PE(32:0)	16:0 16:0	-
		PE(32:1)		1
		PE(34:0)		1
		PE(34:1)	16:0 18:1	-
		PE(34:2)		1
	ine	PE(36:0)	18:0 18:0	-
	am	PE(36:1)		1
	lou	PE(36:2)		1
	tha	PE(36:3)	18:1 18:2	-
	yle	PE(36:4)	16:0 20:4	-
	atid	PE(36:5)		1
	bha	PE(38:2)	18:0 20:2	1
	hos	PE(38:3)	18:0 20:3	-
	Ы	PE(38:4)	18:0 20:4	-
		PE(38:5)	16:0 22:5	-
		PE(38:6)	16:0 22:6	-
		PE(40:4)	20:0 20:4	-
		PE(40:5)	18:0 22:5	-
		PE(40:6)		1
		PE(40:7)		-
		PE(40:8)		-
		PE(16:0p/18:2)		[M+H]+
		PE(16:0p/20:1)	20:1	PIS(RCO+PE)
		PE(16:0p/20:2)	20:2	-
		PE(16:0p/20:3)	20:3	1
		PE(16:0p/20:4)	20:4	1
	en	PE(16:0p/22:4)	22:4	
	log	PE(16:0p/22:5)	22:5	
PE plasma	ma	PE(16:0p/22:6)	22:6	
	olas	PE(18:0p/18:1)	18:1	
	PEI	PE(18:0p/18:2)	18:2	
		PE(18:0p/20:3)	20:3	
		PE(18:0p/20:4)	20:4	1
		PE(18:0p/20:5)	20:5	1
		PE(18:0p/22:6)	22:6	1
		PE(18:0p/24:5)	24:5	1
	dsi	PG(32:0)	16:0_16:0	extrapolated
	Pho ited	PG(34:1)	16:0_18:1	from literature
			_	

		PG(34:2)	16:0_18:2	
		PG(36:1)	18:0_18:1	
		PG(36:2)	18:0_18:2	
		PG(36:3)	18:1_18:2	
		PG(36:4)	16:0_20:4	
		PG(38:2)	18:0_20:2	
	-	PG(38:3)	18:0_20:3	
	-	PG(38:4)	18:0 20:4	
	-	PG(38:6)	16:0_22:6	
		PI(32:1)	16:0 16:1	extrapolated
	-	PI(34:1)		from literature
	-	PI(34:2)	16:0 18:2	
	-	PI(36:1)	18:0_18:1	
	-	PI(36:2)	18:0 18:2	
	itol	PI(36:3)		
	isor	PI(36:4)		
	lylin	PI(38:2)	18:0 20:2	
	atid	PI(38:3)	18:0 20:3	
	hq	PI(38:4)	18:0 20:4	
	soy	PI(38:5)	16:0 22:5	
	₽.	PI(38:6)	16:0_22:6	
	-	PI(40:4)	20:0 20:4	
	-	PI(40:5)	18:0 22:5	
	-	PI(40:6)		
	-	PI(40:7)	18:1 22:6	
		PS(34:0)	16:0 18:0	extrapolated
	-	PS(34:1)	16:0 18:1	from literature
	-	PS(34:2)	16:0_18:2	
	a	PS(36:1)	18:0_18:1	
	rine	PS(36:2)	18:0_18:2	
	ylse	PS(36:3)	18:1_18:2	
	tid	PS(36:4)	16:0_20:4	
	pha	PS(38:3)	18:0_20:3	
	lsou	PS(38:4)	18:0_20:4	
	ā	PS(38:6)	16:0_22:6	
		PS(40:4)	20:0_20:4	
		PS(40:5)	18:0_22:5	
		PS(40:6)	18:0_22:6	
	s	Cer 18:0;02/16:0	16:0	[M+H]+ PIS
ceramides	ide	Cer 18:0;02/18:0	18:0	266m/z
	am	Cer 18:0;02/18:1	18:1	
	cer	Cer 18:0;02/22:0	22:0	
DS	dro	Cer 18:0;02/23:0	23:0	
IPIL :	ihy	Cer 18:0;02/24:0	24:0	
105		Cer 18:0;02/24:1	24:1	
Ň	۲a	Cer 18:1;02/14:0	14:0	[M+H]+ PIS
SPF	Ce Sie	Cer 18:1;02/15:0	15:0	264m/z

		Cer 18:1;02/16:0	16:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/18:0	18:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/18:1	18:1	
		Cer 18:1;02/19:0	19:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/20:0	20:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/22:0	22:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/23:0	23:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/24:0	24:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/24:1	24:1	
		Cer 18:1;02/25:0	25:0	
		Cer 18:1;O2/26:0	26:0	
		Cer 18:1;02/26:1	26:1	
		Cer 18:2;02/14:0	14:0	[M+H]+ PIS
		Cer 18:2;02/16:0	16:0	262m/z
		Cer 18:2;02/18:0	18:0	
		Cer 18:2;02/18:1	18:1	
		Cer 18:2;02/19:0	19:0	
	Sa	Cer 18:2;02/20:0	20:0	
	nine	Cer 18:2;02/20:1	20:1	
	dier	Cer 18:2;02/21:0	21:0	
	ıga	Cer 18:2;02/22:0	22:0	
	hin	Cer 18:2;02/23:0	23:0	
	Sp	Cer 18:2;02/23:1	23:1	
		Cer 18:2;02/24:0	24:0	
		Cer 18:2;02/24:1	24:1	
		Cer 18:2;O2/24:2	24:2	
		Cer 18:2;O2/26:0	26:0	
		Cer 18:2;02/26:1	26:1	
		SM 30:1;O2	14:0	extrapolated
		SM 32:1;O2	16:0	from literature
		SM 34:1;O2	16:0	
		SM 34:2;O2	16:1	
		SM 36:1;O2	18:0	
	c	SM 36:2;O2	18:0	
	/eliı	SM 38:1;O2	20:0	
) m	SM 38:2;O2	20:0	
	Sphingo	SM 40:1;O2	22:0	
		SM 40:2;O2	22:0	
		SM 41:1;02	23:0	
		SM 41:2;02	23:0	
		SM 42:1;02	24:0	
		SM 42:2;02	24:1	
		SM 42:3;02	24:1	
		SM 42:4;02	24:2	

Supplemental Table 3. Structural elucidation of lipid species.

GENERAL DISCUSSION AND PERSPECTIVES

Obesity is characterized by an accumulation of dietary fat in metabolic tissues resulting in chronic inflammation. Excessive storage of fat in adipose tissue triggers an inflammatory response orchestrated by ATM, who are major effectors for the development of diet-induced insulin resistance and T2D (Hotamisligil et al. 1993, Saltiel and Olefsky 2017). In DIO, high amounts of FFA are present in the circulation and contribute directly to AT inflammation and insulin resistance. Indeed, these lipids promote the metabolic activation of ATM by inducing transcriptional and phenotypic changes consistent with a high metabolic rate (Kratz et al. 2014, Hill et al. 2018, Jaitin et al. 2019), which ultimately influence the fate (healthy versus unhealthy) of AT via the production of inflammatory cytokines, death adipocyte clearance, lipid catabolism and the subsequent instalment of fibrosis and hypoxia (Karczewski et al. 2018, Maniyadath et al. 2023). Sensing of these dietary FA by ATM is therefore a key event at governing AT successful adaptation to energy surplus. Once in the ATM, captured FA can be stored and neutralized into TG (Shapiro et al. 2013), catabolized through the lysosomal pathway (Xu et al. 2013) and/or metabolized into a wide range of lipid species including membrane phospholipids and sphingolipids which exert distinct effects on ATM activation (van der Veen et al. 2017, Petkevicius et al. 2019, Raichur et al. 2019). The capacity of ATM to handle FA plays a major role in its activation status and the progression towards an inflammatory, insulin-resistant phenotype, although the mechanisms participating in this handling of lipids are still not yet fully understood.

The membrane ATP-binding cassette G1 (ABCG1) transporter has been identified as an active player in controlling lipid homeostasis in macrophages. Beyond its well described role in cholesterol transport (Vaughan and Oram 2005, Tarling and Edwards 2011), our team previously demonstrated that ABCG1 plays an important role in FA release from TRL and reuptake by macrophages by controlling the bioavailability of LPL through plasma membrane lipid remodeling (Olivier et al. 2012). Such a role could have major implications on FA uptake and metabolism/distribution on ATM and thus participate to the development of obesity-associated comorbidities. Consistent with this hypothesis, numerous studies have found an association between the expression of ABCG1, T2D and obesity (Mauldin et al. 2006, Hardy et al. 2017).

The main goal of my project was therefore to assess the contribution of ABCG1 to ATM activation and lipid rewiring in a context of DIO. The originality of the project stems from the notion that ABCG1 functions as a Janus-faced metabolic switch depending on the lipid environment, with opposite actions in a cholesterol- versus a fat-rich context. Such a mechanism is reinforced by our data uncovering a

124

new, unexpected anti-inflammatory role of Abcg1-deficiency in macrophages in a high-fat environment, whereas the inhibition of Abcg1 was reported to induce inflammation in cholesterolloaded macrophages (Yvan-Charvet et al. 2007, Lammers et al. 2009). Indeed, our results unveiled that Abcg1 deficiency in myeloid cells led to a marked reduction in AT inflammation and ATM content in mice fed a high-fat diet (60% kcal fat) for 8 and 25 weeks, despite inducing no changes in overall body composition and fat mass. This phenotype was associated with a complete remodeling of ATM lipidome, which consisted of decreased inflammatory SFA on membrane phospholipids through their redirection to lipid droplets. This neutralization pathway compromised FA-mediated inflammatory signaling activation, reflected by a switch of ATM transcriptome and energy metabolism towards a less activated profile, thereby ameliorating adipocyte health, liver histology and systemic insulin resistance.

Our data argue that in the context of obesity, ABCG1 expression in ATM rather promotes inflammation. In adipocytes though, ABCG1 has been attributed an anti-inflammatory role. Indeed, previous findings have shown that ABCG1 presence and activity (Chol efflux to HDL) in adipocytes is necessary to generate an anti-inflammatory phenotype in ApoA1 transgenic mice fed a high-fat, high-sucrose, high-Chol diet, which mainly consisted on decreased inflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression, but also reduced macrophage presence (Umemoto et al. 2013). This dual role of ABCG1 on AT global health highlights that the beneficial or deleterious actions of this transporter are highly dependent on the cell type that is targeted. The ATM-dependent effect of ABCG1 seems nonetheless to be predominant in obese states, as, in line with our data, total knockout of this transporter in mice fed a high-fat, high-Chol diet was protective against DIO (Buchmann et al. 2007).

These observations open up several questions regarding AT healthy expansion. For instance, while it has been established that adequate adipogenesis, adipocyte maturation and lipid storage is necessary for proper function of the cell (Vishvanath and Gupta 2019), at what point does adipocyte hypertrophy becomes deleterious and leads to significant ATM infiltration? This has been tackled in a recent study where it was determined that the critical threshold size for classical efferocytosis by ATM was up to 25 µm. Medium-sized (< 50 µm) lipid droplets were fragmented into smaller portions and then efferocytized; beyond this size, however, fragmentation nor efferocytosis were possible, adipocytes thus engaged in an apoptotic process which led to CLS formation and inflammation before lipid uptake. It is interesting to note that ATM in this CLS were metabolically activated (Lindhorst et al. 2021). We could then propose that in our mice model of myeloid Abcg1 deficiency, adipocyte expandability capacity is enhanced, in part, as a consequence of reduced ATM-mediated inflammation. This reduction of inflammation contributes to maintain insulin signaling and adipocyte storage capacity. Adipocyte apoptosis is therefore reduced, preventing CLS formation. In coherence with this statement, we also observed significantly less CLS in AT from Abcg1 myeloid-deficient mice. To further assess the

consequences of macrophage ABCG1 deficiency on AT homeostasis, ATM efferocytosis capacity as well as adipocyte death rate and metabolism (i.e. lipolysis, lipogenesis, glucose uptake) should be investigated.

As ATM accumulate in CLS during DIO, they form multiple intracellular lipid droplets and display a transcriptomic phenotype specialized in lipid handling. This reflects an attempt by ATM to buffer excess lipids and limit maladaptive adipocyte hypertrophy, as seen above, but becomes inefficient as ATM are overwhelmed by the continuous lipid flux. While lipids follow several different metabolic pathways within ATM, it has been suggested that according to the lipid charge (large vs small lipid droplets) ATM either direct lipids to one or two types of vesicles: a classic vesicle filled with neutral lipids (the LD), found only in ATM that contain the largest amounts of lipids, and another one characterized by an acidic ring (lysosomes) and found in ATM with both large and small amounts of lipids, reminiscent of the LAM phenotype (Xu et al. 2013, Grijalva et al. 2016, Hill et al. 2018). Activation of the lysosomal pathway could therefore represent a protective mechanism through which ATM catabolize excess fat to reduce their lipid load and maintain their function. Accordingly, we observed an increase of ATM lysosomal activity following Abcg1 inhibition (data not shown), but no difference of neutral lipid content. In our model, we believe that this is explained by the concomitant reduction of fatty acid oxidation, another non-negligeable form of lipid catabolism.

While a bit astonishing, the authors of the aforementioned study also claimed that intracellular lipid content in ATM was not associated to any direct changes to their inflammatory profile (Xu et al. 2013). This uncoupling between inflammation and LD accumulation has also been evidenced in a mice model of myeloid HILPDA (hypoxia inducible lipid droplet associated protein) inhibition, which showed that despite reduced ATM lipid storage there was no significant modulation of AT inflammation (van Dierendonck et al. 2020). Similarly, stimulation of THP-1 macrophages with conditioned media from adipocytes that had undergone lipolysis did enhance storage of neutral lipids, but did not translate into increased macrophage-dependent inflammatory phenotype (Caspar-Bauguil et al. 2015). There are several potential explanations for this uncoupling in ATM. First, the degree to which ATM-derived inflammatory cytokines increases AT inflammation and worsens the overall metabolic profile could be dominated by quantitative increases in ATM numbers rather than changes in the classically defined inflammatory state. This does not mean that obesity does not induce changes in ATM phenotype, as has been extensively studied in recent literature (Hildreth et al. 2021), but can be supported by the fact that impairing ATM recruitment and migration into AT is sufficient to reduce AT inflammation and insulin resistance (Weisberg et al. 2006, Ito et al. 2008). In this same line of evidence, our protective phenotype following Abcg1 deficiency was accompanied by decreased chemokine expression and decreased monocyte recruitment into AT without changing total intracellular TG levels in ATM LD. More importantly, it showed that instead of total TG amount, the nature of FA is crucial in governing ATM inflammatory phenotype.

Second, it highlights the notion that intracellular lipid accumulation in the form of LD in macrophages is a mechanism of lipid management that does not lead to the expression of inflammatory genes. This postulate has been widely studied in obesity settings, where it was demonstrated that the lipid-laden ATM phenotype is characterized by the induction of lipid metabolism pathways rather than inflammatory ones (Jaitin et al. 2019). It can be further validated by recent findings on murine and human atherosclerotic plaque macrophages showing that inflammatory and foamy macrophages are part of two distinct subsets identified by different metabolic and gene signatures (Depuydt et al. 2020, Willemsen and de Winther 2020). These macrophage-like foam cells have been observed to express the Trem2 and CD9 markers also seen on lipid-laden ATM, as well as high levels of the Abcg1 transporter, and have been suggested to mitigate vascular inflammation and promote plaque calcification and stabilization (Kiss et al. 2019, Roy et al. 2022). Finally, in NAFLD, a similar Trem2⁺CD9⁺ macrophage population has also been found and has been associated to NASH progression and liver fibrosis beyond any inflammatory role (Barreby et al. 2022). Overall, it is safe to say that metabolic disease gives rise to a particular macrophage subset specialized in lipid handling. However, whether it exerts beneficial or deleterious actions has not yet been fully elucidated. Our findings for instance, show that Abcg1 inhibition is accompanied by a decreased expression of the abovementioned markers, but the resulting ATM phenotype is protective. More research is therefore needed to better understand the complex role of these lipid-associated macrophages in metabolic disease.

Third, it brings out the contribution of other metabolic pathways more directly implicated with inflammatory signaling. Besides storage in lipid droplets and lysosomal catabolism, FA can be incorporated into membrane phospholipids and modify membrane properties, which ultimately contributes to the assembly of complex machinery that drives inflammatory signaling (Ruysschaert and Lonez 2015, Sezgin et al. 2017). Indeed, alteration of the lipid and protein (such as Rho-GTPases) content of resistant microdomains by fatty acids is a critical event in the triggering of the inflammatory signaling cascade in ATM (Wei et al. 2016). We demonstrate that Abcg1 myeloid deficiency entails a remodeling of membrane lipidome by depletion of pro-inflammatory C16 and C18 SFA in phospholipids and neutralization of these same lipid species inside LD, thereby providing a mechanistic link between ATM inflammation and lipid uptake in the absence of LD enhancement. To further validate these differences in lipid distribution within the lysosomal, LD or membrane compartment in ATM, we believe it could be interesting to trace specific FA, particularly SFA in TLR, by isotopic labeling.

Further clarification of the actual functional consequences of membrane lipid remodeling are also needed and could rely on the characterization of membrane-anchored inflammatory proteins by membrane proteomic analysis. We are particularly interested in TLR4, whose inflammatory signaling has been found to be altered following modulation of lipid raft composition (Sun et al. 2009, Ito et al. 2015). The pertinence for the investigation of this pathway could be substantiated by the recent evidence showing that just as lipidome remodeling influences inflammatory signaling, proinflammatory stimuli (i.e. TLR4 ligands) can also reshape macrophages membrane and intracellular lipid composition (Hsieh et al. 2020).

We were thus driven to replicate our findings in an *in vitro* model of bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) that resemble the pathophysiological context of obesity. Existing literature has suggested a cocktail of insulin, glucose and palmitate as able to recapitulate the transcriptional changes observed in ATM from obese mice (Coats et al. 2017, Hill et al. 2018). In DIO, however, high amounts of FFA are present in the circulation as a consequence of the LPL-mediated lipolysis of TLR such as VLDL. LPL activity is therefore necessary for FFA and remnant VLDL uptake into the cell. More importantly, VLDL signaling in ATM has been reported to promote pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype and to aggravate adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in DIO (Shin et al. 2017). The aforementioned approach of using free palmitate therefore neglects to take into account the key role of LPL to FFA release and lipid uptake by ATM. As such, we observed that stimulation of Abcg1-deficient BMDM with VLDL along with glucose and insulin successfully replicated the transcriptomic changes observed in murine ATM following Abcg1 inhibition, as well as that in human ATM with low Abcg1 expression. The definitive contribution of macrophage LPL to ATM metabolic activation was then validated by the use of an LPL inhibitor which abolished the anti-inflammatory effects of Abcg1 deficiency.

Just as choosing the appropriate effectors is necessary to maintain biological relevance, the mice model used for assessing the contribution of a ubiquitously-expressed gene such as Abcg1 is also important, and could account for the potential divergences observed between our work and existing literature. Buchmann and coll. first reported that global Abcg1 deficiency decreased body weight and fat mass, ameliorated adipocyte health, glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity as well as decreased liver steatosis in mice fed a HFD (Buchmann et al. 2007). Wei and coll. instead published that BM transplantation of Abcg1-deficient mice to Wt littermates did not influence glucose metabolism or body composition in mice fed a high-fat, high-carbohydrate diet. Nevertheless, it increased ATM total Chol content and, surprisingly, the number of M2 macrophages (Wei et al. 2015). Our work overlaps with some of the findings in both these studies, showing that mice deficient for Abcg1 on the myeloid lineage and under a HFD had similar weight gain, decreased insulin resistance, presented less intrahepatic fat and promoted anti-inflammatory ATM polarization.

BM transplantation is more specific of the immune cell compartment, as it targets the hematopoietic cell compartment and by extension macrophages, but also other immune cells. One might argue that even if other immune types do contribute to AT inflammation during DIO, ATM are still the most important drivers of this inflammatory phenotype and above all, of AT insulin resistance. Still, the principal inconvenient with this model though comes from the fact that the prior lethal irradiation required for BM transplant significantly impairs HFD-induced weight gain (up to -33% fat mass, -45% adipocyte volume and -38% preadipocytes) as compared to non-irradiated, HFD-fed mice. More importantly, it also seems to decrease ATM numbers in scWAT and vWAT in conjunction with plasma insulin levels (-62% and -68%, respectively)(Katiraei et al. 2017). In addition, it has recently been observed that during HFD, BM adipocytes prime monocytes towards an invasive Ly6C^{high} phenotype, which favors their infiltration in AT and therefore ATM content (Boroumand et al. 2022). This mechanism could be abrogated with BM irradiation and could explain, along with the difficulty to gain weight and the targeting of other immune types, why liver histology and insulin metabolism are not altered following Abcg1 deletion according to the study of Wei et al (Wei et al. 2015).

To bypass some of these biases, the LysMCre mouse model was used for deletion of Abcg1 on macrophages, although targeting of other immune cells such as dendritic cells, monocytes and granulocytes is to be expected. While there could be indeed consequences of Abcg1 inhibition on these other immune types, characterization of the deletion efficiency of the LysMCre strain was revealed to be almost at its highest in mature macrophages (98% vs 16% in dendritic cells, for instance) (Clausen et al. 1999), arguing in favor of the specificity of our targeting. We could then suggest that the positive effect of macrophage Abcg1 deficiency on insulin resistance and liver lipid accumulation is a consequence of a metabolically healthier AT, therefore preventing lipid spill over into other tissues and disturbances in insulin signaling. With that in mind, full phenotyping of Abcg1-deficient liver macrophages needs to be performed to establish the different metabolic and transcriptomic adaptations of these cells following ABCG1 inhibition and HFD. It is nonetheless important to mention that, in contrast to what observed in ATM, Abcg1 deficiency in liver macrophages was without effect on their inflammatory phenotype as well as in liver inflammation, highlighting the specific action of Abcg1 in ATM during DIO. Assessing the consequences of myeloid Abcg1 deficiency of pancreatic macrophages could also be of interest to further corroborate the selectivity of our model and its repercussion towards ATM-mediated insulin resistance, especially given that basal insulin levels, and therefore insulin secretion, were also different between genotypes.

It is important to note that the association between macrophage Abcg1 expression and the transcriptomic and metabolic signature of mouse ATM during HFD was also validated by our own human data obtained from omental ATM of morbidly obese subjects (mean BMI = 41 ± 1.25), as well as public data on obese mice (60% kcal fat for 18 weeks) and humans (mean BMI = 31 ± 0.4) (Hildreth et al. 2021, Sárvári et al. 2021).

Given the wide, systemic protective effects of macrophage Abcg1 deficiency, we believe the therapeutic targeting of this transporter in ATM could be of particular interest for the prevention of obesity-associated insulin resistance, T2D and other comorbidities. It is important to know that up to this day, there are no known inhibitors of the Abcg1 transporter. However, gene targeting in macrophages has already been considered as an option to treat metabolic disease. For instance, nanoparticles targeting NLRP3 inflammasome with gene editing have been developed and confirmed to alleviate AT inflammation of high-fat diet-induced type 2 diabetes mice by delivering CRISP/Cas9 into macrophages of liver, spleen and adipose tissue (Xu et al. 2018). Although more research is needed to design nanoobjects specifically targeting ATM, it is noteworthy that RNAi-based methods to selectively silence genes in epididymal ATM, and not macrophages from other tissues, have been reported. These are based on the intrinsic phagocytic function of ATM as well as the specificity of the administration method (i.e. intraperitoneal, which targets ATM, vs. oral gavage, which targets all macrophages) (Soto et al. 2012, Aouadi et al. 2013). As such, intraperitoneal injection of siTNF α encapsulated in glucan shells has shown to ameliorate whole-body homeostasis in ob/ob mice via inhibitory effects on the TNF signaling pathways on ATM alone (Aouadi et al. 2013). Of note, the use of this technology could be of pertinence to further confirm the specificity of our model.

Overall, our study demonstrates the complex role of ATM on regulating whole-body homeostasis and puts forward an unexpected contribution of the membrane Abcg1 transporter in this specific context. Our data also highlights the importance of the intracellular distribution of dietary FA (SFA *vs* PUFA) in the activation of ATM. In that sense, we could propose that the well-known beneficial effects of omega-3 PUFA supplementation on inflammatory parameters in diabetic and hyperlipidemic individuals (Ballantyne et al. 2012) might stem, in part, from their capacity to inhibit ABCG1 expression in macrophages (Ku et al. 2012).

REFERENCES

- Abe M, Matsuda M, Kobayashi H, *et al.* Effects of statins on adipose tissue inflammation: their inhibitory effect on MyD88-independent IRF3/IFN-beta pathway in macrophages. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2008); **28**: 871–877.
- Abellán R, Mansego ML, Martínez-Hervás S, *et al.* Association of selected ABC gene family single nucleotide polymorphisms with postprandial lipoproteins: results from the population-based Hortega study. *Atherosclerosis* (2010); **211**: 203–209.
- Abellán R, Mansego ML, Martínez-Hervás S, *et al.* Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids may increase plasma LDL-cholesterol and plasma cholesterol concentrations in carriers of an ABCG1 gene single nucleotide polymorphism: study in two Spanish populations. *Atherosclerosis* (2011); **219**: 900–906.
- Aflaki E, Radovic B, Chandak PG, *et al.* Triacylglycerol accumulation activates the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway in macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2011); **286**: 7418–7428.
- Ahmed B, Sultana R, Greene MW. Adipose tissue and insulin resistance in obese. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* (2021); **137**: 111315.
- Aikawa T, Ren Y, Yamazaki Y, et al. ABCA7 haplodeficiency disturbs microglial immune responses in the mouse brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. (2019); **116**: 23790–23796.
- Albert JS, Yerges-Armstrong LM, Horenstein RB, *et al.* Null Mutation in Hormone-Sensitive Lipase Gene and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (2014); **370**: 2307–2315.
- Amano SU, Cohen JL, Vangala P, *et al.* Local Proliferation of Macrophages Contributes to Obesity-Associated Adipose Tissue Inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2014); **19**: 162–171.
- Ameyar M, Wisniewska M, Weitzman JB. A role for AP-1 in apoptosis: the case for and against. *Biochimie* (2003); **85**: 747–752.
- Aouadi M, Tencerova M, Vangala P, *et al.* Gene silencing in adipose tissue macrophages regulates whole-body metabolism in obese mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2013); **110**: 8278–8283.
- Aouadi M, Vangala P, Yawe JC, et al. Lipid storage by adipose tissue macrophages regulates systemic glucose tolerance. Am. J. Physiol.-Endocrinol. Metab. (2014); **307**: E374–E383.
- Archer A, Stolarczyk É, Doria ML, *et al*. LXR activation by GW3965 alters fat tissue distribution and adipose tissue inflammation in ob/ob female mice. *J. Lipid Res.* (2013); **54**: 1300–1311.
- Arkan MC, Hevener AL, Greten FR, et al. IKK-beta links inflammation to obesity-induced insulin resistance. Nat. Med. (2005); **11**: 191–198.
- Armstrong AJ, Gebre AK, Parks JS, *et al.* ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 negatively regulates thymocyte and peripheral lymphocyte proliferation. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 (2010); **184**: 173–183.
- Arner P, Bernard S, Salehpour M, *et al.* Dynamics of human adipose lipid turnover in health and metabolic disease. *Nature* (2011); **478**: 110–113.

- Aron-Wisnewsky J, Clément K. The gut microbiome, diet, and links to cardiometabolic and chronic disorders. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* (2016); **12**: 169–181.
- Aron-Wisnewsky J, Julia Z, Poitou C, *et al.* Effect of bariatric surgery-induced weight loss on SR-BI-, ABCG1-, and ABCA1-mediated cellular cholesterol efflux in obese women. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* (2011); **96**: 1151–1159.
- Badimon L, Cubedo J. Adipose tissue depots and inflammation: effects on plasticity and resident mesenchymal stem cell function. *Cardiovasc. Res.* (2017); **113**: 1064–1073.
- Bairqdar A, Ivanoshchuk D, Shakhtshneider E. Functionally Significant Variants in Genes Associated with Abdominal Obesity: A Review. *J. Pers. Med.* (2023); **13**: 460.
- Baldán Á, Pei L, Lee R, *et al.* Impaired Development of Atherosclerosis in Hyperlipidemic *Ldlr*^{-/-} and *ApoE*^{-/-} Mice Transplanted With *Abcg1*^{-/-} Bone Marrow. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2006); **26**: 2301–2307.
- Ballantyne CM, Bays HE, Kastelein JJ, *et al.* Efficacy and safety of eicosapentaenoic acid ethyl ester (AMR101) therapy in statin-treated patients with persistent high triglycerides (from the ANCHOR study). *Am. J. Cardiol.* (2012); **110**: 984–992.
- Barilla S, Liang N, Mileti E, et al. Loss of G protein pathway suppressor 2 in human adipocytes triggers lipid remodeling by upregulating ATP binding cassette subfamily G member 1. *Mol. Metab.* (2020); 42: 101066.
- Barreby E, Chen P, Aouadi M. Macrophage functional diversity in NAFLD more than inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* (2022); **18**: 461–472. Nature Publishing Group.
- Bechor S, Nachmias D, Elia N, et al. Adipose tissue conditioned media support macrophage lipiddroplet biogenesis by interfering with autophagic flux. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* (2017); **1862**: 1001–1012.
- Blaszczak AM, Bernier M, Wright VP, *et al.* Obesogenic Memory Maintains Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Insulin Resistance. *Immunometabolism* (2020); **2**: e200023.
- Boden G, Duan X, Homko C, *et al.* Increase in endoplasmic reticulum stress-related proteins and genes in adipose tissue of obese, insulin-resistant individuals. *Diabetes* (2008); **57**: 2438–2444.
- Börgeson E, Boucher J, Hagberg CE. Of mice and men: Pinpointing species differences in adipose tissue biology. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* (2022); **10**
- Börgeson E, McGillicuddy FC, Harford KA, *et al.* Lipoxin A ₄ attenuates adipose inflammation. *FASEB J.* (2012); **26**: 4287–4294.
- Boroumand P, Prescott DC, Mukherjee T, *et al.* Bone marrow adipocytes drive the development of tissue invasive Ly6Chigh monocytes during obesity. *eLife* (2022); **11**: e65553.
- Boutens L, Hooiveld GJ, Dhingra S, *et al.* Unique metabolic activation of adipose tissue macrophages in obesity promotes inflammatory responses. *Diabetologia* (2018); **61**: 942–953.
- Boutens L, Stienstra R. Adipose tissue macrophages: going off track during obesity. *Diabetologia* (2016); **59**: 879–894.

- Braune J, Weyer U, Hobusch C, *et al.* IL-6 Regulates M2 Polarization and Local Proliferation of Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Obesity. *J. Immunol.* (2017); **198**: 2927–2934.
- Brestoff JR, Artis D. Immune Regulation of Metabolic Homeostasis in Health and Disease. *Cell* (2015); **161**: 146–160. Elsevier.
- Brinar M, Cukovic-Cavka S, Bozina N, *et al.* MDR1polymorphisms are associated with inflammatory bowel disease in a cohort of Croatian IBD patients. *BMC Gastroenterol.* (2013); **13**: 57.
- Brooks-Wilson A, Marcil M, Clee SM, *et al.* Mutations in ABC1 in Tangier disease and familial highdensity lipoprotein deficiency. *Nat. Genet.* (1999); **22**: 336–345. Nature Publishing Group.
- Brunham LR, Kruit JK, Pape TD, et al. Beta-cell ABCA1 influences insulin secretion, glucose homeostasis and response to thiazolidinedione treatment. *Nat. Med.* (2007); **13**: 340–347.
- Brunner JS, Vogel A, Lercher A, *et al.* The PI3K pathway preserves metabolic health through MARCOdependent lipid uptake by adipose tissue macrophages. *Nat. Metab.* (2020); **2**: 1427–1442. Nature Publishing Group.
- Bu L, Gao M, Qu S, *et al.* Intraperitoneal Injection of Clodronate Liposomes Eliminates Visceral Adipose Macrophages and Blocks High-fat Diet-induced Weight Gain and Development of Insulin Resistance. *AAPS J.* (2013); **15**: 1001–1011.
- Buchmann J, Meyer C, Neschen S, *et al.* Ablation of the cholesterol transporter adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter G1 reduces adipose cell size and protects against diet-induced obesity. *Endocrinology* (2007); **148**: 1561–1573.
- Burns V, Sharpe LJ, Gelissen IC, et al. Species variation in ABCG1 isoform expression: Implications for the use of animal models in elucidating ABCG1 function. Atherosclerosis (2013); 226: 408– 411.
- Busetto L, Bettini S, Makaronidis J, et al. Mechanisms of weight regain. Eur. J. Intern. Med. (2021); 93: 3–7.
- Calder PC. Omega-3 fatty acids and inflammatory processes: from molecules to man. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* (2017); **45**: 1105–1115.
- Campbell KL, Foster-Schubert KE, Makar KW, *et al.* Gene expression changes in adipose tissue with diet- and/or exercise-induced weight loss. *Cancer Prev. Res. Phila. Pa* (2013); **6**: 217–231.
- Capel F, Klimcáková E, Viguerie N, *et al.* Macrophages and adipocytes in human obesity: adipose tissue gene expression and insulin sensitivity during calorie restriction and weight stabilization. *Diabetes* (2009); **58**: 1558–1567.
- Carey AL, Vorlander C, Reddy-Luthmoodoo M, *et al.* Reduced UCP-1 content in in vitro differentiated beige/brite adipocytes derived from preadipocytes of human subcutaneous white adipose tissues in obesity. *PloS One* (2014); **9**: e91997.
- Cariou B. The metabolic triad of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, visceral adiposity and type 2 diabetes: Implications for treatment. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* (2022); **24 Suppl 2**: 15–27.

- Caspar-Bauguil S, Kolditz C-I, Lefort C, *et al.* Fatty acids from fat cell lipolysis do not activate an inflammatory response but are stored as triacylglycerols in adipose tissue macrophages. *Diabetologia* (2015); **58**: 2627–2636.
- Castoldi A, Monteiro LB, van Teijlingen Bakker N, *et al.* Triacylglycerol synthesis enhances macrophage inflammatory function. *Nat. Commun.* (2020); **11**: 4107.
- Chabowski A, Górski J, Luiken JJFP, *et al.* Evidence for concerted action of FAT/CD36 and FABPpm to increase fatty acid transport across the plasma membrane. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* (2007); **77**: 345–353.
- Chakarov S, Lim HY, Tan L, *et al.* Two distinct interstitial macrophage populations coexist across tissues in specific subtissular niches. *Science* (2019); **363**: eaau0964. American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Chambers JC, Loh M, Lehne B, *et al.* Epigenome-wide association of DNA methylation markers in peripheral blood from Indian Asians and Europeans with incident type 2 diabetes: a nested case-control study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2015); **3**: 526–534. Elsevier.
- Chandak PG, Radovic B, Aflaki E, *et al.* Efficient phagocytosis requires triacylglycerol hydrolysis by adipose triglyceride lipase. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2010); **285**: 20192–20201.
- Chau JY, Grunseit A, Midthjell K, *et al.* Cross-sectional associations of total sitting and leisure screen time with cardiometabolic risk in adults. Results from the HUNT Study, Norway. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* (2014); **17**: 78–84.
- Chen I-C, Awasthi D, Hsu C-L, *et al.* High-Fat Diet-Induced Obesity Alters Dendritic Cell Homeostasis by Enhancing Mitochondrial Fatty Acid Oxidation. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 (2022); **209**: 69–76.
- Chen WM, Sheu WHH, Tseng PC, *et al.* Modulation of microRNA expression in subjects with metabolic syndrome and decrease of cholesterol efflux from macrophages via microRNA-33-mediated attenuation of ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 expression by statins. *PLoS ONE* (2016); **11**
- Cheng L, Wang J, Dai H, *et al.* Brown and beige adipose tissue: a novel therapeutic strategy for obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Adipocyte* (2021); **10**: 48–65. Taylor & Francis.
- Choi HM, Doss HM, Kim KS. Multifaceted Physiological Roles of Adiponectin in Inflammation and Diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* (2020); **21**: 1219.
- Choromańska B, Myśliwiec P, Razak Hady H, *et al.* Metabolic Syndrome is Associated with Ceramide Accumulation in Visceral Adipose Tissue of Women with Morbid Obesity. *Obesity* (2019);oby.22405.
- Clausen BE, Burkhardt C, Reith W, *et al.* Conditional gene targeting in macrophages and granulocytes using LysMcre mice. *Transgenic Res.* (1999); **8**: 265–277.
- Coats BR, Schoenfelt KQ, Barbosa-Lorenzi VC, *et al.* Metabolically Activated Adipose Tissue Macrophages Perform Detrimental and Beneficial Functions during Diet-Induced Obesity. *Cell Rep.* (2017); **20**: 3149–3161.

- Coburn CT, Knapp FF, Febbraio M, *et al.* Defective uptake and utilization of long chain fatty acids in muscle and adipose tissues of CD36 knockout mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2000); **275**: 32523–32529.
- Cohen P, Levy JD, Zhang Y, *et al.* Ablation of PRDM16 and beige adipose causes metabolic dysfunction and a subcutaneous to visceral fat switch. *Cell* (2014); **156**: 304–316.
- Cordero P, Li J, Oben JA. Epigenetics of obesity: beyond the genome sequence. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* (2015); **18**: 361–366.
- Cottam MA, Itani HA, Beasley AA, et al. Links between Immunologic Memory and Metabolic Cycling. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 (2018); **200**: 3681–3689.
- Crawford DC, Nord AS, Badzioch MD, *et al.* A common VLDLR polymorphism interacts with APOE genotype in the prediction of carotid artery disease risk. *J. Lipid Res.* (2008); **49**: 588–596. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology.
- Csige I, Ujvárosy D, Szabó Z, et al. The Impact of Obesity on the Cardiovascular System. J. Diabetes Res. (2018); 2018: 3407306.
- Cypess AM. Reassessing Human Adipose Tissue. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (ed. Ingelfinger J. R.) (2022); **386**: 768–779.
- Czech MP. Insulin action and resistance in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Nat. Med.* (2017); **23**: 804–814.
- Daffu G, Shen X, Senatus L, et al. RAGE Suppresses ABCG1-Mediated Macrophage Cholesterol Efflux in Diabetes. *Diabetes* (2015); **64**: 4046–4060.
- Dalmas E, Toubal A, Alzaid F, *et al.* Irf5 deficiency in macrophages promotes beneficial adipose tissue expansion and insulin sensitivity during obesity. *Nat. Med.* (2015); **21**: 610–618.
- Davies LC, Rosas M, Jenkins SJ, *et al.* Distinct bone marrow-derived and tissue-resident macrophage lineages proliferate at key stages during inflammation. *Nat. Commun.* (2013); **4**: 1886.
- Davis W, Tew KD. ATP-binding cassette transporter-2 (ABCA2) as a therapeutic target. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* (2018); **151**: 188–200.
- Dayeh T, Tuomi T, Almgren P, *et al.* DNA methylation of loci within ABCG1 and PHOSPHO1 in blood DNA is associated with future type 2 diabetes risk. *Epigenetics* (2016); **11**: 482–488.
- De Boer AA, Monk JM, Liddle DM, *et al.* Fish Oil-Derived Long-Chain n-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Reduce Expression of M1-Associated Macrophage Markers in an ex vivo Adipose Tissue Culture Model, in Part through Adiponectin. *Front. Nutr.* (2015); **2**
- De Roeck A, Van Broeckhoven C, Sleegers K. The role of ABCA7 in Alzheimer's disease: evidence from genomics, transcriptomics and methylomics. *Acta Neuropathol. (Berl.)* (2019); **138**: 201–220.
- De Santa F, Narang V, Yap ZH, *et al.* Jmjd3 contributes to the control of gene expression in LPSactivated macrophages. *EMBO J.* (2009); **28**: 3341–3352.
- DeBose-Boyd RA, Ye J. SREBPs in Lipid Metabolism, Insulin Signaling, and Beyond. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* (2018); **43**: 358–368.

- Demerath EW, Guan W, Grove ML, *et al.* Epigenome-wide association study (EWAS) of BMI, BMI change and waist circumference in African American adults identifies multiple replicated loci. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* (2015); **24**: 4464–4479.
- Deng Y, Park A, Zhu L, *et al.* Effect of semaglutide and liraglutide in individuals with obesity or overweight without diabetes: a systematic review. *Ther. Adv. Chronic Dis.* (2022); **13**: 20406223221108064.
- Deng Z -b., Poliakov A, Hardy RW, et al. Adipose Tissue Exosome-Like Vesicles Mediate Activation of Macrophage-Induced Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* (2009); **58**: 2498–2505.
- DePaoli AM, Higgins LS, Henry RR, *et al*. Can a selective PPARγ modulator improve glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes with fewer side effects compared with pioglitazone? *Diabetes Care* (2014); **37**: 1918–1923.
- Depuydt MAC, Prange KHM, Slenders L, *et al.* Microanatomy of the Human Atherosclerotic Plaque by Single-Cell Transcriptomics. *Circ. Res.* (2020); **127**: 1437–1455.
- Després J-P. Body Fat Distribution and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation* (2012); **126**: 1301–1313. American Heart Association.
- van Dierendonck XAMH, de la Rosa Rodriguez MA, Georgiadi A, *et al.* HILPDA Uncouples Lipid Droplet Accumulation in Adipose Tissue Macrophages from Inflammation and Metabolic Dysregulation. *Cell Rep.* (2020); **30**: 1811-1822.e6.
- van Dierendonck XAMH, Vrieling F, Smeehuijzen L, *et al.* Triglyceride breakdown from lipid droplets regulates the inflammatory response in macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (2022); **119**: e2114739119.
- Ding J, Reynolds LM, Zeller T, *et al.* Alterations of a Cellular Cholesterol Metabolism Network Are a Molecular Feature of Obesity-Related Type 2 Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease. *Diabetes* (2015); **64**: 3464–3474.
- Dodacki A, Wortman M, Saubaméa B, *et al.* Expression and function of Abcg4 in the mouse bloodbrain barrier: role in restricting the brain entry of amyloid-β peptide. *Sci. Rep.* (2017); **7**: 13393. Nature Publishing Group.
- Drareni K, Gautier J-F, Venteclef N, *et al.* Transcriptional control of macrophage polarisation in type 2 diabetes. *Semin. Immunopathol.* (2019); **41**: 515–529.
- Dubern B, Clement K. Leptin and leptin receptor-related monogenic obesity. *Biochimie* (2012); **94**: 2111–2115.
- Dubern B, Faccioli N, Poitou C, *et al.* Novel therapeutics in rare genetic obesities: A narrative review. *Pharmacol. Res.* (2023); **191**: 106763.
- Duicu C, Mărginean CO, Voidăzan S, *et al.* FTO rs 9939609 SNP Is Associated With Adiponectin and Leptin Levels and the Risk of Obesity in a Cohort of Romanian Children Population. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*) (2016); **95**: e3709.
- Duong M, Uno K, Nankivell V, *et al.* Induction of obesity impairs reverse cholesterol transport in ob/ob mice. *PloS One* (2018); **13**: e0202102.

- Ecker J, Liebisch G, Englmaier M, *et al.* Induction of fatty acid synthesis is a key requirement for phagocytic differentiation of human monocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2010); **107**: 7817–7822.
- Edgel KA, McMillen TS, Wei H, *et al.* Obesity and weight loss result in increased adipose tissue ABCG1 expression in db/db mice. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* (2012); **1821**: 425–434.
- Eissing L, Scherer T, Tödter K, *et al.* De novo lipogenesis in human fat and liver is linked to ChREBP-β and metabolic health. *Nat. Commun.* (2013); **4**: 1528.
- El Kasmi KC, Stenmark KR. Contribution of metabolic reprogramming to macrophage plasticity and function. *Semin. Immunol.* (2015); **27**: 267–275.
- Elizabeth L, Machado P, Zinöcker M, et al. Ultra-Processed Foods and Health Outcomes: A Narrative Review. *Nutrients* (2020); **12**: 1955.
- Endo-Umeda K, Kim E, Thomas DG, *et al.* Myeloid LXR (Liver X Receptor) Deficiency Induces Inflammatory Gene Expression in Foamy Macrophages and Accelerates Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2022); **42**: 719–731. American Heart Association.
- Engel T, Bode G, Lueken A, *et al.* Expression and functional characterization of ABCG1 splice variant ABCG1(666). *FEBS Lett.* (2006); **580**: 4551–4559.
- Engin AB. Adipocyte-Macrophage Cross-Talk in Obesity. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. (2017); 960: 327–343.
- Fabbrini E, Sullivan S, Klein S. Obesity and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Biochemical, Metabolic and Clinical Implications. *Hepatol. Baltim. Md* (2010); **51**: 679–689.
- Fain JN. Release of Inflammatory Mediators by Human Adipose Tissue Is Enhanced in Obesity and Primarily by the Nonfat Cells: A Review. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2010); **2010**: e513948. Hindawi.
- Fall T, Mendelson M, Speliotes EK. Recent Advances in Human Genetics and Epigenetics of Adiposity: Pathway to Precision Medicine? *Gastroenterology* (2017); **152**: 1695–1706.
- Fan R, Toubal A, Goñi S, *et al.* Loss of the co-repressor GPS2 sensitizes macrophage activation upon metabolic stress induced by obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Nat. Med.* (2016); **22**: 780–791.
- Farooqi IS. Monogenic Obesity Syndromes Provide Insights Into the Hypothalamic Regulation of Appetite and Associated Behaviors. *Biol. Psychiatry* (2022); **91**: 856–859.
- Fasshauer M, Blüher M. Adipokines in health and disease. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* (2015); **36**: 461–470. Elsevier.
- Félix I, Jokela H, Karhula J, *et al.* Single-Cell Proteomics Reveals the Defined Heterogeneity of Resident Macrophages in White Adipose Tissue. *Front. Immunol.* (2021); **12**
- Feng B, Jiao P, Nie Y, et al. Clodronate Liposomes Improve Metabolic Profile and Reduce Visceral Adipose Macrophage Content in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. PLoS ONE (ed. Chatenoud L.) (2011); 6: e24358.
- Feng B, Yao PM, Li Y, *et al.* The endoplasmic reticulum is the site of cholesterol-induced cytotoxicity in macrophages. *Nat. Cell Biol.* (2003); **5**: 781–792.

- Finucane OM, Lyons CL, Murphy AM, *et al.* Monounsaturated Fatty Acid–Enriched High-Fat Diets Impede Adipose NLRP3 Inflammasome–Mediated IL-1β Secretion and Insulin Resistance Despite Obesity. *Diabetes* (2015); **64**: 2116–2128.
- Flaherty SE, Grijalva A, Xu X, *et al.* A lipase-independent pathway of lipid release and immune modulation by adipocytes. *Science* (2019); **363**: 989–993.
- Franks PW, Christophi CA, Jablonski KA, *et al.* Common variation at PPARGC1A/B and change in body composition and metabolic traits following preventive interventions: the Diabetes Prevention Program. *Diabetologia* (2014); **57**: 485–490.
- Frayling TM, Timpson NJ, Weedon MN, *et al.* A common variant in the FTO gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. *Science* (2007); **316**: 889–894.
- Freeman SR, Jin X, Anzinger JJ, *et al.* ABCG1-mediated generation of extracellular cholesterol microdomains. *J. Lipid Res.* (2014); **55**: 115–127.
- Frisdal E, Le Goff W. Adipose ABCG1: A potential therapeutic target in obesity? *Adipocyte* (2015); **4**: 315–318.
- Frisdal E, Le Lay S, Hooton H, et al. Adipocyte ATP-Binding Cassette G1 Promotes Triglyceride Storage, Fat Mass Growth, and Human Obesity. *Diabetes* (2015); **64**: 840–855.
- Fu S, Yang L, Li P, *et al.* Aberrant lipid metabolism disrupts calcium homeostasis causing liver endoplasmic reticulum stress in obesity. *Nature* (2011); **473**: 528–531.
- Fucho R, Casals N, Serra D, et al. Ceramides and mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation in obesity. FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. (2017); **31**: 1263–1272.
- Furuyama S, Uehara Y, Zhang B, et al. Genotypic Effect of ABCG1 gene promoter -257T>G polymorphism on coronary artery disease severity in Japanese men. J. Atheroscler. Thromb. (2009); 16: 194–200.
- Gaborit B, Sengenes C, Ancel P, et al. Role of Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Health and Disease: A Matter of Fat? Compr. Physiol. (2017); 7: 1051–1082.
- Gadde KM, Martin CK, Berthoud H-R, *et al.* Obesity: Pathophysiology and Management. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* (2018); **71**: 69–84.
- Gagnon F, Aïssi D, Carrié A, *et al.* Robust validation of methylation levels association at CPT1A locus with lipid plasma levels1. *J. Lipid Res.* (2014); **55**: 1189–1191.
- Gallagher D, Heymsfield SB, Heo M, et al. Healthy percentage body fat ranges: an approach for developing guidelines based on body mass index. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. (2000); 72: 694–701.
- García-Alonso V, Titos E, Alcaraz-Quiles J, *et al.* Prostaglandin E2 Exerts Multiple Regulatory Actions on Human Obese Adipose Tissue Remodeling, Inflammation, Adaptive Thermogenesis and Lipolysis. *PLOS ONE* (ed. Bozza P. T.) (2016); **11**: e0153751.
- GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, *et al.* Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (2017); **377**: 13–27.

- Gelissen IC, Harris M, Rye K-A, et al. ABCA1 and ABCG1 synergize to mediate cholesterol export to apoA-I. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. (2006); 26: 534–540.
- Gianfrancesco MA, Dehairs J, L'homme L, *et al.* Saturated fatty acids induce NLRP3 activation in human macrophages through K+ efflux resulting from phospholipid saturation and Na, K-ATPase disruption. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* (2019); **1864**: 1017–1030.
- Ginsberg BH, Brown TJ, Simon I, *et al.* Effect of the Membrane Lipid Environment on the Properties of Insulin Receptors. *Diabetes* (1981); **30**: 773–780.
- Glass CK, Saijo K. Nuclear receptor transrepression pathways that regulate inflammation in macrophages and T cells. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* (2010); **10**: 365–376.
- Gong M, Zhuo X, Ma A. STAT6 Upregulation Promotes M2 Macrophage Polarization to Suppress Atherosclerosis. *Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res.* (2017); **23**: 240–249.
- González N, Moreno-Villegas Z, González-Bris A, *et al.* Regulation of visceral and epicardial adipose tissue for preventing cardiovascular injuries associated to obesity and diabetes. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* (2017); **16**: 44.
- Greenberg AS, Obin MS. Obesity and the role of adipose tissue in inflammation and metabolism. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* (2006); **83**: 461S-465S.
- Griffin C, Eter L, Lanzetta N, *et al.* TLR4, TRIF, and MyD88 are essential for myelopoiesis and CD11c⁺ adipose tissue macrophage production in obese mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2018); **293**: 8775–8786.
- Grijalva A, Xu X, Ferrante AW. Autophagy Is Dispensable for Macrophage-Mediated Lipid Homeostasis in Adipose Tissue. *Diabetes* (2016); **65**: 967–980.
- Guijas C, Pérez-Chacón G, Astudillo AM, *et al.* Simultaneous activation of p38 and JNK by arachidonic acid stimulates the cytosolic phospholipase A ₂ -dependent synthesis of lipid droplets in human monocytes. *J. Lipid Res.* (2012); **53**: 2343–2354.
- Guo S. Insulin signaling, resistance, and the metabolic syndrome: insights from mouse models into disease mechanisms. *J. Endocrinol.* (2014); **220**: T1–T23.
- Gupta S, Maratha A, Siednienko J, et al. Analysis of inflammatory cytokine and TLR expression levels in Type 2 Diabetes with complications. *Sci. Rep.* (2017); **7**: 7633.
- Haase J, Weyer U, Immig K, *et al.* Local proliferation of macrophages in adipose tissue during obesityinduced inflammation. *Diabetologia* (2014); **57**: 562–571.
- de la Haba C, Morros A, Martínez P, *et al.* LPS-Induced Macrophage Activation and Plasma Membrane Fluidity Changes are Inhibited Under Oxidative Stress. *J. Membr. Biol.* (2016); **249**: 789–800.
- Haemmerle G, Lass A, Zimmermann R, *et al.* Defective lipolysis and altered energy metabolism in mice lacking adipose triglyceride lipase. *Science* (2006); **312**: 734–737.
- Haka AS, Barbosa-Lorenzi VC, Lee HJ, *et al.* Exocytosis of macrophage lysosomes leads to digestion of apoptotic adipocytes and foam cell formation. *J. Lipid Res.* (2016); **57**: 980–992.

- Han MS, Jung DY, Morel C, et al. JNK Expression by Macrophages Promotes Obesity-Induced Insulin Resistance and Inflammation. *Science* (2013); **339**: 218–222.
- Harayama T, Riezman H. Understanding the diversity of membrane lipid composition. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* (2018); **19**: 281–296.
- Hardy L, Frisdal E, Le Goff W. Critical Role of the Human ATP-Binding Cassette G1 Transporter in Cardiometabolic Diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* (2017); **18**: 1892.
- Harris MT, Hussain SS, Inouye CM, *et al.* Reinterpretation of the localization of the ATP binding cassette transporter ABCG1 in insulin-secreting cells and insights regarding its trafficking and function. *PLOS ONE* (2018); **13**: e0198383. Public Library of Science.
- Hedman ÅK, Mendelson MM, Marioni RE, *et al.* Epigenetic Patterns in Blood Associated With Lipid Traits Predict Incident Coronary Heart Disease Events and Are Enriched for Results From Genome-Wide Association Studies. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet.* (2017); **10**: e001487.
- Heemskerk M, Giera M, Bouazzaoui F, et al. Increased PUFA Content and 5-Lipoxygenase Pathway Expression Are Associated with Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Obese Women with Type 2 Diabetes. Nutrients (2015); 7: 7676–7690.
- Heffron SP, Parham JS, Pendse J, *et al.* Treatment of Obesity in Mitigating Metabolic Risk. *Circ. Res.* (2020); **126**: 1646–1665.
- Hegyi Z, Hegedűs T, Homolya L. The Reentry Helix Is Potentially Involved in Cholesterol Sensing of the ABCG1 Transporter Protein. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* (2022); **23**: 13744.
- Hepler C, Gupta RK. The expanding problem of adipose depot remodeling and postnatal adipocyte progenitor recruitment. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* (2017); **445**: 95–108.
- Hernandez ED, Lee SJ, Kim JY, *et al.* A Macrophage NBR1-MEKK3 Complex Triggers JNK-Mediated Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Obesity. *Cell Metab.* (2014); **20**: 499–511.
- Hidalgo B, Irvin MR, Sha J, *et al.* Epigenome-Wide Association Study of Fasting Measures of Glucose, Insulin, and HOMA-IR in the Genetics of Lipid Lowering Drugs and Diet Network Study. *Diabetes* (2014); **63**: 801–807.
- Hildreth AD, Ma F, Wong YY, *et al.* Single-cell sequencing of human white adipose tissue identifies new cell states in health and obesity. *Nat. Immunol.* (2021); **22**: 639–653.
- Hill DA, Lim H-W, Kim YH, *et al.* Distinct macrophage populations direct inflammatory versus physiological changes in adipose tissue. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2018); **115**: E5096–E5105.
- Hill JO, Wyatt HR, Peters JC. Energy Balance and Obesity. *Circulation* (2012); **126**: 126–132. American Heart Association.
- Hirosumi J, Tuncman G, Chang L, *et al*. A central role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. *Nature* (2002); **420**: 333–336.
- Hishikawa D, Hashidate T, Shimizu T, *et al.* Diversity and function of membrane glycerophospholipids generated by the remodeling pathway in mammalian cells. *J. Lipid Res.* (2014); **55**: 799–807.

- Hoffstedt J, Andersson DP, Eriksson Hogling D, *et al.* Long-term Protective Changes in Adipose Tissue After Gastric Bypass. *Diabetes Care* (2017); **40**: 77–84.
- Holstege H, Hulsman M, Charbonnier C, *et al.* Exome sequencing identifies rare damaging variants in ATP8B4 and ABCA1 as risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Genet.* (2022); **54**: 1786–1794. Nature Publishing Group.
- Horrillo R, González-Périz A, Martínez-Clemente M, *et al.* 5-Lipoxygenase Activating Protein Signals Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Lipid Dysfunction in Experimental Obesity. *J. Immunol.* (2010); **184**: 3978–3987.
- Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* (1993); **259**: 87–91.
- Hresko RC, Kraft TE, Quigley A, *et al.* Mammalian Glucose Transporter Activity Is Dependent upon Anionic and Conical Phospholipids. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2016); **291**: 17271–17282.
- Hsieh W-Y, Zhou QD, York AG, *et al.* Toll-Like Receptors Induce Signal-Specific Reprogramming of the Macrophage Lipidome. *Cell Metab.* (2020); **32**: 128-143.e5.
- Huang J-K, Lee H-C. Emerging Evidence of Pathological Roles of Very-Low-Density Lipoprotein (VLDL). Int. J. Mol. Sci. (2022); 23: 4300.
- Huang SC-C, Everts B, Ivanova Y, et al. Cell-intrinsic lysosomal lipolysis is essential for alternative activation of macrophages. *Nat. Immunol.* (2014); **15**: 846–855.
- Hussain SS, Harris MT, Kreutzberger AJB, *et al.* Control of insulin granule formation and function by the ABC transporters ABCG1 and ABCA1 and by oxysterol binding protein OSBP. *Mol. Biol. Cell* (2018); **29**: 1238–1257.
- Ibrahim MM. Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: structural and functional differences. *Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes.* (2010); **11**: 11–18.
- Im D-S. Functions of omega-3 fatty acids and FFA4 (GPR120) in macrophages. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* (2016); **785**: 36–43.
- Ioannidou A, Fisher RM, Hagberg CE. The multifaceted roles of the adipose tissue vasculature. *Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes.* (2022); **23**: e13403.
- Ito A, Hong C, Rong X, *et al.* LXRs link metabolism to inflammation through Abca1-dependent regulation of membrane composition and TLR signaling. *eLife* (2015); **4**: e08009.
- Ito A, Suganami T, Yamauchi A, *et al.* Role of CC chemokine receptor 2 in bone marrow cells in the recruitment of macrophages into obese adipose tissue. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2008); **283**: 35715–35723.
- Jaitin DA, Adlung L, Thaiss CA, *et al.* Lipid-Associated Macrophages Control Metabolic Homeostasis in a Trem2-Dependent Manner. *Cell* (2019); **178**: 686-698.e14.
- Jalil A, Bourgeois T, Ménégaut L, *et al.* Revisiting the Role of LXRs in PUFA Metabolism and Phospholipid Homeostasis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* (2019); **20**: 3787.
- Jia R, Luo X-Q, Wang G, *et al.* Characterization of cold-induced remodelling reveals depot-specific differences across and within brown and white adipose tissues in mice. *Acta Physiol. Oxf. Engl.* (2016); **217**: 311–324.
- Jiang S, Cai Q, Zhang D, *et al.* Effect of ABCG1 gene DNA methylations on the lipid-lowering efficacy of simvastatin. *Pharmacogenomics* (2021); **22**: 27–39. Future Medicine.
- Johansson LE, Danielsson AP, Parikh H, et al. Differential gene expression in adipose tissue from obese human subjects during weight loss and weight maintenance. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. (2012); 96: 196–207. Elsevier.
- Johnson JD. On the causal relationships between hyperinsulinaemia, insulin resistance, obesity and dysglycaemia in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* (2021); **64**: 2138–2146.
- Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* (2006); **444**: 840–846. Nature Publishing Group.
- Kalaany NY, Gauthier KC, Zavacki AM, *et al.* LXRs regulate the balance between fat storage and oxidation. *Cell Metab.* (2005); **1**: 231–244.
- Karczewski J, Śledzińska E, Baturo A, et al. Obesity and inflammation. Eur. Cytokine Netw. (2018); 29: 83–94.
- Katiraei S, Hoving LR, van Beek L, *et al.* BMT decreases HFD-induced weight gain associated with decreased preadipocyte number and insulin secretion. *PloS One* (2017); **12**: e0175524.
- Kauerova S, Bartuskova H, Muffova B, et al. Statins Directly Influence the Polarization of Adipose
 Tissue Macrophages: A Role in Chronic Inflammation. *Biomedicines* (2021); 9: 211.
 Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Kawai T, Autieri MV, Scalia R. Adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic dysfunction in obesity. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* (2021); **320**: C375–C391.
- Kayser BD, Lhomme M, Prifti E, et al. Phosphatidylglycerols are induced by gut dysbiosis and inflammation, and favorably modulate adipose tissue remodeling in obesity. FASEB J. (2019);
 33: 4741–4754.
- Kenchaiah S, Evans JC, Levy D, *et al.* Obesity and the Risk of Heart Failure. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (2002); **347**: 305–313. Massachusetts Medical Society.
- Kennedy DJ, Kuchibhotla S, Westfall KM, *et al.* A CD36-dependent pathway enhances macrophage and adipose tissue inflammation and impairs insulin signalling. *Cardiovasc. Res.* (2011); **89**: 604–613.
- Kennedy MA, Barrera GC, Nakamura K, *et al.* ABCG1 has a critical role in mediating cholesterol efflux to HDL and preventing cellular lipid accumulation. *Cell Metab.* (2005); **1**: 121–131.
- Khamis A, Boutry R, Canouil M, et al. Histone deacetylase 9 promoter hypomethylation associated with adipocyte dysfunction is a statin-related metabolic effect. *Clin. Epigenetics* (2020); 12: 68.
- Khanna D, Khanna S, Khanna P, *et al.* Obesity: A Chronic Low-Grade Inflammation and Its Markers. *Cureus* (2022); **14**: e22711.

- Kiss M, Porsch F, Göderle L, *et al.* Hematopoietic Trem2 Deficiency Increases Plasma Cholesterol And Triglyceride Levels And Aggravates Atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* (2019); **287**: e11. Elsevier.
- Kobayashi A, Takanezawa Y, Hirata T, *et al.* Efflux of sphingomyelin, cholesterol, and phosphatidylcholine by ABCG1. *J. Lipid Res.* (2006); **47**: 1791–1802.
- Kratz M, Coats BR, Hisert KB, et al. Metabolic Dysfunction Drives a Mechanistically Distinct
 Proinflammatory Phenotype in Adipose Tissue Macrophages. Cell Metab. (2014); 20: 614–625.
- Kruit JK, Wijesekara N, Fox JEM, *et al.* Islet cholesterol accumulation due to loss of ABCA1 leads to impaired exocytosis of insulin granules. *Diabetes* (2011); **60**: 3186–3196.
- Kruit JK, Wijesekara N, Westwell-Roper C, et al. Loss of both ABCA1 and ABCG1 results in increased disturbances in islet sterol homeostasis, inflammation, and impaired β-cell function. Diabetes (2012); 61: 659–664.
- Ku CS, Park Y, Coleman SL, *et al.* Unsaturated fatty acids repress expression of ATP binding cassette transporter A1 and G1 in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* (2012); **23**: 1271–1276.
- Kucuk S, Niven J, Caamano J, et al. Unwrapping the mechanisms of ceramide and fatty acid-initiated signals leading to immune-inflammatory responses in obesity. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. (2021); 135: 105972.
- Kulkarni H, Kos MZ, Neary J, et al. Novel epigenetic determinants of type 2 diabetes in Mexican-American families. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* (2015); **24**: 5330–5344.
- Kusminski CM, Bickel PE, Scherer PE. Targeting adipose tissue in the treatment of obesity-associated diabetes. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* (2016); **15**: 639–660.
- Lai C-Q, Parnell LD, Lee Y-C, *et al.* The impact of alcoholic drinks and dietary factors on epigenetic markers associated with triglyceride levels. *Front. Genet.* (2023); **14**: 1117778.
- Lammers B, Out R, Hildebrand RB, *et al.* Independent protective roles for macrophage Abcg1 and Apoe in the atherosclerotic lesion development. *Atherosclerosis* (2009); **205**: 420–426.
- Lancaster GI, Langley KG, Berglund NA, *et al.* Evidence that TLR4 Is Not a Receptor for Saturated Fatty Acids but Mediates Lipid-Induced Inflammation by Reprogramming Macrophage Metabolism. *Cell Metab.* (2018); **27**: 1096-1110.e5.
- Lee J-M, Govindarajah V, Goddard B, *et al.* Obesity alters the long-term fitness of the hematopoietic stem cell compartment through modulation of Gfi1 expression. *J. Exp. Med.* (2018); **215**: 627–644.
- Lee Y-C, Christensen JJ, Parnell LD, *et al.* Using Machine Learning to Predict Obesity Based on Genome-Wide and Epigenome-Wide Gene-Gene and Gene-Diet Interactions. *Front. Genet.* (2021); **12**: 783845.
- Lee YS, Li P, Huh JY, *et al.* Inflammation Is Necessary for Long-Term but Not Short-Term High-Fat Diet–Induced Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* (2011); **60**: 2474–2483.

- LeMieux MJ, Kalupahana NS, Scoggin S, *et al.* Eicosapentaenoic Acid Reduces Adipocyte Hypertrophy and Inflammation in Diet-Induced Obese Mice in an Adiposity-Independent Manner. *J. Nutr.* (2015); **145**: 411–417.
- Lette M, Bemelmans WJE, Breda J, *et al.* Health care costs attributable to overweight calculated in a standardized way for three European countries. *Eur. J. Health Econ. HEPAC Health Econ. Prev. Care* (2016); **17**: 61–69.
- Li F, Zhang H. Lysosomal Acid Lipase in Lipid Metabolism and Beyond. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2019); **39**: 850–856.
- Li M, Chi X, Wang Y, *et al.* Trends in insulin resistance: insights into mechanisms and therapeutic strategy. *Signal Transduct. Target. Ther.* (2022a); **7**: 1–25. Nature Publishing Group.
- Li P, Lu M, Nguyen MTA, *et al.* Functional heterogeneity of CD11c-positive adipose tissue macrophages in diet-induced obese mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2010); **285**: 15333–15345.
- Li P, Oh DY, Bandyopadhyay G, *et al.* LTB4 promotes insulin resistance in obese mice by acting on macrophages, hepatocytes and myocytes. *Nat. Med.* (2015a); **21**: 239–247.
- Li P, Spann NJ, Kaikkonen MU, *et al.* NCoR Repression of LXRs Restricts Macrophage Biosynthesis of Insulin-Sensitizing Omega 3 Fatty Acids. *Cell* (2013); **155**: 200–214.
- Li Q, Liu X, Zhu R, *et al.* Association of ATP-Binding Cassette Transporter G1 Polymorphisms with Risk of Ischemic Stroke in the Chinese Han Population. *J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. Off. J. Natl. Stroke Assoc.* (2015b); **24**: 1397–1404.
- Li Z, Agellon LB, Allen TM, *et al.* The ratio of phosphatidylcholine to phosphatidylethanolamine influences membrane integrity and steatohepatitis. *Cell Metab.* (2006); **3**: 321–331.
- Li Z, Lei H, Jiang H, *et al.* Saturated fatty acid biomarkers and risk of cardiometabolic diseases: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Front. Nutr.* (2022b); **9**: 963471.
- Lima EA, Silveira LS, Masi LN, *et al.* Macadamia Oil Supplementation Attenuates Inflammation and Adipocyte Hypertrophy in Obese Mice. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2014); **2014**: 1–9.
- Lindhorst A, Raulien N, Wieghofer P, *et al.* Adipocyte death triggers a pro-inflammatory response and induces metabolic activation of resident macrophages. *Cell Death Dis.* (2021); **12**: 1–15. Nature Publishing Group.
- Lindström P. The Physiology of Obese-Hyperglycemic Mice [*ob/ob* Mice]. *Sci. World J.* (2007); **7**: 666–685. Hindawi.
- Lionetti L, Mollica MP, Lombardi A, *et al.* From chronic overnutrition to insulin resistance: the role of fat-storing capacity and inflammation. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. NMCD* (2009); **19**: 146–152.
- Lipke K, Kubis-Kubiak A, Piwowar A. Molecular Mechanism of Lipotoxicity as an Interesting Aspect in the Development of Pathological States—Current View of Knowledge. *Cells* (2022); **11**: 844. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Liu C, Li P, Li H, *et al.* TREM2 regulates obesity-induced insulin resistance via adipose tissue remodeling in mice of high-fat feeding. *J. Transl. Med.* (2019); **17**: 300.

- Liu F, Wang W, Xu Y, *et al.* ABCG1 rs57137919G>a polymorphism is functionally associated with varying gene expression and apoptosis of macrophages. *PloS One* (2014); **9**: e97044.
- Liu Y, Shen Y, Guo T, *et al.* Statin Use Associates With Risk of Type 2 Diabetes via Epigenetic Patterns at ABCG1. *Front. Genet.* (2020); **11**: 622.
- Locati M, Curtale G, Mantovani A. Diversity, Mechanisms, and Significance of Macrophage Plasticity. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* (2020); **15**: 123–147.
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J. Clin. Invest. (2007); **117**: 175–184.
- Lumeng CN, DelProposto JB, Westcott DJ, *et al.* Phenotypic switching of adipose tissue macrophages with obesity is generated by spatiotemporal differences in macrophage subtypes. *Diabetes* (2008); **57**: 3239–3246.
- Luo J, Yang H, Song B-L. Mechanisms and regulation of cholesterol homeostasis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* (2020); **21**: 225–245. Nature Publishing Group.
- Luo L, Liu M. Adipose tissue in control of metabolism. J. Endocrinol. (2016); 231: R77–R99.
- Malik VS, Willett WC, Hu FB. Global obesity: trends, risk factors and policy implications. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* (2013); **9**: 13–27. Nature Publishing Group.
- Maniyadath B, Zhang Q, Gupta RK, et al. Adipose tissue at single-cell resolution. *Cell Metab.* (2023); **35**: 386–413.
- Maranghi M, Truglio G, Gallo A, *et al*. A novel splicing mutation in the ABCA1 gene, causing Tangier disease and familial HDL deficiency in a large family. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* (2019); **508**: 487–493.
- van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Vanhommerig JW, Smulders NM, *et al.* Cold-activated brown adipose tissue in healthy men. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (2009); **360**: 1500–1508.
- Martinez-Perez C, San-Cristobal R, Guallar-Castillon P, *et al.* Use of Different Food Classification Systems to Assess the Association between Ultra-Processed Food Consumption and Cardiometabolic Health in an Elderly Population with Metabolic Syndrome (PREDIMED-Plus Cohort). *Nutrients* (2021); **13**: 2471.
- Mason RP, Jacob RF, Shrivastava S, *et al.* Eicosapentaenoic acid reduces membrane fluidity, inhibits cholesterol domain formation, and normalizes bilayer width in atherosclerotic-like model membranes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Biomembr.* (2016); **1858**: 3131–3140.
- Massier L, Jalkanen J, Elmastas M, *et al.* An integrated single cell and spatial transcriptomic map of human white adipose tissue. *Nat. Commun.* (2023); **14**: 1438. Nature Publishing Group.
- Mauerer R, Ebert S, Langmann T. High glucose, unsaturated and saturated fatty acids differentially regulate expression of ATP-binding cassette transporters ABCA1 and ABCG1 in human macrophages. *Exp. Mol. Med.* (2009); **41**: 126–132.
- Mauldin JP, Nagelin MH, Wojcik AJ, *et al.* Reduced expression of ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 increases cholesterol accumulation in macrophages of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Circulation* (2008); **117**: 2785–2792.

- Mauldin JP, Srinivasan S, Mulya A, *et al.* Reduction in ABCG1 in Type 2 diabetic mice increases macrophage foam cell formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2006); **281**: 21216–21224.
- Maxfield FR, Barbosa-Lorenzi VC, Singh RK. Digestive exophagy: Phagocyte digestion of objects too large for phagocytosis. *Traffic* (2020); **21**: 6–12.
- Mazaheri-Tehrani S, Khoshhali M, Heidari-Beni M, *et al.* A systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies on the effects of epigenetic factors on serum triglycerides. *Arch. Endocrinol. Metab.* (2022); **66**: 407–419.
- Mazri FH, Manaf ZA, Shahar S, *et al.* Development and Evaluation of Integrated Chrono-Nutrition Weight Reduction Program among Overweight/Obese with Morning and Evening Chronotypes. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health* (2022); **19**: 4469.
- Meikle PJ, Wong G, Barlow CK, *et al.* Plasma Lipid Profiling Shows Similar Associations with Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes. *PLoS ONE* (ed. Maya-Monteiro C. M.) (2013); **8**: e74341.
- Merkel M, Kako Y, Radner H, *et al.* Catalytically inactive lipoprotein lipase expression in muscle of transgenic mice increases very low density lipoprotein uptake: direct evidence that lipoprotein lipase bridging occurs in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (1998); **95**: 13841–13846.
- Meurs I, Lammers B, Zhao Y, *et al.* The effect of ABCG1 deficiency on atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptor knockout mice depends on the stage of atherogenesis. *Atherosclerosis* (2012); **221**: 41–47.
- Miroshnikova VV, Panteleeva AA, Pobozheva IA, *et al.* ABCA1 and ABCG1 DNA methylation in epicardial adipose tissue of patients with coronary artery disease. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* (2021); **21**: 566.
- Monteiro L de B, Prodonoff JS, Favero de Aguiar C, *et al.* Leptin Signaling Suppression in Macrophages Improves Immunometabolic Outcomes in Obesity. *Diabetes* (2022); **71**: 1546–1561.
- Morigny P, Boucher J, Arner P, *et al.* Lipid and glucose metabolism in white adipocytes: pathways, dysfunction and therapeutics. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* (2021); **17**: 276–295.
- Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* (2008); **8**: 958–969.
- Muir LA, Kiridena S, Griffin C, *et al.* Frontline Science: Rapid adipose tissue expansion triggers unique proliferation and lipid accumulation profiles in adipose tissue macrophages. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* (2018); **103**: 615–628.
- Münzberg H, Flier JS, Bjørbaek C. Region-specific leptin resistance within the hypothalamus of dietinduced obese mice. *Endocrinology* (2004); **145**: 4880–4889.
- Nagareddy PR, Kraakman M, Masters SL, et al. Adipose Tissue Macrophages Promote Myelopoiesis and Monocytosis in Obesity. Cell Metab. (2014); **19**: 821–835.
- Nawaz A, Fujisaka S, Kado T, *et al.* Heterogeneity of adipose tissue-resident macrophages-beyond M1/M2 paradigm. *Diabetol. Int.* (2023); **14**: 125–133.

- Nijhawans P, Behl T, Bhardwaj S. Angiogenesis in obesity. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* (2020); **126**: 110103.
- Noria SF, Shelby RD, Atkins KD, *et al.* Weight Regain After Bariatric Surgery: Scope of the Problem, Causes, Prevention, and Treatment. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* (2023); **23**: 31–42.
- Obradovic M, Sudar-Milovanovic E, Soskic S, *et al.* Leptin and Obesity: Role and Clinical Implication. *Front. Endocrinol.* (2021); **12**
- Ochoa-Rosales C, Portilla-Fernandez E, Nano J, *et al.* Epigenetic Link Between Statin Therapy and Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2020); **43**: 875–884.
- Oh DY, Talukdar S, Bae EJ, et al. GPR120 Is an Omega-3 Fatty Acid Receptor Mediating Potent Antiinflammatory and Insulin-Sensitizing Effects. Cell (2010); **142**: 687–698.
- Oh HJ, Lee S, Park P-H. ER stress contributes to autophagy induction by adiponectin in macrophages: Implication in cell survival and suppression of inflammatory response. *Cytokine* (2020); **127**: 154959.
- Oishi Y, Spann NJ, Link VM, *et al.* SREBP1 Contributes to Resolution of Pro-inflammatory TLR4 Signaling by Reprogramming Fatty Acid Metabolism. *Cell Metab.* (2017); **25**: 412–427.
- Olivier M, BottG R, Frisdal E, *et al.* ABCG1 is involved in vitamin E efflux. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* (2014); **1841**: 1741–1751.
- Olivier M, Tanck MW, Out R, *et al.* Human ATP–Binding Cassette G1 Controls Macrophage Lipoprotein Lipase Bioavailability and Promotes Foam Cell Formation. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2012); **32**: 2223–2231.
- Olzmann JA, Carvalho P. Dynamics and functions of lipid droplets. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* (2019); **20**: 137–155.
- O'Reilly ME, Kajani S, Ralston JC, *et al.* Nutritionally Derived Metabolic Cues Typical of the Obese Microenvironment Increase Cholesterol Efflux Capacity of Adipose Tissue Macrophages. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* (2019); **63**: 1800713.
- Orliaguet L, Ejlalmanesh T, Alzaid F. Metabolic and Molecular Mechanisms of Macrophage Polarisation and Adipose Tissue Insulin Resistance. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* (2020); **21**: 5731.
- Orliaguet L, Ejlalmanesh T, Humbert A, *et al.* Early macrophage response to obesity encompasses Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 regulated mitochondrial architecture remodelling. *Nat. Commun.* (2022); **13**: 5089.
- Orr JS, Kennedy A, Anderson-Baucum EK, *et al.* Obesity alters adipose tissue macrophage iron content and tissue iron distribution. *Diabetes* (2014); **63**: 421–432.
- Ouimet M, Franklin V, Mak E, *et al.* Autophagy Regulates Cholesterol Efflux from Macrophage Foam Cells via Lysosomal Acid Lipase. *Cell Metab.* (2011); **13**: 655–667.
- Out R, Hoekstra M, Habets K, *et al.* Combined deletion of macrophage ABCA1 and ABCG1 leads to massive lipid accumulation in tissue macrophages and distinct atherosclerosis at relatively low plasma cholesterol levels. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2008); **28**: 258–264.

- Out R, Hoekstra M, Hildebrand RB, *et al.* Macrophage ABCG1 deletion disrupts lipid homeostasis in alveolar macrophages and moderately influences atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptor-deficient mice. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2006); **26**: 2295–2300.
- Pandzic E, Gelissen IC, Whan R, *et al.* The ATP binding cassette transporter, ABCG1, localizes to cortical actin filaments. *Sci. Rep.* (2017); **7**: 42025.
- Panteleeva AA, Razgildina ND, Brovin DL, *et al.* The Expression of Genes Encoding ABCA1 and ABCG1 Transporters and PPARγ, LXRβ, and RORα Transcriptional Factors in Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue in Women with Metabolic Syndrome. *Mol. Biol. (Mosk.)* (2021); **55**: 64–74.
- Park J-W, Park W-J, Kuperman Y, et al. Ablation of very long acyl chain sphingolipids causes hepatic insulin resistance in mice due to altered detergent-resistant membranes. *Hepatology* (2013); 57: 525–532.
- Pasarica M, Sereda OR, Redman LM, *et al.* Reduced adipose tissue oxygenation in human obesity: evidence for rarefaction, macrophage chemotaxis, and inflammation without an angiogenic response. *Diabetes* (2009); **58**: 718–725.
- Patsouris D, Li P-P, Thapar D, et al. Ablation of CD11c-Positive Cells Normalizes Insulin Sensitivity in Obese Insulin Resistant Animals. *Cell Metab.* (2008); **8**: 301–309.
- Pecht T, Haim Y, Bashan N, *et al.* Circulating Blood Monocyte Subclasses and Lipid-Laden Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Human Obesity. *PLOS ONE* (ed. Sethi J. K.) (2016); **11**: e0159350.
- Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Baker MB, *et al.* Effects of the obese Gene Product on Body Weight Regulation in ob/ob Mice. *Science* (1995); **269**: 540–543. American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Peng P, Wang L, Yang X, *et al.* A preliminary study of the relationship between promoter methylation of the ABCG1, GALNT2 and HMGCR genes and coronary heart disease. *PloS One* (2014); **9**: e102265.
- Pereira MA, Kartashov AI, Ebbeling CB, *et al.* Fast-food habits, weight gain, and insulin resistance (the CARDIA study): 15-year prospective analysis. *Lancet Lond. Engl.* (2005); **365**: 36–42.
- Pereira S, Cline DL, Glavas MM, et al. Tissue-Specific Effects of Leptin on Glucose and Lipid Metabolism. *Endocr. Rev.* (2021); **42**: 1–28.
- Pérez R, Matabosch X, Llebaria A, *et al.* Blockade of arachidonic acid incorporation into phospholipids induces apoptosis in U937 promonocytic cells. *J. Lipid Res.* (2006); **47**: 484–491.
- Petersen A-K, Zeilinger S, Kastenmüller G, *et al.* Epigenetics meets metabolomics: an epigenomewide association study with blood serum metabolic traits. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* (2014); **23**: 534– 545.
- Petkevicius K, Virtue S, Bidault G, *et al.* Accelerated phosphatidylcholine turnover in macrophages promotes adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *eLife* (2019); **8**
- Pietiläinen KH, Róg T, Seppänen-Laakso T, *et al.* Association of Lipidome Remodeling in the Adipocyte Membrane with Acquired Obesity in Humans. *PLoS Biol.* (ed. Tieleman D. P.) (2011); **9**: e1000623.

- Poledne R, Malinska H, Kubatova H, *et al.* Polarization of Macrophages in Human Adipose Tissue is Related to the Fatty Acid Spectrum in Membrane Phospholipids. *Nutrients* (2019); **12**: 8.
- Powell-Wiley TM, Poirier P, Burke LE, *et al.* Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2021); **143**: e984–e1010. American Heart Association.
- Powrie JK, Shojaee-Moradie F, Watts GF, *et al.* Effects of chloroquine on the dyslipidemia of noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* (1993); **42**: 415–419.
- Prieur X, Mok CYL, Velagapudi VR, *et al.* Differential Lipid Partitioning Between Adipocytes and Tissue Macrophages Modulates Macrophage Lipotoxicity and M2/M1 Polarization in Obese Mice. *Diabetes* (2011); **60**: 797–809.
- Radovic B, Aflaki E, Kratky D. Adipose triglyceride lipase in immune response, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. *Biol. Chem.* (2012); **393**: 1005–1011.
- Raichur S, Brunner B, Bielohuby M, *et al.* The role of C16:0 ceramide in the development of obesity and type 2 diabetes: CerS6 inhibition as a novel therapeutic approach. *Mol. Metab.* (2019);
 21: 36–50.
- Rajpopat S, Moss C, Mellerio J, *et al.* Harlequin ichthyosis: a review of clinical and molecular findings in 45 cases. *Arch. Dermatol.* (2011); **147**: 681–686.
- Ramakrishnan VM, Boyd NL. The Adipose Stromal Vascular Fraction as a Complex Cellular Source for Tissue Engineering Applications. *Tissue Eng. Part B Rev.* (2018); **24**: 289–299.
- Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, *et al.* Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. *Science* (2013); **341**: 1241214.
- Rogero M, Calder P. Obesity, Inflammation, Toll-Like Receptor 4 and Fatty Acids. *Nutrients* (2018); **10**: 432.
- Rombaldova M, Janovska P, Kopecky J, *et al.* Omega-3 fatty acids promote fatty acid utilization and production of pro-resolving lipid mediators in alternatively activated adipose tissue macrophages. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* (2017); **490**: 1080–1085.
- Romieu I, Dossus L, Barquera S, *et al.* Energy balance and obesity: what are the main drivers? *Cancer Causes Control* (2017); **28**: 247–258.
- Rossetti L, Massillon D, Barzilai N, et al. Short term effects of leptin on hepatic gluconeogenesis and in vivo insulin action. J. Biol. Chem. (1997); **272**: 27758–27763.
- Roy P, Orecchioni M, Ley K. How the immune system shapes atherosclerosis: roles of innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* (2022); **22**: 251–265.
- Russo L, Lumeng CN. Properties and functions of adipose tissue macrophages in obesity. *Immunology* (2018); **155**: 407–417.
- Rust S, Rosier M, Funke H, *et al.* Tangier disease is caused by mutations in the gene encoding ATPbinding cassette transporter 1. *Nat. Genet.* (1999); **22**: 352–355. Nature Publishing Group.

- Ruysschaert J-M, Lonez C. Role of lipid microdomains in TLR-mediated signalling. *Biochim. Biophys.* Acta BBA Biomembr. (2015); **1848**: 1860–1867.
- Ryan DH, Kahan S. Guideline Recommendations for Obesity Management. *Med. Clin. North Am.* (2018); **102**: 49–63.
- Saely CH, Geiger K, Drexel H. Brown versus white adipose tissue: a mini-review. *Gerontology* (2012); **58**: 15–23.
- Salen G, Horak I, Rothkopf M, et al. Lethal atherosclerosis associated with abnormal plasma and tissue sterol composition in sitosterolemia with xanthomatosis. J. Lipid Res. (1985); 26: 1126– 1133.
- Saltiel AR, Olefsky JM. Inflammatory mechanisms linking obesity and metabolic disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2017); **127**: 1–4.
- Sanchez-Gurmaches J, Hung C-M, Guertin DA. Emerging Complexities in Adipocyte Origins and Identity. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2016); **26**: 313–326.
- Sano O, Kobayashi A, Nagao K, *et al.* Sphingomyelin-dependence of cholesterol efflux mediated by ABCG1. *J. Lipid Res.* (2007); **48**: 2377–2384.
- Sargolzaei J, Chamani E, Kazemi T, *et al.* The role of adiponectin and adipolin as anti-inflammatory adipokines in the formation of macrophage foam cells and their association with cardiovascular diseases. *Clin. Biochem.* (2018); **54**: 1–10.
- Sárvári AK, Van Hauwaert EL, Markussen LK, *et al.* Plasticity of Epididymal Adipose Tissue in Response to Diet-Induced Obesity at Single-Nucleus Resolution. *Cell Metab.* (2021); **33**: 437-453.e5.
- Sato H, Taketomi Y, Miki Y, *et al.* Secreted Phospholipase PLA2G2D Contributes to Metabolic Health by Mobilizing ω3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids in WAT. *Cell Rep.* (2020); **31**: 107579.
- Savary S, Denizot F, Luciani M, *et al.* Molecular cloning of a mammalian ABC transporter homologous to Drosophila white gene. *Mamm. Genome Off. J. Int. Mamm. Genome Soc.* (1996); **7**: 673–676.
- Schilling JD, Machkovech HM, He L, *et al.* Palmitate and Lipopolysaccharide Trigger Synergistic Ceramide Production in Primary Macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2013); **288**: 2923–2932.
- Schipper HS, Nuboer R, Prop S, *et al.* Systemic inflammation in childhood obesity: circulating inflammatory mediators and activated CD14++ monocytes. *Diabetologia* (2012); **55**: 2800–2810.
- Schlager S, Vujic N, Korbelius M, *et al.* Lysosomal lipid hydrolysis provides substrates for lipid mediator synthesis in murine macrophages. *Oncotarget* (2017); **8**
- Schmidl C, Renner K, Peter K, *et al.* Transcription and enhancer profiling in human monocyte subsets. *Blood* (2014); **123**: e90–e99.
- Schou J, Frikke-Schmidt R, Kardassis D, *et al.* Genetic variation in ABCG1 and risk of myocardial infarction and ischemic heart disease. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2012); **32**: 506–515.

- Seimon TA, Nadolski MJ, Liao X, et al. Atherogenic Lipids and Lipoproteins Trigger CD36-TLR2-Dependent Apoptosis in Macrophages Undergoing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. Cell Metab. (2010); 12: 467–482.
- Serbulea V, Upchurch CM, Ahern KW, *et al.* Macrophages sensing oxidized DAMPs reprogram their metabolism to support redox homeostasis and inflammation through a TLR2-Syk-ceramide dependent mechanism. *Mol. Metab.* (2018a); **7**: 23–34.
- Serbulea V, Upchurch CM, Schappe MS, *et al.* Macrophage phenotype and bioenergetics are controlled by oxidized phospholipids identified in lean and obese adipose tissue. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2018b); **115**: E6254–E6263.
- Sezgin E, Levental I, Mayor S, *et al.* The mystery of membrane organization: composition, regulation and roles of lipid rafts. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* (2017); **18**: 361–374.
- Shanik MH, Xu Y, Skrha J, *et al.* Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia: is hyperinsulinemia the cart or the horse? *Diabetes Care* (2008); **31 Suppl 2**: S262-268.
- Shapiro H, Pecht T, Shaco-Levy R, et al. Adipose Tissue Foam Cells Are Present in Human Obesity. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. (2013); **98**: 1173–1181.
- Sharif O, Brunner JS, Korosec A, *et al.* Beneficial Metabolic Effects of TREM2 in Obesity Are Uncoupled From Its Expression on Macrophages. *Diabetes* (2021); **70**: 2042–2057.
- Sharma M, Boytard L, Hadi T, *et al.* Enhanced glycolysis and HIF-1α activation in adipose tissue macrophages sustains local and systemic interleukin-1β production in obesity. *Sci. Rep.* (2020); **10**: 5555.
- Shen S-Q, Yan X-W, Li P-T, *et al.* Analysis of differential gene expression by RNA-seq data in ABCG1 knockout mice. *Gene* (2019); **689**: 24–33.
- Shen Z, Ma Y, Ji Z, *et al.* Arachidonic acid induces macrophage cell cycle arrest through the JNK signaling pathway. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2018); **17**: 26.
- Shi H, Kokoeva MV, Inouye K, et al. TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid–induced insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. (2006); **116**: 3015–3025.
- Shi Y, Lv X, Liu Y, et al. Elevating ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 improves re-endothelialization function of endothelial progenitor cells via Lyn/Akt/eNOS in diabetic mice. FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. (2018); 32: 6525–6536.
- Shi Z, Tian Y, Zhao Z, *et al.* Association between the ABCA1 (R219K) polymorphism and lipid profiles: a meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* (2021); **11**: 21718.
- Shimano H, Sato R. SREBP-regulated lipid metabolism: convergent physiology divergent pathophysiology. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* (2017); **13**: 710–730.
- Shin KC, Hwang I, Choe SS, et al. Macrophage VLDLR mediates obesity-induced insulin resistance with adipose tissue inflammation. *Nat. Commun.* (2017); **8**
- Shin S, El-Sabbagh AS, Lukas BE, *et al.* Adipose stem cells in obesity: challenges and opportunities. *Biosci. Rep.* (2020); **40**: BSR20194076.

- Siklova-Vitkova M, Klimcakova E, Polak J, *et al.* Adipose tissue secretion and expression of adipocyteproduced and stromavascular fraction-produced adipokines vary during multiple phases of weight-reducing dietary intervention in obese women. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* (2012); **97**: E1176-1181.
- Silva HM, Báfica A, Rodrigues-Luiz GF, *et al.* Vasculature-associated fat macrophages readily adapt to inflammatory and metabolic challenges. *J. Exp. Med.* (2019); **216**: 786–806.
- Silva KR, Côrtes I, Liechocki S, *et al.* Characterization of stromal vascular fraction and adipose stem cells from subcutaneous, preperitoneal and visceral morbidly obese human adipose tissue depots. *PloS One* (2017); **12**: e0174115.
- Silva KR, Liechocki S, Carneiro JR, *et al.* Stromal-vascular fraction content and adipose stem cell behavior are altered in morbid obese and post bariatric surgery ex-obese women. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* (2015); **6**: 72.
- Simard JR, Kamp F, Hamilton JA. Measuring the adsorption of Fatty acids to phospholipid vesicles by multiple fluorescence probes. *Biophys. J.* (2008); **94**: 4493–4503.
- Simopoulos AP. An Increase in the Omega-6/Omega-3 Fatty Acid Ratio Increases the Risk for Obesity. *Nutrients* (2016); 8: 128.
- Singh R, Kaushik S, Wang Y, et al. Autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. Nature (2009); **458**: 1131–1135.
- Sivapalaratnam S, Basart H, Watkins NA, et al. Monocyte gene expression signature of patients with early onset coronary artery disease. *PloS One* (2012); **7**: e32166.
- Skarda L, Kowal J, Locher KP. Structure of the Human Cholesterol Transporter ABCG1. J. Mol. Biol. (2021); **433**: 167218.
- Song G, Zong C, Shao M, et al. Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) deficiency attenuates high fat diet induced obesity and insulin resistance. Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids (2019); 1864: 1305–1313.
- Song Z, Xiaoli AM, Yang F. Regulation and Metabolic Significance of De Novo Lipogenesis in Adipose Tissues. *Nutrients* (2018); **10**: 1383. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Soto ER, Caras AC, Kut LC, *et al.* Glucan particles for macrophage targeted delivery of nanoparticles. *J. Drug Deliv.* (2012); **2012**: 143524.
- Souza CO, Teixeira AA, Biondo LA, *et al.* Palmitoleic acid reduces the inflammation in LPS-stimulated macrophages by inhibition of NFκB, independently of PPARs. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* (2017); **44**: 566–575.
- Spalding KL, Arner E, Westermark PO, *et al.* Dynamics of fat cell turnover in humans. *Nature* (2008); **453**: 783–787.
- Spartano NL, Lamon-Fava S, Matthan NR, *et al.* Regulation of ATP-binding cassette transporters and cholesterol efflux by glucose in primary human monocytes and murine bone marrow-derived macrophages. *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes Off. J. Ger. Soc. Endocrinol. Ger. Diabetes Assoc.* (2014); **122**: 463–468.

- Stanford KI, Middelbeek RJW, Townsend KL, *et al.* Brown adipose tissue regulates glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2013); **123**: 215–223.
- Stijn CMW, Kim J, Lusis AJ, *et al.* Macrophage polarization phenotype regulates adiponectin receptor expression and adiponectin anti-inflammatory response. *FASEB J.* (2015); **29**: 636–649.
- Stulnig TM, Huber J, Leitinger N, *et al.* Polyunsaturated Eicosapentaenoic Acid Displaces Proteins from Membrane Rafts by Altering Raft Lipid Composition. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2001); **276**: 37335–37340.
- Sturek JM, Castle JD, Trace AP, *et al.* An intracellular role for ABCG1-mediated cholesterol transport in the regulated secretory pathway of mouse pancreatic beta cells. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2010); **120**: 2575–2589.
- Subczynski WK, Pasenkiewicz-Gierula M, Widomska J, *et al.* High Cholesterol/Low Cholesterol: Effects in Biological Membranes: A Review. *Cell Biochem. Biophys.* (2017); **75**: 369–385.
- Sun Y, Ishibashi M, Seimon T, *et al.* Free Cholesterol Accumulation in Macrophage Membranes Activates Toll-Like Receptors and p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase and Induces Cathepsin K. *Circ. Res.* (2009); **104**: 455–465.
- Sun Y, Wang J, Long T, *et al.* Molecular basis of cholesterol efflux via ABCG subfamily transporters. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (2021); **118**: e2110483118.
- Takei A, Nagashima S, Takei S, *et al.* Myeloid HMG-CoA Reductase Determines Adipose Tissue Inflammation, Insulin Resistance, and Hepatic Steatosis in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *Diabetes* (2020); **69**: 158–164.
- Takikawa A, Mahmood A, Nawaz A, *et al.* HIF-1α in Myeloid Cells Promotes Adipose Tissue Remodeling Toward Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* (2016); **65**: 3649–3659.
- Talbot NA, Wheeler-Jones CP, Cleasby ME. Palmitoleic acid prevents palmitic acid-induced macrophage activation and consequent p38 MAPK-mediated skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* (2014); **393**: 129–142.
- Tanti J-F, Ceppo F, Jager J, *et al.* Implication of inflammatory signaling pathways in obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Front. Endocrinol.* (2013); **3**
- Tanti J-F, Jager J. Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance: role of stress-regulated serine kinases and insulin receptor substrates (IRS) serine phosphorylation. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* (2009); 9: 753–762.
- Tarling EJ, de Aguiar Vallim TQ, Edwards PA. Role of ABC transporters in lipid transport and human disease. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab. TEM* (2013); **24**: 342–350.
- Tarling EJ, Bojanic DD, Tangirala RK, *et al.* Impaired development of atherosclerosis in Abcg1-/- Apoe-/- mice: identification of specific oxysterols that both accumulate in Abcg1-/- Apoe-/- tissues and induce apoptosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2010); **30**: 1174–1180.
- Tarling EJ, Edwards PA. ATP binding cassette transporter G1 (ABCG1) is an intracellular sterol transporter. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (2011); **108**: 19719–19724.

- Teixeira MD, Tureck LV, Nascimento GA do, *et al.* Is it possible ABC transporters genetic variants influence the outcomes of a weight-loss diet in obese women? *Genet. Mol. Biol.* (2020); **43**: e20190326.
- Terasaka N, Wang N, Yvan-Charvet L, *et al.* High-density lipoprotein protects macrophages from oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced apoptosis by promoting efflux of 7-ketocholesterol via ABCG1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (2007); **104**: 15093–15098.
- Thompson BR, Lobo S, Bernlohr DA. Fatty acid flux in adipocytes: the in's and out's of fat cell lipid trafficking. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* (2010); **318**: 24–33.
- Titos E, Rius B, González-Périz A, *et al.* Resolvin D1 and Its Precursor Docosahexaenoic Acid Promote Resolution of Adipose Tissue Inflammation by Eliciting Macrophage Polarization toward an M2-Like Phenotype. *J. Immunol.* (2011); **187**: 5408–5418.
- Tontonoz P, Hu E, Spiegelman BM. Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPARγ2, a lipidactivated transcription factor. *Cell* (1994); **79**: 1147–1156.
- Trautwein EA, McKay S. The Role of Specific Components of a Plant-Based Diet in Management of Dyslipidemia and the Impact on Cardiovascular Risk. *Nutrients* (2020); **12**: 2671. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Tuncman G, Hirosumi J, Solinas G, *et al*. Functional in vivo interactions between JNK1 and JNK2 isoforms in obesity and insulin resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (2006); **103**: 10741–10746.
- Turk BR, Theda C, Fatemi A, *et al.* X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy: Pathology, pathophysiology, diagnostic testing, newborn screening and therapies. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. Off. J. Int. Soc. Dev. Neurosci.* (2020); **80**: 52–72.
- Turnbaugh PJ, Bäckhed F, Fulton L, *et al.* Diet-induced obesity is linked to marked but reversible alterations in the mouse distal gut microbiome. *Cell Host Microbe* (2008); **3**: 213–223.
- Tzavella E, Hatzimichael E, Kostara C, *et al.* Sitosterolemia: A multifaceted metabolic disorder with important clinical consequences. *J. Clin. Lipidol.* (2017); **11**: 1095–1100.
- Umemoto T, Han CY, Mitra P, *et al.* Apolipoprotein AI and High-Density Lipoprotein Have Anti-Inflammatory Effects on Adipocytes via Cholesterol Transporters: ATP-Binding Cassette A-1, ATP-Binding Cassette G-1, and Scavenger Receptor B-1. *Circ. Res.* (2013); **112**: 1345–1354.
- Valette M, Bellisle F, Carette C, *et al.* Eating behaviour in obese patients with melanocortin-4 receptor mutations: a literature review. *Int. J. Obes.* (2013); **37**: 1027–1035. Nature Publishing Group.
- Van den Bossche J, Baardman J, Otto NA, *et al.* Mitochondrial Dysfunction Prevents Repolarization of Inflammatory Macrophages. *Cell Rep.* (2016); **17**: 684–696.
- Vandanmagsar B, Youm Y-H, Ravussin A, *et al.* The NLRP3 inflammasome instigates obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *Nat. Med.* (2011); **17**: 179–188.
- Varbo A, Benn M, Smith GD, *et al.* Remnant cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and blood pressure as mediators from obesity to ischemic heart disease. *Circ. Res.* (2015); **116**: 665–673.

- Varin A, Thomas C, Ishibashi M, *et al.* Liver X Receptor Activation Promotes Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Synthesis in Macrophages: Relevance in the Context of Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2015); **35**: 1357–1365.
- Vaughan AM, Oram JF. ABCG1 Redistributes Cell Cholesterol to Domains Removable by High Density Lipoprotein but Not by Lipid-depleted Apolipoproteins *. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2005); **280**: 30150– 30157. Elsevier.
- van der Veen JN, Kennelly JP, Wan S, *et al.* The critical role of phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine metabolism in health and disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Biomembr.* (2017); **1859**: 1558–1572.
- Vijay J, Gauthier M-F, Biswell RL, *et al.* Single-cell analysis of human adipose tissue identifies depot and disease specific cell types. *Nat. Metab.* (2020); **2**: 97–109.
- Vijayakumar A, Aryal P, Wen J, *et al.* Absence of Carbohydrate Response Element Binding Protein in Adipocytes Causes Systemic Insulin Resistance and Impairs Glucose Transport. *Cell Rep.* (2017); **21**: 1021–1035.
- Virtanen KA, Lidell ME, Orava J, et al. Functional brown adipose tissue in healthy adults. N. Engl. J. Med. (2009); **360**: 1518–1525.
- Virtue S, Masoodi M, de Weijer BAM, *et al.* Prostaglandin profiling reveals a role for haematopoietic prostaglandin D synthase in adipose tissue macrophage polarisation in mice and humans. *Int. J. Obes.* (2015); **39**: 1151–1160.
- Vishvanath L, Gupta RK. Contribution of adipogenesis to healthy adipose tissue expansion in obesity. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2019); **129**: 4022–4031. American Society for Clinical Investigation.
- Vitali A, Murano I, Zingaretti MC, *et al.* The adipose organ of obesity-prone C57BL/6J mice is composed of mixed white and brown adipocytes. *J. Lipid Res.* (2012); **53**: 619–629.
- van Vliet S, Koh H-CE, Patterson BW, *et al.* Obesity Is Associated With Increased Basal and Postprandial β-Cell Insulin Secretion Even in the Absence of Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* (2020); **69**: 2112–2119.
- Wahl S, Drong A, Lehne B, *et al.* Epigenome-wide association study of body mass index, and the adverse outcomes of adiposity. *Nature* (2017); **541**: 81–86. Nature Publishing Group.
- Walaszczyk E, Luijten M, Spijkerman AMW, *et al.* DNA methylation markers associated with type 2 diabetes, fasting glucose and HbA1c levels: a systematic review and replication in a case-control sample of the Lifelines study. *Diabetologia* (2018); **61**: 354–368.
- Wang B, Tontonoz P. Liver X receptors in lipid signalling and membrane homeostasis. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* (2018); **14**: 452–463.
- Wang H, Bell M, Sreenevasan U, *et al.* Unique Regulation of Adipose Triglyceride Lipase (ATGL) by Perilipin 5, a Lipid Droplet-associated Protein *. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2011); **286**: 15707–15715. Elsevier.
- Wang M, Wang D, Zhang Y, et al. Adiponectin increases macrophages cholesterol efflux and suppresses foam cell formation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis (2013); 229: 62–70.

- Wang N, Ranalletta M, Matsuura F, et al. LXR-induced redistribution of ABCG1 to plasma membrane in macrophages enhances cholesterol mass efflux to HDL. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. (2006); 26: 1310–1316.
- Wang N, Westerterp M. ABC Transporters, Cholesterol Efflux, and Implications for Cardiovascular Diseases. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* (2020); **1276**: 67–83.
- Wculek SK, Heras-Murillo I, Mastrangelo A, *et al.* Oxidative phosphorylation selectively orchestrates tissue macrophage homeostasis. *Immunity* (2023); **56**: 516-530.e9.
- Weber ND, Odriozola L, Martínez-García J, *et al.* Gene therapy for progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis type 3 in a clinically relevant mouse model. *Nat. Commun.* (2019); **10**: 5694. Nature Publishing Group.
- Wei H, Tarling EJ, McMillen TS, et al. ABCG1 regulates mouse adipose tissue macrophage cholesterol levels and ratio of M1 to M2 cells in obesity and caloric restriction. J. Lipid Res. (2015); 56: 2337–2347.
- Wei X, Song H, Yin L, *et al.* Fatty acid synthesis configures the plasma membrane for inflammation in diabetes. *Nature* (2016); **539**: 294–298.
- Wein S, Ukropec J, Gasperíková D, et al. Concerted action of leptin in regulation of fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle and liver. Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes Off. J. Ger. Soc. Endocrinol. Ger. Diabetes Assoc. (2007); 115: 244–251.
- Weisberg SP, Hunter D, Huber R, *et al.* CCR2 modulates inflammatory and metabolic effects of highfat feeding. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2006); **116**: 115–124. American Society for Clinical Investigation.
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, et al. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J. Clin. Invest. (2003); **112**: 1796–1808.
- Wen H, Gris D, Lei Y, *et al.* Fatty acid–induced NLRP3-ASC inflammasome activation interferes with insulin signaling. *Nat. Immunol.* (2011); **12**: 408–415. Nature Publishing Group.
- Westerterp M, Fotakis P, Ouimet M, *et al.* Cholesterol Efflux Pathways Suppress Inflammasome Activation, NETosis, and Atherogenesis. *Circulation* (2018); **138**: 898–912.
- Westerterp M, Tsuchiya K, Tattersall IW, *et al.* Deficiency of ATP-Binding Cassette Transporters A1 and G1 in Endothelial Cells Accelerates Atherosclerosis in Mice. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* (2016); **36**: 1328–1337.
- Wilding JPH, Batterham RL, Calanna S, *et al.* Once-Weekly Semaglutide in Adults with Overweight or Obesity. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (2021); **384**: 989–1002. Massachusetts Medical Society.
- Willemsen L, de Winther MP. Macrophage subsets in atherosclerosis as defined by single-cell technologies. *J. Pathol.* (2020); **250**: 705–714.
- Williams-Bey Y, Boularan C, Vural A, *et al.* Omega-3 Free Fatty Acids Suppress Macrophage Inflammasome Activation by Inhibiting NF-κB Activation and Enhancing Autophagy. *PLoS ONE* (ed. Ojcius D. M.) (2014); **9**: e97957.

Wong SW, Kwon M-J, Choi AMK, *et al.* Fatty Acids Modulate Toll-like Receptor 4 Activation through Regulation of Receptor Dimerization and Recruitment into Lipid Rafts in a Reactive Oxygen Species-dependent Manner. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2009); **284**: 27384–27392.

World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. 2021

- Wu JHY, Micha R, Mozaffarian D. Dietary fats and cardiometabolic disease: mechanisms and effects on risk factors and outcomes. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* (2019); **16**: 581–601. Nature Publishing Group.
- Xie Z, Wang X, Liu X, *et al.* Adipose-Derived Exosomes Exert Proatherogenic Effects by Regulating Macrophage Foam Cell Formation and Polarization. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* (2018); **7**
- Xu C, Lu Z, Luo Y, *et al.* Targeting of NLRP3 inflammasome with gene editing for the amelioration of inflammatory diseases. *Nat. Commun.* (2018); **9**: 4092. Nature Publishing Group.
- Xu D, Li Y, Yang F, *et al.* Structure and transport mechanism of the human cholesterol transporter ABCG1. *Cell Rep.* (2022); **38**: 110298.
- Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, *et al.* Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2003); **112**: 1821–1830.
- Xu X, Grijalva A, Skowronski A, et al. Obesity Activates a Program of Lysosomal-Dependent Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages Independently of Classic Activation. *Cell Metab.* (2013); 18: 816–830.
- Xu Y, Wang W, Zhang L, *et al.* A polymorphism in the ABCG1 promoter is functionally associated with coronary artery disease in a Chinese Han population. *Atherosclerosis* (2011); **219**: 648–654.
- Yalcinkaya M, Fotakis P, Liu W, *et al.* Cholesterol accumulation in macrophages drives NETosis in atherosclerotic plaques via IL-1β secretion. *Cardiovasc. Res.* (2023); **119**: 969–981.
- Yamashita S, Masuda D, Matsuzawa Y. Pemafibrate, a New Selective PPARα Modulator: Drug Concept and Its Clinical Applications for Dyslipidemia and Metabolic Diseases. *Curr. Atheroscler. Rep.* (2020); **22**: 5.
- Yao J, Wu D, Qiu Y. Adipose tissue macrophage in obesity-associated metabolic diseases. *Front. Immunol.* (2022); **13**
- Yashpal S, Liese AD, Boucher BA, et al. Metabolomic profiling of the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension diet provides novel insights for the nutritional epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Br. J. Nutr. (2022); **128**: 487–497. Cambridge University Press.
- Ye J, Gao C, Liang Y, *et al.* Characteristic and fate determination of adipose precursors during adipose tissue remodeling. *Cell Regen.* (2023); **12**: 13.
- Ye Z, Lu Y, Wu T. The impact of ATP-binding cassette transporters on metabolic diseases. *Nutr. Metab.* (2020); **17**: 61.
- Yung JHM, Giacca A. Role of c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes. *Cells* (2020); **9**

- Yvan-Charvet L, Pagler T, Gautier EL, *et al.* ATP-binding cassette transporters and HDL suppress hematopoietic stem cell proliferation. *Science* (2010); **328**: 1689–1693.
- Yvan-Charvet L, Ranalletta M, Wang N, et al. Combined deficiency of ABCA1 and ABCG1 promotes foam cell accumulation and accelerates atherosclerosis in mice. J. Clin. Invest. (2007);JCI33372.
- Yvan-Charvet L, Welch C, Pagler TA, et al. Increased inflammatory gene expression in ABC transporter-deficient macrophages: free cholesterol accumulation, increased signaling via toll-like receptors, and neutrophil infiltration of atherosclerotic lesions. Circulation (2008); 118: 1837–1847.
- Zago VHS, Scherrer DZ, Parra ES, *et al.* Effects of SNVs in ABCA1, ABCG1, ABCG5, ABCG8, and SCARB1 Genes on Plasma Lipids, Lipoproteins, and Adiposity Markers in a Brazilian Population. *Biochem. Genet.* (2022); **60**: 822–841.
- Zhang F, Hao G, Shao M, *et al.* An Adipose Tissue Atlas: An Image-Guided Identification of Human-like BAT and Beige Depots in Rodents. *Cell Metab.* (2018); **27**: 252-262.e3.
- Zhang S, Peng X, Yang S, *et al.* The regulation, function, and role of lipophagy, a form of selective autophagy, in metabolic disorders. *Cell Death Dis.* (2022); **13**: 1–11. Nature Publishing Group.
- Zhang Y, Chen H, Zhang W, *et al.* Arachidonic acid inhibits inflammatory responses by binding to myeloid differentiation factor-2 (MD2) and preventing MD2/toll-like receptor 4 signaling activation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Basis Dis.* (2020); **1866**: 165683.
- Zhang Y, Mei H, Chang X, *et al.* Adipocyte-derived microvesicles from obese mice induce M1 macrophage phenotype through secreted miR-155. *J. Mol. Cell Biol.* (2016); **8**: 505–517.
- Zheng C, Yang Q, Cao J, *et al.* Local proliferation initiates macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue during obesity. *Cell Death Dis.* (2016); **7**: e2167–e2167.
- Zhou C, Wang M, Liang J, *et al.* Ketogenic Diet Benefits to Weight Loss, Glycemic Control, and Lipid Profiles in Overweight Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trails. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health* (2022); **19**: 10429.

APPENDICES

Review

Rewiring of Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Obesity: Impact on Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes

Veronica D. Dahik, Eric Frisdal, Wilfried Le Goff

Published on The International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2020.





Review Rewiring of Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages in Obesity: Impact on Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes

Veronica D. Dahik, Eric Frisdal and Wilfried Le Goff *

Institute of Cardiometabolism and Nutrition (ICAN), Hôpital de la Pitié, Sorbonne Université, Inserm, UMR_S1166, 75013 Paris, France; veronica.dahik@etu.upmc.fr (V.D.D.); eric.frisdal@sorbonne-universite.fr (E.F.) * Correspondence: wilfried.le goff@sorbonne-universite.fr

Received: 17 July 2020; Accepted: 30 July 2020; Published: 31 July 2020



Abstract: Obesity and its two major comorbidities, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, represent worldwide health issues whose incidence is predicted to steadily rise in the coming years. Obesity is characterized by an accumulation of fat in metabolic tissues resulting in chronic inflammation. It is now largely accepted that adipose tissue inflammation underlies the etiology of these disorders. Adipose tissue macrophages (ATMs) represent the most enriched immune fraction in hypertrophic, chronically inflamed adipose tissue, and these cells play a key role in diet-induced type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance. ATMs are triggered by the continuous influx of dietary lipids, among other stimuli; however, how these lipids metabolically activate ATM depends on their nature, composition and localization. This review will discuss the fate and molecular programs elicited within obese ATMs by both exogenous and endogenous lipids, as they mediate the inflammatory response and promote or hamper the development of obesity-associated insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes.

Keywords: adipose tissue macrophages; metabolic activation; obesity; lipid; inflammation; insulin resistance; type 2 diabetes

1. Introduction

Once considered a high-income nation problem, obesity has all but tripled in the last 50 years, reaching pandemic proportions. Estimates indicate that about 641 million adults worldwide are obese (BMI \geq 30), presenting an alarming mean increase in BMI of 0,61 kg/m² per decade [1]. Obesity is characterized by the accumulation of excess fat arising from a disproportionate energy intake and expenditure. It is the primary risk factor for several pathologic conditions, including nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), insulin resistance (IR), type 2 diabetes (T2D) and cardiovascular disease (CVD), which have also seen their prevalence dramatically rise [2], concomitant with the global rise in the prevalence of obesity.

T2D is a disease met with increased fasting glycaemia due to glucose intolerance and ineffective insulin secretion or signaling. The mechanisms of insulin deficiency are beyond the scope of this review; however, the resulting insulin-resistant state has consequences both systemically and at the tissue level, thus altering the subject's metabolic status [3]. IR is a feature characteristic of early-onset T2D and may occur in the principal calory repositories including the adipose tissue (AT), skeletal muscle and liver. The central role of AT in maintaining whole-body homeostasis is evidenced during obesity, as ectopic fatty acid (FA) and cholesterol (Chol) accumulation in cell types other than adipocytes leads to metabolic dysfunction. Among the cells capable of ectopic lipid storage, adipose tissue macrophages (ATMs) forming crown-like structures (CLS) have been found to accumulate lipids in obese states [4–6]. Indeed, the most salient features of diet-induced AT metabolic inflammation (metaflammation) can be

resumed as follows: I) enhanced ATM proliferation and metabolic activation promoting inflammatory cytokine production succeeded by II) monocyte-derived ATM recruitment and foam-like cell formation around apoptotic adipocytes and altered metabolism and III) increased pro-inflammatory signaling creating a vicious cycle of metabolic dysfunction.

Metabolically activated (MMe) ATMs are part of a rather new concept of an activation profile that was introduced by Kratz et al., and distinguishes them both functionally and phenotypically from the M1 and M2 phenotypes [7,8]. More importantly, MMe ATMs present significant changes in their intrinsic metabolism, including lipid mobilization (i.e., lysosomal catabolism, storage within lipid droplets (LDs) and efflux) and utilization (i.e., free fatty acids (FFA)/Chol synthesis and oxidation for energy production or membrane incorporation) [9–11]. On this account, the emerging fields of lipidomics and metabolomics have proven key in the study of ATM function in regard to individual lipid species. Particularly, it has brought back interest on the relationship between ATM cellular/membrane lipid composition and inflammatory profile, as it has been evidenced that the inflammatory and adaptive properties of immune cells, including macrophages, are dependent of cellular lipid status [12]. The object of this review is therefore to discuss he current knowledge regarding ATM metabolic activation by dietary lipids.

2. ATM Heterogeneity in Obesity: Activation and Function

The permanent crosstalk that exists between adipocytes and immune cells is of the utmost importance, as several studies have established a causal link between increased excess calory intake and chronic low-grade AT inflammation. Indeed, the activation of the innate immune response during obesity, and more importantly that of ATMs, has proven to be the primary mechanism responsible for the development of insulin resistance (IR) since the discovery that the main source of pro-inflammatory cytokines in AT is in fact ATMs [13,14]. Coherent with this observation, it was shown that ATMs account for the most enriched immune cell in obese AT (from 10% in lean states up to 40% when obese) [15]. Specific depletion of phagocytic cells by intraperitoneal injection of clodronate liposomes protected mice from high fat diet-induced obesity, notably by improving insulin sensitivity, glucose homeostasis and inflammatory status, including decreased plasma tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) and increased plasma adiponectin (Ad) [16,17]. Further research selectively targeting ATM genes confirmed their definitive role in obesity-associated metabolic disorders and inflammation by displaying an altered lipid and glucose metabolism as evidenced in lipoprotein lipase (LPL) and TNF α -depleted ATMs [18,19].

Multiple macrophage activation and polarization states have been described in the literature and vary along a continuum, from the classically activated, pro-inflammatory (M1) profile to the alternatively activated, anti-inflammatory (M2) state [20,21]. M1 and M2 macrophages have roles in diet-induced obesity (DIO) and IR, with M2 macrophages being associated with lean, insulin-sensitive states, and M1 macrophages being the predominant subset present in insulin resistant, obese subjects [22,23]. Indeed, reduced bone marrow-derived M1 ATM recruitment, either by monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) or its receptor C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2) depletion has been shown to be protective against diet-induced inflammation and IR [24,25]. However, while the M1/M2 dichotomy has been often employed under obese settings thanks to its obvious advantage of reflecting the Th1/Th2 response, it poorly portrays the various challenges associated with DIO. Beyond cytokine production, AT expansion during DIO is accompanied by the appearance of hypoxic zones. Hypoxia provides a means for explaining several metabolic changes seen during obesity, as the hypoxia-inducible transcription factor-1 α (*Hif-1* α) is implicated in glucose metabolism, inflammatory cytokine expression, adipocyte hypertrophy and death, among other gene programs [26,27]. Most importantly, it has a role in ATM activation, as myeloid-specific deletion of this transcription factor reduces ATM accumulation and IL-1 β production [28].

Failure to characterize ATMs from obese subjects, plus shared characteristics between the M1 and M2 phenotype [20] highlighted the possibility of the presence of a new ATM phenotype exclusive to the metabolic disorders seen in obesity. On this account, the treatment of human monocyte-derived

macrophages (HMDM) with insulin, glucose and palmitate (PA), all of which are readily available in DIO, generated a polarization state different from the M1 and M2 states that have been referred to as MMe ATMs [7]. Although expressing some canonical M1 and M2 markers, MMe ATMs are not driven by the LPS/TLR4 pathway that ensues in interferon (IFN) production, but are rather induced by the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ) and the autophagy-associated protein p62 [7]. It is interesting to note that PPAR γ agonist, rosiglitazone [29] or IL-33 [30] treatment increases M2-like ATM content and reduces macrophage lipid accumulation. This, plus ulterior studies determining that MMe ATMs indeed heighten inflammation, but are also involved in mechanisms for dead adipocyte clearance, such as lysosomal exocytosis [8], would lead us to believe the metabolically active phenotype is most resembling to the M2 state. Accordingly, Silva et al., reported a monocyte-derived Cd11c⁺Cd64⁺ ATM population which significantly increased under a high fat diet (HFD), and was associated with a protective, anti-inflammatory response [31].

Henceforth, numerous researchers have depicted different ATM populations with different metabolic and transcriptomic profiles to the M1 and M2 macrophages, though still all falling under the MMe subtype. For instance, ATMs isolated from visceral AT and epididymal white AT (WAT) from obese individuals and mice, respectively, were shown to express high levels of CD9, as well as genes involved in lipid metabolism and lysosomal functions such as Cd63, Lpl, Plin2, and Lamp2—the latter two incidentally also upregulated in both landmark studies abovementioned [7,8]. They were also found to accumulate intracellular lipids through a lysosomal-dependent pathway [32]. Coherent with the fact that lysosomal activity is met with sturdy changes in energy metabolism, metabolic activation resulted in the alteration of several metabolic routes. In contrast to LPS-activated M1 macrophages, MMe ATMs revealed increased OXPHOS and a persistent glycolytic rate [27]. Similar observations were made in ATMs (Cd11b⁺ cells in the stromal vascular fraction (SVF)) issued from obese subjects, which displayed a high energy metabolic phenotype with significantly high OXPHOS and glycolysis. These parameters were, however, reduced in ATMs from lean patients, indicative of a low bioenergetic state [33]. Furthermore, Jaitin et al., reported that these lipid-associated ATMs present a large, highly conserved gene expression signature characterized by expression of, among others, Cd9 and Cd63, Lipa (lysosomal function), Cd36, Lpl, Fabp4, Fabp5 (for lipid metabolism) and Atp6v0b, Atp6v1b2 (involved in OXPHOS). This program was revealed to be under the control of Trem2 and necessary to counteract obesity-related metabolic disorders, as Trem2 deficiency enhanced HFD-induced weight gain, hypercholesterolemia, glucose intolerance and IR [5]. These assessments prompt us to believe that MMe ATMs do not undergo the binary switch associated with the M1/M2 phenotypes, but are hosts to a more dynamic regulation of lipid metabolism which should be taken into consideration for future research.

Lastly, it is interesting to note the spatio-temporal differences of ATM localization and recruitment during lean and obese states. Indeed, M1-like macrophages have been reported to be located in CLS and increased during a HFD, while M2-like ATMs are most often found in interstitial spaces within AT [34]. Recent reports also show the existence of vasculature associated macrophages (VAMs), which seem to be issued from tissue-resident macrophages and tightly associated with blood vessels. Their numbers are, however, more important under lean states [31]. The question as to whether MMe ATMs localize in cluster around dying adipocytes or not is still to be studied; nonetheless, certain similarities with the M2 phenotype, as seen above, suggest they are present in a more scattered pattern.

3. Lipid Metabolism in Healthy and Obese AT

For quite some time now, macrophages have been recognized as capable stocking lipids intracellularly, although most studies were initially conceived in the context of atherosclerosis. A growing body of evidence has nevertheless been able to ascertain that ATMs can also uptake lipids, primarily by buffering circulating Chol and free FA (FFA) (at both early and late stages of overweight/obesity) and dying necrotic-like adipocytes (when advanced obesity). One of the first accounts of lipid laden ATMs in human obesity was observed by Shapiro and coll., who managed to

associate "AT foam cell" presence with fasting glucose and insulin levels [4]. This increase in lipid-laden ATMs was maximal at peak adipocyte size [6]. Given that the origin (i.e., circulating vs. adipocyte-issued) of these lipids is determinant of ATM activation, the following section will concentrate on the mechanisms of lipid handling by obese ATMs and its implication in macrophage pro- or anti-inflammatory signaling (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Lipid handling in adipose tissue macrophages in diet-induced obesity.In diet-induced obesity, adipose tissue macrophages are metabolically activated by free fatty acids (FFA) released by lipolysis of triglycerides from adipocytes or from triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by lipoprotein lipase, through Cd36 and toll-like receptors. Accumulation and storage of lipids in adipose tissue macrophages (ATMs) under the form of lipid droplets occur through the uptake of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by specific receptors such as very low-density lipoprotein (VLDLR) or through the internalization of adipocyte-derived exosomes by macropinocytosis. In crown-like structures, necrotic-like adipocyte clearance by ATM in acidic lysosomal synapses through a mechanism of exophagy also contributes to foam cell formation. As a result, ATMs are characterized by an increased content of triglycerides, free cholesterol, ceramides and fatty acids, which can either be synthesized into other lipids (See Figure 2), be stored in lipid droplets or catabolized through the lysosomal pathway. The accumulation of free cholesterol and sphingolipids such as sphingomyelin into membrane lipid rafts promotes the recruitment of TLR4 at the cell surface and contributes to the activation of inflammatory signaling pathways. ABCA1 and ABCG1 transporters promote the efflux of lipids from ATM to high-density lipoproteins allowing the reduction in lipid raft formation, thus ensuring an optimal lipoprotein lipase activity which participates in foam-like cell formation. Fatty acid synthesis, elongation and desaturation are under the control of liver X receptor (LXR) and sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP1) thus exerting an important role in the relative cellular content of saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids. Increased cellular levels of free cholesterol and saturated fatty acids trigger endoplasmic reticulum stress, inflammation and apoptosis, which can be alleviated by an enrichment in polyunsaturated fatty acids through mechanisms dependent or independent of the GPR120 receptor. Production of eicosanoids and resolvins from ω -6 and ω -3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, respectively, induces or represses inflammation in ATM. Increased turnover of phosphatidylcholine as well as oxidation of phospholipids also participate in the inflammatory status of ATM. As a whole, the rewiring of the lipid metabolism in ATM promotes adipose tissue inflammation and contributes to the establishment of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette A1; ABCG1, ATP-binding cassette G1; ATGL, Adipose triglyceride lipase; Chol, cholesterol; CHOP, CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein homologous protein; FAS, fatty acid synthase; FFA, free fatty acids; GPR120, G protein-coupled receptor 120; HMGCoAR, 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A reductase; HSL, hormone-sensitive lipase;

IR, insulin resistance; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; LR, lipid rafts; LXR, liver X receptor; MGL, monoacylglycerol lipase; oxPL, oxidized PL; PCYT1A, phosphate cytidylyltransferase 1; PL, phospholipid; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; SFA, saturated fatty acid; SM, sphingomyelin; SREBP1, sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1; T2D, type 2 diabetes; TLR, toll-like receptor; TG, triglyceride; TRL, triglyceride-rich lipoproteins; VLDLR, very low-density lipoprotein receptor.

3.1. Circulating Lipids: Mechanisms of Uptake into ATMs

3.1.1. FFA

The main tissues for fatty acid (FA) release are muscle and AT, with AT being the preferential target. For this, triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL), including chylomicrons and very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) are hydrolyzed by tissue-bound LPL and release FFA. These can then be captured by adipocytes and macrophages within the AT for subsequent storage within lipid droplets (LD) (by both adipocytes and ATMs) [32,35] and other intracellular compartments, such as lysosomes (by ATMs) [36]. The primary source of LPL is macrophages, and both its retention at the plasma membrane thereby reducing its bioavailability, or its inhibition by tetrahydrolipstatin treatment has been shown to reduce triglyceride (TG) accumulation in HMDM [37]. Consistently, specific ATM LPL genetic deletion, as performed by Aouadi et al., resulted in reduced lipid storage in macrophages, increased FFA serum levels and glucose intolerance [19].

3.1.2. VLDL/VLDLR

Obesity and obesity-related metabolic disorders are associated with elevated plasma TG levels, high low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-Chol and low high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-Chol contents, with non-HDL levels positively associated with pro-inflammatory ATMs even in healthy subjects [38,39]. Within blood vessel, TG is transported in the form of lipoproteins, including VLDL, which can bind to the VLDL receptor (VLDLR) at the surface of adipocytes and macrophages for TG uptake [40,41]. The expression and proper function of this receptor therefore represent an important target in DIO and diet-induced inflammation, and SNPs of this gene have been found to be associated with BMI and cardiovascular risk in humans [40]. In accordance with this observation, VLDLR overexpression has been shown to increase TG content within ATMs in a DIO mouse model. This was also accompanied by increased M1-like ATM polarization and IR. Improved AT inflammation and insulinemia were, however, restored after the adoptive transfer of VLDLR KO BM to Wt mice even under a HFD [41].

3.2. Adipocyte-Released Lipids: Mechanism of Uptake into ATMs

3.2.1. Lipolysis-Dependent Lipid Release

Hypertrophic adipocytes are able to release FFA by a classic, lipase-dependent mechanism as an effort to limit further enlargement of the LD that may compromise cell viability. TG hydrolysis and the release of FFA from adipocytes to the circulation or other cells, such as ATMs, are mediated by intracellular lipases adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL), hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) and monoacylglycerol lipase (MGL). Adipocyte ATGL deficiency in mice has been shown to decrease ATM infiltration in response to acute lipolysis upon treatment with the β 3-adrenergic agonist CL 316,243, as assessed by Cd11c and F4/80 markers. However, a higher ATM infiltration and pro-inflammatory gene expression was detected in AT from adipocyte ATGL-deficient mice upon DIO [42]. Similarly, subjects homozygous for a deletion of the HSL gene display increased MCP-1 levels and ATM infiltration, along with systemic IR and T2D [43].

3.2.2. Exosomes

An alternative lipid source for macrophages has been described by numerous authors, whereby lipid-filled exosomes are released by adipocytes and contribute to the pro-inflammatory phenotype of ATM [44–46]. This mechanism is independent of lipase activation, as inhibition of ATGL in adipocytes did not alter the distribution of these exosomes, which were incidentally found to

increase macrophage TG content by 8-fold in BM-ATMs independently of diglyceride acyltransferase (DGAT)1/2. Moreover, the exosomes were not only able to induce ATM activation and foam-like cell formation, but also lead to ATM-like differentiation from BM progenitors by activating a gene program characteristic of macrophages that reside exclusively in AT [44]. This very same role in ATM differentiation has been found to link exosome release with glucose intolerance and IR [47]. Curiously, a link between the lysosome and exosome pathways has been established, as exosomes were found to deliver TG to lysosomes for FFA release [44].

3.2.3. Exophagy

An active mechanism for lipid release specifically targeting dying, necrotic-like adipocytes around CLS has also recently been described. It entails the formation of a tightly sealed acidic lytic compartment where lysosomal hydrolases, delivered by exocytosis, allow the hydrolysis and subsequent internalization of large amounts of lipids, as well as dead adipocyte fragments [48,49]. This process has been termed exophagy and shares some similarities with autophagy, a widely studied mechanism of lipid clearance. This form of lipid uptake has been shown to lead to foam-like cell formation, as evidenced by LipidTOX labelling [48].

3.3. Fate of Lipids in ATM

3.3.1. Storage in the Form of LD

Adipocytes and ATMs, among other cells, store fat in the form of LD. LDs are typically composed of a neutral lipid core and sealed off to the cytosol by a set of molecules including membrane phospholipids (PL), perilipins (PLIN), and free Chol [50]. Despite slight differences in the disposition and constitution of the droplet—one large unilocular vesicle formed primarily of TG in adipocytes vs. various smaller vesicles composed of both TG and cholesteryl esters (CE) in ATMs—LD biogenesis and lipid uptake are increased in obesity and contribute to the dysfunctional phenotype observed in both these cell types and associated with DIO [35]. While it was often believed that LDs were the primary—if not the only—form of lipid capture in ATMs, notably those organized in CLS [51], this has been contested by results showing that MMe ATMs present reduced LD formation, as lipids undergo catabolism via a lysosome-related pathway. Most importantly, the inhibition of this pathway increased LD content in macrophages [36]. This form of storage is therefore likely to be preferentially present in CLS ATMs. Likewise, it is mostly found in omental fat rather than subcutaneous AT [4].

3.3.2. Lysosome-Mediated Lipid Handling

The contribution of the lysosomal pathway to inflammatory signaling and lipid handling has been the subject of numerous studies. Lipid catabolism, as it occurs in lysosomes, is mainly achieved by the action of LIPA, whose deficiency and overexpression have been shown to alter immune (efferocytosis, T cell and macrophage function) and metabolic (insulin signaling, VLDL metabolism, ATM lipid content, polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) release and lipid mediator synthesis) homeostasis [52–54]. In ATMs, the lysosomal program has been associated with the MMe phenotype, as evidenced by the enrichment of lysosome-relates genes *Lipa* and *Lamp2*, among others, in both obese mice [5,32] and humans [36]. As such, its inhibition by chloroquine is accompanied by significantly enhanced lipid accumulation within macrophages and reduced AT lipolysis [36]. Defective lysosomal exocytosis by NAPDH oxidase 2 (Nox2) inhibition also leads to less effective dead adipocyte clearance by MMe and thus contributes to metabolic disorders in DIO [8]. Lysosomal lipolysis has also been associated with the induction of the M2 phenotype in bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDM) and peritoneal macrophages in response to FFA, as assessed by oxygen consumption rate and M2 markers Cd206, Relm α and Cd301 [55]. Interestingly though, while short hairpin RNA treatment targeting *Lipa* did result in impaired M2 polarization [55], hindering lysosomal function has failed to be associated with the classic inflammatory M1 profile [36]. Cell-intrinsic lysosomal lipid handling may therefore

represent a means for ATM to counteract classic activation by FFA and would lead to the "mixed" MMe phenotype, which is incidentally characterized by both M1 and M2 markers [7,36].

3.3.3. Autophagy

A complementary mechanism to the lysosomal pathways is thought to be autophagy (also termed lipophagy). This form of lipid mobilization into lysosomes does not conform to a simple role in energy balance, but is also involved in major cellular responses. In AT, for instance, autophagy is necessary for adipogenesis and adipocyte differentiation [56]. In liver and atherosclerotic plaque macrophages, autophagy is required for LD clearance and normal macrophage function [57,58]. In obesity and obesity-associated ATMs, however, autophagy's role is less clear. In vitro experiments on BM-ATMs and mice under a HFD confirmed autophagy upregulation in DIO; it was nonetheless found dispensable for ATM activation and lipid uptake as evidenced by both Atg7 deletion and 3-methyladedine treatment [53]. Contradicting results were found using a model of unpolarized RAW macrophages exposed to AT conditioned media plus oleate (OA) as a lipid source. Interrupted autophagy was indeed found to either decrease LD biogenesis and lipid uptake by ATMs when targeted at the early steps, or to support LD formation when targeted at a later stage [35]. These discrepancies could be partly explained by the different lipid substrates (whole AT or OA) to which the macrophages were exposed to. In addition, the inflammatory phenotype of ATMs could also alter lipid efflux efforts by autophagy. It was indeed demonstrated that LPS + IFN γ stimulated macrophages are incapable of further forming and enlarging existing LDs [59]. Lastly, another argument that might allow us to explain these differences has been evoked by Flaherty et al., and involves the existence of a lipid storage site other than LDs that can nonetheless fuse with lysosomes, but does not follow the autophagic route [44].

3.3.4. Lipid Efflux/Export

Along with the influx of lipids, their proper clearance is equally important for macrophage function and turns out to be compromised during obesity. Dietary Chol alone is able to further promote ATM accumulation in mice fed a diabetogenic diet, and is positively associated with chronic systemic inflammation, IR and atherosclerosis [60]. This effect is attributed in part to its ability to induce Mcp-1 and Saa3 production by adipocytes, which actively contribute to macrophage recruitment into AT [61]. HDL and Apolipoprotein A-1 (ApoA-1) have also been attributed anti-inflammatory properties in AT [39,61], and while it is worthy to acknowledge their capacity to suppress inflammatory gene expression, HDL themselves can be undergo regulation by inflammatory genes as revealed by identification of SNPs *cis* variants associated with low-HDL [62].

Reducing Chol content in AT through stimulation of Chol efflux may therefore represent an efficient way to alleviate inflammation. For instance, ApoA-1 and HDL exert some of their anti-inflammatory effects in AT in an Abca1/g1-dependent manner by removing Chol from adipocyte membranes in vitro [61]. Intracellular Chol levels are linked to impaired glucose tolerance and IR and as such, Abca1 hematopoietic deletion not only induced monocytosis and increased inflammatory cytokine and macrophage content in both AT and liver, but also enhanced ATM response to saturated FA (SFA). Hematopoietic Abca1-/- mice fed a diabetogenic diet supplemented with Chol were thus more insulin resistant [63]. While seemingly logic, these results have been contested by experiments conducted in myeloid Abca1 KO and Wt mice who developed similar IR, hypercholesterolemia and hepatic steatosis. Although ATM in the SVF from myeloid Abca1-/- mice did accumulate more Chol than their Wt counterparts, neither macrophage infiltration nor inflammatory $Tnf\alpha$, Mcp-1 and Il-1 β cytokine expression was different [64]. These differences could be attributed to a number of factors (i.e., hematopoietic vs. myeloid targeting, content and length of the diet, Abca1/g1 levels in AT only vs. in ATM). Regarding Abcg1, its expression has been shown to be significantly enhanced under obese and caloric restriction settings [65,66]. This increase has been revealed to be associated with ATMs, as evidenced by the isolation of F4/80⁺ cells from the SVF of AT obese mice [65]. Particularly, M2 ATM content, assessed by Cd11c⁻Cd206⁺ marker expression, was found to be positively associated with

Abcg1 expression. Indeed, its deletion in the myeloid lineage resulted in a 2-fold decrease in M2 macrophages and enhanced total Chol content. This deficiency also hindered macrophage migration in response to Chol loading [66]. Other landmark studies agree that Abca1/g1 macrophage expression is dependent on the ATM phenotype. For instance, Abca1/g1 expression is enhanced in lipid-laden, MMe ATM vs. lean ATM [7]. This is coherent with the observation that while Chol efflux capacity to ApoA-1 was significantly reduced in M1 ATM, it was surprisingly enhanced in primary obese and in vitro polarized MMe ATM [9]. This could be associated with a protective mechanism in which lipid-laden ATMs promote Chol efflux to lower inflammation, but are ultimately overwhelmed by the lipid charge.

3.4. Regulation of Intracellular Lipid Metabolism in ATM

Lipid mobilization both within and outside the cell is a mechanism that strongly depends on three major processes—lipid uptake (either at whole-body level or within the cell), synthesis and clearance or conversion into other metabolites—as these participate in determining the cellular metabolic status. Macrophages, and most importantly ATMs, are capable of regulating their own lipid metabolism essentially through two major families of transcription factors, the sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP) and the liver X receptor (LXR), that tightly control Chol and FA synthesis. We will focus on the mechanisms that drive ATM metabolic dysfunction in obesity.

Interference with any of the steps involved in Chol metabolism has been associated with altered ATM function. For instance, myeloid deletion of HMG-CoA reductase, the rate limiting enzyme in cholesterol biosynthesis, has been shown to significantly reduce ATM accumulation by 77% in $Hmgcr^{-/-}$ mice vs. Wt, despite similar fat mass composition and body weight. This was accompanied by a reduction in Tnf α , Il-1 β and Mcp-1 expression, which consistently translated into decreased macrophage chemotaxis and migration into AT, improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity [67]. Similarly, treatment of obese mice with the synthetic LXR agonist GW3965 not only decreased neutrophil migration, but most importantly reduced ATM infiltration—both F4/80⁺Cd11b⁺Cd206⁺ and F4/80⁺Cd11b⁺Cd11c⁺ populations—into visceral AT. Moreover, these changes were associated with enhanced insulin-related gene expression and improved insulin sensitivity in AT and muscle [68]. LXR therefore exerts multiple, non-exclusive roles in inflammation, Chol metabolism and IR.

In contrast to sterol synthesis, FA synthesis or de novo lipogenesis (DNL) is driven by both LXRs and SREBPs, notably the SREBP-1a isoform in macrophages [69]. For this, citrate issued from the TCA cycle is successively transformed into acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA, the latter of which can then act as a substrate for the so-called multi-enzymatic complex FA synthase (FAS). The main DNL end product is long chain SFA palmitate (PA; C16:0), which is intrinsically associated with inflammatory pathways that will be detailed later on in this review. Elongation and desaturation steps can then follow for generation of other FA. This process is achieved by different families of enzymes (for details, see Section 4.3.2), which are also under the control of SREBP and LXR. As for Chol synthesis, hindering any of the steps involved in DNL leads to an altered ATM phenotype and lipid metabolism. TCA cycle disruption and corresponding citrate accumulation in LPS-challenged BMDM drives M1-like polarization by overproduction of oxidative stress-associated metabolites such as NO [70]. Myeloid deletion of FAS has shown beneficial effects on glucose tolerance and IR by reducing ATM recruitment to obese AT and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression [71]. In addition, DNL has been found to be required for monocyte differentiation into macrophages [72].

DNL allows the transformation of excess glucose in FA, and as such is upregulated by both insulin and SFA. In regard to insulin, it is able to act at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels, the latter consisting mainly of inhibiting proteolytic cleavage and translocation of SREBP1 to the nucleus [73]. At the transcriptional level, insulin has been found to activate mTORC, which is incidentally involved in SREBP-1a cleavage and allows proper phagocytosis downstream of the TLR4 pathway in BMDMs [69]. On this account, TLR4 has been revealed to alter FA synthesis in a biphasic, time-dependent regulation of SREBP-1 expression. Activation of the toll-like receptor TLR resulted in an early (T0 to T6 h) activation phase with enhanced inflammatory cytokine production and impaired FA

9 of 30

synthesis—mainly PUFA—by inhibition of LXR and LXR-dependent genes; while the late (T12–T24 h) resolution phase was characterized by upregulation of SREBP-1 and its target genes, which contributed to anti-inflammatory mediator production and counteracted NF- κ B signaling [74]. LXR is equally involved in monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and PUFA synthesis, as it upregulates the expression of enzymes necessary for UFA production, such as ACSL3, FADS 1 and 2 and ELOVL5, both in vivo and in vitro in human macrophages and murine foam cells. This effect is achieved in a SREBP-1-dependent manner, as well as by LXR itself in a more direct manner [75]. This lipogenic action on PUFA provides another link, besides Chol efflux and inhibition of its synthesis, for LXR anti-inflammatory, insulin sensitizing effects. In fact, LXR derepression upon NCoR deletion specifically in macrophages contributed to an insulin-sensitive phenotype in all major insulin-target tissues, reduced FFA serum levels and decreased macrophage Tnf α production by impairing TLR response and increasing PUFA production. This was achieved without changes in body weight [76]. These and other mechanisms of Chol and FA metabolism regulation by LXRs have been reviewed in [77,78]

4. Membrane Dynamics and Inflammatory Signaling in ATM

A distinct process by which FA and Chol, either captured or newly synthesized, alter ATM inflammatory response in the context of obesity is through their major role as membrane components. Although Chol does not enter the biosynthesis of other lipid classes, FA can be metabolized into a large range of lipid molecules involved in the metabolic activation of ATM with consequences on AT inflammation and IR (Figure 2). Membrane composition and optimal membrane properties (i.e., rigidity vs. fluidity) are crucial for a number of cellular processes such as glucose transport [79], immune cell function and inflammatory signaling [11,71,80,81], AT expansion [82] and even insulin signaling [83,84], all of which are compromised during DIO. Membrane dynamics are therefore of particular interest in the study of diabetes-promoting IR and contribute to this "membrane-centric" view of T2D [85].



Figure 2. Fate of fatty acids in adipose tissue macrophages. The association of fatty acid (FA)-derived lipids with inflammation, IR and T2D is indicated in blue (protective) or red (deleterious). DAG, diacylglycerol; FFA, free fatty acids; IR, insulin resistance; MAG, monoacylglycerol; oxPL, oxidized PL; PC, phosphatidylcholine; PE, phosphatidylethanolamine; PL, phospholipid; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; S1P, sphingosine-1-phosphate; SFA, saturated fatty acid; SM, sphingomyelin; T2D, type 2 diabetes; TG, triacylglycerol; TRL, triglyceride-rich lipoproteins; O turnover.

4.1. Altered Chol ATM Content and Membrane Signaling

ATMs from obese mice are characterized by an accumulation of free Chol, which was proposed to contribute to lipid-induced cytotoxicity during DIO [29]. Chol implication in inflammatory

processes as portrayed above is in part due to its key role in the formation of lipid rafts which are dynamic microdomains $(10-200\mu m)$ that allow selective recruitment of other lipids and proteins necessary for intracellular signaling [86]. These rafts have been found to favor the clustering and stabilization of the TLR machinery (i.e., co-receptors CD14 and CD36 and co-adaptor protein for MyD88, TIRAP) [81]. Moreover, given the presence of a Chol recognition amino-acid consensus sequence in the structure of TLR, TLR localization at the membrane and downstream signaling seems dependent on this sterol. Chol loading of both plasma and endosomal membranes in macrophages enhanced TLR4-dependent p38 activation [87]. This effect on inflammation was abrogated by Chol depletion of detergent-resistant membrane domains by Abca1 and β -cyclodextrin, as it disrupts MyD88 recruitment to the membrane; such a mechanism being stimulated by LXR agonists [88]. Similarly, Abcg1-deficient human macrophages and myeloid cells present increased Chol plasma membrane content, which correlates with abnormal LPL retention within lipid rafts and hindered activity, thereby abolishing TG accumulation under VLDL stimulation [37]. Furthermore, Wei et al., demonstrated that changes in membrane Chol and lipid raft content through macrophage FAS inhibition alter global membrane order and composition, thus disrupting Rho GTPase-dependent signaling. These changes were associated with reduced inflammation and IR, a phenotype which was rescued by exogenous sterols but not exogenous FA [71]. These observations further validate Chol involvement in ATM metabolic activation; it is nonetheless of key importance that future research clearly discriminates plasma membrane Chol content vs. other organelles (i.e., ER, endosomes membranes), as well as from that stocked in LD, as this distinction is not always (easily) made. Indeed, accumulation of Chol in ER was reported to induce cytotoxicity and apoptosis in macrophages through the activation of the cell death effector CHOP of the unfolded protein response [89].

4.2. Altered PL/FA ATM Content and Membrane Signaling

4.2.1. Glycerophospholipids (GPL)

An ever-increasing number of studies has linked altered membrane glycerophospholipid GPL species-mostly phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE)---and SFA/PUFA content to metabolic disorders. PC:PE ratio disturbance has been implicated in obesity-associated ER stress, inflammation, decreased insulin signaling and steatohepatitis [90–92]. Although most of these studies have focused on the effects of different GPL amounts on hepatocyte membranes, more recent data have found a similar relation between altered PC/PE levels and ATM activation. For instance, PC synthesis, assessed by *Pcyt1a* expression, and lysoPC content is increased in ATMs from genetically obese, insulin-resistant mice. Myeloid-specific inhibition of endogenous PC synthesis improves the metabolic phenotype and lowers macrophage inflammatory response to palmitate, without affecting macrophage number. Instead, this protective effect is mediated by reduced PC turnover at the plasma membrane thus allowing the incorporation of anti-inflammatory, membrane-fluidifying PUFAs, which also contribute to reduced ER stress [11]. This remodeling could be mediated by lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (Lpcat3), although no conclusive evidence was found in the study previously mentioned. LPCAT3 is part of the LPLAT family, and its expression is incidentally high in macrophages. Its role for the re-esterification of lysoPC into PC has been associated with altered inflammatory signaling at the plasma membrane, as activation of this enzyme in macrophages decreased activation of the c-Src/JNK pathway in membrane microdomains [93]. This further highlights the importance of membrane saturation degree on macrophage activation in obesity.

In AT, LXR agonist-mediated insulin sensitizing and anti-inflammatory effects in obese mice were correlated with decreased SFA- and MUFA-containing PCs, while an upregulation of PC and some PE species with high PUFA content was seen. TG species containing C16:0 were equally reduced [68]. Significantly increased expression (+80%) of phosphatidylglycerol (PldG) synthase, the principal enzyme involved in PldG synthesis, was also observed in whole AT depots from HFD-fed mice and positively correlated with high plasma PldG levels and *Tlr4* mRNA expression in WAT. Importantly, daily PldG treatment of obese mice seemed to promote M2-like polarization, as evidenced

by increases in M2 markers such as CD163 and CD301. PldGs were also able to inhibit AT lipolysis, albeit through indirect mechanisms [94]. Intriguingly, some adipocyte-derived PL species have been revealed to act in a paracrine manner and influence ATM activation state. Saturated lysoPC generated by phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂) activity were able to promote NLRP3 activation in LPS-primed macrophages and contribute to the general insulin resistant profile in adipocyte-specific *Hif-1* α knockdown mice [95]. Lastly, overweight and obese subjects also display increased serum PldG and PE, both of which are correlated with BMI, IL-6 and Ad expression in a positive and negative manner, respectively, suggesting a link between these PL and low grade, metabolic inflammation [94]. These results, along with those observed in mice, suggest that the obesity-associated increase in PldG levels may reflect a protective mechanism by which ATM-mediated inflammation is (attempted to be) controlled.

Obesity is characterized by an increased oxidative stress in adipose tissue in both humans and mice which was associated with the development of metabolic disorders [96]. Interestingly, Nox2, a key enzyme in the production of ROS, is a driver of the inflammatory and adipocyte-clearing properties of MMe ATM, and ablating Nox2 both improves and worsens DIO-induced metabolic disorders depending on the duration of high-fat feeding [8]. As for FFA and free Chol, PL-bound FAs are subject to oxidation. Oxidized phospholipids (PLs) (oxPL) are recognized as danger-associated molecules and are therefore linked to certain inflammatory pathways. OxPLs derived from PC have been found to induce an $II-1\beta$ -driven hyperinflammatory state in macrophages by promoting both OXPHOS and glycolysis; a phenotype also displayed in vivo in hypercholesterolemic mice after LPS administration [97]. OxPL have thus been implicated in steatohepatitis [98], atherosclerosis [99,100] and more recently, in obesity and diet-induced ATM activation [33]. Indeed, Cd11b⁺ cells isolated from the SVF of HFD-fed mice saw their oxPL content double at 9 weeks of HFD. CLS-localized ATM (marked Cx3cr1⁺F4/80^{hi}Cd11c⁺Cd206⁺) were abundant in different oxPLs, specifically full-length species which were found to promote II-1 β and II-6 expression. In contrast, ATM from lean mice (marked Cx3cr1⁻F4/80^{lo}Txnrd1⁺HO1⁺) presented higher truncated oxPLs, which were revealed to have antioxidant properties and inhibit mitochondrial respiration in BMDM [33]. Evidence linking oxPL and lipotoxic ceramide production through CerS activation has also been reported [101]. No evidence of oxPL capacity to induce lipid accumulation within ATMs has been observed. Of note, oxPL can equally be found in oxLDL or oxVLDL particles and also accumulate intracellularly in LDs [102].

4.2.2. Sphingolipids (SL)

DIO has also been associated with dysfunctional sphingolipid (SL) metabolism. Among them, ceramides have highly inflammatory, insulin resistant properties that eventually lead to T2D. Ceramide accumulation is observed in plasma and visceral AT from obese women with metabolic syndrome and is accompanied by inflammatory marker expression [103]. Pharmacological inhibition of short chain C16:0 ceramide synthesis correlated with lower weight gain in mice fed a HFD, as well as improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity [104]. The mechanisms guiding ceramide effects are numerous. De novo ceramide synthesis is upregulated by adipose mTORC1 deficiency, which incidentally increases ATM recruitment to CLS, inflammatory cytokine production through NLRP3 activation and IR [105]. Accordingly, ceramide accumulation by VLDLR overexpression in ATM is able to induce M1-like polarization and IR [41]. However, studies conducted with obese mice unable to de novo synthesize ceramides in ATM found contradicting results, as no differences regarding the insulin resistant and NLRP3-dependent inflammatory state were observed. Moreover, this deficiency did not affect M1-like or M2-like polarization, nor adiposity [106]. These discrepancies might be due to cell types—adipocytes vs. myeloid cells—or genes targeted—mTORC1 vs. VLDLR vs. serine palmitoyltransferase long chain 2 (SPTLC2)—and convey the importance of the alternative pathways that might act in a compensatory manner to assure ceramide production.

It is nonetheless unexpected that SPT deficiency did not aggravate the phenotype, as this enzyme also allows the production of sphingomyelin (SM). While the role of SM in ATM-driven inflammation and IR has been less studied, its major contribution to the formation of lipid rafts and LPL bioavailability [107] is expected to induce major changes in inflammatory signaling and

lipid storage. This has notably been observed in macrophages where SM synthases 1 and 2 and SPT have been inhibited, and that fail to recruit TLR4 to the membrane, rendering them less sensitive to LPS stimulation [81]. Lastly, altering SM turnover at the membrane by phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) inhibition in mice has found to be protective against diet-induced weight gain and IR. Since PLTP mediates lipid transfer—mostly SM and Chol—from cell membranes to plasma and vice versa, its deficiency was proven to decrease the levels of these two lipid types in lipid rafts and enhance GLUT4 expression and insulin receptor activity in adipocytes [108]. Given its potential as a target in metabolic disorders, this mechanism might be interesting to explore in ATMs.

Globally, ATM metabolic activation in DIO is associated with a switch to more lipotoxic lipids. It is important to note that we cannot rule out the contribution of other membrane lipids, such as phosphatidylinositol, phosphatidylserine, phosphatidic acid and plasmalogens. Due to their low abundance in membranes, their effects might be masked by the other lipids. It is thus preferable to study membrane dynamics in relation to individual PL species and nature of the acyl chain. The diet content of ω -3 and ω -6 PUFAs has been found to be of particular importance in determining membrane composition [109] and can thus significantly influence membrane signaling in ATMs.

4.3. FA Nature and ATM-Mediated Inflammation

4.3.1. SFA

The inflammatory phenotype of human ATMs is correlated with the FA spectrum of membrane PL, and SFA and PUFA content share a positive and negative association, respectively, with the proportion of these macrophages in obese AT [110]. The SFA to PUFA ratio has also been implicated in ER stress response, and decreased ER saturation and rigidification by inhibition of the de novo PC synthesis pathway, which preferentially selects and binds SFA to PC, has been shown to ameliorate ER stress in BMDMs despite palmitate exposure [11]. Fatty acid-binding protein-4 (Fabp4) acts as an essential lipid chaperone in the enrichment of GPL in SFA and in lipid-induced ER stress in macrophages [111]. Beyond a role in rigidity and fluidity, FAs from membrane PL attain their inflammatory properties by their ability to directly activate inflammatory pathways in macrophages and other cells, or act as precursors for lipid mediators once hydrolyzed from the PL backbone.

SFAs are known for their pro-inflammatory capacity and presence of only single bonds within their acyl chain. SFA with acyl chains up to 16 carbons can be synthetized endogenously, while those containing longer chains are obtained by elongation, with the starting product of stearate (ST; C18:0). They can also be brought by diet, typically animal fats. SFAs are associated with NLRP3 activation; indeed, both PA and ST treatment of human macrophages is able to induce IL-1 β secretion. Interestingly, this effect is mediated by rigidification of the plasma membrane, as endogenous SFA induces a significant increase in saturated PC content, which disrupts Na, K-ATPase activity and favors K+ efflux, a mechanism that has been long associated with inflammasome activation. Unsaturated oleate or linoleate co-treatment prevent this outcome [112]. NLRP3 activation is linked to the pro-inflammatory JNK pathway, and JNK activation has been found to exert a role in ATM-mediated IR and development of T2D [113,114], but only under an obesity setting. Mice presenting a macrophage-specific double knockout of *Jnk1* and *Jnk2* displayed a similar metabolic status when fed a normal chow diet. However, when under a HFD, JNK-deficient mice were protected against glucose intolerance and IR, showed decreased ATM infiltration and M1-like polarization [115]. PA can also activate JNK through a mechanism involving the pro-inflammatory p62/NBR1 adaptor proteins in the MAPK pathway, and NBR1 inhibition results in decreased Il-6 and $Tnf\alpha$ production by BMDM. Furthermore, it impairs M1-like polarization in ATMs isolated from HFD-fed obese mice [116]. PA has also been found to induce NF-KB activation in a TLR4 dependent manner, and macrophages from mice lacking Tlr4 revealed blunted inflammatory cytokine production and increased insulin sensitivity [117]. PA has also been shown to induce Tlr4 translocation into lipid rafts in adipocytes [118].

Whether PA acts as a direct TLR4 ligand has been extensively challenged in recent years [119]. The first piece of evidence showing PA is not a direct agonist of this receptor was brought in by

Lancaster et al., who demonstrated that PA treatment does not induce the conformational changes, dimerization nor endocytosis that characterize TLR4 active state. The absence of TLR4 in murine macrophages, although protective against PA inflammatory effects when used alone, is not sufficient to inhibit PA effects when cells had been previously primed with other TLR agonists [120]. It is interesting to note that this priming of Tlr4-/- macrophages was associated with a metabolic reprogramming that rendered them similar to the WT phenotype. These modifications included the upregulation of genes typical of M1-like metabolism and alteration of its lipidome, most notably ceramides, SM, PE plasmalogens and lysoPC/PE plus CE with PA and ST on their acyl chains [120]. Similar observations have been made in studies for PA effect on ceramide production. Indeed, while PA alone was able to induce C16:0 ceramide synthesis and promote Tnf α and Il-1 β secretion, this effect was independent of the TLR. In contrast, co-treatment with LPS not only potentiated PA effects, but also turned out to require the TLR4/MyD88 axis. Curiously though, this upregulation of SL murine macrophage content did not involve changes in SPT expression, again hinting at the importance of alternative pathways for ceramide production [121]. In this context, adipose FA binding protein (FABP) was reported to play an important role in ceramide production and cell death in macrophages upon incubation with SFA (PA and stearic acid) [122]. Finally, PA is able to induce the expression of Hif-1 α in macrophages even under normoxic conditions [28] and to promote pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. This might therefore provide another mechanism, independent of TLR4, for ATM activation during obesity.

Other SFAs such as lauric acid (LU, C12:0) act through similar mechanisms. LU treatment on RAW macrophages was shown to promote TLR4 recruitment to lipid rafts and the subsequent homodimerization of this receptor, as evidence by GFP, FLAG and FITC labeled constructs of the TLR4/MyD88 pathway [123]. Stearic acid (SA, C10:0) was also shown to induce TLR4 activation, although to a minor degree [124]. This and other mechanisms (i.e., CD36/TLR2 activation in adipocytes and macrophages, IRS-1 phosphorylation, PCG-1 activation) [125,126] contribute to the overall inflammatory and insulin resistant profile seen in DIO and ATM.

4.3.2. UFA

UFAs, on the other hand, present at least one double bond in their acyl chain and promote an anti-inflammatory environment by inhibiting leukocyte chemotaxis, adhesion molecule expression and production of pro-inflammatory eicosanoids while upregulating that of specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators (SPMs) [127]. When it comes to PUFA, the most prominent species are ω -3 and ω -6 PUFAs. The common precursors for longer, more complex PUFAs are linoleic acid (LA, C18:2n-6) and α -linoleic acid (ALA, C18:3n-3), which have the particularity of being essential FAs that can only be obtained through diet, mostly vegetable fats. Once absorbed, they can undergo a series of elongation and desaturation steps which take place in the ER and involve 3 different enzyme families: ACLS3-4 for FA activation, the ELOVL family for the rate limiting step in elongation and FASD1-2 for desaturation. These enzymes are under the control of SREPB and LXR, as stated above, and thus their transcription is modulated by agonist treatment or derepression of these transcription factors [78]. Their deficiency would lead to impaired long-chain PUFA synthesis, as observed in BMDM from LXR deficient mice, who present decreased levels of ELOVL5, ACSL3 and FASD1 and altered PUFA metabolism—diminution of arachidonic acid and docosahexaenoic acid levels [75]. Elovl5 knockdown mice also presented reductions in ω -3 and ω -6 PUFA levels, while they accumulated C18 PUFAs [128].

The most prominent and commonly studied PUFAs are γ -linoleic acid (γ -LA; C18:3n-6), arachidonic acid (AA; C20:4n-6), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA; C20:5n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; C22:6n-3), the latter two sharing strong anti-inflammatory properties. While γ -LA is decreased in the visceral AT of type 2 diabetic, obese women, AA, EPA and DHA are all increased in subcutaneous AT. Most interestingly, AA levels correlate to CD68 expression [129]. Although most AA functions stem from its ability to produce bioactive lipid mediators, AA holds properties innate to itself. AA is the most prevalent PUFA and has been found to disrupt LPS- and SFA-mediated TLR4 activation in macrophages

by directly binding to its co-receptor MD2 and decreasing the stimulation of its downstream target NF- κ B and MAPK [130]. Contradicting results have, however, arisen from the observation that free AA treatment is able to induce p38 and JNK signaling in human monocytes, as well as to generate a foam-like phenotype by promoting the accumulation of TG, CE and AA itself in LDs [131]. This pool is, however, not used for eicosanoid production [132], but still represents a mechanism that may favor the ATM phenotype distinctive of obesity as lipid-laden monocytes migrate into AT. JNK signaling is associated with apoptotic mechanisms and accordingly, AA treatment of RAW cells caused cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in a JNK-dependent manner [133]. Increased intracellular AA content by altering the Lands cycle also resulted in apoptosis of monocyte-derived macrophages [134].

When it comes to ω -3 PUFA, in vitro and in vivo models display different results. DHA treatment of model membranes resulted in increased membrane fluidity but also an increase in Chol domains, suggesting it is capable of forming distinct Chol-rich or poor domains. On the contrary, EPA, AA and ALA all increased fluidity by reducing Chol domains. EPA notably did so despite temperature and Chol content changes, revealing more consistent effects [135]. However, these results have been contested by observations that EPA treatment of Chol-loaded HMDM does not induce significant changes of the free Chol:GPL ratio. Instead, it participates in foam-like cell formation by reducing ABCA1/G1-mediated Chol efflux and increasing TG content stored in LD [136]. In mice, ω -3 PUFA macrophage production by NCoR depression has been associated with hypoinflammation [76]. Anti-inflammatory M2 polarization and lipid catabolism is promoted in mice under a DHA/EPA-rich diet, where shorter chain FAs were used for β -oxidation while PUFAs were oriented to GPL and SPM production [137]. EPA alone also displays protective, insulin sensitizing effects, as supplementation of this PUFA prevented and even reversed AT inflammation and adipocyte hypertrophy, accounted for by adipocyte size, adipogenesis-related genes, ATM infiltration and FA oxidation (FAO) [138]. Likewise, DHA shares similar effects by promoting M2-like polarization in the AT of obese mice [139]. These protective actions are most likely due to its ability to inhibit NF- κ B and NLRP3 inflammasome activation, as well as to target de novo ceramide synthesis and TLR4 recruitment into lipid rafts [123,140,141]. Evidence also suggests that these FAs work in concert with the insulin sensitizing adipokine adiponectin, given that its neutralization augments M1 markers Il-6, Ccl2, Nos2, among others, and increases neutral lipid content within ATMs [142]. The discovery of the G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) GPR120, recently renamed fatty acid receptor 4 (FFA4), as well as DHA and EPA capacity to interact and activate PPAR α , represent another means for the anti-inflammatory character of ω -3 PUFA [125,139]. Gpr120 is highly expressed in adipocytes and macrophages, and its deficiency abrogates the anti-diabetic effects that come with ω -3 PUFA supplementation [143,144]. Indeed, DHA and EPA exposure of Gpr120 null mice had no effect on monocyte/macrophage chemotaxis, M1-like and M2-like gene expression as well as overall and tissue-specific insulin sensitivity [143].

Although less studied, MUFAs also display anti-inflammatory properties that can oppose SFA action. A MUFA-enriched diet favored a more insulin sensitive phenotype in mice and humans, as well as reduced IL-1 β and NO secretion by macrophages, decreased the number of M1-like ATMs and limited adipocyte hypertrophy [145,146]. In BM-derived macrophages, the ω -9 oleic acid (OA, C18:1n-9) was able to inhibit NLRP3 signaling through the induction of AMPK [145]. This inhibition is consistent with results showing that OA is capable of promoting M2-like polarization in RAW macrophages and mesenteric AT, but not epidydimal AT [106]. The anti-inflammatory ω -7 palmitoleic acid (PM, C16:1n-7) acts independently of AMPK and also PPARs, but is able to lower M1 polarization, cytokine production and ameliorate IR in muscle [114,147]. In accordance with these observations, Cao and et al., showed that PM enrichment in the AT of FABP deficient mice allowed for a significant flux of this FA to the muscle and liver, improving metabolic status and whole-body insulin sensitivity [148].

4.3.3. Eicosanoids and Other Bioactive Lipid Mediators

In addition to directly modifying cytokine production and inflammatory signaling, ω -3 and ω -6 PUFAs are direct precursors for the production of potent bioactive lipid mediators such as eicosanoids and resolvins. AA, being the most abundant ω -6 PUFA, is responsible for the production of

prostaglandins (PG), which are generated by the action of cyclooxygenases (COXs), and thromboxanes (TX), leukotrienes (LT) and lipoxins (LX) which are issued by lipoxygenases (LOXs). These metabolites are responsible for most of the bioactivity attributed to AA. EPA and DHA are equal substrates for COXs and LOXs, but also for Cytochrome P450 (CYPs) enzymes which mediate their conversion into protectins (PD), maresins (for DHA) and resolvins (D-series when issued from DHA, E-series when issued from EPA). These 3 families are referred to as SPMs.

Their production is mainly mediated through the action of PLA₂, which allows the release of different PUFAs from membrane PL [109]. The PLA₂ superfamily is composed of numerous lipolytic enzymes that are classified according to their induction profile (i.e., cytosolic, secretory, Ca²⁺ independent, among others) [109]. Their implication in the development of metabolic disorders and inflammation has been analyzed in plasma, adipocytes, pancreatic islets and macrophages in both mice and humans. Group X sPLA₂ has been found to promote PGE₂ secretion and inhibit glucose stimulated insulin secretion [149]. Similarly, it inhibits LXR activation in macrophages, decreases ABCA1/G1 expression, augments intracellular Chol content in macrophages and promotes inflammatory signaling dependent on TLR4 [149]. PLA2 group V is upregulated in plasma from diabetic subjects and associated SNPs correlate to LDL levels [150]. Moreover, its secretion by hypertrophic adipocytes favorizes M2-like polarization through PGs and other lipid-mediated processes, limits IR in DIO, promotes phagocytosis and intriguingly promotes atherosclerosis [151–153]. Other members of the PLA₂ superfamily also warrant research, notably regarding their possible role in diet-induced ATM metabolic activation.

LPLATs can also contribute to eicosanoid production as they assure PUFA—preferably AA and EPA—turnover at the *sn*-2 position of membrane PL. This has been demonstrated in in vitro and mouse models by altering the expression or activity of the LPCAT3 member. Indeed, while Lpcat3 inhibition in RAW macrophages and shLpcat3-treated mice showed reduced LA- and AA-containing membrane PC and a pro-inflammatory phenotype, its activation reduced the levels of lysoPC and thus limited the amount of free AA that could be used for PGE_2 production in LPS-primed macrophages [93]. For complementary roles of the PLA₂ and LPLAT enzymes in membrane dynamics, obesity and obesity-associated metabolic disorders, see [109,154,155]. Lastly, SFA and UFA also control eicosanoid production by regulating the expression of the enzymes mentioned above. Such is notably the case of LU and PA, which were the most potent inducers of COX expression in RAW macrophages. This effect was inhibited by PUFAs such as DHA [124]. Conjugated linoleic acid, on the contrary, displayed an inhibitory effect on COX expression in BMDM and thus resulted in reduced TXA4 and PGE2 synthesis [156]. DHA- and EPA-derived SPMs are characterized by their anti-inflammatory features, while AA-derived eicosanoids are pro- or anti-inflammatory, depending on the context (Table 1). Such is the case of PGE2, which has antilipolytic, antifibrogenic, proresolving properties when used as an exogenous stimulus on human WAT explants from obese subjects [157]. It has also been shown to promote an anti-inflammatory ATM phenotype [158]. In contrast, PGE2 production or signaling inhibition has also been shown to be protective against obesity-associated inflammation, as it decreased TNFa, MCP-1 and IL-6 expression by macrophages and AT lipolysis in HFD-fed rodent models and human AT [159]. These discrepancies may notably be due to the specificity of the response, as whole-body inhibition of COX enzymes also downregulates the expression of other prostaglandins (PGs) which might otherwise be responsible for the inflammatory state observed in obesity. This might, however, not be true for cell specific COX inhibition, as obese mice subject to bone marrow transplantation from Cox1^{-/-} donors actually showed increased AT inflammation, whereas hepatic inflammation was diminished [160]. Moreover, while PGE2 is the primary ligand for EP3, we cannot rule out the binding of this PG to other receptors, or even other PGs to EP3. Lastly, while PGE2 indeed seemed to promote ATM migration in a model of increased lipolysis after fasting, this was done so without increasing inflammation in AT [161].

Table 1. Principal PUFA-derived lipid mediators in adipose tissue (AT) inflammation and ATM activation during obesity. H: human, M: mouse, R: rat, En: endogenous, Ex: exogenous.

MEDIATOR	PRECURSOR	SPECIES: MODEL	SOURCE	CELL TYPE/TISSUE	REPORTED ACTIONS	REFERENCES
			PR	ORESOLVING MEDIATORS		
RVD1	DHA	M: DIO	En, Ex	ATMs, Peritoneal macrophages	 Reduced pro-inflammatory markers (TNFα, IL-6, leptin) and ROS Induces phagocytosis 	[139,162]
		M: <i>db/db</i> mice	Ex	ATMs	 Improved glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity Increased adiponectin secretion Decreased CLS formation and ATM M1 polarization 	[163]
		M: DIO H: lean and obese	En, Ex	Epididymal AT, BMDM, adipocytes, PBMC	 Reduced monocyte/macrophage transadipose migration 	[162]
		H: lean and obese ± T2D and THP-1 colls	En, Ex	Omental AT and THP-1 macrophages	 Promotes the IL-10/STAT3 pathway at low concentrations Increases p38 MAPK phosphorylation and IL-1rα production 	[164]
RVD2	DHA	M: DIO H: Lean and obese	Ex	Epididymal AT	 Reduced pro-inflammatory markers (TNFα, IL-6, IL-12, leptin) Induced adiponectin secretion Decreased leptin secretion 	[162]
RVE1	EPA	M: objob mice	Ex	Epididymal AT	 Induced expression of adiponectin, GLUT4, IRS-1 and PPARγ in AT Reduced monocyte/macrophage transadipose migration 	[165]

MEDIATOR	PRECURSOR	SPECIES: MODEL	SOURCE	CELL TYPE/TISSUE	REPORTED ACTIONS	REFERENCES
PD1	DHA	M: ob/ob mice	Ex	Epididymal AT	 Induced expression of adiponectin 	[165]
MARESIN 1	DHA	M: DIO and <i>ob/ob</i> mice and H: lean subjects	Ex	Epididymal AT, subcutaneous AT	 Ameliorated insulin signaling (AKT phosphorylation) and glucose homeostasis (GLUT4, AMPK expression, blood glucose levels) Reduced IL-Iβ, TNFα, MCP-1 expression in AT Attenuated ATM infiltration and reduced the M1:M2 ratio Induced adiponectin secretion 	[166]
LXA4	AA	M: DIO	Ex	Epididymal AT	 Induced adiponectin secretion 	[162,167]
		M: DIO and 3T3-L1, J774 cells	Ex	ATMs, 3T3-L1 adipocytes, J774 macrophages	 Promoted an anti-inflammatory ATM phenotype Downregulated diet-induced autophagy 	[167]
		M: Standard diet and 3T3-L1, J774 cells	Ex	Perigonadal AT and 3T3-L1 adipocytes, J774 macrophages	 Decreased IL-6, TNFα and MCP-1 secretion by AT and macrophages Increased insulin sensitivity by promoting IL-10, GLUT-4 and IRS-1 expression 	[168]
PGD2	AA	M: DIO + aP2-Cre/L-PGDS ^{flox/flox} mice, DIO and <i>ob/ob</i> mice and H: obese subjects	En, Ex	ATM, epididymal AT, subcutaneous AT, BMDM	 Decreased weight gain and promoted insulin sensitivity Altered FA metabolism: decreased SREBP-1, SCD1, FAS Increased ATGL- and MGL-mediated lipolysis Altered M1:M2 ratio in favor of anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages 	[169,170]

Table 1. Cont.

MEDIATOR	PRECURSOR	SPECIES: MODEL	SOURCE	CELL TYPE/TISSUE	REPORTED ACTIONS	REFERENCES
PGE2	AA	H: Lean and obese and 3T3-L1 cells	En, Ex	Omental AT, primary adipocytes, 3T3-L1 adipocytes	 Decreased inflammatory and fibrogenic gene expression Inhibited adipocyte lipolysis Promoted AT browning 	[157]
		M: DIO + CREB ^{LysMKO} mice	Ex	BMDM	 Mediated M2-like ATM polarization via CREB, thus maintaining insulin sensitivity 	[158]
			PRO-	INFLAMMATORY MEDIATORS		
PGE2	AA	H: lean and obese, M: dlydb mice, R: DIO and 3T3-L1, RAW cells	En	SVF, Primary adipocytes, 3T3-L1 adipocytes, RAW macrophages	 Decreased M1-like ATM content and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression by COX or EP3 inhibition Decreased macrophage migration and responsiveness to hypoxia by COX inhibition Lower blood glucose levels and higher insulin sensitivity by COX or EP3 inhibition 	[159]
LTB4	AA	M: DIO and U937, 3T3-L1 cells	En, Ex	Peritoneal macrophages, 3T3-L1 adipocytes,	 Stimulated macrophage chemotaxis Promoted activation of the NF-κB and JNK pathways in macrophages Increased TNFα, IL-6, MCP-1, CXCL1 expression Promoted IR in liver and muscle 	[171]
LTD4	AA	M: DIO and ob/ob mice	En, Ex	Epididymal AT	■ Induced NF-κB activity	[172]

Table 1. Cont.
The expression of these and other lipid mediators, as well as the enzymes needed for their synthesis is found in human visceral adipose tissue, although their ratio shifts during obesity in favor of AA-derived products [162,164]. Indeed, while the 5-LOX pathway is principally implicated in LT production and, to a lesser extent, resolvin synthesis, its upregulation during obesity is accompanied by increased conversion of AA into LTB4 and LTD4 in obese women with T2D while maintaining resolvin levels below the detection limit [129]. In addition, this pathway has been found to be correlated with LD formation within macrophages which also display higher LTB4 production levels [173]. It is interesting to note, however, that exercise and weight loss promotes the synthesis of other LOX-derived mediators, notably RvD1. This is accompanied by enhanced macrophage phagocytosis [174].

Proresolving and pro-inflammatory lipid mediators exert their actions notably through binding to specific GPCRs. RvD1 and LXA4 signal through GPR32/RDV1 and ALX/FPR2, the latter being expressed in murine ATMs and adipocytes as well as human cells [162,163,168]. Unexpectedly, myeloid deletion of Fpr2 is associated with improved IR, lipid and glucose metabolism as well as lower inflammatory status due to reduced M1-like ATM infiltration [175], meaning other metabolites different to RvD1 and LXA4 are able to bind and more potently induce the FPR2 axis, whose properties seem to depend on the nature of the ligand. RvE1 signals through the receptor ERV1, and its overexpression in myeloid cells holds protective effects on DIO [176]. Interestingly, the chemerin receptor ChemR23 has also been found to bind RvE1 [162]. GPR18/DRV2, LGR6, GPR37 are receptors for RvD2, maresin and PD1, respectively [177,178]. PGE2 signaling is mediated by receptors EP1-4. Among them, EP3 has been shown to be increased in adipocytes of HFD-fed mice and increase adipocyte FFA release [159], while EP4 is induced in ATMs and seems to be implicated in ATM recruitment and lipid buffering [161]. BLT1, also called LTB4r1, is the receptor for LTB4 and is expressed in macrophages. Its deficiency results in higher glucose tolerance, lower blood insulin and FFA levels and improved insulin sensitivity in mice under a HFD. It also translated into lower M1-like ATM migration both in vitro and in vivo and ameliorated inflammatory profile [171].

5. Concluding Remarks

Obesity is first and foremost a metabolic disorder characterized by the excessive influx of dietary lipids which orchestrate ATM metabolic activation as a protective means for reducing extracellular and intracellular cytotoxic lipid levels. ATMs are at the crossroad of both lipid metabolism and lipid-mediated inflammation by adopting a specific program for buffering these lipids, a key feature for controlling AT inflammation and the development of IR and T2D. A better understanding of the mechanisms by which lipids shape the ATM phenotype during diet-induced obesity is thus necessary to counteract this pathology, and will most likely need to integrate multi-omic approaches in order to identify interaction networks through which single molecular lipid species are implicated in ATM dysfunction.

Author Contributions: V.D.D., E.F. and W.L.G. conducted the bibliographic search and wrote the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was financially supported by INSERM and Sorbonne Université. Veronica D. Dahik was the recipient of a doctoral contract from Sorbonne Université.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Abbreviations

Arachidonic acid
ATP-binding cassette A1/G1
Adipose tissue
Adipose tissue macrophages
Cholesterol
Crown-like structures
Docosahexaenoic acid

DIO	Diet-induced obesity
DNL	De novo lipogenesis
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
FAS	Fatty acid synthase
FFA	Free Fatty Acid
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HFD	High fat diet
IR	Insulin resistance
LD	Lipid droplet
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
LXR	Liver X Receptor
MCP-1/CCL2	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/Chemokine C-C motif ligand 2
Mme	Metabolically activated
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acid
PA	Palmitic acid
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PG	Prostaglandin
PL	Phospholipid
PldG	Phosphatidylglycerol
PUFA	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid
SFA	Saturated Fatty Acid
SL	Sphingolipid
SREBP	Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Protein
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes
TG	Triglyceride
TLR	Toll-like receptor
VLDL	Very low-density lipoprotein

References

- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014: A pooled analysis of 1698 population-based measurement studies with 19.2 million participants. *Lancet Lond. Engl.* 2016, 387, 1377–1396. [CrossRef]
- 2. Roglic, G.; Varghese, C.; Riley, L.; Harvey, A. (Eds.) *Global Report on Diabetes*; World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2016.
- 3. Nimptsch, K.; Konigorski, S.; Pischon, T. Diagnosis of obesity and use of obesity biomarkers in science and clinical medicine. *Metabolism* **2019**, *92*, 61–70. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shapiro, H.; Pecht, T.; Shaco-Levy, R.; Harman-Boehm, I.; Kirshtein, B.; Kuperman, Y.; Chen, A.; Blüher, M.; Shai, I.; Rudich, A. Adipose Tissue Foam Cells Are Present in Human Obesity. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2013, 98, 1173–1181. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jaitin, D.A.; Adlung, L.; Thaiss, C.A.; Weiner, A.; Li, B.; Descamps, H.; Lundgren, P.; Bleriot, C.; Liu, Z.; Deczkowska, A.; et al. Lipid-Associated Macrophages Control Metabolic Homeostasis in a Trem2-Dependent Manner. *Cell* 2019, *178*, 686–698. [CrossRef]
- Muir, L.A.; Kiridena, S.; Griffin, C.; DelProposto, J.B.; Geletka, L.; Martinez-Santibañez, G.; Zamarron, B.F.; Lucas, H.; Singer, K.; O'Rourke, R.W.; et al. Frontline Science: Rapid adipose tissue expansion triggers unique proliferation and lipid accumulation profiles in adipose tissue macrophages. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 2018, 103, 615–628. [CrossRef]
- Kratz, M.; Coats, B.R.; Hisert, K.B.; Hagman, D.; Mutskov, V.; Peris, E.; Schoenfelt, K.Q.; Kuzma, J.N.; Larson, I.; Billing, P.S.; et al. Metabolic Dysfunction Drives a Mechanistically Distinct Proinflammatory Phenotype in Adipose Tissue Macrophages. *Cell Metab.* 2014, 20, 614–625. [CrossRef]
- Coats, B.R.; Schoenfelt, K.Q.; Barbosa-Lorenzi, V.C.; Peris, E.; Cui, C.; Hoffman, A.; Zhou, G.; Fernandez, S.; Zhai, L.; Hall, B.A.; et al. Metabolically Activated Adipose Tissue Macrophages Perform Detrimental and Beneficial Functions during Diet-Induced Obesity. *Cell Rep.* 2017, 20, 3149–3161. [CrossRef]

- O'Reilly, M.E.; Kajani, S.; Ralston, J.C.; Lenighan, Y.M.; Roche, H.M.; McGillicuddy, F.C. Nutritionally Derived Metabolic Cues Typical of the Obese Microenvironment Increase Cholesterol Efflux Capacity of Adipose Tissue Macrophages. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 2019, 63, 1800713. [CrossRef]
- Carroll, R.G.; Zasłona, Z.; Galván-Peña, S.; Koppe, E.L.; Sévin, D.C.; Angiari, S.; Triantafilou, M.; Triantafilou, K.; Modis, L.K.; O'Neill, L.A. An unexpected link between fatty acid synthase and cholesterol synthesis in proinflammatory macrophage activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2018, 293, 5509–5521. [CrossRef]
- 11. Petkevicius, K.; Virtue, S.; Bidault, G.; Jenkins, B.; Çubuk, C.; Morgantini, C.; Aouadi, M.; Dopazo, J.; Serlie, M.J.; Koulman, A.; et al. Accelerated phosphatidylcholine turnover in macrophages promotes adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *eLife* **2019**, *8*. [CrossRef]
- Köberlin, M.S.; Snijder, B.; Heinz, L.X.; Baumann, C.L.; Fauster, A.; Vladimer, G.I.; Gavin, A.-C.; Superti-Furga, G. A Conserved Circular Network of Coregulated Lipids Modulates Innate Immune Responses. *Cell* 2015, *162*, 170–183. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Hotamisligil, G.S.; Shargill, N.S.; Spiegelman, B.M. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: Direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* **1993**, 259, 87–91. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Patsouris, D.; Li, P.-P.; Thapar, D.; Chapman, J.; Olefsky, J.M.; Neels, J.G. Ablation of CD11c-Positive Cells Normalizes Insulin Sensitivity in Obese Insulin Resistant Animals. *Cell Metab.* 2008, *8*, 301–309. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Weisberg, S.P.; McCann, D.; Desai, M.; Rosenbaum, M.; Leibel, R.L.; Ferrante, A.W. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *J. Clin. Investig.* **2003**, *112*, 1796–1808. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Feng, B.; Jiao, P.; Nie, Y.; Kim, T.; Jun, D.; van Rooijen, N.; Yang, Z.; Xu, H. Clodronate Liposomes Improve Metabolic Profile and Reduce Visceral Adipose Macrophage Content in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *PLoS ONE* 2011, 6, e24358. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bu, L.; Gao, M.; Qu, S.; Liu, D. Intraperitoneal Injection of Clodronate Liposomes Eliminates Visceral Adipose Macrophages and Blocks High-fat Diet-induced Weight Gain and Development of Insulin Resistance. *AAPS J.* 2013, 15, 1001–1011. [CrossRef]
- Aouadi, M.; Tencerova, M.; Vangala, P.; Yawe, J.C.; Nicoloro, S.M.; Amano, S.U.; Cohen, J.L.; Czech, M.P. Gene silencing in adipose tissue macrophages regulates whole-body metabolism in obese mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2013, 110, 8278–8283. [CrossRef]
- Aouadi, M.; Vangala, P.; Yawe, J.C.; Tencerova, M.; Nicoloro, S.M.; Cohen, J.L.; Shen, Y.; Czech, M.P. Lipid storage by adipose tissue macrophages regulates systemic glucose tolerance. *Am. J. Physiol.-Endocrinol. Metab.* 2014, 307, E374–E383. [CrossRef]
- 20. Mantovani, A.; Sica, A.; Sozzani, S.; Allavena, P.; Vecchi, A.; Locati, M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol.* **2004**, *25*, 677–686. [CrossRef]
- 21. Mosser, D.M.; Edwards, J.P. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2008, *8*, 958–969. [CrossRef]
- 22. Nawaz, A.; Aminuddin, A.; Kado, T.; Takikawa, A.; Yamamoto, S.; Tsuneyama, K.; Igarashi, Y.; Ikutani, M.; Nishida, Y.; Nagai, Y.; et al. CD206+ M2-like macrophages regulate systemic glucose metabolism by inhibiting proliferation of adipocyte progenitors. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Orliaguet, L.; Dalmas, E.; Drareni, K.; Venteclef, N.; Alzaid, F. Mechanisms of Macrophage Polarization in Insulin Signaling and Sensitivity. *Front. Endocrinol.* **2020**, *11*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Weisberg, S.P.; Hunter, D.; Huber, R.; Lemieux, J.; Slaymaker, S.; Vaddi, K.; Charo, I.; Leibel, R.L.; Ferrante, A.W., Jr. CCR2 modulates inflammatory and metabolic effects of high-fat feeding. *J. Clin. Investig.* 2006, 116, 115–124. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Kanda, H.; Tateya, S.; Tamori, Y.; Kotani, K.; Hiasa, K.; Kitazawa, R.; Kitazawa, S.; Miyachi, H.; Maeda, S.; Egashira, K.; et al. MCP-1 contributes to macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, insulin resistance, and hepatic steatosis in obesity. *J. Clin. Investig.* **2006**, *116*, 1494–1505. [CrossRef]
- DiStefano, M.T.; Roth Flach, R.J.; Senol-Cosar, O.; Danai, L.V.; Virbasius, J.V.; Nicoloro, S.M.; Straubhaar, J.; Dagdeviren, S.; Wabitsch, M.; Gupta, O.T.; et al. Adipocyte-specific Hypoxia-inducible gene 2 promotes fat deposition and diet-induced insulin resistance. *Mol. Metab.* 2016, *5*, 1149–1161. [CrossRef]
- 27. Boutens, L.; Hooiveld, G.J.; Dhingra, S.; Cramer, R.A.; Netea, M.G.; Stienstra, R. Unique metabolic activation of adipose tissue macrophages in obesity promotes inflammatory responses. *Diabetologia* **2018**, *61*, 942–953. [CrossRef]

- Sharma, M.; Boytard, L.; Hadi, T.; Koelwyn, G.; Simon, R.; Ouimet, M.; Seifert, L.; Spiro, W.; Yan, B.; Hutchison, S.; et al. Enhanced glycolysis and HIF-1α activation in adipose tissue macrophages sustains local and systemic interleukin-1β production in obesity. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, 5555. [CrossRef]
- Prieur, X.; Mok, C.Y.L.; Velagapudi, V.R.; Núñez, V.; Fuentes, L.; Montaner, D.; Ishikawa, K.; Camacho, A.; Barbarroja, N.; O'Rahilly, S.; et al. Differential Lipid Partitioning Between Adipocytes and Tissue Macrophages Modulates Macrophage Lipotoxicity and M2/M1 Polarization in Obese Mice. *Diabetes* 2011, 60, 797–809. [CrossRef]
- Miller, A.M.; Asquith, D.L.; Hueber, A.J.; Anderson, L.A.; Holmes, W.M.; McKenzie, A.N.; Xu, D.; Sattar, N.; McInnes, I.B.; Liew, F.Y. Interleukin-33 Induces Protective Effects in Adipose Tissue Inflammation During Obesity in Mice. *Circ. Res.* 2010, 107, 650–658. [CrossRef]
- 31. Silva, H.M.; Báfica, A.; Rodrigues-Luiz, G.F.; Chi, J.; Santos, P.; d'Emery, A.; Reis, B.S.; van Hoytema Konijnenburg, D.P.; Crane, A.; Arifa, R.D.N.; et al. Vasculature-associated fat macrophages readily adapt to inflammatory and metabolic challenges. *J. Exp. Med.* **2019**, *216*, 786–806. [CrossRef]
- 32. Hill, D.A.; Lim, H.-W.; Kim, Y.H.; Ho, W.Y.; Foong, Y.H.; Nelson, V.L.; Nguyen, H.C.B.; Chegireddy, K.; Kim, J.; Habertheuer, A.; et al. Distinct macrophage populations direct inflammatory versus physiological changes in adipose tissue. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2018**, *115*, E5096–E5105. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Serbulea, V.; Upchurch, C.M.; Schappe, M.S.; Voigt, P.; DeWeese, D.E.; Desai, B.N.; Meher, A.K.; Leitinger, N. Macrophage phenotype and bioenergetics are controlled by oxidized phospholipids identified in lean and obese adipose tissue. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2018, 115, E6254–E6263. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lumeng, C.N.; DelProposto, J.B.; Westcott, D.J.; Saltiel, A.R. Phenotypic switching of adipose tissue macrophages with obesity is generated by spatiotemporal differences in macrophage subtypes. *Diabetes* 2008, 57, 3239–3246. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bechor, S.; Nachmias, D.; Elia, N.; Haim, Y.; Vatarescu, M.; Leikin-Frenkel, A.; Gericke, M.; Tarnovscki, T.; Las, G.; Rudich, A. Adipose tissue conditioned media support macrophage lipid-droplet biogenesis by interfering with autophagic flux. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* 2017, 1862, 1001–1012. [CrossRef]
- Xu, X.; Grijalva, A.; Skowronski, A.; van Eijk, M.; Serlie, M.J.; Ferrante, A.W. Obesity Activates a Program of Lysosomal-Dependent Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue Macrophages Independently of Classic Activation. *Cell Metab.* 2013, *18*, 816–830. [CrossRef]
- Olivier, M.; Tanck, M.W.; Out, R.; Villard, E.F.; Lammers, B.; Bouchareychas, L.; Frisdal, E.; Superville, A.; Van Berkel, T.; Kastelein, J.J.; et al. Human ATP–Binding Cassette G1 Controls Macrophage Lipoprotein Lipase Bioavailability and Promotes Foam Cell Formation. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2012, 32, 2223–2231. [CrossRef]
- 38. Poledne, R.; Kralova Lesna, I.; Kralova, A.; Fronek, J.; Cejkova, S. The relationship between non-HDL cholesterol and macrophage phenotypes in human adipose tissue. *J. Lipid Res.* **2016**, *57*, 1899–1905. [CrossRef]
- 39. He, J.; Xu, X.; Francisco, A.; Ferrante, A.; Krakoff, J. Markers of adipose tissue macrophage content are negatively associated with serum HDL-C concentrations. *Atherosclerosis* **2011**, *215*, 243–246. [CrossRef]
- 40. Crawford, D.C.; Nord, A.S.; Badzioch, M.D.; Ranchalis, J.; McKinstry, L.A.; Ahearn, M.; Bertucci, C.; Shephard, C.; Wong, M.; Rieder, M.J.; et al. A common VLDLR polymorphism interacts with APOE genotype in the prediction of carotid artery disease risk. *J. Lipid Res.* **2008**, *49*, 588–596. [CrossRef]
- 41. Shin, K.C.; Hwang, I.; Choe, S.S.; Park, J.; Ji, Y.; Kim, J.I.; Lee, G.Y.; Choi, S.H.; Ching, J.; Kovalik, J.-P.; et al. Macrophage VLDLR mediates obesity-induced insulin resistance with adipose tissue inflammation. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8.* [CrossRef]
- Schoiswohl, G.; Stefanovic-Racic, M.; Menke, M.N.; Wills, R.C.; Surlow, B.A.; Basantani, M.K.; Sitnick, M.T.; Cai, L.; Yazbeck, C.F.; Stolz, D.B.; et al. Impact of Reduced ATGL-Mediated Adipocyte Lipolysis on Obesity-Associated Insulin Resistance and Inflammation in Male Mice. *Endocrinology* 2015, *156*, 3610–3624. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Albert, J.S.; Yerges-Armstrong, L.M.; Horenstein, R.B.; Pollin, T.I.; Sreenivasan, U.T.; Chai, S.; Blaner, W.S.; Snitker, S.; O'Connell, J.R.; Gong, D.-W.; et al. Null Mutation in Hormone-Sensitive Lipase Gene and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 2014, 370, 2307–2315. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Flaherty, S.E.; Grijalva, A.; Xu, X.; Ables, E.; Nomani, A.; Ferrante, A.W. A lipase-independent pathway of lipid release and immune modulation by adipocytes. *Science* **2019**, *363*, 989–993. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Zhang, Y.; Mei, H.; Chang, X.; Chen, F.; Zhu, Y.; Han, X. Adipocyte-derived microvesicles from obese mice induce M1 macrophage phenotype through secreted miR-155. *J. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2016**, *8*, 505–517. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 46. Xie, Z.; Wang, X.; Liu, X.; Du, H.; Sun, C.; Shao, X.; Tian, J.; Gu, X.; Wang, H.; Tian, J.; et al. Adipose-Derived Exosomes Exert Proatherogenic Effects by Regulating Macrophage Foam Cell Formation and Polarization. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* **2018**, *7*. [CrossRef]
- Deng, Z.; Poliakov, A.; Hardy, R.W.; Clements, R.; Liu, C.; Liu, Y.; Wang, J.; Xiang, X.; Zhang, S.; Zhuang, X.; et al. Adipose Tissue Exosome-Like Vesicles Mediate Activation of Macrophage-Induced Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* 2009, 58, 2498–2505. [CrossRef]
- Haka, A.S.; Barbosa-Lorenzi, V.C.; Lee, H.J.; Falcone, D.J.; Hudis, C.A.; Dannenberg, A.J.; Maxfield, F.R. Exocytosis of macrophage lysosomes leads to digestion of apoptotic adipocytes and foam cell formation. *J. Lipid Res.* 2016, 57, 980–992. [CrossRef]
- 49. Maxfield, F.R.; Barbosa-Lorenzi, V.C.; Singh, R.K. Digestive exophagy: Phagocyte digestion of objects too large for phagocytosis. *Traffic* **2020**, *21*, 6–12. [CrossRef]
- 50. Fujimoto, T.; Parton, R.G. Not Just Fat: The Structure and Function of the Lipid Droplet. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **2011**, 3. [CrossRef]
- van Dierendonck, X.A.M.H.; de la Rosa Rodriguez, M.A.; Georgiadi, A.; Mattijssen, F.; Dijk, W.; van Weeghel, M.; Singh, R.; Borst, J.W.; Stienstra, R.; Kersten, S. HILPDA Uncouples Lipid Droplet Accumulation in Adipose Tissue Macrophages from Inflammation and Metabolic Dysregulation. *Cell Rep.* 2020, 30, 1811–1822. [CrossRef]
- Li, F.; Zhang, H. Lysosomal Acid Lipase in Lipid Metabolism and Beyond. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2019, 39, 850–856. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Grijalva, A.; Xu, X.; Ferrante, A.W. Autophagy Is Dispensable for Macrophage-Mediated Lipid Homeostasis in Adipose Tissue. *Diabetes* **2016**, *65*, 967–980. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schlager, S.; Vujic, N.; Korbelius, M.; Duta-Mare, M.; Dorow, J.; Leopold, C.; Rainer, S.; Wegscheider, M.; Reicher, H.; Ceglarek, U.; et al. Lysosomal lipid hydrolysis provides substrates for lipid mediator synthesis in murine macrophages. *Oncotarget* 2017, 8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Huang, S.C.-C.; Everts, B.; Ivanova, Y.; O'Sullivan, D.; Nascimento, M.; Smith, A.M.; Beatty, W.; Love-Gregory, L.; Lam, W.Y.; O'Neill, C.M.; et al. Cell-intrinsic lysosomal lipolysis is essential for alternative activation of macrophages. *Nat. Immunol.* 2014, *15*, 846–855. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Singh, R.; Kaushik, S.; Wang, Y.; Xiang, Y.; Novak, I.; Komatsu, M.; Tanaka, K.; Cuervo, A.M.; Czaja, M.J. Autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. *Nature* 2009, 458, 1131–1135. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Zhang, Q.; Li, Y.; Liang, T.; Lu, X.; Zhang, C.; Liu, X.; Jiang, X.; Martin, R.C.; Cheng, M.; Cai, L. ER Stress and Autophagy Dysfunction Contribute to Fatty Liver in Diabetic Mice. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 2015, *11*, 559–568. [CrossRef]
- 58. Ouimet, M.; Franklin, V.; Mak, E.; Liao, X.; Tabas, I.; Marcel, Y.L. Autophagy Regulates Cholesterol Efflux from Macrophage Foam Cells via Lysosomal Acid Lipase. *Cell Metab.* **2011**, *13*, 655–667. [CrossRef]
- 59. Hadadi-Bechor, S.; Haim, Y.; Pecht, T.; Gat, R.; Tarnovscki, T.; Gericke, M.; Rudich, A. Autophagy differentially regulates macrophage lipid handling depending on the lipid substrate (oleic acid vs. acetylated-LDL) and inflammatory activation state. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* **2019**, *1864*, 158527. [CrossRef]
- Subramanian, S.; Han, C.Y.; Chiba, T.; McMillen, T.S.; Wang, S.A.; Haw, A.; Kirk, E.A.; O'Brien, K.D.; Chait, A. Dietary Cholesterol Worsens Adipose Tissue Macrophage Accumulation and Atherosclerosis in Obese LDL Receptor–Deficient Mice. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2008, *28*, 685–691. [CrossRef]
- 61. Umemoto, T.; Han, C.Y.; Mitra, P.; Averill, M.M.; Tang, C.; Goodspeed, L.; Omer, M.; Subramanian, S.; Wang, S.; Den Hartigh, L.J.; et al. Apolipoprotein AI and High-Density Lipoprotein Have Anti-Inflammatory Effects on Adipocytes via Cholesterol Transporters: ATP-Binding Cassette A-1, ATP-Binding Cassette G-1, and Scavenger Receptor B-1. *Circ. Res.* **2013**, *112*, 1345–1354. [CrossRef]
- Laurila, P.-P.; Surakka, I.; Sarin, A.-P.; Yetukuri, L.; Hyötyläinen, T.; Söderlund, S.; Naukkarinen, J.; Tang, J.; Kettunen, J.; Mirel, D.B.; et al. Genomic, Transcriptomic, and Lipidomic Profiling Highlights the Role of Inflammation in Individuals With Low High-density Lipoprotein Cholesterol. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2013, 33, 847–857. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tang, C.; Liu, Y.; Yang, W.; Storey, C.; McMillen, T.S.; Houston, B.A.; Heinecke, J.W.; LeBoeuf, R.C. Hematopoietic ABCA1 deletion promotes monocytosis and worsens diet-induced insulin resistance in mice. *J. Lipid Res.* 2016, *57*, 100–108. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhu, X.; Chung, S.; Bi, X.; Chuang, C.-C.; Brown, A.L.; Liu, M.; Seo, J.; Cuffe, H.; Gebre, A.K.; Boudyguina, E.; et al. Myeloid cell-specific ABCA1 deletion does not worsen insulin resistance in HF diet-induced or genetically obese mouse models. *J. Lipid Res.* 2013, 54, 2708–2717. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Edgel, K.A.; McMillen, T.S.; Wei, H.; Pamir, N.; Houston, B.A.; Caldwell, M.T.; Mai, P.-O.T.; Oram, J.F.; Tang, C.; LeBoeuf, R.C. Obesity and weight loss result in increased adipose tissue ABCG1 expression in db/db mice. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* 2012, 1821, 425–434. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wei, H.; Tarling, E.J.; McMillen, T.S.; Tang, C.; LeBoeuf, R.C. ABCG1 regulates mouse adipose tissue macrophage cholesterol levels and ratio of M1 to M2 cells in obesity and caloric restriction. *J. Lipid Res.* 2015, 56, 2337–2347. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Takei, A.; Nagashima, S.; Takei, S.; Yamamuro, D.; Murakami, A.; Wakabayashi, T.; Isoda, M.; Yamazaki, H.; Ebihara, C.; Takahashi, M.; et al. Myeloid HMG-CoA Reductase Determines Adipose Tissue Inflammation, Insulin Resistance, and Hepatic Steatosis in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *Diabetes* 2020, 69, 158–164. [CrossRef]
- Archer, A.; Stolarczyk, É.; Doria, M.L.; Helguero, L.; Domingues, R.; Howard, J.K.; Mode, A.; Korach-André, M.; Gustafsson, J.-Å. LXR activation by GW3965 alters fat tissue distribution and adipose tissue inflammation in ob/ob female mice. *J. Lipid Res.* 2013, 54, 1300–1311. [CrossRef]
- Lee, J.-H.; Phelan, P.; Shin, M.; Oh, B.-C.; Han, X.; Im, S.-S.; Osborne, T.F. SREBP-1a–stimulated lipid synthesis is required for macrophage phagocytosis downstream of TLR4-directed mTORC1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2018, 115, E12228–E12234. [CrossRef]
- Palmieri, E.M.; Gonzalez-Cotto, M.; Baseler, W.A.; Davies, L.C.; Ghesquière, B.; Maio, N.; Rice, C.M.; Rouault, T.A.; Cassel, T.; Higashi, R.M.; et al. Nitric oxide orchestrates metabolic rewiring in M1 macrophages by targeting aconitase 2 and pyruvate dehydrogenase. *Nat. Commun.* 2020, *11*, 698. [CrossRef]
- 71. Wei, X.; Song, H.; Yin, L.; Rizzo, M.G.; Sidhu, R.; Covey, D.F.; Ory, D.S.; Semenkovich, C.F. Fatty acid synthesis configures the plasma membrane for inflammation in diabetes. *Nature* **2016**, *539*, 294–298. [CrossRef]
- 72. Ecker, J.; Liebisch, G.; Englmaier, M.; Grandl, M.; Robenek, H.; Schmitz, G. Induction of fatty acid synthesis is a key requirement for phagocytic differentiation of human monocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2010**, 107, 7817–7822. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- DeBose-Boyd, R.A.; Ye, J. SREBPs in Lipid Metabolism, Insulin Signaling, and Beyond. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 2018, 43, 358–368. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 74. Oishi, Y.; Spann, N.J.; Link, V.M.; Muse, E.D.; Strid, T.; Edillor, C.; Kolar, M.J.; Matsuzaka, T.; Hayakawa, S.; Tao, J.; et al. SREBP1 Contributes to Resolution of Pro-inflammatory TLR4 Signaling by Reprogramming Fatty Acid Metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 2017, 25, 412–427. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Varin, A.; Thomas, C.; Ishibashi, M.; Ménégaut, L.; Gautier, T.; Trousson, A.; Bergas, V.; de Barros, J.P.P.; Narce, M.; Lobaccaro, J.M.A.; et al. Liver X Receptor Activation Promotes Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Synthesis in Macrophages: Relevance in the Context of Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2015, 35, 1357–1365. [CrossRef]
- 76. Li, P.; Spann, N.J.; Kaikkonen, M.U.; Lu, M.; Oh, D.Y.; Fox, J.N.; Bandyopadhyay, G.; Talukdar, S.; Xu, J.; Lagakos, W.S.; et al. NCoR Repression of LXRs Restricts Macrophage Biosynthesis of Insulin-Sensitizing Omega 3 Fatty Acids. *Cell* 2013, 155, 200–214. [CrossRef]
- Wang, B.; Tontonoz, P. Liver X receptors in lipid signalling and membrane homeostasis. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 2018, 14, 452–463. [CrossRef]
- 78. Jalil, A.; Bourgeois, T.; Ménégaut, L.; Lagrost, L.; Thomas, C.; Masson, D. Revisiting the Role of LXRs in PUFA Metabolism and Phospholipid Homeostasis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 3787. [CrossRef]
- 79. Hresko, R.C.; Kraft, T.E.; Quigley, A.; Carpenter, E.P.; Hruz, P.W. Mammalian Glucose Transporter Activity Is Dependent upon Anionic and Conical Phospholipids. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2016**, *291*, 17271–17282. [CrossRef]
- Stulnig, T.M.; Huber, J.; Leitinger, N.; Imre, E.-M.; Angelisová, P.; Nowotny, P.; Waldhäusl, W. Polyunsaturated Eicosapentaenoic Acid Displaces Proteins from Membrane Rafts by Altering Raft Lipid Composition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2001, 276, 37335–37340. [CrossRef]
- 81. Ruysschaert, J.-M.; Lonez, C. Role of lipid microdomains in TLR-mediated signalling. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Biomembr.* **2015**, *1848*, 1860–1867. [CrossRef]
- 82. Pietiläinen, K.H.; Róg, T.; Seppänen-Laakso, T.; Virtue, S.; Gopalacharyulu, P.; Tang, J.; Rodriguez-Cuenca, S.; Maciejewski, A.; Naukkarinen, J.; Ruskeepää, A.-L.; et al. Association of Lipidome Remodeling in the Adipocyte Membrane with Acquired Obesity in Humans. *PLoS Biol.* **2011**, *9*, e1000623. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 83. Ginsberg, B.H.; Brown, T.J.; Simon, I.; Spector, A.A. Effect of the Membrane Lipid Environment on the Properties of Insulin Receptors. *Diabetes* **1981**, *30*, 773–780. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 84. Park, J.-W.; Park, W.-J.; Kuperman, Y.; Boura-Halfon, S.; Pewzner-Jung, Y.; Futerman, A.H. Ablation of very long acyl chain sphingolipids causes hepatic insulin resistance in mice due to altered detergent-resistant membranes. *Hepatology* **2013**, *57*, 525–532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 85. Pilon, M. Revisiting the membrane-centric view of diabetes. Lipids Health Dis. 2016, 15, 167. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 86. Sezgin, E.; Levental, I.; Mayor, S.; Eggeling, C. The mystery of membrane organization: Composition, regulation and roles of lipid rafts. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2017**, *18*, 361–374. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sun, Y.; Ishibashi, M.; Seimon, T.; Lee, M.; Sharma, S.M.; Fitzgerald, K.A.; Samokhin, A.O.; Wang, Y.; Sayers, S.; Aikawa, M.; et al. Free Cholesterol Accumulation in Macrophage Membranes Activates Toll-Like Receptors and p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase and Induces Cathepsin, K. *Circ. Res.* 2009, 104, 455–465.
 [CrossRef]
- Ito, A.; Hong, C.; Rong, X.; Zhu, X.; Tarling, E.J.; Hedde, P.N.; Gratton, E.; Parks, J.; Tontonoz, P. LXRs link metabolism to inflammation through Abca1-dependent regulation of membrane composition and TLR signaling. *eLife* 2015, 4, e08009. [CrossRef]
- Feng, B.; Yao, P.M.; Li, Y.; Devlin, C.M.; Zhang, D.; Harding, H.P.; Sweeney, M.; Rong, J.X.; Kuriakose, G.; Fisher, E.A.; et al. The endoplasmic reticulum is the site of cholesterol-induced cytotoxicity in macrophages. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2003, *5*, 781–792. [CrossRef]
- van der Veen, J.N.; Kennelly, J.P.; Wan, S.; Vance, J.E.; Vance, D.E.; Jacobs, R.L. The critical role of phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine metabolism in health and disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Biomembr.* 2017, 1859, 1558–1572. [CrossRef]
- Fu, S.; Yang, L.; Li, P.; Hofmann, O.; Dicker, L.; Hide, W.; Lin, X.; Watkins, S.M.; Ivanov, A.R.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Aberrant lipid metabolism disrupts calcium homeostasis causing liver endoplasmic reticulum stress in obesity. *Nature* 2011, 473, 528–531. [CrossRef]
- Li, Z.; Agellon, L.B.; Allen, T.M.; Umeda, M.; Jewell, L.; Mason, A.; Vance, D.E. The ratio of phosphatidylcholine to phosphatidylethanolamine influences membrane integrity and steatohepatitis. *Cell Metab.* 2006, *3*, 321–331. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rong, X.; Albert, C.J.; Hong, C.; Duerr, M.A.; Chamberlain, B.T.; Tarling, E.J.; Ito, A.; Gao, J.; Wang, B.; Edwards, P.A.; et al. LXRs Regulate ER Stress and Inflammation through Dynamic Modulation of Membrane Phospholipid Composition. *Cell Metab.* 2013, *18*, 685–697. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kayser, B.D.; Lhomme, M.; Prifti, E.; Cunha, C.D.; Marquet, F.; Chain, F.; Naas, I.; Pelloux, V.; Dao, M.; Kontush, A.; et al. Phosphatidylglycerols are induced by gut dysbiosis and inflammation, and favorably modulate adipose tissue remodeling in obesity. *FASEB J.* 2019, 33, 4741–4754. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhang, S.-Y.; Dong, Y.-Q.; Wang, P.; Zhang, X.; Yan, Y.; Sun, L.; Liu, B.; Zhang, D.; Zhang, H.; Liu, H.; et al. Adipocyte-derived Lysophosphatidylcholine Activates Adipocyte and Adipose Tissue Macrophage Nod-Like Receptor Protein 3 Inflammasomes Mediating Homocysteine-Induced Insulin Resistance. *EBioMedicine* 2018, 31, 202–216. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Furukawa, S.; Fujita, T.; Shimabukuro, M.; Iwaki, M.; Yamada, Y.; Nakajima, Y.; Nakayama, O.; Makishima, M.; Matsuda, M.; Shimomura, I. Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. J. Clin. Investig. 2004, 114, 1752–1761. [CrossRef]
- Di Gioia, M.; Spreafico, R.; Springstead, J.R.; Mendelson, M.M.; Joehanes, R.; Levy, D.; Zanoni, I. Endogenous oxidized phospholipids reprogram cellular metabolism and boost hyperinflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 2020, 21, 42–53. [CrossRef]
- Sun, X.; Seidman, J.S.; Zhao, P.; Troutman, T.D.; Spann, N.J.; Que, X.; Zhou, F.; Liao, Z.; Pasillas, M.; Yang, X.; et al. Neutralization of Oxidized Phospholipids Ameliorates Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis. *Cell Metab.* 2020, 31, 189–206. [CrossRef]
- Kadl, A.; Meher, A.K.; Sharma, P.R.; Lee, M.Y.; Doran, A.C.; Johnstone, S.R.; Elliott, M.R.; Gruber, F.; Han, J.; Chen, W.; et al. Identification of a Novel Macrophage Phenotype That Develops in Response to Atherogenic Phospholipids via Nrf2. *Circ. Res.* 2010, 107, 737–746. [CrossRef]
- 100. Que, X.; Hung, M.-Y.; Yeang, C.; Gonen, A.; Prohaska, T.A.; Sun, X.; Diehl, C.; Määttä, A.; Gaddis, D.E.; Bowden, K.; et al. Oxidized phospholipids are proinflammatory and proatherogenic in hypercholesterolaemic mice. *Nature* 2018, 558, 301–306. [CrossRef]
- 101. Halasiddappa, L.M.; Koefeler, H.; Futerman, A.H.; Hermetter, A. Oxidized Phospholipids Induce Ceramide Accumulation in RAW 264.7 Macrophages: Role of Ceramide Synthases. *PLoS ONE* **2013**, *8*, e70002. [CrossRef]
- Bochkov, V.; Gesslbauer, B.; Mauerhofer, C.; Philippova, M.; Erne, P.; Oskolkova, O.V. Pleiotropic effects of oxidized phospholipids. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 2017, 111, 6–24. [CrossRef]
- 103. Choromańska, B.; Myśliwiec, P.; Razak Hady, H.; Dadan, J.; Myśliwiec, H.; Chabowski, A.; Mikłosz, A. Metabolic Syndrome is Associated with Ceramide Accumulation in Visceral Adipose Tissue of Women with Morbid Obesity. Obesity 2019, oby.22405. [CrossRef]

- 104. Raichur, S.; Brunner, B.; Bielohuby, M.; Hansen, G.; Pfenninger, A.; Wang, B.; Bruning, J.C.; Larsen, P.J.; Tennagels, N. The role of C16:0 ceramide in the development of obesity and type 2 diabetes: CerS6 inhibition as a novel therapeutic approach. *Mol. Metab.* **2019**, *21*, 36–50. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 105. Chimin, P.; Andrade, M.L.; Belchior, T.; Paschoal, V.A.; Magdalon, J.; Yamashita, A.S.; Castro, É.; Castoldi, A.; Chaves-Filho, A.B.; Yoshinaga, M.Y.; et al. Adipocyte mTORC1 deficiency promotes adipose tissue inflammation and NLRP3 inflammasome activation via oxidative stress and de novo ceramide synthesis. *J. Lipid Res.* 2017, 58, 1797–1807. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 106. Camell, C.D.; Nguyen, K.Y.; Jurczak, M.J.; Christian, B.E.; Shulman, G.I.; Shadel, G.S.; Dixit, V.D. Macrophage-specific *de Novo* Synthesis of Ceramide Is Dispensable for Inflammasome-driven Inflammation and Insulin Resistance in Obesity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2015, 290, 29402–29413. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 107. Frisdal, E.; Le Lay, S.; Hooton, H.; Poupel, L.; Olivier, M.; Alili, R.; Plengpanich, W.; Villard, E.F.; Gilibert, S.; Lhomme, M.; et al. Adipocyte ATP-Binding Cassette G1 Promotes Triglyceride Storage, Fat Mass Growth, and Human Obesity. *Diabetes* 2015, 64, 840–855. [CrossRef]
- 108. Song, G.; Zong, C.; Shao, M.; Yu, Y.; Liu, Q.; Wang, H.; Qiu, T.; Jiao, P.; Guo, Z.; Lee, P.; et al. Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) deficiency attenuates high fat diet induced obesity and insulin resistance. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* 2019, 1864, 1305–1313. [CrossRef]
- Abbott, S.K.; Else, P.L.; Atkins, T.A.; Hulbert, A.J. Fatty acid composition of membrane bilayers: Importance of diet polyunsaturated fat balance. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Biomembr.* 2012, 1818, 1309–1317. [CrossRef]
- Poledne, R.; Malinska, H.; Kubatova, H.; Fronek, J.; Thieme, F.; Kauerova, S.; Kralova Lesna, I. Polarization of Macrophages in Human Adipose Tissue is Related to the Fatty Acid Spectrum in Membrane Phospholipids. *Nutrients* 2019, *12*, 8. [CrossRef]
- 111. Erbay, E.; Babaev, V.R.; Mayers, J.R.; Makowski, L.; Charles, K.N.; Snitow, M.E.; Fazio, S.; Wiest, M.M.; Watkins, S.M.; Linton, M.F.; et al. Reducing endoplasmic reticulum stress through a macrophage lipid chaperone alleviates atherosclerosis. *Nat. Med.* 2009, *15*, 1383–1391. [CrossRef]
- 112. Gianfrancesco, M.A.; Dehairs, J.; L'homme, L.; Herinckx, G.; Esser, N.; Jansen, O.; Habraken, Y.; Lassence, C.; Swinnen, J.V.; Rider, M.H.; et al. Saturated fatty acids induce NLRP3 activation in human macrophages through K+ efflux resulting from phospholipid saturation and Na, K-ATPase disruption. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* 2019, 1864, 1017–1030. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 113. Yung, J.H.M.; Giacca, A. Role of c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes. *Cells* **2020**, *9*, 706. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Talbot, N.A.; Wheeler-Jones, C.P.; Cleasby, M.E. Palmitoleic acid prevents palmitic acid-induced macrophage activation and consequent p38 MAPK-mediated skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 2014, 393, 129–142. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Han, M.S.; Jung, D.Y.; Morel, C.; Lakhani, S.A.; Kim, J.K.; Flavell, R.A.; Davis, R.J. JNK Expression by Macrophages Promotes Obesity-Induced Insulin Resistance and Inflammation. *Science* 2013, 339, 218–222. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 116. Hernandez, E.D.; Lee, S.J.; Kim, J.Y.; Duran, A.; Linares, J.F.; Yajima, T.; Müller, T.D.; Tschöp, M.H.; Smith, S.R.; Diaz-Meco, M.T.; et al. A Macrophage NBR1-MEKK3 Complex Triggers JNK-Mediated Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Obesity. *Cell Metab.* 2014, 20, 499–511. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 117. Shi, H.; Kokoeva, M.V.; Inouye, K.; Tzameli, I.; Yin, H.; Flier, J.S. TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid–induced insulin resistance. *J. Clin. Investig.* **2006**, *116*, 3015–3025. [CrossRef]
- 118. Yamada, H.; Umemoto, T.; Kawano, M.; Kawakami, M.; Kakei, M.; Momomura, S.; Ishikawa, S.; Hara, K. High-density lipoprotein and apolipoprotein A-I inhibit palmitate-induced translocation of toll-like receptor 4 into lipid rafts and inflammatory cytokines in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2017, 484, 403–408. [CrossRef]
- Zhou, H.; Urso, C.J.; Jadeja, V. Saturated Fatty Acids in Obesity-Associated Inflammation. J. Inflamm. Res. 2020, 13, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 120. Lancaster, G.I.; Langley, K.G.; Berglund, N.A.; Kammoun, H.L.; Reibe, S.; Estevez, E.; Weir, J.; Mellett, N.A.; Pernes, G.; Conway, J.R.W.; et al. Evidence that TLR4 Is Not a Receptor for Saturated Fatty Acids but Mediates Lipid-Induced Inflammation by Reprogramming Macrophage Metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 2018, 27, 1096–1110. [CrossRef]
- Schilling, J.D.; Machkovech, H.M.; He, L.; Sidhu, R.; Fujiwara, H.; Weber, K.; Ory, D.S.; Schaffer, J.E. Palmitate and Lipopolysaccharide Trigger Synergistic Ceramide Production in Primary Macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2013, 288, 2923–2932. [CrossRef]

- 122. Zhang, Y.; Rao, E.; Zeng, J.; Hao, J.; Sun, Y.; Liu, S.; Sauter, E.R.; Bernlohr, D.A.; Cleary, M.P.; Suttles, J.; et al. Adipose Fatty Acid Binding Protein Promotes Saturated Fatty Acid-induced Macrophage Cell Death through Enhancing Ceramide Production. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 2017, 198, 798–807. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 123. Wong, S.W.; Kwon, M.-J.; Choi, A.M.K.; Kim, H.-P.; Nakahira, K.; Hwang, D.H. Fatty Acids Modulate Toll-like Receptor 4 Activation through Regulation of Receptor Dimerization and Recruitment into Lipid Rafts in a Reactive Oxygen Species-dependent Manner. J. Biol. Chem. 2009, 284, 27384–27392. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lee, J.Y.; Sohn, K.H.; Rhee, S.H.; Hwang, D. Saturated Fatty Acids, but Not Unsaturated Fatty Acids, Induce the Expression of Cyclooxygenase-2 Mediated through Toll-like Receptor 4. J. Biol. Chem. 2001, 276, 16683–16689. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 125. Rogero, M.; Calder, P. Obesity, Inflammation, Toll-Like Receptor 4 and Fatty Acids. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*, 432. [CrossRef]
- 126. Seimon, T.A.; Nadolski, M.J.; Liao, X.; Magallon, J.; Nguyen, M.; Feric, N.T.; Koschinsky, M.L.; Harkewicz, R.; Witztum, J.L.; Tsimikas, S.; et al. Atherogenic Lipids and Lipoproteins Trigger CD36-TLR2-Dependent Apoptosis in Macrophages Undergoing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. *Cell Metab.* 2010, 12, 467–482. [CrossRef]
- Calder, P.C. Omega-3 fatty acids and inflammatory processes: From molecules to man. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 2017, 45, 1105–1115. [CrossRef]
- 128. Moon, Y.-A.; Hammer, R.E.; Horton, J.D. Deletion of ELOVL5 leads to fatty liver through activation of SREBP-1c in mice. *J. Lipid Res.* 2009, *50*, 412–423. [CrossRef]
- 129. Heemskerk, M.; Giera, M.; Bouazzaoui, F.; Lips, M.; Pijl, H.; van Dijk, K.; van Harmelen, V. Increased PUFA Content and 5-Lipoxygenase Pathway Expression Are Associated with Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Obese Women with Type 2 Diabetes. *Nutrients* 2015, 7, 7676–7690. [CrossRef]
- 130. Zhang, Y.; Chen, H.; Zhang, W.; Cai, Y.; Shan, P.; Wu, D.; Zhang, B.; Liu, H.; Khan, Z.A.; Liang, G. Arachidonic acid inhibits inflammatory responses by binding to myeloid differentiation factor-2 (MD2) and preventing MD2/toll-like receptor 4 signaling activation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Basis Dis.* 2020, 1866, 165683. [CrossRef]
- 131. Guijas, C.; Pérez-Chacón, G.; Astudillo, A.M.; Rubio, J.M.; Gil-de-Gómez, L.; Balboa, M.A.; Balsinde, J. Simultaneous activation of p38 and JNK by arachidonic acid stimulates the cytosolic phospholipase A 2 -dependent synthesis of lipid droplets in human monocytes. J. Lipid Res. 2012, 53, 2343–2354. [CrossRef]
- 132. Guijas, C.; Bermúdez, M.A.; Meana, C.; Astudillo, A.M.; Pereira, L.; Fernández-Caballero, L.; Balboa, M.A.; Balsinde, J. Neutral Lipids Are Not a Source of Arachidonic Acid for Lipid Mediator Signaling in Human Foamy Monocytes. *Cells* 2019, *8*, 941. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 133. Shen, Z.; Ma, Y.; Ji, Z.; Hao, Y.; Yan, X.; Zhong, Y.; Tang, X.; Ren, W. Arachidonic acid induces macrophage cell cycle arrest through the JNK signaling pathway. *Lipids Health Dis.* **2018**, 17, 26. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pérez, R.; Matabosch, X.; Llebaria, A.; Balboa, M.A.; Balsinde, J. Blockade of arachidonic acid incorporation into phospholipids induces apoptosis in U937 promonocytic cells. *J. Lipid Res.* 2006, 47, 484–491. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 135. Mason, R.P.; Jacob, R.F.; Shrivastava, S.; Sherratt, S.C.R.; Chattopadhyay, A. Eicosapentaenoic acid reduces membrane fluidity, inhibits cholesterol domain formation, and normalizes bilayer width in atherosclerotic-like model membranes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Biomembr.* 2016, 1858, 3131–3140. [CrossRef]
- 136. Fournier, N.; Sayet, G.; Vedie, B.; Nowak, M.; Allaoui, F.; Solgadi, A.; Caudron, E.; Chaminade, P.; Benoist, J.-F.; Paul, J.-L. Eicosapentaenoic acid membrane incorporation impairs cholesterol efflux from cholesterol-loaded human macrophages by reducing the cholesteryl ester mobilization from lipid droplets. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* 2017, 1862, 1079–1091. [CrossRef]
- Rombaldova, M.; Janovska, P.; Kopecky, J.; Kuda, O. Omega-3 fatty acids promote fatty acid utilization and production of pro-resolving lipid mediators in alternatively activated adipose tissue macrophages. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2017, 490, 1080–1085. [CrossRef]
- LeMieux, M.J.; Kalupahana, N.S.; Scoggin, S.; Moustaid-Moussa, N. Eicosapentaenoic Acid Reduces Adipocyte Hypertrophy and Inflammation in Diet-Induced Obese Mice in an Adiposity-Independent Manner. J. Nutr. 2015, 145, 411–417. [CrossRef]
- 139. Titos, E.; Rius, B.; González-Périz, A.; López-Vicario, C.; Morán-Salvador, E.; Martínez-Clemente, M.; Arroyo, V.; Clària, J. Resolvin D1 and Its Precursor Docosahexaenoic Acid Promote Resolution of Adipose Tissue Inflammation by Eliciting Macrophage Polarization toward an M2-Like Phenotype. J. Immunol. 2011, 187, 5408–5418. [CrossRef]

- 140. Williams-Bey, Y.; Boularan, C.; Vural, A.; Huang, N.-N.; Hwang, I.-Y.; Shan-Shi, C.; Kehrl, J.H. Omega-3 Free Fatty Acids Suppress Macrophage Inflammasome Activation by Inhibiting NF-κB Activation and Enhancing Autophagy. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e97957. [CrossRef]
- 141. Jin, X.; Dimitriadis, E.K.; Liu, Y.; Combs, C.A.; Chang, J.; Varsano, N.; Stempinski, E.; Flores, R.; Jackson, S.N.; Muller, L.; et al. Macrophages Shed Excess Cholesterol in Unique Extracellular Structures Containing Cholesterol Microdomains. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2018, *38*, 1504–1518. [CrossRef]
- 142. De Boer, A.A.; Monk, J.M.; Liddle, D.M.; Power, K.A.; Ma, D.W.L.; Robinson, L.E. Fish Oil-Derived Long-Chain n-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Reduce Expression of M1-Associated Macrophage Markers in an ex vivo Adipose Tissue Culture Model, in Part through Adiponectin. *Front. Nutr.* **2015**, *2*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 143. Oh, D.Y.; Talukdar, S.; Bae, E.J.; Imamura, T.; Morinaga, H.; Fan, W.; Li, P.; Lu, W.J.; Watkins, S.M.; Olefsky, J.M. GPR120 Is an Omega-3 Fatty Acid Receptor Mediating Potent Anti-inflammatory and Insulin-Sensitizing Effects. *Cell* 2010, 142, 687–698. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 144. Im, D.-S. Functions of omega-3 fatty acids and FFA4 (GPR120) in macrophages. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 2016, 785, 36–43. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 145. Finucane, O.M.; Lyons, C.L.; Murphy, A.M.; Reynolds, C.M.; Klinger, R.; Healy, N.P.; Cooke, A.A.; Coll, R.C.; McAllan, L.; Nilaweera, K.N.; et al. Monounsaturated Fatty Acid–Enriched High-Fat Diets Impede Adipose NLRP3 Inflammasome–Mediated IL-1β Secretion and Insulin Resistance Despite Obesity. *Diabetes* 2015, 64, 2116–2128. [CrossRef]
- 146. Lima, E.A.; Silveira, L.S.; Masi, L.N.; Crisma, A.R.; Davanso, M.R.; Souza, G.I.G.; Santamarina, A.B.; Moreira, R.G.; Roque Martins, A.; de Sousa, L.G.O.; et al. Macadamia Oil Supplementation Attenuates Inflammation and Adipocyte Hypertrophy in Obese Mice. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2014, 2014, 1–9. [CrossRef]
- 147. Souza, C.O.; Teixeira, A.A.; Biondo, L.A.; Silveira, L.S.; Calder, P.C.; Rosa Neto, J.C. Palmitoleic acid reduces the inflammation in LPS-stimulated macrophages by inhibition of NFκB, independently of PPARs. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* **2017**, *44*, 566–575. [CrossRef]
- 148. Cao, H.; Gerhold, K.; Mayers, J.R.; Wiest, M.M.; Watkins, S.M.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Identification of a Lipokine, a Lipid Hormone Linking Adipose Tissue to Systemic Metabolism. *Cell* **2008**, *134*, 933–944. [CrossRef]
- 149. Shridas, P.; Bailey, W.M.; Gizard, F.; Oslund, R.C.; Gelb, M.H.; Bruemmer, D.; Webb, N.R. Group X secretory phospholipase A2 negatively regulates ABCA1 and ABCG1 expression and cholesterol efflux in macrophages. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* **2010**, *30*, 2014–2021. [CrossRef]
- 150. Wooten, J.S.; Wu, H.; Raya, J.; Perrard, X.D.; Gaubatz, J.; Hoogeveen, R.C. The Influence of an Obesogenic Diet on Oxysterol Metabolism in C57BL/6J Mice. *Cholesterol* 2014, 2014, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- 151. Sato, H.; Taketomi, Y.; Ushida, A.; Isogai, Y.; Kojima, T.; Hirabayashi, T.; Miki, Y.; Yamamoto, K.; Nishito, Y.; Kobayashi, T.; et al. The Adipocyte-Inducible Secreted Phospholipases PLA2G5 and PLA2G2E Play Distinct Roles in Obesity. *Cell Metab.* 2014, 20, 119–132. [CrossRef]
- 152. Rubio, J.M.; Rodríguez, J.P.; Gil-de-Gómez, L.; Guijas, C.; Balboa, M.A.; Balsinde, J. Group V secreted phospholipase A2 is upregulated by IL-4 in human macrophages and mediates phagocytosis via hydrolysis of ethanolamine phospholipids. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 **2015**, *194*, 3327–3339. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 153. Bostrom, M.A.; Boyanovsky, B.B.; Jordan, C.T.; Wadsworth, M.P.; Taatjes, D.J.; de Beer, F.C.; Webb, N.R. Group V Secretory Phospholipase A 2 Promotes Atherosclerosis: Evidence From Genetically Altered Mice. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2007, 27, 600–606. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 154. Hishikawa, D.; Hashidate, T.; Shimizu, T.; Shindou, H. Diversity and function of membrane glycerophospholipids generated by the remodeling pathway in mammalian cells. *J. Lipid Res.* **2014**, *55*, 799–807. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rosenson, R.S.; Hurt-Camejo, E. Phospholipase A2 enzymes and the risk of atherosclerosis. *Eur. Heart J.* 2012, 33, 2899–2909. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 156. Stachowska, E.; Dolegowska, B.; Dziedziejko, V.; Rybicka, M.; Kaczmarczyk, M.; Bober, J.; Machalinski, B.; Chlubek, D. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and thromboxane A2 (TXA2) synthesis is regulated by conjugated linoleic acids (CLA) in human macrophages. *J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *60*, 77–85.
- 157. García-Alonso, V.; Titos, E.; Alcaraz-Quiles, J.; Rius, B.; Lopategi, A.; López-Vicario, C.; Jakobsson, P.-J.; Delgado, S.; Lozano, J.; Clària, J. Prostaglandin E2 Exerts Multiple Regulatory Actions on Human Obese Adipose Tissue Remodeling, Inflammation, Adaptive Thermogenesis and Lipolysis. *PLoS ONE* 2016, 11, e0153751. [CrossRef]
- 158. Luan, B.; Yoon, Y.-S.; Le Lay, J.; Kaestner, K.H.; Hedrick, S.; Montminy, M. CREB pathway links PGE2 signaling with macrophage polarization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2015, *112*, 15642–15647. [CrossRef]

- 159. Chan, P.; Hsiao, F.; Chang, H.; Wabitsch, M.; Hsieh, P.S. Importance of adipocyte cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin E ₂ -prostaglandin E receptor 3 signaling in the development of obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. *FASEB J.* **2016**, *30*, 2282–2297. [CrossRef]
- 160. Saraswathi, V.; Ramnanan, C.J.; Wilks, A.W.; Desouza, C.V.; Eller, A.A.; Murali, G.; Ramalingam, R.; Milne, G.L.; Coate, K.C.; Edgerton, D.S. Impact of hematopoietic cyclooxygenase-1 deficiency on obesity-linked adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic disorders in mice. *Metabolism.* 2013, 62, 1673–1685. [CrossRef]
- 161. Hu, X.; Cifarelli, V.; Sun, S.; Kuda, O.; Abumrad, N.A.; Su, X. Major role of adipocyte prostaglandin E ₂ in lipolysis-induced macrophage recruitment. *J. Lipid Res.* **2016**, *57*, 663–673. [CrossRef]
- 162. Clària, J.; Dalli, J.; Yacoubian, S.; Gao, F.; Serhan, C.N. Resolvin D1 and Resolvin D2 Govern Local Inflammatory Tone in Obese Fat. J. Immunol. 2012, 189, 2597–2605. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hellmann, J.; Tang, Y.; Kosuri, M.; Bhatnagar, A.; Spite, M. Resolvin D1 decreases adipose tissue macrophage accumulation and improves insulin sensitivity in obese-diabetic mice. *FASEB J.* 2011, 25, 2399–2407. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 164. Titos, E.; Rius, B.; López-Vicario, C.; Alcaraz-Quiles, J.; García-Alonso, V.; Lopategi, A.; Dalli, J.; Lozano, J.J.; Arroyo, V.; Delgado, S.; et al. Signaling and Immunoresolving Actions of Resolvin D1 in Inflamed Human Visceral Adipose Tissue. J. Immunol. 2016, 197, 3360–3370. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 165. González-Périz, A.; Horrillo, R.; Ferré, N.; Gronert, K.; Dong, B.; Morán-Salvador, E.; Titos, E.; Martínez-Clemente, M.; López-Parra, M.; Arroyo, V.; et al. Obesity-induced insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis are alleviated by ω-3 fatty acids: A role for resolvins and protectins. *FASEB J.* 2009, 23, 1946–1957. [CrossRef]
- 166. Martínez-Fernández, L.; González-Muniesa, P.; Laiglesia, L.M.; Sáinz, N.; Prieto-Hontoria, P.L.; Escoté, X.; Odriozola, L.; Corrales, F.J.; Arbones-Mainar, J.M.; Martínez, J.A.; et al. Maresin 1 improves insulin sensitivity and attenuates adipose tissue inflammation in ob/ob and diet-induced obese mice. *FASEB J.* 2017, 31, 2135–2145. [CrossRef]
- 167. Börgeson, E.; Johnson, A.M.F.; Lee, Y.S.; Till, A.; Syed, G.H.; Ali-Shah, S.T.; Guiry, P.J.; Dalli, J.; Colas, R.A.; Serhan, C.N.; et al. Lipoxin A4 Attenuates Obesity-Induced Adipose Inflammation and Associated Liver and Kidney Disease. *Cell Metab.* 2015, 22, 125–137. [CrossRef]
- 168. Börgeson, E.; McGillicuddy, F.C.; Harford, K.A.; Corrigan, N.; Higgins, D.F.; Maderna, P.; Roche, H.M.; Godson, C. Lipoxin A 4 attenuates adipose inflammation. *FASEB J.* 2012, 26, 4287–4294. [CrossRef]
- 169. Fujimori, K.; Aritake, K.; Oishi, Y.; Nagata, N.; Maehara, T.; Lazarus, M.; Urade, Y. L-PGDS-produced PGD2 in premature, but not in mature, adipocytes increases obesity and insulin resistance. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, *9*, 1931. [CrossRef]
- 170. Virtue, S.; Masoodi, M.; de Weijer, B.A.M.; van Eijk, M.; Mok, C.Y.L.; Eiden, M.; Dale, M.; Pirraco, A.; Serlie, M.J.; Griffin, J.L.; et al. Prostaglandin profiling reveals a role for haematopoietic prostaglandin D synthase in adipose tissue macrophage polarisation in mice and humans. *Int. J. Obes.* 2015, *39*, 1151–1160. [CrossRef]
- 171. Li, P.; Oh, D.Y.; Bandyopadhyay, G.; Lagakos, W.S.; Talukdar, S.; Osborn, O.; Johnson, A.; Chung, H.; Mayoral, R.; Maris, M.; et al. LTB4 promotes insulin resistance in obese mice by acting on macrophages, hepatocytes and myocytes. *Nat. Med.* 2015, *21*, 239–247. [CrossRef]
- 172. Horrillo, R.; González-Périz, A.; Martínez-Clemente, M.; López-Parra, M.; Ferré, N.; Titos, E.; Morán-Salvador, E.; Deulofeu, R.; Arroyo, V.; Clària, J. 5-Lipoxygenase Activating Protein Signals Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Lipid Dysfunction in Experimental Obesity. *J. Immunol.* 2010, 184, 3978–3987. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 173. Maya-Monteiro, C.M.; Almeida, P.E.; D'Ávila, H.; Martins, A.S.; Rezende, A.P.; Castro-Faria-Neto, H.; Bozza, P.T. Leptin Induces Macrophage Lipid Body Formation by a Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase- and Mammalian Target of Rapamycin-dependent Mechanism. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2008, 283, 2203–2210. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 174. Zheng, J.-J.; Pena Calderin, E.; Hill, B.G.; Bhatnagar, A.; Hellmann, J. Exercise Promotes Resolution of Acute Inflammation by Catecholamine-Mediated Stimulation of Resolvin D1 Biosynthesis. *J. Immunol.* 2019, 203, 3013–3022. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 175. Chen, Q.; Ruedl, C. Obesity retunes turnover kinetics of tissue-resident macrophages in fat. J. Leukoc. Biol. 2020. [CrossRef]

- 176. Sima, C.; Montero, E.; Nguyen, D.; Freire, M.; Norris, P.; Serhan, C.N.; Van Dyke, T.E. ERV1 Overexpression in Myeloid Cells Protects against High Fat Diet Induced Obesity and Glucose Intolerance. *Sci. Rep.* 2017, 7, 12848. [CrossRef]
- 177. Chiang, N.; Libreros, S.; Norris, P.C.; de la Rosa, X.; Serhan, C.N. Maresin 1 activates LGR6 receptor promoting phagocyte immunoresolvent functions. *J. Clin. Investig.* **2019**, *129*, 5294–5311. [CrossRef]
- Hansen, T.V.; Vik, A.; Serhan, C.N. The Protectin Family of Specialized Pro-resolving Mediators: Potent Immunoresolvents Enabling Innovative Approaches to Target Obesity and Diabetes. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2019, 9, 1582. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Collaborative article

Phosphatidylserine enhances anti-inflammatory effects of reconstituted HDL in macrophages via distinct intracellular pathways

Maryam Darabi, Marie Lhomme, Veronica D. Dahik, Isabelle Guillas, Eric Frisdal, Emilie Tubeuf, Lucie Poupel, Mili Patel, Emmanuel L. Gautier, Thierry Huby, Maryse Guerin, Kerry-Anne Rye, Philippe Lesnik, Wilfried Le Goff, Anatol Kontush

Published on The FASEB Journal, 2022.

DOI: 10.1096/fj.201800810R

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Phosphatidylserine enhances anti-inflammatory effects of reconstituted HDL in macrophages via distinct intracellular pathways

Maryam Darabi¹ | Marie Lhomme² | Veronica D. Dahik¹ | Isabelle Guillas¹ | Eric Frisdal¹ | Emilie Tubeuf¹ | Lucie Poupel¹ | Mili Patel³ | Emmanuel L. Gautier¹ | Thierry Huby¹ | Maryse Guerin¹ | Kerry-Anne Rye³ | Philippe Lesnik¹ | Wilfried Le Goff¹ | Anatol Kontush¹

¹INSERM, Institute of Cardiometabolism and Nutrition (ICAN), UMR_S1166, Sorbonne Université, Paris, France

²ICAN Analytics, Lipidomics Core, Foundation for Innovation in Cardiometabolism and Nutrition (IHU-ICAN, ANR-10-IAHU-05), Paris, France

³School of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

Correspondence

Anatol Kontush, INSERM UMR-S 1166 ICAN, Sorbonne University, 91 boulevard de l'Hôpital, Paris 75013, France. Email: anatol.kontush@sorbonneuniversite.fr

Funding information INSERM; Ville de Paris; SATT-Lutech; CSL; Fondation de France

Abstract

Phosphatidylserine (PS) is a minor phospholipid constituent of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) that exhibits potent anti-inflammatory activity. It remains indeterminate whether PS incorporation can enhance anti-inflammatory effects of reconstituted HDL (rHDL). Human macrophages were treated with rHDL containing phosphatidylcholine alone (PC-rHDL) or PC and PS (PC/PS-rHDL). Interleukin (IL)-6 secretion and expression was more strongly inhibited by PC/PS-rHDL than PC-rHDL in both tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α- and lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated macrophages. siRNA experiments revealed that the enhanced anti-inflammatory effects of PC/PS-rHDL required scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI). Furthermore, PC/ PS-rHDL induced a greater increase in Akt1/2/3 phosphorylation than PC-rHDL. In addition, PC/PS but not PC-rHDL decreased the abundance of plasma membrane lipid rafts and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK) phosphorylation. Finally, when these rHDL formulations were administered to dyslipidemic low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-receptor knockout mice fed a high-cholesterol diet, circulating IL-6 levels were significantly reduced only in PC/PS-rHDL-treated mice. In parallel, enhanced Akt1/2/3 phosphorylation by PC/PS-rHDL was observed in the mouse aortic tissue using immunohistochemistry. We concluded that the incorporation of PS into rHDLs enhanced their anti-inflammatory activity by modulating Akt1/2/3- and p38 MAPK-mediated signaling through SR-BI in stimulated macrophages. These data identify PS as a potent anti-inflammatory component capable of enhancing therapeutic potential of rHDL-based therapy.

Abbreviations: ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette transporter A1; ABCG1, ATP-binding cassette transporter G1; ApoA-I, apolipoprotein A-I; ATF3, activating transcription factor 3; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HDL-C, HDL-cholesterol; IL-6, Interleukin-6; LC/MS/MS, liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; NF-κB, nuclear factor kappa B; p38 MAPK, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase; PMA, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate; PS, phosphatidylserine; rHDL, reconstituted high-density lipoprotein; SR-BI, scavenger receptor class B type I; TGF-β, transforming growth factor β; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-α; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

2 of 16 FASEB JOURNAL

KEYWORDS

atherosclerosis, inflammation, phospholipids, rHDL

1 | INTRODUCTION

Researchers have recently ramped up efforts to pharmacologically raise high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (HDL-C) levels¹⁻⁴ or to increase the number of HDL particles through intravascular infusion of HDL mimetics containing apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I)⁵⁻⁷ for the treatment of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Nonetheless, contradictory data were obtained regarding atherosclerosis development and cardiovascular mortality, even while HDL-C levels were markedly raised.^{2,4,8} The modest cardiovascular benefit observed in only one of these trials was attributed to the moderate drop in plasma non-HDL cholesterol concentrations rather than to an elevation of HDL-C.⁴ Moreover, Mendelian randomization studies indicated no effect on the atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk from genetically elevated or reduced HDL-C levels.⁹⁻¹¹ These findings highlighted the importance of a functional improvement of HDL by HDL-targeting rather than just raising HDL-C levels. Indeed, HDL displays multiple anti-atherogenic activities, which may include the capacity to reduce inflammatory activation of endothelial cells and possibly macrophages.12-15

Emerging knowledge about the role of inflammation in atherosclerosis over the last decade has led to the development of a number of therapeutic approaches that target various inflammatory mediators.¹⁶ In this context, notably, the increasing evidence of the anti-inflammatory activity of HDL has stimulated interest in the investigation of molecules underlying this activity, which might prove useful as new therapeutic targets.

Lipidomic analyses show that phosphatidylserine (PS) is differentially distributed across HDL subclasses, being enriched in small, dense HDL particles possessing potent anti-atherosclerotic properties.¹⁷ The key role of PS in the resolution of inflammation was clearly delineated in the phenomenon of apoptosis.^{18,19} As a corollary, targeting of PS-containing liposomes to macrophages to mimic antiinflammatory effects of apoptotic bodies was designed as a promising strategy for modulating these cells to an anti-inflammatory phenotype.²⁰⁻²³ In addition, specific receptors and transporters involved in HDL-mediated cholesterol efflux, such as ATP-binding cassette A1 (ABCA1) and G1 (ABCG1) transporters and scavenger receptor BI (SR-BI), were independently reported to be critical for the biological effects of PS-containing liposomes.24-26 Macrophages are key immune cells in chronic inflammation, and their activity plays a central role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis. Here, we propose for the first time that the key feature of PS in suppressing inflammation, together with its natural occurrence in HDL, provides a logical framework for developing PS-containing reconstituted HDL (rHDL) to enhance its anti-inflammatory properties as a novel therapeutic approach in cardiovascular and inflammatory diseases.

In this study, we characterized the anti-inflammatory effects exerted by PS-containing rHDL on primed promonocytic THP-1 cells and examined their underlying mechanisms. Our data revealed that PC/PS-rHDL inhibited proinflammatory cytokine secretion and expression to a greater extent than PC-rHDL and PC/PS-liposomes in tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α)- or lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated macrophages. Importantly, we determined that macrophage SR-BI was involved in the potent anti-inflammatory effects of PC/PS-rHDL coupled with Akt1/2/3 phosphorylation and p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase (p38 MAPK) signaling pathways. Finally, the potent anti-inflammatory activity of PScontaining rHDL was confirmed in vivo in a mouse model of dyslipidemia.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Preparation of reconstituted HDL and liposomes

Discoidal rHDLs were prepared by cholate dialysis from a mixture of apoA-I, isolated from human ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) plasma, and 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC) 16:0/18:1 without or with 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-ph ospho-L-serine (POPS) 16:0/18:1 (Avanti Polar Lipids, AL, USA)²⁷ at a molar ratio of 1:90 for PC-rHDL and 1:70:30 for PC/PS-rHDL. The rHDLs were dialyzed against 3×5 L phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before use and were stored at 4°C. Liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) (AB Sciex, Framingham, MA, USA) was used to characterize the phospholipidome of rHDL particles as described elsewhere.¹⁷ Liposomes were prepared as previously described.^{18,19} Briefly, POPC and POPS were dissolved in chloroform at a concentration of 20 mM, and a mixture of lipids at a molar ratio of 70:30 was prepared. Following evaporation under nitrogen gas, the lipid film was hydrated using PBS at a temperature above the gel-liquid

crystal transition temperature of the phospholipids and sonicated for 10 min. Next, the solution was centrifuged to remove any residual large particles.^{18,19}

2.2 | Human macrophage isolation and cell culture

Human THP-1 monocytic cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. THP-1 macrophage cells that had been stably knocked down for ABCA1 and ABCG1 were kindly provided by Prof. Wendy Jessup (Sydney, Australia).^{28,29} All cell lines were maintained in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, 2 mmol/L glutamine, and 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Stable knock-downs of ABCA1 and ABCG1 in THP-1 macrophages were selected using puromycin or blasticidin, respectively.²⁸ The absence of ABCA1 and ABCG1 gene expressions was verified using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and Western blot analysis.

Monocytes were isolated from human blood of healthy normolipidemic donors using Ficoll density gradient (Etablissement Français du Sang, Paris, France). Human monocyte-derived macrophages (HMDM) were obtained after 10 days of differentiation on plastic Primaria plates (Falcon) in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated human serum, 2 mM glutamine, 100 units/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, and 20 ng/ml human macrophage colonystimulating factor.³⁰

2.3 | Cell treatment and measurement of proinflammatory cytokine production

THP-1 cells were plated at a density of 1.0×10^6 cells/ well into 24-well plates and were differentiated into macrophage-like cells with 81 nmol/L phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) for 3 days. Cells were washed two times with PBS to remove PMA-supplemented media and rested for 24 h in fresh complete media. HMDM cells were seeded at a density of 2.5×10^5 cells/well into 24-well plates. Cell culture media containing serum and pre-existing cytokines was aspirated, and the cells were washed twice before adding fresh serum-free medium with or without LPS (100 ng/ml) or TNF- α (8.5 pmol/L) and rHDLs at different concentrations. All the rHDL concentrations in the cell and animal studies were based on the apoA-I content of rHDLs, which was measured using the BCA method.

For pre-incubation experiments, cells were first exposed to a medium supplemented with rHDL at 357 nmol apoA-I/L, equivalent to 10 μ g protein /ml, or with PBS

(vehicle control) for 16 h and were extensively washed before LPS (100 ng/ml) challenging for 5 h. For postincubation experiments following LPS (100 ng/ml) stimulation for 4 h, cells were washed two times with PBS, and a medium with or without rHDL at 357 nmol apoA-I /L, equivalent to 10 µg protein /ml, was added. The supernatants were collected and centrifuged at 200 g for 5 min. Levels of interleukin (IL)-6 in cell culture studies were measured using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit from R&D System (Abingdon, UK and eBioscience, CA, USA), while in vitro levels of Il-1 β , TNF- α , vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) were evaluated by Multiplex technology using a semi-automated Biochip Array Technology analyzer (Evidence Investigator, Randox, UK) as described elsewhere.30

2.4 | RNA extraction, reversetranscription, and quantitative PCR

Total RNA from THP-1 macrophages cultured in 24well plates was extracted using a NucleoSpin RNA II kit (Macherey-Nagel, PA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions after double washing with 500 μ l of cold PBS. Then, 500 ng of RNA was reverse-transcribed to cDNA (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA). Relative quantification of target mRNA was performed using specific primers on the LightCycler 480 real-time instrument (Roche, IN, USA) and was normalized to the mean expression of three different housekeeping genes, including 5'-aminolevulinate synthase (ALA), α -tubulin (TUBA), and human heat shock protein alpha (cytosolic), class B member 1 (HSP90AB1). Data were expressed as a relative change in mRNA expression or a fold change compared to control values.

2.5 | Cellular cholesterol efflux capacity of reconstituted HDL

Human THP-1 macrophages were incubated for 24 h with 50 µg protein/ml of [³H]cholesterol-labeled acetylated LDL (acLDL) (1 µCi/ml) in serum-free RPMI-1640 supplemented with 50 mM glucose, 2 mM glutamine, 0.2% bovine serum albumin (RGGB), 100 units/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. Following removal of the labeling medium, cells were equilibrated in RGGB for additional 24 h.²⁸ Cellular cholesterol efflux to rHDL (178 nmol-1.7 µmol apoA-I/L rHDL, equivalent to 5–50 µg protein / ml) was assessed in a serum-free medium for a 4-h chase period. Finally, culture media were harvested and cleared of cellular debris by brief centrifugation. Cell radioactivity was determined by the extraction in hexane-isopropanol

(3:2), evaporation of the solvent, and liquid scintillation counting on a Wallac Trilux 1450 Microbeta scintillation counter (PerkinElmer, MA, USA). The percentage of cholesterol efflux was calculated as a percentage ratio of the radioactivity released in the culture media to the total radioactivity in the cells plus medium.²⁸

2.6 | Quantification of lipid rafts

Lipid rafts were identified using Alexa Fluor 594 conjugated cholera toxin B (Molecular Probes) against the raft marker ganglioside GM1, as previously described.³¹

2.7 | Macrophage efferocytosis capacity in the presence of reconstituted HDL

Apoptosis was induced in Jurkat cells with camptothecin (10 μ M) for 4 h. Apoptotic Jurkat cells were then added to THP-1 cells (at a ratio of 3:1) previously incubated with rHDLs (5 μ g/ml) and TNF- α (150 ng/ml) for 8 h. Following 30 min coincubation of Jurkat and THP-1 cells, efferocytosis was assessed in washed cells by flow cytometry (LSR II FORTESSA SORP, BD Biosciences, NJ, USA) as previously described.³⁰

2.8 | Silencing of SR-BI gene transcription in macrophages using small interference RNA

For SR-BI silencing experiments, THP-1 cells were cultured on 6-well plates (4×10^6 cells/well). Following a 72-h incubation with PMA, cells were transfected with 50 nM of SR-BI siRNA or a negative control siRNA (scrambled sequence, Dharmacon, Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) using Lipofectamine RNAiMax (Invitrogen, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After 8 h incubation, the cells were washed with PBS and further cultured in fresh media for 24 h. siRNA-transfected cells were then exposed to rHDLs for 8 h before analyzing IL-6 secretion in the supernatant and total RNA isolation from the cells.

To further evaluate the role of SR-BI for the effect of rHDL, human SR-BI-blocking antibody or control nonblocking antibodies (5 μ g/ml, Novus Biologicals, CO, USA) were added to the cells 30 min prior to adding rHDL.^{28,29,32}

2.9 | Akt1/2/3, p38 MAPK, and NF-κB activity assays

THP-1 macrophages $(1 \times 10^6$ cells per well in a 24-well plate) were incubated with rHDLs or PBS and TNF- α

(8.5 pmol/L) for 8 h. The supernatant was collected for measuring inflammatory cytokines, and cell lysates were evaluated for kinase activation. The levels of phosphorylated and total Akt1/2/3, p38 MAPK, and NF-KB were measured using an Abcam Simple Step kit (Abcam, Cambridge, MA) with antibodies directed against phosphates at pS473, pT180/pT182, and p65 (pS536) in the phosphorylated kinases. Both affinity tag-labeled capture antibody and HRP-conjugated detection antibody cocktails were diluted and loaded simultaneously into the assay microplate along with cell lysates or standards. Following 1 h incubation at 37°C at 400 rpm agitation and a wash step, tetramethylbenzidine substrate solution was added and incubated for 15 min in the dark. The reaction was then stopped, and the absorbance was measured at 450 nm in a standard ELISA plate reader. A lysis buffer alone was used as a negative control to verify binding specificity of the antibodies. The sample values were calculated from standard curves, and the results were expressed as the phosphorylated/total kinase ratios. To determine whether differential anti-inflammatory effects of rHDLs were associated with altered signaling pathways, we tested the effect of selective chemical inhibitors in combination with rHDLs.

Western blotting analysis was performed to confirm the results of ELISA. Cells were washed first with cold PBS and lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Equal amounts of proteins were separated by electrophoresis on NuPAGE 4-12% Bis-Tris Protein Gels (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and then transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane (iBlot; Thermo Fisher Scientific) using a semi-dry system. Subsequently, the membrane was blocked, incubated with primary antibodies overnight and revealed with IR dye 800 nm-conjugated secondary antibodies. Infrared fluorescence was acquired on a Li-Cor scanner (Odyssey system, LI-COR Biosciences, Germany). Antibodies against phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated Akt1/2/3 and p38 MAPK were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA, USA).

2.10 | Animals

The C57BL/6J background mice backcrossed more than 6 times were obtained from Jackson Laboratories. In vivo, low-grade chronic inflammation in the context of dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis was induced by a 10-week high-cholesterol diet in LDL-receptor knockout female mice. All the mice were at 7 weeks of age with an average weight of 22 g and average plasma cholesterol concentration of 697 \pm 52 mg/dl (n = 6 for each group)

at the beginning of the diet. PC/PS- or PC-containing rHDLs were administered as three weekly retro-orbital injections of 40 mg protein/kg of body weight. Control mice received buffered saline injections. Blood samples were collected from each mouse one week after the last injection following an overnight fast. No effects of any treatment on body weight and plasma cholesterol levels were observed (data not shown). All animal experiments were approved by the local ethics committee for animal care. Levels of cytokines IL-6 and IL-12 p40 were measured in mouse plasma using Bioplex[™] multiplexing bead immunoassays (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA).

2.11 Atherosclerotic plaque and tissue immunofluorescence

The animals were sacrificed under isoflurane anesthesia and perfused with sterile ice-cold PBS. The aorta was carefully dissected, embedded in optimum cutting temperature medium (OCT, Sakura Finetek Europe, Zoeterwoude, The Netherlands), and snap-frozen on a liquid nitrogenprecooled metal plate. Cryosections 10 µm in thickness were prepared for histological and immunohistochemical analyses.³³ Atherosclerotic lipid lesions on the aortic root were quantified on serial cross-sections as previously described.³³ The plaque area was measured with the AxioVision Zeiss software on the captured images (Zeiss AxioImager M2 microscope, Oberkochen, Germany). In addition, aorta sections were stained with the DAPI nuclear dye as well as with rat anti-Mac-2 (CD68), rabbit anti-total/phosphorylated-Akt1/2/3, and anti-total/phosphorylated p38 MAPK antibodies. All primary antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology except Mac-2 (CD68), which was obtained from BioRad (Marnesla-Coquette, France). Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC, green) and Texas Red (red) goat-conjugated secondary antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz (Burlingame, CA, USA) Biotechnology and Vector Laboratories (Santa Cruz, CA, USA), respectively. The images were analyzed for relative fluorescence intensity using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA). The baseline fluorescence of the negative (no primary antibody) sections was subtracted from the total fluorescence before calculating the relative fluorescence. An oval-shaped selection was positioned over the area of interest, and the mean intensity was measured within this selection. Samples with excessive amounts of background or high signal intensity, as determined by >3-fold higher than average signal intensity of all samples, were excluded from further analysis. At least three areas of six thoracic aorta sections harvested from six animals in each treatment group were analyzed.

2.12 | Statistical analyses

Data are shown as mean \pm SEM. Each experiment was performed in triplicate, and values are shown for at least three independent experiments unless otherwise indicated. The normality of the data distribution was verified using the D'Agostino-Pearson or Kolmogorov-Smirnov test when appropriate. Comparisons between two groups were performed by a two-tailed Student's *t* test for normally distributed or Mann-Whitney *U* test for nonparametric data. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to compare three or more groups with a Newman-Keuls post hoc correction for multiple pairwise comparisons. The IC₅₀ values were calculated using a non-linear regression analysis. All statistical analyses were performed using Prism software from GraphPad Prism 6.0 (San Diego, CA, USA).

3 | RESULTS

3.1 Composition of reconstituted HDLs

LC/MS/MS analyses revealed a POPC:apoA-I molar ratio of 90:1 and a POPC:POPS:apoA-I molar ratio of 70:30:1 for rHDLs (Figure 1A). This composition is typical for rHDL prepared in vitro and close to lipid/protein molar ratios measured in human plasma HDL.²⁹ As rHDL particles did not contain a hydrophobic core, they were enriched in phospholipids relative to plasma HDL.³⁴ In addition, the PS content of PC/PS-rHDL was elevated as compared to that detected in plasma HDL particles¹⁷; the former thereby represented a proof-of-principle model of native HDL.

3.2 | Phosphatidylserine incorporation enhances anti-inflammatory effects of rHDL

Both LPS and TNF- α treatment induced increases in several inflammatory biomarkers in differentiated THP-1 cells. To determine the influence of rHDL co-incubation with LPS or TNF- α on the inflammatory response of macrophages, concentrations of IL-6, which is known to contribute to atherosclerosis via atherosclerotic plaque formation, progression, and destabilization,^{35,36} were measured in the culture media of activated THP-1 and HMDM cells in the absence and presence of rHDLs.

As shown in Figure 1, both PC-rHDL and PC/PS-rHDL suppressed LPS- or TNF- α -induced IL-6 secretion from differentiated THP-1 cells in a dose-dependent manner.

The effect of PC/PS-rHDL on IL-6 secretion upon LPS stimulation was significantly stronger as compared with that of PC-rHDL (-54% vs. -42% and -67% vs. -58% at a



FIGURE 1 PS incorporation enhances rHDL-mediated inhibition of IL-6 secretion induced by LPS or TNF-α in macrophages. Composition of the reconstituted HDLs (A). Discoidal rHDLs were prepared by cholate dialysis from a mixture of apoA-I isolated from human plasma and synthetic PC 16:0/18:1 with or without synthetic PS 16:0/18:1 at a molar ratio of 1:90 for PC-rHDL and 1:70:30 for PC/PS-rHDL. LC/MS/MS was used to characterize the phospholipidome of rHDLs. Wt: weight. THP-1 cells that had differentiated into macrophages were treated with either PC-rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL at varying concentrations ranging from 0.01–0.9 μmol apoA-I/L (equivalent to 0.3–10 μg protein/ml) during LPS (100 ng/ml)-induced stimulation (B) or TNF-α (8.5 pmol/L)-induced stimulation (C) for 8 h. HMDM cells were stimulated with TNF-α at 8.5 pmol/L and treated with PC- or PC/PS-rHDL at 5 μg protein/ml for 8 h (D). In (B–D), insets show absolute levels of IL-6 in cell media. Concentrations of IL-6 measured at baseline and after LPS stimulation were 53 ± 61 and 318 ± 67 pg/ml, respectively (6-fold induction, *p* < .001); concentrations measured at baseline and after TNF-α stimulation were 163 ± 33 and

 $1648 \pm 380 \text{ pg/ml}$, respectively (8-lotd induction, p < .001); concentrations measured at baseline and after TNF- α stimulation were 165 \pm 33 and 1648 \pm 380 pg/ml (10-fold induction, p < .001) in THP-1 cells and 30 ± 5 and 203 ± 43 pg/ml in HMDM cells respectively (6-fold induction, p < .001). The cells were pre-incubated before stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) or post-incubated after stimulation with LPS (100 ng/ml) with either PC-rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL at 357 nmol apoA-I/L, equivalent to 10 µg protein/ml (E). For liposome experiments (F), differentiated cells were treated with PC-rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL at 5 µg protein/ml (178 nmol apoA-I/L) alone or 6.7 µM phospholipid/L equivalent to 5.13 µg phospholipid/ml of PC/PS-rHDL, in addition to 5.13 µg phospholipid/ml of PC/PS-liposomes so that the total phospholipid concentration was equal to the final concentration of phospholipid present in 5 µg protein/ml of PC/PS-rHDL for 8 h. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of percentage change from three independent experiments performed in duplicate; *p < .05 vs. no rHDL; #p < .05 vs. PC-rHDL

concentration of 5 and 10 μ g protein/ml equivalent to 178 and 357 nmol apoA-I/L, respectively, Figure 1B). In TNF- α -stimulated macrophages, the presence of PC/PS-rHDL at 0.5 μ g protein/ml (17.8 nmol apoA-I/L) and 5 μ g protein/ml (178 nmol apoA-I/L) inhibited IL-6 secretion significantly more effectively as compared to PC-rHDL (-68% vs. -53% and -95% vs. -72%, respectively, Figure 1C). Remarkably, IC₅₀ values were 1.9- and 1.8-fold lower for PC/PS-rHDL relative to PC-rHDL treatment in LPS (3.1 vs. 6.0 μ g/ml) and TNF- α (0.25 vs. 0.46 μ g/ml)-stimulated THP-1 cells, respectively, consistent with enhanced anti-inflammatory activity of PC/PS-rHDL particles. In addition, these data

demonstrated enhanced potency of rHDLs toward TNF- α vs. LPS-induced macrophage activation.

The elevated anti-inflammatory activity of PC/PSrHDL versus PC-rHDL observed in THP-1 macrophages was confirmed in primary HMDM cells. Indeed, PC/ PS-rHDL attenuated TNF- α -induced IL-6 secretion by HMDM significantly stronger as compared to PC-rHDL (-56% vs. -27%, respectively, at 5 µg protein/ml, *p* < .05; Figure 1D), a difference which was comparable to that observed in THP-1 macrophages (Figure 1C).

To evaluate whether direct interaction with LPS was required for the inhibitory effects of rHDL, similar

THE 7 of 1

experiments were performed involving pre-incubation or post-incubation of cells with rHDL in the absence of LPS. As in the co-incubation experiments, a shift to lower IL-6 concentrations was observed when the cells were pre-incubated with PC/PS-rHDL as compared to pre-incubations with PC-rHDL (Figure 1E). However, this difference was not observed in post-incubation experiments when the cells were first activated with LPS in the absence of rHDL (Figure 1E).

To further determine whether the anti-inflammatory effects of PC/PS-rHDL were associated with PS, we used PC/PS-liposomes possessing the same molar phospholipid ratio as rHDLs (PC:PS at 70:30 mol/mol). As shown in Figure 1F, PC/PS liposomes significantly attenuated TNF- α -induced IL-6 secretion. However, this effect was markedly weaker than that of PC/PS-rHDL, suggesting that apoA-I conveyed enhanced anti-inflammatory properties to PS. To assess if a simple additive effect of apoA-I and PS took place, PC/PS-liposomes were added to PC-rHDL at a final concentration equal to that of the phospholipids present in the incubations with PC/PSrHDL. As shown in Figure 1F, co-incubation with PC/ PS-liposomes did not enhance the anti-inflammatory effect of PC-rHDL. One can speculate that the lack of the additive effect of PC/PS-liposomes and PC-rHDL on the suppression of IL-6 secretion by THP-1 cells could reflect both liposomal and lipoprotein remodeling in the mixture. Indeed, it is well established that co-incubation of rHDL and liposomes results in their extensive remodeling.37

Cytokine analysis revealed that secretion of IL-1 β (-71% vs. -42%), TNF- α (-98% vs. -79%), VEGF (-40% vs. 14%), and MCP-1 (-21% vs. -76%) in the macrophage culture medium was significantly reduced upon treatment with PC/PS-rHDLs as compared to PC-rHDL, resulting in the enhanced antiinflammatory activity of PC/PS-rHDL of 29%, 19%, 26%, and 55%, respectively (Figure 2A–D). In parallel, three weekly injections of PC/PS-rHDLs in a dyslipidemic $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mouse model fed a high-cholesterol diet resulted in a significant reduction of plasma levels of IL-6 and IL-12 p40 (-36% and -24%, respectively) as compared to mice injected with PC-rHDL (Figure 2E,F). By contrast, no alteration of plasma levels of these cytokines was observed in the PBS-treated group relative to the baseline (data not shown).

The anti-inflammatory effects of rHDL were consistently stronger toward TNF- α relative to LPS-induced stimulation (Figure 1B vs. Figure 1C). Since elevated production of TNF- α is pivotal in triggering inflammatory cascades associated with vascular pathophysiology and atherosclerosis,³⁵ subsequent experiments predominantly focused on macrophages challenged by TNF- α . In an effort to better characterize the effects of rHDL on the inflammatory response of macrophages, we analyzed gene expression of selected cytokines. The mRNA levels of both IL-6 (-97% vs. -83%, Figure 3A) and TNF- α (-95% vs. -65%, Figure 3B) were more strongly decreased by

PC/PS- than by PC-rHDL upon TNF- α stimulation (by -14%and -30%, respectively). Similarly, a greater decrease in the expression of IL-6 (-63% vs. -23%, Figure 3D) and TNF- α (-79%vs. -58%, Figure 3E) was observed upon LPS stimulation by PC/PS- than by PC-rHDL (by -40% and -21%, respectively). Consistent with enhanced anti-inflammatory activity of rHDL containing PS, PC/PS-rHDL slightly but significantly enhanced expression of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (+9%, p < .05), while PC-rHDL reduced it (-57%, p < .01; Figure 3C) during stimulation with TNF- α . As a result, PC/PS-rHDL was a 1.5-fold more potent activator of IL-10 expression than PCrHDL (p < .01) in this setting. Further along this line, PC/PSrHDL less markedly inhibited IL-10 expression as compared to PC-rHDL (-62% vs. -75%, respectively) in LPS-stimulated macrophages (-13% vs. PC-rHDL, p < .01, Figure 3F). Finally, expression of anti-inflammatory transforming growth factor-B (TGF-β, Figure 3G) and activating transcription factor 3 (ATF3, Figure 3H) was not affected by PC/PS-rHDL but decreased slightly by PC-rHDL (-11% and -12%, respectively, p < .05) upon TNF- α stimulation, resulting in the enhanced expression of the both genes in the presence of PC/PS- vs PC-rHDL.

3.3 | Phosphatidylserine incorporation mildly induces ABCA1 and ABCG1 gene expression and weakly modifies the cholesterol efflux capacity of rHDL

To test whether the enhanced anti-inflammatory effects of PC/PS-rHDL were related to accelerated lipid efflux from cells, we performed a cholesterol efflux assay with ³H]-cholesterol. This assay showed only a trend (+19% as compared to PC-rHDL, p < .16, at 0.5 μ mol/L, equivalent to 15 µg protein/ml) toward increased cholesterol efflux capacity upon the incorporation of PS into PC-rHDL (Figure 4A). In addition, stable knockdown of ABCA1 and downregulation of SR-BI reduced cellular cholesterol efflux to PC/PS-rHDL to the same extent as that to PC-rHDL (data not shown). Formation of plasma membrane lipid rafts was studied in the presence of rHDL due to their implication in the inflammatory response of activated macrophages.³¹ Exposure to PC/PS-rHDL decreased the formation of plasma membrane lipid rafts as compared to PC-rHDL treatment (-12%, p = .04; Figure 4B), consistent with stronger antiinflammatory effects of PC/PS-rHDL toward macrophages. In addition, PC-rHDL significantly accelerated efferocytosis of apoptotic Jurkat cells by THP-1 macrophages, whereas PC/PS-rHDL significantly reduced it. (Figure 4C).

Finally, quantification of gene expression did not reveal any effect of rHDLs on SR-BI mRNA levels in TNF- α activated cells (Figure 5A). By contrast, expression of both ABCG1 and ABCA1 was significantly reduced by both PC- and PC/PS-rHDL; elevated ABCG1 mRNA expression



FIGURE 2 PS incorporation enhances rHDL-induced inhibition of cytokine secretion in macrophages and decreases cytokine levels in mouse plasma. THP-1 cells differentiated into macrophages were treated with either PC- rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL at a concentration of 5 μ g protein/ml (178 nmol apoA-I/L) during stimulation with LPS and cytokine levels of IL-1 β (A), TNF- α (B), VEGF (C) and MCP-1 (D) were measured. Baseline cytokine production and induction levels were as follows: IL-1 β , 12.6 \pm 0.8 and 44 \pm 7 pg/ml, respectively (3.5-fold induction, p < .02); TNF- α , 2 \pm 2 and 620 \pm 388 pg/ml, respectively (310-fold induction, p < .001); VEGF, 128 \pm 33 and 242 \pm 158 pg/ml, respectively (1.9-fold induction), and MCP, 41 \pm 4 and 171 \pm 9.8 pg/ml, respectively, (4-fold induction, p < .003). LDL receptor knock-out (Ldlr^{-/-}) mice were fed a high-cholesterol diet, PC- or PC/PS-rHDLs or PBS as a vehicle was administered as three weekly retro-orbital injections of 40 mg protein/kg, as described in the Methods section and plasma levels of IL-6 (E) and IL-12 p40 (F) were measured. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of the percentage change from at least three independent experiments performed in duplicate; *p < .05 vs. no rHDL; #p < .05 vs. PC-rHDL

(1.30-fold, p < .01, Figure 5B) and a trend toward elevated ABCA1 mRNA expression (1.11-fold, p = .10, Figure 5C) were found in the presence of PC/PS- relative to PC-rHDL.

3.4 | Phosphatidylserine incorporation enhances rHDL-mediated antiinflammatory effects through SR-BI receptor

The cell surface receptor SR-BI and ABCA1 and ABCG1 transporters play major roles in mediating HDL

interactions with cells. Therefore, we tested whether these membrane proteins were involved in the enhanced anti-inflammatory activity of PC/PS-rHDL in macrophages. As shown in Figure 5D, mRNA levels of SR-BI measured 48 h after transfection with siRNA targeting SR-BI were reduced by 70% as compared with cells transfected with control scrambled siRNA. Differences between inhibitory effects of PC/PS- and PC-rHDL on IL-6 secretion observed in control cells (Figure 1B,C) were negligible in both anti-SR-BI blocking antibodytreated cells (Figure 5E) and SR-BI knockdown cells (Figure 5F). The slightly diminished inhibitory effects of



FIGURE 3 PS incorporation improves rHDL-mediated restoration of LPS- and TNF-α-induced alterations in the cytokine expression profile of macrophages. THP-1 cells that had differentiated into macrophages were treated with either PC-rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL at 178 nmol protein/L equivalent to 5 µg protein/ml during stimulation with TNF-a (8.5 pmol/L) or LPS (100 ng/ml) for 8 h. Levels of IL-6, TNF-a, and IL-10 gene expression are shown in A-C for TNF-α-stimulated and D-F for LPS-stimulated cells, while those of TGF-β and ATF-3 are shown in G and H for TNF- α stimulation. Data are presented as the mRNA ratio relative to the mean of three housekeeping gene expression and are shown as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments performed in duplicate; *p < .05 vs. no rHDL, *p < .05 vs. PC-rHDL

PC/PS-rHDL relative to PC-rHDL observed in this set of experiments may reflect off-target effects of the unspecific antibody and scrambled siRNA.

In addition, we used stable ABCA1 and ABCG1 knockdown cells to test whether ABCA1 and ABCG1 downregulation

altered anti-inflammatory activity of PC/PS-rHDL. Figure 5G,H shows that PC/PS-rHDL was still able to suppress TNF-α-induced IL-6 secretion more strongly as compared to PC-rHDL in the stable ABCA1 and ABCG1 knockdown cells.

9 of 16



FIGURE 4 PS incorporation weakly modifies rHDL-mediated cholesterol efflux from macrophages and reduces abundance of plasma membrane lipid rafts as well as efferocytosis of apoptotic cells. Cellular [³H]-cholesterol efflux to rHDLs (A), plasma membrane lipid raft formation (B), and macrophagic efferocytosis capacity in the presence of HDL (C) were measured in PC-rHDL- or PC/PS-rHDL-treated THP-1 cells. In the lipid raft and efferocytosis assays, cells were treated with 178 nmol apoA-I/L equivalent to 5 μ g of protein/ml rHDLs during TNF- α -induced stimulation at 8.5 pmol/L for 8 h. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of the percentage change relative to control incubations without rHDL obtained from three independent experiments performed in duplicate; *p < .05 vs. no rHDL, ***p < .001 vs. no rHDL, #p < .05 vs. PC-rHDL

3.5 | Phosphatidylserine incorporation modulates rHDL-mediated intracellular signaling but not lesion area

Our results, therefore, suggested that PS-containing rHDL induced a pattern of intracellular signaling that differed from that of PC-rHDL. Therefore, relative abundance of phosphorylated forms of Akt1/2/3, p38 MAPK, and NF- κ B was analyzed in cellular extracts. We also attempted to evaluate the role of ASK1 and JNK phosphorylation but did not detect phosphorylated forms of these proteins under our experimental conditions (data not shown). We found that PC/PS-rHDL induced a greater increase

in Akt1/2/3 phosphorylation (1.5-fold, p = .02) than PCrHDL (Figure 6A,B). In addition, PC/PS-, but not PC-, rHDL significantly decreased p38 MAPK phosphorylation in THP-1 cells activated by TNF- α (-21%, p = .01; Figure 6C,D). However, both PC- and PC/PS-rHDL decreased NF- κ B phosphorylation to a similar extent (approximately -70% of the control, Figure 6E). In order to determine functional role of these signaling pathways in the rHDL-mediated suppression of inflammatory activation, Akt and p38 MAPK were blocked with specific inhibitors. As shown in Figure 6F, the PI3K/Akt pathway inhibitor MK2206 and the p38-MAPK inhibitor SB203580 did not appear to interfere with the rHDL-mediated



FIGURE 5 SR-BI but not ABCA1 and ABCG1 inhibition attenuates inhibitory effects toward IL-6 secretion induced by PS-containing rHDL in macrophages. Gene expression levels of SR-BI (A), ABCG1 (B) and ABCA1 (C) were measured in differentiated THP-1 cells. IL-6 levels were measured in culture media of THP-1 cells transfected with scrambled or SR-BI siRNA (D and F) or incubated with an anti-SR-BI antibody or an unspecific non-blocking antibody as a control (E) as well as of stable ABCG1- (G) and ABCA1-deficient knockout (KO) (H) cells treated with either PC-rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL at 178 nmol apoA-I/L, equivalent to 5 μg protein/ml during TNF-α-induced stimulation at 8.5 pmol/L for 8 h. Gene expression levels of SR-BI were measured using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction and presented as the mRNA ratio relative to the mean of three housekeeping gene expression shown as a percentage of the expression obtained for the negative control scrambled siRNA (D). Data are presented as mean ± SEM of the percentage change from three independent experiments performed in duplicate; *p < .05 vs. no rHDL (B, C) or no siRNA (D), #p < .05 vs. PC-rHDL



FIGURE 6 Incorporation of PS into rHDL induces intracellular signaling through Akt-dependent pathway while attenuating signalling through p38 MAPK-dependent pathway in macrophages. Differentiated THP-1 cells were treated with either PC-rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL at 178 nmol apoA-I/L equivalent to 5 μ g protein/ml alone or in combination with chemical inhibitors during TNF- α stimulation at 8.5 pmol/L for 8 h. Levels of total and phosphorylated p-Akt1/2/3 were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (A) and confirmed by Western blotting as shown in the representative images of total (t) and phosphorylated (p) proteins (B). Levels of total and phosphorylated p38 MAPK were measured using ELISA (C) and were confirmed by Western blotting as shown in the representative images of total (t) and phosphorylated (p) proteins (D). The levels of total and phosphorylated NF- κ B were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (E). IL-6 concentrations in the culture media were evaluated after treatment with 0.1- μ M PI3K/Akt pathway inhibitor MK2206 (MK) and 5- μ M p38-MAPK inhibitor SB203580 (SB) (F). Atherosclerotic lesion area (G) and immunofluorescence images of mouse aortic sections (H) were quantified in *Ldlr*-/- mouse model fed a high-cholesterol diet. Mac-2 (red) and phosphorylated/total Akt1/2/3 (Akt/p-Akt) and p38 MAPK (p38/p-p38) (green) staining are shown in sections from control (PBS-treated) and rHDL-treated mice at 20× magnification. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of the percentage or fold change from at least three independent in vitro experiments performed in duplicate, or from 18 aortic sections produced using 6 mice in each group; *p < .05 vs. no HDL, *p < .05 vs. PC-rHDL

inhibition of IL-6 secretion. However, both inhibitors negated the enhanced IL-6-suppressive effect of PC/PS- vs. PC-rHDL (Figure 6F).

Ex vivo analysis of atherosclerotic lesions in $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice showed that PC-rHDL or PC/PS-rHDL infusions did not affect surface area of the lesions (Figure 6G). Immunofluorescence of mouse aortic tissue sections for Mac-2 showed that the administration of PC/PS-rHDL to $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mice did not significantly change aortic macrophage infiltration at day 30 as compared to animals treated with PC-rHDL (Figure 6H). However, the PC/ PS-rHDL mouse group showed a significant increase in the ratio of phosphorylated to total Akt1/2/3 (1.66-fold, p = .024) compared with the PC-rHDL group; no significant change was observed in the ratio of phosphorylated to total p38 MAPK levels (Figure 6H).

4 | DISCUSSION

Novel rHDL particles enriched in PS were formulated to explore their anti-inflammatory activity and,

FASEB IOURNAI

subsequently, their mechanisms of action. Our data revealed that the incorporation of PS into rHDLs enhanced their anti-inflammatory effects in TNF- α - or LPS-challenged macrophages in vitro by inhibiting pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and expression. Similar results documenting superior anti-inflammatory properties of PC/PS-rHDL relative to PC-rHDL were obtained in *Ldlr*^{-/-}mice fed a high-cholesterol diet in vivo. Of note, macrophagic SR-BI was determined to be involved in the potent anti-inflammatory effects of PC/PS-rHDL coupled with the Akt1/2/3- and p38 MAPK-mediated intracellular signaling pathways.

Recent data demonstrate clinical benefits of antiinflammatory agents, such as an antibody targeting interleukin-1ß, in reducing cardiovascular events beyond effects achieved by lipid lowering alone.38 HDL may play a key role in the development of atherosclerosis through its capacity to inhibit inflammation in endothelial cells¹² and to mediate reverse cholesterol transport by promoting cholesterol efflux from macrophages. Both native HDL and apoA-I isolated from healthy volunteers display anti-inflammatory effects when incubated with macrophages.13-15 However, the effects of HDL on the inflammatory response of macrophages may vary as a function of differences in the basal and activated cellular signaling pathways. In addition, effects on a given inflammatory state can differ depending on experimental settings and macrophage types. Indeed, pro-inflammatory effects of HDL were observed in murine and human primary macrophages at relatively high concentrations (>100 µg protein/ml), which were attributed to passive cholesterol depletion.³⁹ Thus, the anti-inflammatory function of HDL toward macrophages remains inconclusive.

Our results showed that both PC/PS- and PC-rHDL formulations displayed dose-dependent anti-inflammatory effects while suppressing production of inflammatory cytokines upon proinflammatory stimulation in human THP-1 macrophages. These findings rule out the possibility of non-specific neutralization of LPS by rHDLs since TNF- α is a proinflammatory protein that lacks the lipid moiety underling LPS interaction with HDL. In addition, antiinflammatory effects of rHDLs added before LPS stimulation further support the notion of specific signaling events rather than non-specific LPS capturing by rHDLs. The lack of such interaction can reflect the absence of LPS-binding protein from rHDLs, which is shown to be responsible for the neutralization of LPS by natural HDL.^{40,41}

Interestingly, the degree of the inhibitory effects of rHDLs was more pronounced in TNF- α - than in LPS-stimulated macrophages. A similar observation was reported for the inhibition of cytokine secretion by human aortic endothelial cells in the presence of HDL mimetic

CER-001.⁴² Since TNF- α -stimulated cells appear to represent a better model of chronic inflammatory response in the context of atherogenesis,⁴³ this in vitro setting may be more relevant to atherosclerosis-related inflammation. Overall, TNF- α was chosen by us as a non-lipid proinflammatory stimulator because of its biological relevance in the context of atherosclerosis and also the enhanced anti-inflammatory response observed in the presence of PC/PS-relative to PC-rHDL.

In addition to the marked suppression of proinflammatory cytokines by PC/PS-rHDL compared to the typical PCrHDL formulation and PC/PS liposomes, we observed a significant induction or preservation of anti-inflammatory cytokine expression with PC/PS-rHDL treatment. PSmediated recognition and subsequent uptake of PC/PSrHDL by macrophages can be envisaged as a possible mechanism that contributes to enhanced IL-10 secretion. According to the literature, PS (but not PC)-containing liposomes can mimic beneficial effects of apoptotic bodies in resolving inflammation.²⁰ Therefore, PS-mediated recognition and consequent activation of macrophagic apoptotic machinery can result in the reduction of inflammation as well as the induction of anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion. Consistent with this suggestion, we observed reduced efferocytosis of apoptotic cells in the presence of PC/PS-rHDL, which potentially reflected saturation of cellular PS-receptors and/or PS-triggered signaling pathways by the PS-containing particles. According to our results, combination of apoA-I and PS within a single HDL particle produced the strongest anti-inflammatory effects. Thus, it can be hypothesized that apoA-I and PS act synergistically to provide reconstituted particles possessing potent anti-inflammatory activities.

PS-expressing apoptotic cells were reported to upregulate ABCA1 expression in macrophages,^{44,45} a phenomenon required for macrophage cholesterol homeostasis. However, as such upregulation is accompanied by accelerated cholesterol efflux to apoA-I but not to HDL, it was suggested that PS-expressing apoptotic cells can only promote apoA-I-specific cholesterol efflux.⁴⁵ Our results indicated that cellular cholesterol efflux was not different in the presence of PC/PS- and PC-rHDL. In addition, earlier data indicated that ABCG1 was not essential for cholesterol efflux from human macrophagic foam cells.²⁸

Our results suggest that the enhanced anti-inflammatory effects of PS-containing rHDL did not depend on ABCA1 and ABCG1, as such effects were not affected by the silencing of these transporters. In contrast, PS failed to enhance the anti-inflammatory function of PC-rHDL in SR-BIsilenced cells or in cells incubated with an anti-SR-BI antibody. These findings are consistent with the notion that SR-BI functions as a PS receptor for the recognition and clearance of apoptotic cells.⁴⁶ Accordingly, SR-BIdeficient macrophages display a proinflammatory phenotype.⁴⁶ As a result, PS-containing particles are able to compete with the SR-BI-mediated binding of apoptotic cells to phagocytic cells.^{47,48} As a negatively charged phospholipid constituent of these particles, PS can ensure such binding through electrostatic interactions with SR-BI^{49,50}

Studies of HDL-induced signaling cascades typically focus on acute effects over the course of minutes. However, ultimate challenge of HDL-based therapy is to achieve a new equilibrium by creating persisting anti-atherosclerotic effects. A delayed response to HDL was evidenced by studies that investigated transcription of cytokines, nuclear receptors, and scavenger receptors,51-53 as well as using phosphorylation assays.⁵⁰ To identify molecular mechanisms underlying the enhanced anti-inflammatory effects of PScontaining rHDLs, we examined the delayed effect of rHDL on the phosphorylation of activation sites on Akt1/2/3, p38 MAPKs, and NF-kB. Our results demonstrated that PS incorporation increased the Akt1/2/3 activation induced by rHDL and reduced p38 MAPKs phosphorylation accompanied by reduced lipid raft formation in stimulated monocytic cells. However, there was no further decrease in NF-kB phosphorylation with PS-containing rHDL particles relative to PC-rHDL. PS-containing rHDLs also increased the Akt1/2/3 activation in vivo. These data indicate that the incorporation of PS into rHDLs bear a potential to promote their anti-inflammatory effects in aortic plaques. These effects may be particularly relevant in atherosclerosis associated with chronic inflammation when macrophage infiltration is prominent. Treatment with a PI3K/Akt inhibitor and a p38 MAPK inhibitor abolished differences in the anti-inflammatory effects of PC- and PC/PS-rHDL. These results suggest that the enhanced effects of PC/PSrHDL are mediated by the Akt- and p38 MAPK-dependent pathways. Our findings are, therefore, consistent with those documenting that the activation of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway leads to anti-inflammatory responses.54 Indeed, Akt and ATF3 can function as upstream negative regulators of NF-kB activation.55,56 Furthermore, ATF3, a transcriptional repressor of proinflammatory cytokines,⁵⁷ negatively regulates the transcriptional activity of NF-KB.58 According to our results, PS-containing rHDL may be particularly protective against inflammation because of its enhanced potential in preserving ATF3 and TGF-B activity in macrophages.

It remains to be shown whether the capacity of HDL to reduce inflammation can be translated into reduced atherogenesis in vivo. In our studies, we did not observe any inhibitory effect of PS-containing rHDL on atherosclerotic lesion area in Ldlr^{-/-} mice fed a high cholesterol diet. As PC-rHDLs were equally ineffective in this experimental setting, these data are consistent with an extreme character

of atherogenesis in this model, which can be too harsh for the clinical relevance of anti-inflammatory effects of rHDL. Further experiments performed under milder proatherosclerotic conditions are required to address this controversy.

In conclusion, incorporation of PS into rHDLs improves their anti-inflammatory activity by modulating Akt1/2/3and p38 MAPK-mediated signaling through the SR-BI receptor in stimulated macrophages. These data identify PS as a potent anti-inflammatory component capable of enhancing therapeutic potential of rHDL-based therapy. Our results, therefore, provide a biochemical basis for the development of highly functional PS-based rHDL formulations to reduce excessive cardiovascular risk in patients presenting with a proinflammatory phenotype, such as acute myocardial infarction and stroke.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

These studies were supported by the National Institute for Health and Medical Research (INSERM), Ville de Paris and the Society for the Acceleration of the Technology Transfer SATT-Lutech (Paris, France). W.L.G. acknowledges support from the Fondation de France.

DISCLOSURES

Dr Anatol Kontush has received a research grant from CSL (Australia) and is a co-author of a patent on the enhancement of HDL function by PS.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Anatol Kontush, Wilfried Le Goff, and Maryam Darabi designed the research. Maryam Darabi, Eric Frisdal, Marie Lhomme, Lucie Poupel, Emilie Tubeuf, Veronica D. Dahik, and Wilfried Le Goff performed the research. Maryam Darabi, Anatol Kontush and Wilfried Le Goff wrote the paper. Maryse Guerin, Kerry-Anne Rye, Philippe Lesnik, Mili Patel, Isabelle Guillas, Emmanuel L. Gautier and Thierry Huby contributed new reagents or analytic tools.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data will be available upon reasonable request.

REFERENCES

- Barter PJ, Rye K-A. Targeting high-density lipoproteins to reduce cardiovascular risk: what is the evidence? *Clin Ther*. 2015;37(12):2716-2731. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.07.021
- Kingwell BA, Chapman MJ, Kontush A, Miller NE. HDLtargeted therapies: progress, failures and future. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* 2014;13:445-464. doi:10.1038/nrd4279
- Rader DJJ. New therapeutic approaches to the treatment of dyslipidemia. *Cell Metab.* 2016;23:405-412. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2016.01.005
- HPS3/TIMI55-REVEAL Collaborative Group, Bowman L, Hopewell JC, et al. Effects of anacetrapib in patients with

atherosclerotic vascular disease. *N Engl J Med*. 2017;377:1217-1227. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1706444

- Kootte RS, Smits LP, van der Valk FM, et al. Effect of open-label infusion of an apoA-I-containing particle (CER-001) on RCT and artery wall thickness in patients with FHA. J Lipid Res. 2015;56:703-712. doi:10.1194/jlr.M055665
- Kataoka YU, Andrews J, Duong MyNgan, et al. Regression of coronary atherosclerosis with infusions of the high-density lipoprotein mimetic CER-001 in patients with more extensive plaque burden. *Cardiovasc Diagn Ther.* 2017;7:252-263. doi:10.21037/cdt.2017.02.01
- Nicholls SJ, Andrews J, Kastelein JJP, et al. Effect of serial infusions of CER-001, a pre-β high-density lipoprotein mimetic, on coronary atherosclerosis in patients following acute coronary syndromes in the CER-001 atherosclerosis regression acute coronary syndrome trial. *JAMA Cardiol*. 2018;3:815-822. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2018.2121
- Schaefer EJ. Effects of cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors on human lipoprotein metabolism: why have they failed in lowering coronary heart disease risk? *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2013;24:259-264. doi:10.1097/MOL.0b013e3283612454
- Voight BF, Peloso GM, Orho-Melander M, et al. Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: a mendelian randomisation study. *Lancet*. 2012;380:572-580. doi:10.1016/S0140 -6736(12)60312-2
- Frikke-Schmidt R, Nordestgaard BG, Stene MCA, et al. Association of loss-of-function mutations in the ABCA1 gene with highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol levels and risk of ischemic heart disease. JAMA. 2008;299:2524-2532. doi:10.1001/jama.299.21.2524
- Nordestgaard BG, Tybjærg-Hansen A. Genetic determinants of LDL, lipoprotein(a), triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and HDL: concordance and discordance with cardiovascular disease risk. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2011;22:113-122. doi:10.1097/MOL.0b013e32834477d2
- Zhang W-Y, Franco DA, Schwartz E, et al. HDL inhibits saturated fatty acid mediated augmentation of innate immune responses in endothelial cells by a novel pathway. *Atherosclerosis.* 2017;259:83-96. doi:10.1016/j.atheroscle rosis.2016.09.003
- Smith CK, Seto NL, Vivekanandan-Giri A, et al. Lupus highdensity lipoprotein induces proinflammatory responses in macrophages by binding lectin-like oxidised low-density lipoprotein receptor 1 and failing to promote activating transcription factor 3 activity. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:602-611. doi:10.1136/annrh eumdis-2016-209683
- Tang C, Houston BA, Storey C, LeBoeuf RC. Both STAT3 activation and cholesterol efflux contribute to the anti-inflammatory effect of apoA-I/ABCA1 interaction in macrophages. J Lipid Res. 2016;57:848-857. doi:10.1194/jlr.M065797
- De Nardo D, Labzin LI, Kono H, et al. High-density lipoprotein mediates anti-inflammatory reprogramming of macrophages via the transcriptional regulator ATF3. *Nat Immunol.* 2014;15:152-160.
- Khan R, Spagnoli V, Tardif JC, L'Allier PL. Novel antiinflammatory therapies for the treatment of atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis.* 2015;240:497-509. doi:10.1016/j.atheroscle rosis.2015.04.783
- Camont L, Lhomme M, Rached F, et al. Small, dense highdensity lipoprotein-3 particles are enriched in negatively charged phospholipids: relevance to cellular cholesterol efflux, antioxidative, antithrombotic, anti-inflammatory, and

antiapoptotic functionalities. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013;33:2715-2723. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.301468

FASEBJOURNA

- Huynh MN, Fadok VA, Henson PM. Phosphatidylserinedependent ingestion of apoptotic cells promotes TGF- β 1 secretion and the resolution of inflammation. *J Clin Invest.* 2002;109:41-50. doi:10.1172/JCI200211638.Introduction
- Hoffmann PR, Kench JA, Vondracek A, et al. Interaction between phosphatidylserine and the phosphatidylserine receptor inhibits immune responses in vivo. *J Immunol.* 2005;174:1393-1404. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.3.1393
- Ramos GC, Fernandes D, Charão CT, et al. Apoptotic mimicry: phosphatidylserine liposomes reduce inflammation through activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2007;151:844-850. doi:10.1038/ sj.bjp.0707302
- Harel-Adar T, Mordechai TB, Amsalem Y, et al. Modulation of cardiac macrophages by phosphatidylserine-presenting liposomes improves infarct repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2011;108:1827-1832. doi:10.1073/pnas.1015623108
- Ma HM, Wu Z, Nakanishi H. Phosphatidylserine-containing liposomes suppress inflammatory bone loss by ameliorating the cytokine imbalance provoked by infiltrated macrophages. *Lab Invest.* 2011;91:921-931. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2011.54
- 23. Roberts RA, Eitas TK, Byrne JD, et al. Towards programming immune tolerance through geometric manipulation of phosphatidylserine. *Biomaterials*. 2015;72:1-10. doi:10.1016/j.bioma terials.2015.08.040
- 24. Davidson M, Maki KC, Toth PP. *Therapeutic Lipidology*. Springer; 2021.
- Hirayama H, Kimura Y, Kioka N, et al. ATPase activity of human ABCG1 is stimulated by cholesterol and sphingomyelin. *J Lipid Res.* 2013;54:496-502. doi:10.1194/jlr.M033209
- Zhang J, Fujii S, Wu Z, et al. Involvement of COX-1 and up-regulated prostaglandin E synthases in phosphatidylserine liposome-induced prostaglandin E2 production by microglia. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2006;172:112-120. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.11.008
- Matz CE, Jonas A. Micellar complexes of human apolipoprotein A-I with phosphatidylcholines and cholesterol prepared from cholate-lipid dispersions. *J Biol Chem.* 1982;257:4535-4540.
- Larrede S, Quinn CM, Jessup W, et al. Stimulation of cholesterol efflux by LXR agonists in cholesterol-loaded human macrophages is ABCA1-dependent but ABCG1-independent. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29:1930-1936. doi:10.1161/ ATVBAHA.109.194548
- Du X-M, Kim M-J, Hou L, et al. HDL particle size is a critical determinant of ABCA1-mediated macrophage cellular cholesterol export. *Circ Res.* 2015;116:1133-1142. doi:10.1161/CIRCR ESAHA.116.305485
- Frisdal E, Lesnik P, Olivier M, et al. Interleukin-6 protects human macrophages from cellular cholesterol accumulation and attenuates the proinflammatory response. J Biol Chem. 2011;286:30926-30936. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.264325
- Frisdal E, Le Lay S, Hooton H, et al. Adipocyte ATP-binding cassette G1 promotes triglyceride storage, fat mass growth, and human obesity. *Diabetes*. 2015;64:840-855. doi:10.2337/ db14-0245
- 32. Tréguier M, Moreau M, Sposito A, et al. LDL particle subspecies are distinct in their capacity to mediate free cholesterol efflux via the SR-BI/Cla-1 receptor. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids*. 2007;1771:129-138. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2006.12.004

16 of 16 FASEB IOURNAL

- Huby T, Doucet C, Dachet C, et al. Knockdown expression and hepatic deficiency reveal an atheroprotective role for SR-BI in liver and peripheral tissues. *J Clin Invest.* 2006;116:2767-2776. doi:10.1172/JCI26893
- Kontush A, Chapman MJ. Functionally defective high-density lipoprotein: a new therapeutic target at the crossroads of dyslipidemia, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2006;58:342-374. doi:10.1124/pr.58.3.1
- Abeywardena M, Leifert W, Warnes K, et al. Cardiovascular biology of interleukin-6. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2009;15:1809-1821. doi:10.2174/138161209788186290
- Schuett H, Luchtefeld M, Grothusen C, et al. How much is too much? Interleukin-6 and its signalling in atherosclerosis. *Thromb Haemost.* 2009;102:215-222. doi:10.1160/TH09-05-0297
- Fukuda M, Nakano M, Miyazaki M, et al. Conformational change of apolipoprotein A-I and HDL formation from model membranes under intracellular acidic conditions. *J Lipid Res.* 2008;49:2419-2426. doi:10.1194/jlr.M800287-JLR200
- Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, et al. Antiinflammatory therapy with canakinumab for atherosclerotic disease. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1119-1131. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1707914
- van der Vorst EPC, Theodorou K, Wu Y, et al. High-density lipoproteins exert pro-inflammatory effects on macrophages via passive cholesterol depletion and PKC-NF-κB/STAT1-IRF1 signaling. *Cell Metab.* 2017;25:197-207. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2016.10.013
- Wurfel MM, Hailman E, Wright SD. Soluble CD14 acts as a shuttle in the neutralization of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) by LPS-binding protein and reconstituted high density lipoprotein. *J Exp Med.* 1995;181:1743-1754.
- Levels JHM, Marquart JA, Abraham PR, et al. Lipopolysaccharide is transferred from high-density to lowdensity lipoproteins by lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and phospholipid transfer protein. *Infect Immun.* 2005;73:2321-2326. doi:10.1128/IAI.73.4.2321
- 42. Tardy C, Goffinet M, Boubekeur N, et al. CER-001, a HDLmimetic, stimulates the reverse lipid transport and atherosclerosis regression in high cholesterol diet-fed LDL-receptor deficient mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 2014;232:110-118. doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2013.10.018
- 43. McKellar GE, McCarey DW, Sattar N, McInnes IB. Role for TNF in atherosclerosis? Lessons from autoimmune disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2009;6:410-417.
- Kiss RS, Elliott MR, Ma Z, et al. Apoptotic cells induce a phosphatidylserine-dependent homeostatic response from phagocytes. *Curr Biol.* 2006;16:2252-2258. doi:10.1016/j. cub.2006.09.043
- Fond AM, Lee CS, Schulman IG, et al. Apoptotic cells trigger a membrane-initiated pathway to increase ABCA1. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:2748-2758. doi:10.1172/JCI80300
- Tao H, Yancey PG, Babaev VR, et al. Macrophage SR-BI mediates efferocytosis via Src/PI3K/Rac1 signaling and reduces atherosclerotic lesion necrosis. *J Lipid Res.* 2015;56:1449-1460. doi:10.1194/jlr.M056689

- 47. Thuahnai ST, Lund-Katz S, Williams DL, Phillips MC. Scavenger receptor class B, type I-mediated uptake of various lipids into cells: influence of the nature of the donor particle interaction with the receptor. *J Biol Chem*. 2001;276:43801-43808. doi:10.1074/jbc.M106695200
- Cao WM, Murao K, Imachi H, et al. Phosphatidylserine receptor cooperates with high-density lipoprotein receptor in recognition of apoptotic cells by thymic nurse cells. *J Mol Endocrinol*. 2004;32:497-505. doi:10.1677/jme.0.0320497
- Rigotti A, Acton SL, Krieger M. The class B scavenger receptors SR-BI and CD36 are receptors for anionic phospholipids. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270:16221-16224.
- Fluiter K, van Berkel TJ. Scavenger receptor B1 (SR-B1) substrates inhibit the selective uptake of high-density-lipoprotein cholesteryl esters by rat parenchymal liver cells. *Biochem J.* 1997;326(Pt 2):515-519.
- Tabet F, Vickers KC, Cuesta Torres LF, et al. HDL-transferred microRNA-223 regulates ICAM-1 expression in endothelial cells. *Nat Commun*. 2014;5:3292. doi:10.1038/ncomms4292
- Han J, Hajjar DP, Zhou X, et al. Regulation of PPARγ-mediated gene expression: a new mechanism of action for high density lipoprotein. *J Biol Chem*. 2002;. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200685200
- Augsten M, Hackl H, Ebner B, et al. Fetal HDL/apoE: a novel regulator of gene expression in human placental endothelial cells. *Physiol Genomics*. 2011;43(22):1255-1262.
- Luyendyk JP, Schabbauer GA, Tencati M, et al. Genetic analysis of the role of the PI3K-Akt pathway in lipopolysaccharideinduced cytokine and tissue factor gene expression in monocytes/macrophages. J Immunol. 2008;180:4218-4226. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.6.4218
- 55. Guha M, Mackman N. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway limits lipopolysaccharide activation of signaling pathways and expression of inflammatory mediators in human monocytic cells. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277:32124-32132.
- Pengal RA, Ganesan LP, Wei G, et al. Lipopolysaccharideinduced production of interleukin-10 is promoted by the serine/threonine kinase Akt. *Mol Immunol.* 2006;43:1557-1564.
- Gilchrist M, Thorsson V, Li B, et al. Systems biology approaches identify ATF3 as a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor 4. *Nature*. 2006;441:173-178.
- Kwon J-W, Kwon H-K, Shin H-J, et al. Activating transcription factor 3 represses inflammatory responses by binding to the p65 subunit of NF-κB. *Sci Rep.* 2015;5:14470.

How to cite this article: Darabi M, Lhomme M, Dahik VD, et al. Phosphatidylserine enhances anti-inflammatory effects of reconstituted HDL in macrophages via distinct intracellular pathways. *FASEB J*. 2022;36:e22274. doi:<u>10.1096/fj.20180</u> <u>0810R</u>

ABSTRACT (FRENCH VERSION)

Les macrophages du tissu adipeux (MTA) sont des acteurs majeurs dans l'inflammation et l'insulinorésistance du tissu adipeux au cours de l'obésité induite par le régime. Le métabolisme intrinsèque des MTA est fortement lié à leur phénotype, qui est lui-même modulé par le flux constant des lipides caractéristique des états obèses. Les mécanismes gouvernant ces changements phénotypiques dans les MTA au cours de l'obésité sont cependant mal connus. Nos études montrent que le transporteur membranaire Atp-binding cassette g1 (Abcg1) est impliqué dans le contrôle de la réponse des MTA aux acides gras (FA). L'invalidation de ce transporteur dans la lignée myéloïde des souris soumises à un régime gras améliore leur état inflammatoire et diminue leur résistance à l'insuline. Les MTA issus de ces souris présentent un phénotype moins inflammatoire accompagné par l'acquisition d'un profil bioénergétique réduit et la modification de leur métabolisme lipidique. En effet, l'analyse du lipidome des MTA déficients pour Abcg1 montre une redirection des acides gras (AG) saturés au sein des phospholipides membranaires vers les gouttelettes lipidiques. Cela conduit à une diminution de la rigidité membranaire et à la neutralisation des AG pro-inflammatoires. Cette même relation entre le niveau d'expression d'Abcg1 et l'état inflammatoire des MTA est également observée dans des MTA humains issus de patients obèses. Le phénotype anti-inflammatoire associé à l'inhibition d'Abcg1 est aboli par l'inhibition de l'activité de la lipoprotéine lipase (Lpl) soulignant l'importance de l'axe Abcg1/Lpl dans le contrôle de l'inflammation métabolique dans les MTA. Ces travaux mettent en évidence le rôle majeur du transporteur Abcg1 dans la distribution des AG au sein du macrophage ainsi que les conséquences associées à ce remodelage au cours de l'obésité.

Mots clés : obésité, macrophages du tissue adipeux, Abcg1, métabolisme des lipides.

ABSTRACT

Adipose tissue macrophages (ATM) are central players in obesity-associated inflammation and its comorbidities. ATM metabolism is strongly linked to their functional phenotype and dysregulated or disproportionate ATM responses to environmental lipid fluxes during diet-induced obesity (DIO) influence the activation of specific inflammatory and metabolic programs that contribute to the onset of obesity-induced insulin resistance. The mechanisms governing this metabolic adaptation of ATM in DIO are however poorly understood. Our study demonstrates that the membrane Atp-binding cassette g1 (Abcg1) transporter controls ATM functional response to fatty acids (FA) carried by circulating triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL), which are abundant in high energy diets. Mice genetically lacking Abcg1 in the myeloid lineage present an ameliorated inflammatory status in adipose tissue and a reduced insulin resistance. Abcg1-deficient ATM exhibit a less inflammatory phenotype accompanied by a low bioenergetic profile and a modification of FA metabolism pathways. A closer look into ATM lipidome reveals a shift in the handling of FA pools, including a redirection of saturated FA from membrane phospholipids to lipid droplets, and leading to a reduction in membrane rigidity and neutralization of pro-inflammatory FA. ATM from obese human subjects presented the same reciprocal relationship between Abcg1 expression and this inflammatory and metabolic status. Abolition of this protective, anti-inflammatory phenotype in Abcg1-deficient ATM was achieved through the inhibition of lipoprotein lipase (Lpl) activity, thus delineating the importance of the Abcg1/Lpl axis in controlling ATM metabolic inflammation. Overall, our work identifies the rewiring of fatty acid pools by Abcg1 as a new major pathway orchestrating ATM plasticity and insulin resistance in DIO.

Key words: obesity, adipose tissue macrophage, Abcg1, lipid metabolism.